High Temperature Corrosion Research in Progress: 1997

(A through J)

TR-110333-V1

Special Report, April, 1998

Effective December 6, 2006, this report has been made publicly available in accordance with Section 734.3(b)(3) and published in accordance with Section 734.7 of the U.S. Export Administration Regulations. As a result of this publication, this report is subject to only copyright protection and does not require any license agreement from EPRI. This notice supersedes the export control restrictions and any proprietary licensed material notices embedded in the document prior to publication.

Prepared for **Electric Power Research Institute** 3412 Hillview Avenue Palo Alto, California 94304

EPRI Project Manager J. Stringer

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITIES

THIS REPORT WAS PREPARED BY THE ORGANIZATION(S) NAMED BELOW AS AN ACCOUNT OF WORK SPONSORED OR COSPONSORED BY THE ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC. (EPRI). NEITHER EPRI, ANY MEMBER OF EPRI, ANY COSPONSOR, THE ORGANIZATION(S) BELOW, NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM:

(A) MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, (I) WITH RESPECT TO THE USE OF ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS REPORT, INCLUDING MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR (II) THAT SUCH USE DOES NOT INFRINGE ON OR INTERFERE WITH PRIVATELY OWNED RIGHTS, INCLUDING ANY PARTY'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OR (III) THAT THIS REPORT IS SUITABLE TO ANY PARTICULAR USER'S CIRCUMSTANCE; OR

(B) ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES OR OTHER LIABILITY WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING ANY CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, EVEN IF EPRI OR ANY EPRI REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES) RESULTING FROM YOUR SELECTION OR USE OF THIS REPORT OR ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS REPORT.

ORGANIZATION(S) THAT PREPARED THIS REPORT

UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC.

ORDERING INFORMATION

Requests for copies of this report should be directed to the EPRI Distribution Center, 207 Coggins Drive, P.O. Box 23205, Pleasant Hill, CA 94523, (510) 934-4212.

Electric Power Research Institute and EPRI are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. EPRI. POWERING PROGRESS is a service mark of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

Copyright © 1998 Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. All rights reserved.

REPORT SUMMARY

High-temperature oxidation and corrosion are important life-limiting factors for several critical components in thermal power systems. Research into many aspects of the problem is taking place in laboratories worldwide. This report, a survey of work in progress, updates and extends EPRI's 1994 report TR-104124, Volumes 1 and 2.

Background

Oxidation and corrosion are of major importance for gas turbine blades and vanes; gas coolers in coal gasification systems; superheaters, reheaters, and furnace wells in conventional boilers; in-bed tubes in fluidized-bed combustors; and, most components in high-temperature fuel cells. Problems of oxidation and corrosion are combated by the development and selection of materials resistant to the specific environment, including corrosion-resistant coating systems. Materials development is based on research aimed at understanding the mechanisms of various high-temperature oxidation and corrosion processes.

Objectives

To inform materials developers and materials selection engineers of research in progress relating to use of materials at high temperatures in aggressive environments.

Approach

The authors designed a questionnaire and sent it to laboratories engaged in hightemperature oxidation and corrosion studies and to others where such work was a possible development. The authors compiled the results of the questionnaires and circulated a draft to the same laboratories for corrections, amendments, and additions.

Results

Most key laboratories contacted responded in some detail. The report, thus, provides a relatively comprehensive picture of the state of ongoing research in high-temperature oxidation and corrosion studies.

EPRI Perspective

Comprehensive directories of work in progress in technical fields relevant to the electric utility industry are valuable in planning R&D. They are of great benefit when transferring basic research results to those concerned with materials and process development, to equipment designers, and, ultimately, to operators. They also provide a directory of experts in relevant areas. This particular directory should be valuable to anyone who uses materials at high temperatures in aggressive environments.

AP-110333

Interest Categories

Fluidized Bed Combustion Fossil Steam Plant O&M Cost Reduction Combustion Turbine/Combined Cycle Plants Applied Science & Technology

Keywords

High-temperature materials Oxidation Corrosion Metals Alloys Ceramics Semiconductors Intermetallics Coatings

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

EPRI would like to recognize the following individuals whose contributions have made this report possible:

The information was collected, edited and assembled by Professor Graham C. Wood of the University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology, Manchester, England; and Dr. John Stringer, of Materials Performance, Energy Conversion Division, EPRI.

FOREWORD

This report is a digest of replies to letters sent out from September 1996 onwards, or reminders sent out subsequently. The contributors were sent a first draft for correction in October 1997 of responses received throughout the year of the survey.

The opportunity has been taken not only to update the entries in the previous report on this subject, EPRI TR-104124-V1 and V2, but also to extend the survey to other laboratories. The scope has also been broadened to include more on work under nuclear steam temperature and pressurised hot water attack conditions, and on semiconductors, principally silicon. We have been greatly assisted in obtaining additional contacts by using the Survey of Corrosion Research Laboratories, prepared by Dr. R. J. Hussey of the National Research Council of Canada on behalf of the International Corrosion Council (ICC), lists of attendees at conferences and other similar sources.

There may be some duplication because, in a few cases, research sponsors or principal investigators have sent entries for all the investigators sponsored by the groups, while the individuals have sent in personal contributions, or have been mentioned in collaborative ventures between laboratories. We elected not to attempt to edit these excessively.

Despite our best efforts to be comprehensive, some research groups may not have been approached and, in certain cases, replies were not received even after several reminders. We regret any omissions resulting from this or other causes. We thank warmly those who have assisted us in obtaining responses in their countries, namely Professor Michael Graham (Canada), Professor Bernard Pieraggi (France), Professor Dr. Michael Schutze (Germany), Professor Francesco Gesmundo (Italy), Dr. Yosh Shida (Japan), Mr. Jim Norton (Netherlands), Professor Christofer Leygraf (Sweden) and Dr. Ian Wright (USA).

The report is for information only. No attempt has been made to comment on the research. The length of entries normally reflects the amount of material, within the context of the survey, provided by the investigators, and is not intended to indicate the

relative importance of the work being undertaken in the various laboratories. The survey is arranged by country in alphabetical order and then by principal investigator, again in alphabetical order.

As in previous editions, the emphasis is on film or scale formation and breakdown on metals, alloys and ceramics. However, as already mentioned, the scope has been broadened to include important material on oxidation of silicon and other semiconductors. Likewise, there is an increased contribution under nuclear steam temperature and pressurised hot water attack conditions but, in that case, the emphasis is sometimes on stress corrosion cracking, intergranular corrosion, hydrogen uptake and allied subjects.

In just a few cases, in the interests of international cooperation, technology transfer, networking and completeness, we have included entries where work is either being phased out, or is just starting, or is even a little marginal to the main thrust of the Survey.

A large document like this is only really useful if it can be easily interrogated for information. As last time, we have not produced a subject index but rather two sets of keywords, one of scientific keywords and the other of keywords identifying areas of technology, served by the high temperature corrosion work reported. Principal investigators were able to select from menus in each category and were also able to suggest one or two keywords of their own. These keywords form the basis for the subject index.

As before, we have also prepared a name index. This is based on the principal investigator(s) listed and the names of collaborators in the initial headings, or the text. We have not used the listed publications in the preparation of either the subject index or the name index. We may prepare a separate list of publications for circulation in due course.

This time, the instructions to the participants were constructed to obtain a reasonably consistent format, whilst allowing the free rein that many contributors had requested in response to a questionnaire that we circulated quite widely prior to undertaking the survey. We are grateful to all those who responded to this prior questionnaire but particularly to our colleague, Dr. Ian Wright, of the Oak Ridge National Laboratory, who gave us much valuable advice and guidance in reaching a balance between freedom in individual contributions and ability to interrogate the information. A few entries which do not conform to the format proposed have nevertheless been included for completeness.

The report has been provided gratis in disk or CD ROM form to all principal investigator contributors. Hard copy versions have been provided to EPRI members and are available for purchase by others.

We would be interested in the views of readers as to the usefulness of a compilation of research in progress such as this.

Graham Wood Corrosion and Protection Centre University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology Manchester, United Kingdom John Stringer Applied Science and Technology Electric Power Research Institute Palo Alto, California United States of America

CONTENTS

VOLUME 1

Argentina	A-1
Alvarez, M.G., Dr. and Carranza, R.M., Dr.	A-2
Australia	A-5
Young, D.J., Prof. and Gleeson, B., Dr.	A-6
Belgium	B-1
Pourbaix, M., Prof., and Pourbaix, A., Ir	B-2
Brazil	B-5
Wolynec, S., Prof	B-6
Canada	C-1
Al-Taie, Ihsan	C-2
Boone, D.H., Dr., Daleo, J.A. and Ellison, K.A., Dr.	C-4
Cox, B., Prof	C-7
Graham, M.J., Prof. and Hussey, R.J., Dr	C-12
Ives, M.B., Prof	C-17
Singbeil, D.L., Mr	C-20
Szpunar, J.A., Prof	C-23
Tapping, R.L., Dr	C-27
China	C-29
Guan, H., Prof	C-30
He, Yedong, Prof	C-33
Li, T.F., Prof. and Wu, W.T., Prof	C-41
Wei, Huang Yuan, Prof	C-57

EPRI Licensed Material

Czech Republic	C-59
Cihal, V. Prof	C-60
Cizner, Josef	C-62
Kysela, Jan, Dr	C-64
Denmark	D-1
Blum, R., Henriksen, N. and Larsen, O.H.	D-2
Linderoth, S., Dr	D-5
Montgomery, M., Dr. and Maahn, E.M., Prof	D-7
Finland	F-1
Hakkarainen, T., Prof., Hannula, SP., Prof. and Mäkipää, M	F-2
Kettunen, P.O., Emeritus Prof	F-6
France	F-9
Bacos, MP., Dr., and Mévrel, R., Dr	F-10
Béranger, G., Prof. and Moulin, G., Prof.	F-15
Buscail, H., Dr., Bonnet, G., Dr., Colson, J.C., Prof. and Larpin, J.P., Prof	F-23
Caillet, M., Dr. and Galerie, A., Prof.	F-27
Daltin, AL., Dr., Bertrand, C., Douglade, J., Prof. and Toesca, S., Prof	F-31
Davidson, James H.	F-32
Féron, D. and Terlain, A	F-34
Hannoyer, B., Prof. and Lenglet, M., Prof	F-36
Hoch, P., Dr.,	F-41
Huntz, A.M., Prof	F-44
Molins, R., Dr. and Bienvenu, Y., Prof	F-58
Nardou, F., Prof	F-62
Petot, C., Prof	F-65
Pieraggi, B., Prof	F-68
Steinmetz, P. and J., Profs	F-73
Georgia	G-1
Mikadze, O., Dr	G-2
Germany	G-5
Borchardt, G., Prof	
Ender, V., Prof	G-10

Fritscher, K., Dr., Peters, M., Dr. and Rätzer-Scheibe, HJ., Dr	C 12
Grabke, H.J., Prof Kolarik, V., Dr. and Juez-Lorenzo, M., Dr	
Nickel, K.G., Prof.	
Pompe, W., Prof. and Bobeth, M., Dr.	
Quadakkers, W.J., Dr.	
Rühle, M., Prof.	
Schütze, M., Priv., Doz., DrIng	
Stratmann, M., Prof. Dr.	
Strehblow, HH., Prof	G-66
Hungary	H-1
Õsz, J., Prof and Salamon, T., Prof.	
India	I-1
Bose, S.K., Prof. and Roy, S.K., Prof.	I-2
Khanna, A.S., Prof	I-7
Pillai Rajendran, S., Dr., Sivai barasi, N. and Khatak, H.S., Dr	I-11
Singh, I.B., Dr	I-12
Ireland	L15
Pomeroy, M.J., Dr.	
Israel	I-21
Werber, T., Dr	I-22
Italy	1.25
Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G.	
Farina, C.A. Dr.	
Fedeli, G., Dr. and Grilli, S., Dr.	
Gesmundo, F., Prof. and Viani, F., Prof.	
Gesmundo, F., Prof. and Viani, F., Prof	
Sivieri, E., Prof.	
Stroosnijder, M.F., Dr.	
Uberti, F	I-58

Japan	J-1
Akashi, M., Dr. Eng	J-2
Amano, T., Prof	J-5
Fujiwara, Y., Mr., Toge, T., Dr. and Nemoto, R., Dr	.J-10
Hara, M., Prof. And Sato, Y., Dr.	J-12
Hashimoto, K., Prof	J-16
Ishii, K	J-21
Kihara, S., Dr., Nakagawa, K., Dr., Sonoya, K., Dr., and Matsumoto, K., Mr	J-13
Maruyama, T., Prof	.J-27
Masuda, H., Dr	.J-30
Morimoto, T., Mr., and Önay, B., Dr	.J-32
Nagashima, E., and Shibata, K	J-35
Nakamori, M., Dr	.J-36
Narita, T., Prof	.J-38
Okada, M., Dr	.J-42
Shida, Y., Dr., Otsuka, N., Dr., Fujikawa, H., Dr., and Anada, H., Mr	J-44
Takahashi, H., Prof. And Kurokawa, K., Assoc. Prof	J-49
Taniguchi, S., Dr. and Shibata, T., Prof	.J-52
Yoshiba, M., Prof	.J-56
Yoshihara, M., Dr	.J-58

VOLUME 2

Korea	K-1
Kim, Gil Moo, Prof	K-2
Kim, M.T., Dr., and Park, H. W., Dr	K-5
Latvia	L-1
Vîtina I., Prof	L-2
Mexico	M -1
Martínez-Villafañe, A., Dr., Rios-Jara, D., Dr.,Gaona-Tiburcio, C., Almeraya-Calderon, M.F	M-2
The Netherlands	N-1
Gubbels, G.H.M., Dr. and Faber, A.J., Dr.	N-2

EPRI Licensed Material

Huijbregts, W.M.M., Ir.	N-5
Norton, J.F., Mr.	N-8
Rademakers, P.L.F. and van Wortel, J.C	N-16
de Wit, J.H.W., Prof	N-18
New Zealand	N-23
Gao, W., Dr	N-24
Lichti, K.A., Mr., Thomas, C.W., Mr., Tack, A.J., Dr., and Levi, T.P., Dr.	N-27
Norway	N-33
Kofstad, P., Prof., Em	N-34
Pakistan	P-1
Hussain, N., Shahid, K.A., Rehman, S., Butt, N.M., Arshad, M., Khalid, F.A. Siddique, M., Sheikh, Z.U., Prof., Khan, I.H., Prof., Butt, M.A., Prof.	
and Ahmad, J.	
Tauqir, A., Dr., Husain, S.W., and Qamar, I	P-5
Poland	P-9
Mrowec, S., Prof., and Przybylski, K., Prof	P-10
Zurek, Z., Prof	P-15
Portugal	P-19
Dias Lopes, Eng	P-20
Spain	S-1
González-Carrasco, J.L., Dr	S-2
Otero, E., Prof	S-6
Sweden	S-11
Hertzman, S., Dr. and Jargelius-Pettersson, R.F.A., Ms.	S-12
Johansson, LG., Dr.	S-14
Jönsson, Bo	S-19
Leygraf, C., Prof. and Hultquist, G., Ass. Prof	S-20
Rosborg, B. AND Eriksson, T	S-23
Switzerland	S-27
Kammer, P.A. and Polak, R.	S-28

Svoboda, R., Dr	S-30
Taiwan	T-1
Chang, Yao-Nan, Dr	T-2
Kai, W., Dr	T-4
Ukraine	U-1
Fedirko, V.M., Prof	U-2
Lavrenko, V.A., Prof. And Podchernyaeva, I. A. Dr. Sci	U-8
United Kingdom	
Bennett, M.J., Dr	U-14
Congleton, J., Dr. and Charles, E.A., Dr.	U-18
Datta, P.K., Prof., Jenkinson, D., Dr. and Burnell-Gray, J.S., Dr	U-24
Evans, H.E., Dr	U-31
Gibbs, B.M., Dr. and Moores, G.E., Dr	U-37
Hocking, M.G., Dr. and Sidky, P.S. Dr	U-39
Lees, D.G., Dr. and Taylor, R., Prof	U-41
Oakey, J.E., Mr. And Simms, N.J., Dr.	U-44
Saunders, S.R.J., Dr. and Osgerby, S., Dr	U-50
Starr, F	U-58
Stoneham, A.M., Prof., Harding, J.H., Dr. and Harker, A.H., Dr	U-59
Stott, F.H., Prof., Wood, G.C., Prof. And Stack, M.M., Dr.	U-62
Tatlock, G.J., Dr. and Fox, P., Dr.	U-74
United States	U-79
Allen, W.P., Dr., Bornstein, N.S. and Eaton, H.E., Dr	U-81
Bernstein, Henry L., Dr	U-86
Birks, N., Prof., Meier, G.H., Prof. and Pettit, F.S., Prof	U-89
Blough, J.L	U-94
Chan, K.S., Dr., Cheruvu, N.S., Dr., Dannemann, K.A., Dr., Leverant, C and Page, R.A., Dr.	
Clarke, D.R., Prof.	
Colwell, J.A., Dr	
Dieckmann, R., Prof.	
Garde, A.M.	
Gogotsi, Y.G., Ass. Prof	
5	

Greenbauer-Seng, L.A.	U-127
Hampikian, J.M., Ass. Prof	U-145
Hobbs, Linn W., Prof	U-148
Hou, P.Y., Dr.	U-155
Ibidunni, A.O., Dr	U-161
Irene, E.A., Prof	U-162
John, R.C., Dr	U-170
Macdonald, D.D., Prof. And Lvov, S.N., Dr.	U-174
Marder, A.R., Prof. and DuPont, J.N., Dr.	U-188
McNallan, Michael, Prof	U-193
Morral, J.E., Prof. And Hennessey, T.P., Dr	U-197
Natesan, K.	U-199
Nava-Paz, J.C., Dr. and Plumley, A.L., Dr.	U-106
Pemsler, J.P., Dr.	U-208
Rapp, R.A., Distinguished Univ. Prof. Emeritus	U-210
Seeley, R.R.	U-215
Shores, D.A., Prof. and Stout, J.H., Prof.	U-218
Tortorelli, P.F., Dr. and Wright, I.G., Dr.	U-221
Vakil, Himanshu B., Dr	U-236
Was, G.S., Prof.	U-238
Welsch, G.E., Prof	

ARGENTINA

CONTENTS

Alvarez, M.G., Dr. and Carranza,	, R.M., Dr	A-2
----------------------------------	------------	-----

Argentina

Alvarez, M.G., Dr. and Carranza, R.M., Dr.					
Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica					
U.A. Mat	eriales, Div. Corro	osión, CAC			
Avda. Lil	pertador 8250				
1429 Bue	nos Aires				
Tel:	+54 1 754 7236 and +54 1 754 7270				
Fax:	+54 1 754 7362				
e.mail: gralvar@cnea.edu.ar; carranza@cnea.edu.ar					
Key Pers	onnel:	Alvarez, M.G., Dr., Carranza, R.M., Dr.			
Scientific	Key Words:	Pitting; High temperature water corrosion; Electrochemical measurements; AC impedance measurements; Heat Exchanger materials			
Technica	l Key Words:	Nuclear power systems; Steam generators.			

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The general objective of the research is to evaluate the effect of different environmental parameters, such as temperature, potential and solution composition on passivity and localized passivity breakdown of nuclear steam generator tubing alloys in pressurized water cooled reactor (PWR and PHWR)systems. In order to accomplish this objective, electrochemical tests are being performed to investigate the anodic behavior of nuclear grade Alloy 800 in aqueous solutions of different electrolytes at temperatures ranging from 60°C to 280°C. The role of environmental variables on the morphology of the attack and the properties of the passive film has also been studied.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Corrosion has been the major cause of tube failures in nuclear steam generators. Many of such problems have been attributed to the local concentration of water impurities in regions of restricted water access and overheating such as crevices or under scale. The main sources of impurities are in-leakages of cooling water containing dissolved impurities, corrosion products of the secondary circuit and resin particles or regenerants released by water purification devices Studies, such as these, of environmental factors involved in corrosion processes can provide valuable information to identify the environmental conditions in the degraded areas.and to control and mitigate corrosion problems in nuclear steam generators.

Specific Topics

1. The Effect of Temperature on the Passive Film Properties and Pitting Behavior of Alloy 800

The aim of the work is to investigate the relationship between the properties of the passive film and the localized corrosion behavior of Alloy 800 in high temperature aqueous solutions. The effect of temperature on the properties of the oxide films formed on Alloy 800 in 0.1M NaCl and 0.1M Na₂SO₄ aqueous solutions at temperatures up to 280°C was studied by *in situ* alternate current (AC) impedance spectroscopy. The results were compared with the passivity breakdown behavior and pitting morphology found for Alloy 800 in potentiodynamic polarization tests run under the same experimental conditions. The effect of temperature on the pitting potential and the pitting morphology of Alloy 800 in chloride solutions was found to be associated with a temperature-affected variation of the passive film porosity.

2. The Effect of Dissolved Impurities on the Corrosion Behavior of Alloy 800 in High Temperature Aqueous Solutions

A systematic study is being carried out into the influence of possible impurities on the corrosion behavior of Alloy 800. The aim is to define the role of individual species in the pitting susceptibility of the alloy. The anodic behavior and passivity breakdown of Alloy 800 in aqueous solutions of sodium chloride, sodium sulfate, sodium bicarbonate and sodium phosphate were studied by electrochemical techniques in the temperature range from 25°C to 280°C. The pitting resistance and pitting morphology of the alloy in chloride plus sulfate, chloride plus bicarbonate and chloride plus phosphate mixtures were also examined.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Olmedo, A.M., Villegas, M. and Alvarez, M.G., "Corrosion Behaviour of Alloy 800 in High Temperature Aqueous Solutions: Electrochemical Studies," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 229, 102-114 (1996).
- Carranza, R.M. and Alvarez, M.G., "The Effect of Temperature on the Passive Film Properties and Pitting Behaviour of a Fe-Cr-Ni Alloy," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 909-925 (1996).
- 3. Alvarez, M.G., Olmedo, A.M. and Villegas, M., "Corrosion Behaviour of Alloy 800 in High Temperature Aqueous Solutions: Long Term Autoclave Studies," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Nuclear Materials</u>, <u>229</u>, 93-101 (1996).

AUSTRALIA

CONTENTS

Young,	D.J., Prof.	and Gleeson,	В.,	Dr	A-(6
--------	-------------	--------------	-----	----	-----	---

Young, D.J., Prof. and Gleeson, B., Dr.

School of Materials Science & Engineering

The University of New South Wales

Sydney 2052

Tel: +61 2 9385 4322 and +61 2 9385 4441

Fax: +61 2 9385 5956

e.mail: d.young@unsw.edu.au; b.gleeson@unsw.edu.au

Key Personnel:	Young, D.J., Prof., Gleeson, B., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:	Multiphase alloys; Interdiffusion; Gas mixtures; Internal precipitation; Coatings; Intermetallics; Predictive capability; Thermal cycling; Gas-solid reaction kinetics
Technical Key Words:	Petrochemical industry; Gas turbines; Combined cycle systems; Pyrolysis furnaces; Heat treatment; Reformers; Reheat furnaces

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The basic research program is centered around the diffusion and phase transformation processes associated with high-temperature corrosion reactions. Several projects are concerned with diffusion in growing scales and also in the coated and uncoated alloys undergoing reaction. In addition, the mass transfer processes occurring in complex and sometimes dilute gas mixtures are recognised as potentially contributing to reaction control. Examples of these latter reactions are also under study. Phase transformations in alloys can be important when selective reaction of alloy components occurs. The resulting changes in alloy subsurface composition and, as is often a consequence, phase assemblage, are being studied for a number of cases. These include dissolution of alloy precipitate phases, transformations of alloy intermetallic phases and internal precipitation of corrosion reaction products. A significant body of work is also concerned with corrosion in mixed gas atmospheres. This work is concerned with both external scaling and internal precipitation in gas mixtures which are oxidisingcarburising, oxidising-sulfidising, oxidising-sulfidising-carburising and carburisingnitriding. Thermal cycling is used to accelerate reactions and make the alloy transformation and diffusion processes more readily accessible. A number of diffusion couple studies is also being carried out in support of the various gas-solid and solidsolid interaction studies. The diffusion couple studies are relevant to interactions between the component phases in composites and to the understanding of complex diffusion paths developed in gas-alloy corrosion reactions and coating/substrate interdiffusion processes.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Although most of the laboratory's work is concerned with fundamental studies, the unusually broad range of controlled gas atmosphere equipment is of particular value in simulating operating conditions encountered in the process industries. Examples include the carburising and metal dusting conditions found in some petrochemical and gas generation processes, the sulfidising-oxidising conditions produced in some combustion processes, carburising-nitriding conditions produced in heat-treatment operations, etc. Large scale collaborative projects have been carried out with three steel companies, two petrochemical companies, an aerospace company and an aluminium company. A large number of smaller collaborative investigations have also been completed.

Specific Topics

1. Studies in Multiphase Alloy Oxidation

Formation of a protective scale implies selective removal of a particular metal constituent from an alloy. Depletion of this element from the surface region of a multiphase alloy can displace the composition in such a way that a different phase assemblage results. Three different systems are being studied. The dissolution of Ni₃Si precipitates in a matrix of γ -Ni is observed to accompany the formation of an external SiO₂ scale. A subsurface zone of precipitate dissolution forms during the formation of an external SiO, scale. The width of the subsurface zone increases parabolically with time. Diffusional analysis has shown that mass transfer is controlled by diffusion through the single-phase depletion zone, with Ni Si dissolution not contributing to rate control. The dissolution of chromium carbides in Fe-Cr-C alloys oxidising at 850°C is also being studied. Cast alloys containing coarse interdendritic $M_{23}C_{6}$ form fast-growing iron oxide scale rather than protective Cr₂O₃. When hot forged to yield carbides of about 1µm in size, the same alloys oxidise under the same conditions to form protective Cr_2O_3 scales. The effect of alloy matrix constitution is also being investigated by using alloy additions to control the γ - α equilibrium. As expected, alloys containing the high diffusivity α -phase form a Cr₂O₃ scale more readily. Oxidation-induced phase transformations in Ni-Cr-Al alloys are also being studied. The selective oxidation of aluminium during cyclic oxidation results in a destabilisation and subsequent phase transformation of the original α -Cr+ β -NiAl structures to γ -Ni or γ -Ni + α -Cr. With continued cyclic oxidation, a further transformation of the $\alpha+\beta$ structure to $\gamma+\beta$ occurs.

Australia

This latter transformation is due to both aluminium depletion from and nickel enrichment into the α + β structure.

2. Complex Subsurface Precipitation in Alloys Exposed to High Temperature Gases

Although internal oxidation and other single component internal precipitation reactions have been extensively studied, very little information is available for the situation of practical interest where alloys are exposed to atmospheres containing more than one oxidant. Current work shows that distinct precipitation zones form during the internal corrosion of several commercial heat-resistant alloys in multi-oxidant gases (sulfidising-oxidising, sulfidising-carburising-oxidising and carburising-oxidising). The growth of individual zones follows parabolic kinetics as expected. However, the rates of zone growth are different from the corresponding rates in single oxidant gases. One clearly obvious interaction between oxidants is found in the case of carburisingnitriding of iron-nickel-chromium alloys. When carburised, these alloys form small blocky or spheroidal precipitates. When nitrided, they form lamellae or Witmanstatten precipitates. When first nitrided and then carburised, the alloys develop carbides with the morphologies of the first-formed nitrides. When subjected to simultaneous carburising and nitriding, the alloys develop zones of carbides with nitride-type morphologies, although no nitride can be detected within the precipitation region.

3. Temperature Cycling in Mixed Gases

Considerable information is available on the effects of thermal cycling during oxidation. However, little is known of the effects of thermal cycling during corrosion in mixed gases. This project involves the study of the effect on commercial heat-resistant alloys of exposure to alternate cycles of carburising-reducing conditions and oxidising conditions in the absence of carbon. Internal carburisation is always observed and the rate of this process measured with respect to cumulative carburisation time is found to obey parabolic kinetics. Accelerated rates were found as a result of "metal dusting" attack on the alloys and increased carbon activities in their surface regions. Work is now being extended to thermal cycling of alloys exposed to gas mixtures of CO/CO_2 which are strongly carburising and mildly oxidising.

4. Microstructural Degradation of Aluminide-Coated Nickel-Based Alloys During High-Temperature Exposure

The service life of the protective coatings at elevated temperatures becomes severely limited due to diffusive interactions between the coating layer and the component substrate. Knowledge of diffusive interactions is essential for the development of aluminide coatings capable of longer life and improved reliability. The purpose of this project is to characterise the microstructural changes which occur in aluminide-coated Ni-Cr-Al model alloys and commercial nickel-based superalloys during high-

Australia

temperature exposure. The coating/substrate interdiffusional processes can be qualitatively explained using the concepts of diffusion paths applied to Ni-Cr-Al isotherms.

5. Thermodynamics and Kinetics of Interfacial Reactions in Intermetallic/Ceramic Composite Systems

Ceramic-reinforced intermetallic-matrix composites are attracting considerable attention because of their light weight and potential for high strength and stiffness at elevated temperatures. Quite surprisingly, however, virtually no studies have been published on the chemical compatibility of the various intermetallic/ceramic combinations when subjected to high-temperature oxidising environments. Such studies are necessary in order to optimise the design, fabrication and selection of future intermetallic composites. This project seeks to gain a better understanding of thermodynamics and kinetics of interfacial reactions in intermetallic/ceramic systems. Research has focused primarily on titanium-aluminide matrix composites reinforced with Al₂O₃. This has involved a detailed study to determine the stable and metastable phase equilibria in the Ti-Al-O system at 900-1100°C, together with a kinetic study using diffusion couples of Al₂O₃ with different titanium-aluminide based alloys.

6. Control of Scaling During Hot Processing of Steel

This project is in collaboration with a major Australian steel company. The secondary processing of steel involves heating the steel to high temperatures (up to 1300°C), followed by rolling it into shape and then cooling. During these operations the steel surface oxidises extensively. Much of the reaction product scale, representing ~2% of the product, is lost. The final product is covered by a millscale which controls the steel's short-term rust resistance and subsequent ease of cleaning. The focus of this project has been to determine the effects of changes in the temperature-time schedules and furnace atmospheres on scaling behaviour of various commercial steels. Optimal conditions for reducing scale losses, and controlling final scale properties are being identified.

7. Rapid SiO₂ Growth on Silicides and Silicide-Containing Alloy During Thermal Oxidation

The formation of a SiO₂ layer by the thermal oxidation of silicon and silicon-containing alloys is of considerable importance to the microelectronics and high-temperature materials industries. In spite of this, however, the mechanisms associated with SiO₂-layer formation are not well understood. This is partly due to the problem of identifying experimental methods that are more revealing of the SiO₂ growth behaviour. In this project, the anomalously wide range of SiO₂ growth kinetics on different silicides and silicide-containing alloys is utilised to gain a better and more

Australia

unified understanding of SiO_2 growth. It is of particular interest to correlate and quantify the variation in SiO_2 structure with growth kinetics.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Multiphase Alloys

- 1. Chen, Y., Young, D.J. and Blairs, S., "Sulfidation Behaviour of Fe-27Mn-(0-17.3) Mo Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 245-74 (1993).
- 2. Chen, Y., Young, D.J. and Blairs, S., "High Temperature Sulfidation Behaviour of Fe-Mo-Mn-Al Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 433-60 (1993).
- 3. Chen, Y., Young, D.J. and Blairs, S., "Effects of Manganese Additions on the Sulfidation Behaviour of an Fe-28Mo Alloy," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 401-14 (1994).
- Chen, Y., Young, D.J. and Blairs, S., "Effects of Y and Zr Additions on the High Temperature Sulfidation Behaviour of an Fe-10Mo-20Al-8Mn Alloy," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 485-509 (1994).
- Carter, P., Gleeson, B. and Young, D.J., "Calculations of Precipitate Dissolution Zone Kinetics in Oxidising Binary Two-Phase Alloys," <u>Acta Materialia</u>, <u>44</u>, 4033-38 (1996).

2. Interdiffusion

- Lee, C.W.M., Gleeson, B. and Crosky, A., "The Effects of Overheating on Aluminide Coated Rene 80H Turbine Blades," <u>Proc. 5th Australian Aeronautical Conf</u>., Inst. Eng., Aust., p369 (1993).
- 7. Young. D. J., "Diffusion in Solids," in <u>Encyclopedia of Applied Physics</u>, <u>18</u>, 521-40, VCH Publishers, New York (1996).

3. Gas Mixtures

- 8. Zheng, X.G. and Young, D.J., "High Temperature Corrosion of Cr₂O₃-Forming Alloys in CO-CO₂ -N₂ Atmospheres," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 163-90 (1994).
- Tjokro, K., Young, D.J., Johansson, R.E. and Ivarsson, B.G., "High Temperature Sulfidation-Oxidation of Stainless Steels," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>3</u>, 357-364 (1994).

- 10. Zheng, X.G. and Young, D.J., "High Temperature Corrosion of Pure Chromium in CO-CO₂ -SO₂ -N₂ Atmospheres," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 1999-2015 (1994).
- 11. Harper, M.A., Ducasse, M. and Young, D.J., "Cyclic Oxidation Plus Carburization of Heat-Resistant Alloys," <u>Corrosion</u>, <u>51</u>, 191-200 (1995).
- 12. Young. D.J. and Watson, S., "High Temperature Corrosion in Mixed Gas Environments," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 239-64 (1995).
- 13. McAdam, G. and Young, D.J., "Mechanisms of Simultaneous Sulfidation and Oxidation of Fe-Mn Alloys," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>34</u>, 247-66 (1996).

4. Internal Precipitation

- 14. Tjokro, K. and Young, D.J., "Comparison of Internal Nitridation Reaction in Ammonia and in Nitrogen," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 453 (1995).
- 15. Young, D.J. and Watson, S., "Internal Corrosion of Engineering Alloys," <u>Proc. 35th</u> <u>Annual Conf. Aust. Corros. Assoc.</u>, paper 31 (1995).

5. Coatings

- 16. Da Costa, W., Gleeson, B. and Young, D.J., "Co-Deposited Chromium-Aluminide Coatings: Part 1. Definition of the Co-Deposition Regimes," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>Electrochemical Society</u>, <u>141</u>, 1464-71 (1994).
- Da Costa, W., Gleeson, B. and Young. D.J., "Co-Deposited Chromium-Aluminide Coatings, Part II: Kinetics and Morphology of Coating Growth," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>Electrochemical Society</u>, <u>141</u>, 2690-98 (1994).
- Hadavi, S.M.M., Gleeson, B. and Young, D.J., "Sulfidation Behaviour of Silicide Coated 9Cr-1Mo Steel," <u>Proc. 5th World Seminars on Heat Treatment and Surface</u> <u>Engineering</u>, Iran, pp213-222 (1995).

BELGIUM

CONTENTS

Pourbaix, M., Prof., and Pourbaix	, A., Ir	B-2
-----------------------------------	----------	-----

Belgium

Pourbaix, M., Prof., and Pourbaix, A., Ir.CEBELCORAvenue Paul Héger, grille 2BruxellesTel:+32 2 649 63 96 and +32 2 649 35 16Fax:+32 2 649 31 07Telex:23069 UNILIB BScientif: Key Words:Thermodynamic stability diagrams; Thermodynamic modeling; Thermodynamics in oxides

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

An "Atlas of Chemical and Electrochemical Equilibria in the Presence of a Gas Phase" is being prepared. It is authored by Pourbaix, Marcel (Cebelcor), Zhang, Heming, and Yang, Xizhen (ShanDong University of Technology, Jinan, P.R. China).

Fundamental Approach

These equilibrium diagrams are of the two types E = f(T) and/or log r = f(1/T), where T is the temperature (in Kelvin), E the electrode potential versus a given reversible reference electrode (for instance an oxygen-, hydrogen- or chlorine-electrode), and p the partial pressure of a given gas $(O_2, H_2 \text{ or } Cl_2)$. Both these two types of diagrams show the influence of temperature and pressure on the conditions of stability and metastability of <u>all</u> substances (solid, liquid and gaseous) likely to occur in a given chemical or electrochemical system (with 1, 2, 3 or eventually 4 components). These diagrams may also show, for non-equilibrium conditions, the affinities of the reactions and, sometimes, kinetic information (catalytic action, exchange currents and velocities of reactions). A walk along the lines of these diagrams may, at any step, lead to the confirmation and explanation of facts already known, or to the detection of errors or gaps in the existing literature, or to the discovery of unknown facts, which may sometimes be important. These diagrams may be particularly helpful as a guide for the study of all processes occurring at high temperature, and this, not only for processes involving a gaseous phase, but also for processes involving an electrolyte (such as water or a molten salt) or a solid solution (such as non-stoichiometric oxide or sulfide).

Eventually, the Atlases will cover all elements of the periodical system (one-component systems), and the oxides, hydrides, carbides, chlorides, fluorides, sulfides, hydrates, carbonates and sulphates of these elements (two-component systems). Some three component systems of particular interest will also be considered. As such, they will be

useful as text-books for teaching and research in fundamental inorganic chemistry and electrochemistry, and in numerous applications such as industrial chemistry, electrolysis, ferrous and non-ferrous metallurgy, electrometallurgy, batteries and fuel cells, catalysis, geology, and corrosion.

Part I of this new Atlas was published in 1996, with the following content:

Introduction

One-element systems:	O, H, Fe, Cl, S
Two-element systems:	O-H, O-Fe, O-Cl, H-Cl, X-S, O-S, S-Fe
Three-element systems:	O-Cl-H, O-S-Fe
Four element systems:	O-Cl-H-Fe

Part II of the new Atlas is under preparation and is due to be published later in 1996 or early 1997. Its content is:

One-element systems:	C, Al, Cr, Si, Nb
Two-element systems:	O-C, O-Al, O-Cr, O-Si, O-Nb, S-Cr, C-Si
Three-element systems:	O-H-Fe, O-C-Fe, O-C-Al, O-S-Cr, O-C-Si

It is intended to cover all combinations of elements that are of scientific or practical interest. The task is huge. Therefore, teams that are interested in this work, or industries and organizations that have an interest in specific systems are invited to contact Cebelcor.

Related publications were included in the 1991 EPRI survey on this subject.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Pourbaix, M., Zhang, Heming and Yang, XiZhen, "Atlas of Chemical and Electrochemical Equilibria in the Presence of a Gaseous Phase," CEBELCOR, Brussels, Eds. Heming Zhang, and A. Pourbaix, (1996).

BRAZIL

CONTENTS

Nolynec, S., ProfB-6

Brazil

Wolynec, S., Prof.

Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering Polytechnic School of the University of São Paulo Av. Prof. Mello Moraes, 2463 05508-900 São Paulo - SP Tel: +55 11 818 5235 and +55 11 818 5236 Fax: +55 11 818 5421 swolynec@usp.br e.mail: Key Personnel: Wolynec, S., Prof., Padilha, A.F., Prof., Tenório, J.S.A., Dr. Scientific Key Words: Oxidation; Sulfidation; Oxidation at low oxygen pressure; Refractory metals; Fe-Nb alloys; Fe-Ta alloys; Aluminum alloys; Gas mixtures; Maraging steel **Technical Key Words:** Aluminum recycling; Combustion gases; Fossil fuel-fired boiler; Oxidation in heat-treatment

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The involvement with high temperature corrosion research at the Department of Metallurgical and Materials Engineering is very recent and the Oxidation Laboratory has just been installed. The main initial objective is to investigate the oxidation kinetic behavior of different metals and alloys in different atmospheres. To accomplish this, two thermogravimetric balances and a complete set-up for handling and mixing gases have been installed. Moreover, the microstructural changes will be followed with optical and scanning electron microscopy and the identification of different components will be accomplished with microprobe and x-ray diffraction analysis.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The main objective is to develop alloys for application in fossil fuel-fired boilers using reducing atmospheres so as to lower the polluting gas emissions. Another area is that of aluminum cans recycling, in which the oxidation behavior of aluminum alloys during the melting procedure is evaluated. The oxidation of maraging steels during their heat treatment at high temperatures is also of concern.

Specific Topics

1. High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Fe-Nb and Fe-Ta Alloys

In this research the oxidation behavior of Fe-Nb and Fe-Ta alloys is investigated in atmospheres with low oxygen and medium sulfur content, aiming at their possible application in fossil fuel-fired boilers using reducing atmospheres so as to lower the polluting gas emissions. This research is supported by FAPESP (São Paulo State Foundation for Support of Research).

2. Oxidation Behavior of Aluminum Alloys Used in Can Manufacture

In this research the oxidation behavior of aluminum alloys AA5182 and AA3004, used in can manufacture, is investigated. The aim is to determine the best melting conditions of aluminum cans with the lowest weight loss of metallic aluminum. This research is partially supported by FAPESP (São Paulo State Foundation for Support of Research).

3. High Temperature Oxidation of High Molybdenum Maraging Steels

In this research the high temperature oxidation of high molybdenum maraging steels is investigated in order to understand better their behavior during their heat treatment at temperatures higher than 1200°C. This research is supported by FINEP (Brazilian Federal Agency for Financial Support of Studies and Projects).

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Castro-Rebello, M. and Wolynec, S., "Development of Metallic Alloys Resistant to High Temperature Oxidation in Atmospheres with High Sulfur Activity," In: <u>CONGRESSO de Equipamentos e Automação na Indústria Química e Petroquímica</u>, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, 9-11 Aug.(1995). <u>Equipamentos</u>, São Paulo, ABIQUIM, pp193-197 (in Portuguese) (1995).
- Castro-Rebello, M. and Wolynec, S., "Project for High Temperature Oxidation Laboratory installation at Polytechnic School of the University of São Paulo," In: <u>CONGRESSO Brasileiro de Corrosão</u>, 18., Rio de Janeiro, RJ, 20-24 Nov. 1995. <u>Programa Final & Anais de Resumos</u>, Rio de Janeiro, ABRACO, p12 (in Portuguese) (1995).
- 3. Delgado, F., Castro-Rebello, M. and Tenório, J.A.S., "Aluminum Cans Recycling: Effect of High Temperature Oxidation of Al-Mg Alloys," In: <u>CONGRESSO</u> <u>Brasileiro de Corrosão</u>, 18., Rio de Janeiro, RJ, 20-24 Nov. 1995. <u>Programa Final &</u> <u>Anais de Resumos</u>, Rio de Janeiro, ABRACO, pp22-23 (in Portuguese) (1995).
- 4. Castro-Rebello, M. and Wolynec, S., "Perspectives for the Use of Niobium and Tantalum in Alloys Resistant to High Temperature Sulfidation," In: <u>SIMPÓSIO</u> <u>Anual da ACIESP sobre Ciência e Tecnologia do Nióbio</u>, 20., São Paulo, SP, 14-15

Brazil

Dec. 1995. <u>Anais</u>, São Paulo, ACIESP, pp189-196, Publicação ACIESP No. 96 (in Portuguese) (1995).

5. Castro-Rebello, M., Tenório, J.A.S. and Wolynec, S., "Thermal Analysis of Solid-Gas Reactions," In: <u>ENCONTRO de Análise Térmica</u>, Alfenas, MG, 17-20 Mar. 1996. <u>Livro de Resumos</u>, Alfenas, EFOA/ABQ, p47 (in Portuguese) (1996).

CANADA

CONTENTS

Al-Taie, Ihsan	C-2
Boone, D.H., Dr., Daleo, J.A. and Ellison, K.A., Dr.	C-4
Cox, B., Prof	C-7
Graham, M.J., Prof. and Hussey, R.J., Dr	C-12
Ives, M.B., Prof	C-17
Singbeil, D.L., Mr	C-20
Szpunar, J.A., Prof	C-23
Tapping, R.L., Dr	C-27

Al-Taie, Ihsan	
Material Degradation	
CANMET/MTL	
568 Booth Street	
Ottawa	
Ontario K1A 0G1	
Tel: +1 613 992 9785	
Fax: +1 613 992 8735	
e.mail: ihsan_al-taie@cc	2smtp.nrcan.gc.ca
Key Personnel:	Al-Taie, I.M., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:	Corrosion; Erosion; Plasma coatings; Thermal cycling; Superalloys; Reducing environments; Molten salts; Gas mixtures; Oxidation
Technical Key Words:	Coal gasification; Syngas coolers; Fossil fuel-fired boiler; Heat exchangers

SCOPE OF THE RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research is focused on the mechanisms of scale formation and its role in the protection of alloys and coatings in reducing environments. The research includes fundamental studies of multi layered scale formation and the diffusion processes within these layers/scales in mixed gas atmospheres. Examples include coal gasification, or low NOx boiler environments, where sulfur, carbon, or chlorine potentials are high and oxygen potentials are low and fluidized-bed coal combustion, or oil catalytic cracking conditions, where materials degradation is caused by impact erosion of solid particles. The effectiveness of metallic, intermetallic, ceramics and composite coatings for protection has been studied.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The Canada Centre for Mineral and Energy Technology (CANMET) is mainly conducting applied research for the mining and energy industry. The hightemperature corrosion research activity is mainly concerned with the energy conversion industry, such as coal-fired boilers, coal gasifiers and fluidized bed combustors. The work is often undertaken in conjunction with consortia of industrial partners, or single sponsors or is fully funded by the Canadian Government. The following are current research projects in the field of High-Temperature Corrosion at the Materials Technology Laboratory of CANMET.

Specific Topics

1. Alloys and Thermal Spray Coatings for Coal-Fired Low NO_x Boilers

This research is being carried out in collaboration with a number of Canadian Utility companies, Canadian Electricity Association and two CANMET laboratories, the Energy Research Laboratory (ERL) and the Materials Technology Laboratory (MTL). The overall aim of the work is to investigate the application of thermal spray coatings on existing water wall materials of fossil fuel-fired boilers operating under low NOx conditions. Emphasis is being placed on the effect of coating composition on the mechanism of scale growth and its resistance to spallation with and without slag deposition. In addition to the gas sampling from an actual power plant, results obtained from pilot-plant studies at ERL are being used in laboratory corrosion and erosion tests at MTL to closely simulate low NOx conditions.

2. The Effect of Minor Alloying Elements on the Hot Corrosion of Ni-Cr Alloys

The aim of this work is optimize alloy composition in order to minimize metal wastage when the alloy is used in chemical recovery boilers. Optimization of the alloy composition is being made to suit the operating temperatures. The effects of the minor alloying elements and the velocity of the smelt on the rate of metal wastage are also being studied.

3. Materials for Syngas Cooler

The aim is to obtain a better understanding of material performance in highly reducing atmospheres at a wide range of temperatures. Emphasis is being placed on the formation of protective scales on superalloys and thermal spray coatings at high potentials of sulfur and low potentials of oxygen. The important material and environmental parameters which influence corrosion and erosion behavior are being assessed.

4. Scale Formation and Removal During Steel Reheat

This research includes two parts. The first part is focused on the effect of residual elements in reducing the thickness of the oxide scale that will usually develop on the steel during reheat process. The second part is focused on developing a new technique

to facilitate the removal of the thin oxide scale after reheat process and before rolling process.

Boone, I	D.H., Dr., Daleo, J	I.A. and Ellison, K.A., Dr.
Wilson &	a Daleo Inc/BWD	Turbines Ltd
1-601 Tra	dewind Drive	
Ancaster		
Ontario l	L9G 4V5	
Tel:	+1 95 905 648 926	52
Fax:	+1 95 905 648 926	54
e.mail:	ellison@wilson-c	laleo.com; daleo@wilson-daleo.com
Key Pers	onnel:	Boone, D.H., Dr., Daleo, J.A., Wilson, J.R., Ellison, K.A., Dr., Hunter, I., Dr.
Scientific	e Key Words:	Superalloys; Overlay coatings; Thermal barrier coatings; Interdiffusion; Life assessment
Technica	l Key Words:	Gas turbines; Thermal barrier coating systems; Conventionally- cast alloys; Directionally-solidified alloys; Single crystal alloys

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The overall goal of this work is to develop improved techniques for life assessment and life prediction of gas turbine hot section components. A critical aspect of component life is the durability and performance of high temperature protective coatings. The degradation of these coatings may take place by oxidation, hot corrosion, fatigue cracking and interdiffusion with the nickel and cobalt-base superalloy substrates. The actual mechanisms and kinetics of degradation are dependent on the specific operating conditions which vary from application to application. In particular, the component temperature distributions are one of the least predictible unknowns, although they are undoubtably one of the most important factors affecting coating life. A program is underway to evaluate the kinetics of coating degradation via interdiffusion with nickel and cobalt-base superalloy substrates.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The company provides a variety of engineering services, including component life assessment, to gas turbine users worldwide. Applications include gas turbines used by electric utilities, combined cycle plants and the petrochemical industry. The approach

to component life assessment is interdisciplinary and involves both metallurgical and mechanical analysis to determine the modes of degradation and the potential for continued safe service. The metallurgical analysis looks for service-related degradation such as high temperature oxidation, hot corrosion and other changes in the base alloy microstructure which may affect the material properties. The mechanical analysis involves finite element computer modeling to evaluate heat transfer, stress and vibration.

Specific Topics

1. Development of a Surface Temperature Estimation Technique Based on the Beta Phase Depletion Rate of MCrAIY Coatings

This project is being co-sponsored by Wilson & Daleo Inc. and the National Research Council Canada through the Industrial Research Assistance Program. The goal of the work is to develop an alternative metallurgical temperature estimation technique for service-exposed hot section components based on the kinetics of interdiffusion between MCrAIY overlay coatings and nickel and cobalt-based substrates. The metallurgical temperature estimates can be used to calibrate finite element heat transfer models. A method based on overlay coating degradation would prove to be particularly useful in the case of cobalt-based substrate alloys, since no quantitative metallurgical temperature estimation technique currently exists for these alloys. Coatings of interest are the (Ni,Co)CrAIY overlay types which are used either in 'stand-alone' form, as thermal barrier bond coat layers, or those which are over-aluminized for increased oxidation protection. Collaborative ventures with gas turbine users on components and materials of specific interest are welcomed.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Service Degradation of High Temperature Coatings

- Daleo, J.A. and Boone, D.H., "Failure Mechanisms of Coating Systems Applied to Advanced Turbine Components," Paper Accepted for Presentation at the <u>ASME</u> <u>International Gas Turbine and Aeroengine Congress and Exhibition</u>, Orlando, Florida, June 2-5 (1997).
- 2. Ellison, K.A., Daleo, J., and Boone, D.H., "Interdiffusion Between MCrAlY Coatings and $\gamma+\gamma'$ Ni-base Superalloys at 850°C," to be published in 1998.
- 3. Ellison, K.A., Daleo, J., and Boone, D.H., "Metallurgical Temperature Estimates Based on Interdiffusion Between CoCrAlY Overlay Coatings and a Directionally Solidified, Nickel-Base Superalloy Substrate," to be presented at the <u>6th Liege</u>

<u>Conference on Materials for Advanced Power Engineering</u>, 5-7 October 1998, Liege, Belgium.

2. Gas Turbine Component Life Analysis

- Daleo, J.A. and Boone, D.H., "Metallurgical Evaluation Procedures in Gas Turbine Failure Analysis and Life Assessment," <u>Risk, Economy and Safety, Failure</u> <u>Minimization and Analysis</u>, Ed. R.K. Penny, Engineering Formation cc, A.A. Balkema Publishers, 187-210 (1996).
- 5. Daleo, J.A. and Wilson, J. R., "GTD-111 Alloy Material Study," ASME Paper No. 96-GT-520, Presented at the <u>International Gas Turbine and Aeroengine Congress &</u> <u>Exhibition</u>, Birmingham, UK, 20p, June 10-13 (1996).

Cox, B., Prof.	
Centre for Nuclear Enginee	ring
University of Toronto	
184 College Street	
Toronto	
Ontario M5S 3E4	
Tel: +1 416 978 2127	
Fax: +1 416 978 4155	
e.mail: cox@ecf.utoronto	.ca
Key Personnel:	Cox, B., Prof., Esayed, A., Dr., Wong, Yin-Mei, Ms.
Scientific Key Words:	Zirconium alloy corrosion; High temperature water corrosion; ZrO ₂ dissolution; Hydrogen absorption; Intermetallics; Fluoride; LiOH
Technical Key Words:	Nuclear power systems; Fuel cladding behavior; Pressure tube lifetime

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

As the lifetime of nuclear fuel cladding and CANDU reactor pressure tubes increases the limitations placed on the zirconium alloy tubes as a result of their corrosion, and the hydrogen that is absorbed concomitantly, are being reached or exceeded. Factors that are involved in reaching these limits have been increased fuel burnup (in order to obtain the maximum energy from the ²³⁵U fissile components of the fuel); increased water outlet temperatures (to improve the efficiency of the reactor steam cycle) and increased power densities (to maximise the power output from a given size of reactor core). The consequences have been major development programs worldwide that are aimed at producing improved zirconium alloy fuel cladding and improved properties for Zr-2.5%Nb pressure tubes in CANDU reactors in order to extend their lifetimes. The ultimate aim of these programs is to produce alloys with lower corrosion and hydrogen absorption rates. However, development has had to be based on ad hoc approaches because the micromechanisms controlling corrosion and hydrogen absorption in-reactor are not understood. It is the aim of the research at the Centre for Nuclear Engineering to clarify these micromechanisms through fundamental studies of the properties of the oxide films formed in high temperature water and steam. In particular, the precise location and form of the alloying element atoms after the

oxidation of the zirconium matrix, and the routes by which hydrogen is transported through the oxides are important. The presence of intermetallic particles in the original alloy, and chemical species such as LiOH and H_3BO_3 (added to the reactor water) and ¹⁹F (generated by neutron capture in ¹⁸O) are the keys to unlocking the required micromechanisms.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

It has been shown that LiOH is the key aqueous species in the degradation of the protective oxide films on zirconium alloys in nuclear reactors cooled by high temperature water. At high concentrations it has been found that LiOH preferentially dissolves the tetragonal form of ZrO, in the oxide film and redeposits a non-protective, porous monoclinic-ZrO₂ form. The process generates small interconnected pores because of the small size of the t-ZrO, crystallites. Although LiOH is only added at the 2-4 ppm (Li) level in the reactor water, high concentrations can be generated in the oxide film on the Zircaloy fuel cladding because of the high heat flux through the oxide and the fact that bulk water temperatures in recent PWRs can reach or exceed the saturation temperature at the cladding surface. Boric acid, added to control the reactor core reactivity, protects against such LiOH attack by precipitating a complex borate salt that plugs the pores. However, the boric acid concentration is reduced to zero at the end of each fuel cycle. Recommendations have been made to nuclear reactor vendors for changes in the way the water chemistry is controlled during reactor operation in order to minimise such effects, and the sensitivity of new zirconium alloys to various LiOH/H₃BO₃ combinations is being examined. ¹⁹F, produced by neutron capture in ¹⁸O, appears to have a synergistic effect on the ZrO₂ dissolution steps, if it is strongly absorbed by the oxide film. This absorption seems to be influenced by other components of the reactor water chemistry, such as the presence of dissolved hydrogen or oxygen. Some of these ideas will be tested in a collaborative program with the International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, and the Nuclear Research Institute at Rez in the Czech Republic. Nuclear reactors developed in the former USSR have always used different water chemistries from those designed in the West and the forthcoming start up of Temelin-1 (Czech. Rep.), with a Westinghouse first core, will provide an interesting test of these ideas. The importance of the intermetallics in the Zircaloys appears to derive from their local effect on the proportion of t-ZrO, in the oxide film and its influence on the ZrO₂ dissolution component of the oxide breakdown process. The intermetallics also have a local impact on hydrogen absorption processes that may derive from the formation of small local regions of iron oxides within the ZrO₂ film. These appear to be more readily soluble in reactor coolant than the ZrO₂.

Individual components of the program are described in the following abstracts:

Specific Topics

1. Effect of LiOH and H₃BO₃ on ZrO₂ Degradation

This research was carried out by Wu, Chenguang, who demonstrated the basic ZrO₂ dissolution and reprecipitation processes that form the key part of the mechanism. Further detailed TEM studies to locate Li and B in the oxide microstructure are in progress. In collaboration with Siemens and Framatome, evidence for the interaction of LiOH and H₃BO₃ concentration changes in reactor water with the corrosion behavior of the fuel cladding are being sought. However, the number of variables that can change in-reactor from one fuel cycle to the next make it difficult to obtain definitive evidence for such effects.

2. Synergistic Effects of LiOH and F⁻

Fluoride ion in the high temperature water is the only other species besides LiOH that causes severe degradation of oxide films on zirconium alloys. Studies of the mechanism by which fluoride ion degrades the oxide suggest that it is very similar to the mechanism observed in concentrated LiOH, that is a hydrothermal dissolution and redeposition process with the oxide. Experiments have shown that synergistic effects occur if both LiOH and F⁻ are present, especially in water with a hydrogen overpressure. This is typical of conditions in PWRs where LiOH is added to control pH; dissolved hydrogen is added to suppress water radiolysis; and ¹⁹F is generated by neutron capture in ¹⁸O. This research is being carried out by Wong, Yin-Mei.

3. Color Centres in ZrO₂ Films

ZrO₂ films show strong fluorescence, thermoluminescence and cathodoluminescence. The effects that the alloying elements and strongly fluorescing impurities have on the various luminescence spectra are being studied by Yueh, Ken, for his Ph.D topic. Spectral peaks appear to be primarily intrinsic and only peak intensities and not positions are affected by changes in alloying elements and impurities.

4. Location of Alloying Elements in ZrO₂ Films

The precise locations of the alloying elements in the oxide film are not known. In the metal phase, elements like Cr, Fe and Ni are nearly insoluble in zirconium and occur as intermetallic particles. When the metal oxidises, so do the intermetallic particles. However, the fate of the alloying additions is not well known. The concentration of Fe,

Cr and Ni in the intermetallic particles is well above the solubility of these elements in ZrO₂, so the question of whether the excess forms particles of transition metal oxides, or becomes distributed along the ZrO₂ crystallite boundaries is important to an understanding of the oxidation process. The small scale of the ZrO₂ crystallites (5-20nm in the oxides) makes it difficult to answer the above question. Using the Jeol 2010F at McMaster University, Sheikh, Haroon has been studying alloying element distribution for his M.A.Sc. project, and will probably be continuing with this for a Ph.D.

5. Hydrogen Uptake Mechanisms

The mechanisms by which hydrogen enters the zirconium during corrosion in high temperature water or steam is even less known that the detailed micromechanisms involved in the oxidation process. It is apparently not just a simple case of hydrogen atoms diffusing through the ZrO₂ film. Previous work has strongly indicated a very localised hydrogen absorption process, and it is suspected that it is associated with the intermetallic particles in the oxide (based on largely circumstantial evidence). Efforts to measure the hydrogen diffusional properties of intermetallic phases are currently being made by Esayed, Adel, a post-doctoral fellow. Use of both amorphous and crystalline intermetallics is involved because of the amorphisation of the intermetallics in the Zircaloys that occurs under irradiation. An additional study of the oxide breakdown that occurs when oxidised zirconium alloys are exposed to hydrogen gas (with a low oxygen partial pressure) is presently in suspension, but will be reactivated soon.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Cox, B. and Wu, C., "Dissolution of Zirconium Oxide Films in 300°C LiOH," <u>Journal of Nuclear Materials</u>, <u>199</u>, 272-284 (1993).
- Cox, B. and Wong, Y.-M., "Direct Measurement of the Thickness and Optical Properties of Zirconia Corrosion Films," <u>Journal of Nuclear Materials</u>, <u>199</u>, 258-271 (1993).
- 3. Cox, B., "Effect of Crud on Fuel Cladding Corrosion," <u>Electric Power Research Inst.</u> <u>Workshop on Crud Related R&D</u>, Palo Alto, CA, USA (1993).
- 4. Cox, B., "A New Model for the In-Reactor Corrosion of Zirconium Alloys," Int. Atomic Energy Agency, <u>Tech. Comm. Meeting on Influence of Water Chemistry on Fuel Cladding Behaviour</u>, Rez, Czech Rep. (1993).
- 5. Cox, B., "Hydriding of Fuel Cladding and its Effect on Cladding Properties" Proc. <u>EPRI-PWR Fuel Corrosion Workshop Conf</u>., Washington, DC, USA (1993).
- Billot, Ph., Cox, B., et al., "Corrosion of Zirconium Alloys in Nuclear Power Plants," <u>IAEA-TECDOC-684</u>, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 177 pages (1993).

- 7. Cox, B., "Effects of Palladium on the Corrosion Resistance of Zirconium Alloys," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 211, 256-258 (1994).
- 8. Cox, B. and Yamaguchi, Y., "The Development of Porosity in Thick Zirconia Films," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 210, 303-31 (1994).
- Cox, B., "Modelling the Corrosion of Zirconium Alloys in Nuclear Reactors Cooled by High Temperature Water," Proc. <u>NATO Adv. Res. Workshop on Modelling</u> <u>Aqueous Corrosion</u>, RNEC Manadon, Plymouth, UK, Eds. K.R. Trethewey and P.R. Roberge, NATA ASI Series E, Vol. 266, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, pp183-200 (1994).
- 10. Cox, B., "Mechanistic Understanding of Nodular Corrosion The Devil's Advocate's Position," <u>Nuclear Fuel Industry Research Group Workshop on Nodular Corrosion</u>, Toronto (1994).
- 11. Yueh, H.K. and Cox, B., "Colour Centres in Zirconium Oxide," Proc. <u>19th</u> <u>CNA/CNS Annual Student Conference</u>, Toronto, Ontario, pp197-203 (1994).
- 12. Cox, B., Wong, Y.-M. and Mostaghimi, J., "High Conductivity Porous Oxides Formed on Zr-2.5wt%Nb," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 226, 272-276 (1995).
- 13. Cox, B., Wong, Y.-M. and Quon, C., "Cathodic Polarisation of Corroding Zircaloy-4," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 223, 321-326 (1995).
- 14. Cox, B. and Wu, C., "Transient Effects of Lithium Hydroxide and Boric Acid on Zircaloy Corrosion," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 224, 169-178 (1995).
- 15. Cox, B., Wong, Y.-M. and Hoang, T., "Electrically Conducting Paths in Zirconia Films," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 223, 202-209 (1995).
- 16. Cox, B. and Wong, Y.-M., "Simulating Porous Oxide Films on Zirconium Alloys," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 218, 324-334 (1995).
- 17. Cox, B., "Zirconium Oxidation at Low Temperature and Pressure," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 218, 261-264 (1995).
- Cox, B., "Fuel Clad Corrosion in PWRs Would it be Better in VVER Water Chemistry?," Proc. <u>Atomic Energy Society of Japan Nuclear Fuel Seminar '95</u>, Matsuyama City, Ch.6 (1995).
- 19. Cox, B., "Zircaloy Oxidation Mechanisms Derived from Oxygen Tracer Studies," Surface and Interface Analysis, 22, 652-654 (1995).
- 20. Cox, B., "Comments on a Theory of the Resistance of Zircaloy to Uniform Corrosion," Journal of Nuclear Materials, 224, 192-194 (1995).
- 21. Cox, B., "CANDU Corrosion Why Do We Add LiOH Without H₃BO₃?," CANDU Owner's Group, <u>Workshop on Mechanistic Understanding of Corrosion and Hydrogen Uptake in Pressure Tube Materials</u>, Deep River (1995).
- 22. Cox, B., Ungurelu, M., Wong, Y.-M. and Wu, C., "Mechanisms of LiOH Degradation and H₃BO₃ Repair of ZrO₂ Films," Proc. <u>11th Int. Symp. on Zirconium in the Nuclear</u> <u>Industry</u>, Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany, ASTM-STP-1295, pp114-136 (1996).

23. Sheikh, H.I. and Cox, B., "Location of Alloying Elements in Oxide Films on Zirconium Alloys," Proc. <u>21st CNA/CNS Annual Student Conference</u>, Ottawa, pp58-64 (1996).

Graham, M.J., Prof. and Hussey, R.J., Dr.

Institute for Microstructural Sciences

National Research Council of Canada

Ottawa		
Ontario I	K1A 0R6	
Tel:	+1 613 993 3548 a	and +1 613 993 0474
Fax:	+1 613 952 6337	
e.mail:	mike.graham@n	rc.ca; rex.hussey@nrc.ca
Key Pers	onnel:	Graham, M.J., Prof., and Hussey, R.J. Dr.
Scientific	: Key Words:	Alumina growth; Mechanisms; Silicon oxidation; Reactive element effect; Secondary ion mass spectroscopy; X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy.

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The objective of the research is to gain an increased understanding of the mechanisms of oxide growth on metals and semiconductors at high temperature. The research includes fundamental studies of the extent of oxygen diffusion in high temperature oxides and the role of 'reactive elements', such as cerium, in modifying growth processes.

Specific Topics

- 1. Mechanism of Growth of Alumina Scales
- Collaborators: Mitchell, D.F., Prescott, R., Doychak J. (NASA Lewis), Lambertin, M., Béranger, G. (Université de Technologie de Compiègne, France), Jedlinski, J. (Jagellonian University, Poland), Schumann, E., Mennicke, C., Yang, J.C., Rühle, M. (Max-Planck-Institut für Metallforschung, Stuttgart, Germany).

The overall aim of this work is to obtain a better understanding of the mechanism of growth of alumina on β -NiAl and FeCrAl alloys (with and without zirconium or yttrium additions). The main techniques employed are high resolution SIMS imaging and depth profiling to follow oxide growth processes, and STEM/EDS to determine

possible segregation of yttrium or zirconium to oxide grain boundaries and/or to the oxide/metal interface. The data illustrate the complexity of alumina growth.

2. Growth and Transport in Thermal Oxide Films Formed on Silicon

Collaborators:	Tao, Y., Lu, Z.H., Tay, S.P. (AG Associates, San Jose), Jiang,
	D.T., Tan, K.H. (Synchrotron Radiation Center, Wisconsin),
	Cao, R., Pianetta, P. (Stanford Synchrotron Radiation
	Laboratory).

The research involves the growth and transport in oxide films formed on (100)Si at high temperatures. SIMS data and information from synchrotron photoemission spectroscopy (PES), complemented by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), are providing new insights into the oxide growth mechanism, interface suboxide structures, and the distribution of nitrogen in oxynitride films.

3. Role of 'Reactive Elements' in Scale Growth on Chromia-Forming Alloys, Nickel and Other Metals

Collaborators:	Czerwinski, F. (McGill University), Rapp, R.A.,
	Strawbridge, A. (Ohio State University).

This project is an investigation of the role of reactive elements in modifying oxide growth processes. Thin reactive element coatings are found to change the oxide growth mechanism of chromia and nickel oxide scales. Also, SIMS analysis of oxidized cobalt, iron and copper coated with alkaline earths show that some of the alkaline earth is present at the metal/scale interface, which would lend support to the 'poisoned interface model' explanation of the reactive element effect.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Alumina Scales

- 1. Prescott, R., Mitchell, D.F., Fraser, J.W. and Graham, M.J., "Effect of Yttria Coatings on the Oxidation Behaviour of Fe25Al and Ni32Al at 1100 and 1200C," <u>Journal de</u> <u>Physique IV, Colloque C9 Supplément au Journal de Physique 111, 2</u>, 301 (1993).
- Prescott, R., Mitchell, D.F. and Graham, M.J., "A SIMS Study of the Effect of Y and Zr on the Growth of Oxide on β-NiAl," <u>Proc. 2nd International Conference On</u> <u>Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, Cambridge, UK, 455 (1993).

- Boualam, M., Beranger, G., Lambertin, M., Sciora, E., Hussey, R.J., Mitchell, D.F. and Graham, M.J., "Growth Mechanism of Alumina Scales on FeCrAlAlloys," <u>Proc. 12th International Congress on Met. Corrosion</u>, Houston, Texas, <u>5B</u>, 3852 (1993).
- 4. Graham, M.J., Hussey, R.J., Prescott, R. and Mitchell, D.F., "SIMS Studies of Alumina Growth at 1200°C," <u>Transactions of the Materials Research Society of Japan, 14A</u>, 125 (1994).
- 5. Prescott, R., Mitchell, D.F. and Graham, M.J., "A Study of Growth of α-Al₂O₃ Scales Using High Resolution Imaging SIMS," <u>Corrosion 50</u>, 62, (1994).
- Schumann, E., Yang, J.C., Rühle, M. and Graham, M.J., "The Effect of Y and Zr on the Oxidation of NiAl," <u>Materials Research Society Symposium Proceedings</u>, 364, 1291 (1994).
- 7. Schumann, E., Yang, J.C., Graham, M.J. and Rühle, M., "Segregation Studies of Oxidized Y and Zr-Doped NiAl," <u>Materials and Corrosion, 46</u>, 218 (1995).
- Jedlinski, J., Sproule, G.I., Mitchell, D.F., Bernasik, A., Borchardt, G., Graham, M.J. and Rajchel, B., "A Combined Approach: Isotopic Exposures/SIMS Analysis/SEM to Study the Early Stages of Oxidation of β-NiAl at 1473 K," <u>Materials and</u> <u>Corrosion, 46</u>, 297 (1995).
- 9. Prescott, R., Mitchell, D.F., Graham, M.J. and Doychak, J., "Oxidation Mechanisms of β-NiAl + Zr Determined by SIMS," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, *37*, 1341 (1995).
- 10. Schumann, E., Yang, J.C. and Graham, M.J., "Direct Observation of the Interaction of Yttrium and Sulfur in Oxidized NiAl," <u>Scripta Metallurgica, 34</u>, 1365 (1996).
- 11. Schumann, E., Yang, J.C., Rühle, M. and Graham, M.J., "High Resolution SIMS and Analytical TEM Evaluation of Alumina Scales on β-NiAl Containing Zr or Y," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, 46, 63 (1996).

2. Silica

- 12. Hussey, R.J., Bisaillion, D.A., Sproule, G.I. and Graham, M.J., "Growth and Transport in Thermal Oxide Films on Silicon," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, 35, 917 (1993).
- Hussey, R.J., Sproule, G.I., Mitchell, D.F. and Graham, M.J., "An ¹⁸O/SIMS Study of Oxygen Transport in Thermal Oxide Films Formed on Silicon," <u>Proc. 12th</u> <u>International Congress on Met. Corrosion</u>, Houston, Texas, <u>5B</u>, 3831 (1993).

- 14. Lu, Z.H., Graham, M.J., Jiang, D.T. and Tan, K.H., "SiO₂/Si(100) Interface Studied by Al Kα X-ray and Synchrotron Radiation Photoelectron Spectroscopy," <u>Applied</u> <u>Physics Letters, 63</u>, 2941 (1993).
- 15. Tao, Y., Lu, Z.H., Graham, M.J. and Tay, S.P., "X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy and X-Ray Absorption Near-edge Spectroscopy Study of SiO₂/Si(100)," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Vacuum Science Technology, B12</u> (4) 2500 (1994).
- 16. Hussey, R.J., Hoffman, T.L. and Graham, M.J., "The Annealing of Si and SiO₂ Films in Inert Gas and Vacuum Environments at 1050°C," <u>Proc. 3rd Symposion on Silicon Nitride and Silicon Dioxide Thin Insulating Films, 94-16</u>, 440 (1994).
- 17. Lu, Z.H., Graham, M.J., Tay, S.P. and Tan, K.H., "The Effects of Growth Temperature on the SiO₂/Si(100) Interface Structure," <u>Journal of Vacuum Science</u> <u>Technology, B13</u>, (4), 1626 (1995).
- Hussey, R.J., Hoffman, T.L., Tao, Y. and Graham, M.J., "A Study of Nitrogen Incorporation During the Oxidation of Si(100) in N₂O at High Temperatures," <u>Journal of the Electrochemical Society</u>, 143, 221 (1996).
- 19. Lu, Z.H., Hussey, R.J., Cao, R., Graham, M.J. and Tay, S.P., "Rapid Thermal N₂O Oxynitride on Si(100)", Journal of Vacuum Science Technology, B14, 2882 (1996).
- 20. Hussey, R.J., Hoffman, T.L. and Graham, M.J., "The Reoxidation of Oxynitride Films on Silicon at 1050°C," <u>Proc. 13th International Corrosion Congress</u>, Melbourne, Australia, <u>vol III</u>, 295 (1996).

3. Other Oxides

- Hussey, R.J., Sproule, G.I. and Graham, M.J., "The Effect of Reactive Element Coatings on the Oxidation Behaviour of Pure Cr and High Cr Content Alloys at 900C," Journal de Physique IV, Colloque C9, Supplément au Journal de Physique <u>III, 3</u>, 241 (1993).
- 22. Strawbridge, A., Rapp, R.A., Sproule, G.I., Hussey, R.J. and Graham, M.J., "The Role of Reactive Elements on Scale Growth in High-Temperature Oxidation of Pure Nickel, Iron, Cobalt and Copper. II. SIMS Analysis," <u>Journal of the Electrochemical</u> <u>Society</u>, 142, 2323 (1995).
- 23. Czerwinski, F., Sproule, G.I., Graham, M.J. and Smeltzer, W.W., "¹⁸O-SIMS Study of Oxide Growth on Nickel Modified with Ce Implants and CeO₂ Coatings," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, 37, 541 (1995).

24. Hussey, R.J. and Graham, M.J., "The Influence of Reactive Element Coatings on the High Temperature Oxidation of Pure Cr and High Cr-Content Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, 45, 349 (1996).

4. General

- 25. Rowley, P.N. and Graham, M.J., "Characterization of High Temperature Oxides Using Electron Energy Loss Spectroscopy," <u>Materials Performance</u>, 32, 48 (1993).
- 26. Graham, M.J., Wild, R.K. and Grabke, H.-J., "Interfacial Chemistry of High Temperature Scaling," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, 12, 135 (1994).
- 27. Fehlner, F.P. and Graham, M.J., "Thin Oxide Film Formation on Metals," <u>Corrosion</u> <u>Mechanisms in Theory and Practice</u>, Publ. by Marcel Dekker Inc., 123 (1995).
- 28. Graham, M.J., "Applications of Surface Techniques in Understanding Corrosion Phenomena and Mechanisms," <u>Corrosion Science, 37</u>, 1377 (1995).
- 29. Graham, M.J. and Hussey, R.J., "Analytical Techniques in High Temperature Corrosion," Oxidation of Metals, 44, 339 (1995).

Ives, M.B., Prof.

Walter W. Smeltzer Corrosion Laboratory

McMaster University

1280 Main Street W.

Hamilton

Ontario L8S 4L7

Tel: +1 905 525 9140 Ext. 24857

Fax: +1 905 528 9295

e.mail: ives@mcmaster.ca

http://mse.mcmaster.ca/resource/corrlab.htm

Key Personnel:	Ives, M.B., Prof., Coley, K.S., Petric, A., Smeltzer, W.W., Emeritus Prof.
Scientific Key Words:	Aluminide alloying/coating; Burner rigs; Ceramics; Oxidation/sulfidation; Nickel alloys; Nickel oxidation; Stainless steels; Ceria coatings; Internal oxidation; Sulfur dioxide-oxygen attack; Ceramics corrosion; Ceramics/molten aluminium
Technical Key Words:	Sulphuric acid hot gas converter; Coal gasification; Combined cycle system; Heat Exchangers; Catalyst support systems; Ceramic components; Gas turbines;

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

A series of fundamental studies on the development of protective oxide films and CeO₂ coating on nickel, nickel-aluminium and nickel-aluminium-silicon alloys and intermetallics in oxygen atmospheres has now been completed. Models have also been advanced for internal oxidation of these alloys. High temperature corrosion of silicon-based ceramics in combustion atmospheres is also studied. A newly initiated programme seeks to obtain an understanding of the behavior of stainless steels in oxygen-sulfur dioxide-sulfur trioxide environments at temperatures up to 650°C.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

A consortium of companies involved in the manufacture of sulfuric acid from metallurgical smelting operations is contributing to a program to test the behavior of a range of steels in the acid plant hot gas converter.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation of Metals

- 1. Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Growth and Structure of Thin Oxide Films on Ceria-Sol-Coated Nickel," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 503-527 (1993).
- 2. Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Early Stage Oxidation Kinetics of CeO₂ Sol-Coated Nickel," Journal of the Electrochemical Society, <u>140</u>, 2606-2615 (1993).
- Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Analytical Electron Microscopy of Thin Oxide Films and Cerium Implanted Nickel," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation 2</u>, Proceedings of 2nd International Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, Institute of Materials, London, 119-127 (1993).
- Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Effect of Ceria Coatings on Early Stage Oxidation of Nickel Single Crystals," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation 2</u>, Proceedings of 2nd International Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, Institute of Materials, London, 128-135 (1993).
- 5. Rouse, S., Czerwinski, F. and Petric, A., "Influence of CeO₂ Coating on the High Temperature Oxidation of Chromium," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 75-102 (1994).
- Czerwinski, F., Spunar, J.A., Macaulay-Newcombe, R.G. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Surface Analysis of Nickel Oxide Films Modified by a Reactive Element," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 25-57 (1995).
- Czerwinski, F., Sproule, G.I., Graham, M.J. and Smeltzer, W.W., "An ¹⁸O SIMS Study of Oxide Growth on Nickel Modified with Ce Implants and CeO₂ Coatings," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 541-556 (1995).

2. Oxidation of Alloys and Intermetallic Compounds

8. Yi, H.G., Shi, S.Q., Smeltzer, W.W. and Petric, A., "Oxidation of Ni-Al-Si Alloys at 1037 K," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 115-139 (1995).

 Yi, H.G., Smeltzer, W.W. and Petric, A., "Oxidation of '-Ni₃Al and Ni-Al-Si Intermetallic Compounds at Low Oxygen Pressures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>45</u>, 281-299 (1996).

3. Internal Oxidation

- Guan, S.W., Yi, H.C. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Internal Oxidation of Ternary Alloys. Part I: Kinetics in the Absence of an External Scale," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 377-387 (1994).
- Guan, S.W., Yi, H.C. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Internal Oxidation of Ternary Alloys. Part II: Kinetics in the Presence of an External Scale," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 389-400 (1994).
- 12. Guan, S.W. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Oxygen Solubility and a Criterion from Internal to External Oxidation of Ternary Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 375 (1994).
- Yi, H.C., Guan, S.W., Smeltzer, W.W. and Petric, A., "Internal Oxidation of Ni-Al and Ni-Al-Si Alloys at the Dissociation Pressure of NiO," <u>Acta Metallurgica et</u> <u>Materialia</u>, <u>42</u>, 981-990 (1994).

4. Corrosion of Ceramics in Combustion Atmospheres

- 14. G-Ahari, K., Coley, K.S., Baxter, D. and Hendry, A., "Behavior of Sialons and Silicon Nitride in Burner Rig Simulated Gas Turbine Atmospheres," <u>Proc. Conf. "The 8th</u> <u>CIMTEC World Ceramic Congress and Forum on New Materials</u>, June 29-July 4, 1994. Advances in Science and Technology 9: High Performance Materials in Engine Technology, Ed. P. Vincenzini, Techna Publications, 411-420 (1995).
- 15. G-Ahari, K. and Coley, K.S., "Corrosion of a Silicon Infiltrated Silicon Carbide Material in Combustion Atmospheres," Accepted for Publication in <u>Journal of the</u> <u>European Ceramic Society, 17</u>, 995-1001 (1997).
- 16. G-Ahari, K., Coley, K.S. and Nicholls, J.R., "Statistical Evaluation of Corrosion of Sialon in Burner Rig Simulated Combustion Atmospheres," Accepted for Publication in <u>Journal of the European Ceramic Society</u>, 17, 681-688 (1097).

5. Corrosion of Ceramics in Molten Metals

17. Dower, L.T. and Coley, K.S., "Corrosion of Sialon by a Liquid Aluminium Lithium Alloy and Fluxes Used in Aluminium Casting," <u>Key Engineering Materials</u>, <u>113</u>, 167-176 (1996).

Singbeil, D.L., Mr.

Pulp and Paper Research Institute of Canada

3800 Westbrook Mall Vancouver B.C. V6S 2L9 Tel: +1 604 222 3200 Fax: +1 604 222 3207 e.mail: singbeil-doug@vanlab.paprican.Ca Key Personnel: Singbeil, D.L., Dr., Prescott, R., Dr. Scientific Key Words: Oxidation/sulfidation; Chloridation; Erosion; Ash; Salt deposits; Combustion gases; Flue gas; Monitoring Technical Key Words: Pulp/paper boilers; Waste-fired boiler; Furnace wall corrosion; Boiler tube failures

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The aims of the high-temperature corrosion research projects at Paprican are to limit the costly fireside corrosion problems currently being experienced in the Canadian Pulp and Paper Industry. The majority of the corrosion occurs in the lower furnace area of the recovery boilers, but there are also instances of corrosion in power boilers, particularly in the superheaters and generating banks. Several mechanisms of degradation are encountered, including sulfidation, molten salt attack, chloridation and erosion.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

In some cases, the research involves laboratory testing in furnaces and controlled atmospheres. On other occasions, special probes are inserted into boilers to expose corrosion coupons, collect deposits or detect molten salts. Sometimes boiler inspection or failure analysis is necessary.

Solution to fireside corrosion problems may involve advice on materials selection or changes in boiler operating conditions. More advanced long-term goals are to be involved in the development of improved materials, modifications to boiler design and the introduction of new technologies for corrosion monitoring.

Much of the work is undertaken with the cooperation of Paprican's Member Companies. Some projects are being carried out in conjunction with other research groups as indicated in the following abstracts which outline the major research projects underway in 1996.

Specific Topics

1. The Development of Materials for Service in Black Liquor Recovery Boilers

It was once thought that the solution to corrosion problems in the lower furnace of a kraft recovery boiler was the use of composite, or co-extruded tubes with an outer layer of 304L stainless steel. In recent years it has been found that such tubes are susceptible to cracking when used in floors and port openings. The overall aims of this research are to identify the cause of the cracking and to develop an improved material for furnace tubes. The work is being carried out in partnership with Oak Ridge National Laboratory.

2. Corrosivity Monitoring in Kraft Recovery Boilers

Previous work on this project has been directed towards the testing and evaluation of metallic materials and coatings for water-wall service in recovery boilers. In the present phase of the work, efforts are being directed towards monitoring corrosion in a sulfidizing atmosphere. this research is a joint endeavour with the Institute of Paper Science and Technology. Support is provided by the American Forest and Paper Association and the DOE.

3. Salt-Induced Corrosion in Coastal Power Boilers

Most power boilers are fired on waste wood consisting largely of bark. At a number of coastal mills, the bark comes from logs which were once stored and transported in sea water. Sodium chloride is present in the fuel and research has shown that it can give rise to problems such as fouling, intergranular corrosion and sootblower erosion in the superheater or generating bank.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Singbeil, D.L. and Frederick, L., "Testing Materials for Resistance to Fireside Corrosion in Kraft Recovery Boilers," <u>Proc. 1994 TAPPI Eng. Conf</u>., San Francisco, TAPPI Press, Atlanta, GA, Book 2, 463-514 (1994).
- 2. Stead, N.J., Singbeil, D.L., Forget, C. and Lund, G., "Formation of Low-melting Deposits in a Modern Kraft Recovery Boiler," <u>Proc. 1995 International Chemical</u>

<u>Recovery Conference</u>, Toronto, Canada, CPPA, Montreal, Que, Vol. A, 105-110 (1995).

- 3. Singbeil, D.L., Frederick, L., Stead, N.J., Colwell, J. and Fonder, G., "Testing the Effects of Operating Conditions on Corrosion of Water-Wall Materials in Kraft Recovery Boilers," <u>Proc. 1996 TAPPI Eng. Conf</u>., Chicago, USA, TAPPI Press, Atlanta, GA, Book 2, 649-680 (1996).
- 4. Keiser, J.R., Taljat, B., Wang, X.-L., Maziasz, P.J., Hubb, C.R., Swindemann, R.W., Singbeil, D.L. and Prescott, R., "Analysis of Composite Tube Cracking in Recovery Boiler Floors," <u>Proc. 1996 TAPPI Eng. Conf</u>., Chicago, USA, TAPPI Press, Atlanta, GA, Book 2, 693-705 (1996).

Szpunar, J.A., Prof.

Department of Metallurgica	l Engineering
McGill University	
3610 University Street	
Montreal	
Quebec H3A 2A7	
Tel: +1 514 398 4755, e	xt. 0463#
Fax: +1 514 398 4492	
e.mail: jerzy@minmet.lar	n.mcgill.ca
Key Personnel:	Szpunar, J.A., Prof., Czerwinski, F., Dr., Gertsman, V., Dr., Zhilyaev, A., Dr., Blandford, P., Poplawski, S.
Scientific Key Words:	Surface modification; Coatings; Computer modeling; Reactive element effect; Nickel oxidation; Zirconium alloys
Technical Key Words:	Surface engineering; Nuclear power systems

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

General Description

The research of the Textures and Microstructures Laboratory at McGill University is focused on understanding the links between the processing of polycrystalline materials, their structure and their physical and mechanical properties. There is interest in the development and experimental verification of mathematical models which are used to simulate recrystallization, deformation, electrodeposition, high temperature oxidation and hydrogen permeation. In this scope, the research related to the high temperature oxidation is described.

Specific Topics

1. The Influence of Reactive Element Additions on the Oxidation of Metals and Alloys

The essential part of this study was conducted using Ni-NiO as a model system of cation-diffusing oxides, and Ce as a typical reactive element. Three techniques were employed to modify the surface of Ni with Ce and CeO₂: ion implantation, sol-gel technology and reactive sputtering. The improvement of Ni oxidation resistance was

assessed by oxygen uptake measurements mainly during the early stages but also for long-term exposures at temperatures between 873 and 1073 K in pure oxygen. The various oxides produced were examined in detail by several advanced techniques, including RBS, AES, SIMS, TEM, STEM, AFM and X-ray diffraction. All the microstructural and texture results were explored to describe the transport properties of the CeO₂ modified NiO. In addition to Ni, CeO₂ coatings on pure Cr, steel, Ti and Inconel alloys were tested. This research was initiated at McMaster University (Hamilton, Ontario) with Smeltzer, W.W., Prof. The oxygen isotope experiments were performed in collaboration with Graham, M.J., Prof., from National Research Council in Ottawa (Ontario).

2. Model of Hydrogen Ingress in Zr-Nb Pressure Tubes

This research is being carried out in collaboration with Ontario Hydro Technologies (Toronto). The overall aim of the work is to build an atomistic mesoscopic model of hydrogen ingress through oxide films in Zr-Nb alloys and to test this model in various experimental conditions. This model will be used to predict the hydrogen ingress in pressure tubes used in nuclear power stations.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

(Papers 1,2,3,4,8 were prepared at McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario)

- 1. Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Growth and Structure of Thin Oxide Films on Ceria Sol-Coated Nickel," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 503-527 (1993).
- Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Analytical Electron Microscopy of Thin Oxide Films Formed on Cerium Implanted Nickel," in <u>Microscopy of Oxidation - 2</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, The Institute of Materials, London, 119-127 (1993).
- 3. Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Effect of Ceria Coatings on Early-Stage Oxidation of Nickel Single Crystals," in <u>Microscopy of Oxidation 2</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, The Institute of Materials, London, 128-136 (1993).
- 4. Czerwinski, F. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Early-Stage Oxidation Kinetics of CeO₂ Sol-Coated Nickel," <u>Journal of the Electrochemical Society</u>, <u>140</u>, 2606-2615 (1993); <u>141</u>, L34 (1994).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Atomic Force Microscopy Study of Nickel Oxide Films Modified by Reactive Element," in <u>Polycrystalline Thin Films - Structure,</u> <u>Texture, Properties and Applications</u>, Eds. M. Parker, K. Barmak, R. Sinclair, D.A. Smith, and J. Floro, Materials Research Society, Pittsburgh, PA, <u>343</u>, 529-534 (1994).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "The Microstructural Characterization of Nanocrystalline CeO₂ Ceramics Produced by the Sol-Gel Method," in <u>Polycrystalline Thin Films - Structure, Texture, Properties and Applications</u>, Eds. M. Parker, K. Barmak, R. Sinclair, D.A. Smith, and J. Floro, Materials Research Society, Pittsburgh, PA, <u>343</u>, 535-540 (1994).

- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Texture Development in Thin Nickel Oxide Films," in <u>Polycrystalline Thin Films - Structure, Texture, Properties and</u> <u>Applications</u>, Eds. M. Parker, K. Barmak, R. Sinclair, D.A. Smith, and J. Floro, Materials Research Society, Pittsburgh, PA, <u>343</u>, 131-136 (1994).
- Czerwinski, F., Sproule, G.I., Graham, M.J. and Smeltzer, W.W., "An ¹⁸O₂-SIMS Study of Oxide Growth on Nickel Modified with Ce Implants and CeO₂ Coatings," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 541-556 (1995).
- Czerwinski, F., Szpunar, J.A., Macaulay-Newcombe, R. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Surface Analysis of Nickel Oxide Films Modified by Reactive Element," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 25-57 (1995).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Controlling Grain Boundary Diffusion in Oxide Films by Reactive Element Additions," <u>Canadian Metallurgical Quarterly</u>, <u>34</u>, 243-249 (1995).
- 11. Czerwinski, F., Szpunar, J.A. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Analytical Electron- and Atomic Force Microscopy Study of Multilayered Oxide Films Formed on Ce-doped Ni," in <u>Structure and Properties of Multilayered Thin Films</u>, Eds. T.D. Nguyen, B.M. Lairson, B.M. Clemens, S.C. Shin, and K. Sato, Materials Research Society, Pittsburgh, PA, <u>382</u>, 135-140 (1995).
- Czerwinski, F., Szpunar, J.A. and Smeltzer, W.W., "The Growth and Structure of Thin Oxide Films on Cerium Ion-implanted Nickel," <u>Metallurgical and Materials</u> <u>Transactions</u>, <u>27A</u>, 3649-3661 (1996).
- Czerwinski, F., Szpunar, J.A. and Smeltzer, W.W., "Steady-Stage Growth of NiO Scales on Ceria-Coated Polycrystalline Nickel," <u>Journal of the Electrochemical</u> <u>Society</u>, <u>143</u>, 3000-3007 (1996).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Optimizing Properties of CeO₂ Sol-Gel Coatings for Protection of Metallic Substrates Against High Temperature Oxidation," <u>Thin</u> <u>Solid Films</u>, 289, 213-219 (1996).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Atomic Force Microscopy Study of Grain Evolution During Growth of Thin Oxide Films," <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>204-206</u>, 729-734 (1996).
- 16. Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Influence of Annealing on Grain Growth in Nanocrystalline CeO₂ Ceramics," <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>204-206</u>, 503-508 (1996).
- 17. Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Texture Development in Oxides Modified with Reactive Element Additions," <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>204-206</u>, 497-502 (1996).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Texture Formation in Oxide Films Grown at High Temperatures on Ni Single Crystals," in <u>Textures of Materials - ICOTOM 11</u>, Eds. Z. Liang, L. Zuo, and Y. Chu, International Academic Publishers, Beijing, China, 1126-1131 (1996).
- Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "A Role of Texture in Controlling High Temperature Oxidation Resistance of Metals and Alloys," in <u>Textures of Materials -</u> <u>ICOTOM 11</u>, Eds. Z. Liang, L. Zuo, and Y. Chu, International Academic Publishers, Beijing, China, 723-728 (1996).
- 20. Gertsman, V.Y., Zhilyaev, A.P. and Szpunar, J.A., "Near Coincidence Site Lattice Misorientation in Monoclinic Zirconia," <u>Scripta Materialia</u>, <u>35</u>, 1247-1251 (1996).

- 21. Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "The Nanocrystalline Ceria Sol-gel Coatings for High Temperature Applications," <u>Journal of Sol-Gel Science and Technology</u>, <u>9</u>, 103-114 (1997).
- 22. Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "Correlation Between the Growth Mechanism and Surface Roughness in Thin NiO Films Modified by CeO₂," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>39</u>, 147-158 (1997).
- 23. Li, H., Czerwinski, F., Zhilyaev, A.P. and Szpunar, J.A., "Computer Modelling the Diffusion of Ni in NiO at High Temperatures," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>39</u>, 1211-1219 (1997).
- 24. Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "The Effect of Reactive Element on Texture and Grain Boundary Character Distribution in Nickel Oxide," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>39</u>, 1459-1468 (1997).
- 25. Czerwinski, F. and Szpunar, J.A., "The Influence of Cerium Ion Implantation on Early-stage Oxidation Kinetics of Nickel," in <u>Materials Modification and Synthesis</u> <u>by Ion Beam Processing</u>, edited by D.E. Alexander, B. Park, N.W. Cheung and W. Skorupa, Materials Research Society, Pittsburgh, PA, <u>482</u>, 677-681 (1997).
- Zhilyaev, A.P., Szpunar, J.A. and Gertsman, V.Y., "Statistical Chracterization of Grain Boundaries in Nanocrystalline Zirconia," <u>Nanostructured Materials</u>, 9, 342-346 (1997).
- 27. Gertsman, V.Y., Zhilyaev, A.P. and Szpunar, J.A., "Grain Boundary Misorientation Distribution in Monoclinic Zirconia," <u>Modelling and Simulation in Materials</u> <u>Science and Engineering</u>, <u>5</u>, 1-15 (1997).
- Glavicic, M., Pi, Y. and Szpunar, J.A., "A Method for the Quantitative Phase Analysis of ZrO, Films on Zr-2%Nb Pressure Tubes," <u>Journal of Nuclear Materials</u>, 245, 147-155 (1997).

Tapping, R.L., Dr.	
Systems Chemistry and Corrosion Branch	
Reactor Materials Division	
Atomic Energy of Canada Limited	
Research Company	
Chalk River Nuclear Laboratories	
Chalk River	
Ontario K0J 1J0	
Tel: +1 613 584 3311	
Fax: +1 613 584 445	
e.mail: tappingr@aecl.ca	
Key Personnel: Urbanic, V.F., Cox, D.S., Gendron, T.S., Cheluget, E. Balakrishnan, P.V.	•,

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

Dr. Tapping and his colleagues undertake nuclear-related R&D at reactor operating conditions; namely 300°C water. Some specifics are as follows:

- 1. Zr alloy corrosion in 300°C water as a function of material, water chemistry, flux and temperature. The contact here is Urbanic, V.F. There is also some separate work on fuel cladding, although not much on corrosion. Cox, D.S., is the contact.
- 2. Steam generator materials corrosion in 250°C to 300°C water is measured as a function of chemistry, heat flux, material and temperature. Materials studied are carbon steel, alloys 600, 690, 800. The contact is Gendron, T.S.
- 3. Carbon steel FAC in 300°C water is investigated as a function of chemistry, flux (radiation), temperature, and alloy additions. The contact here is Cheluget, E.
- 4. Water chemistry/thermodynamics at 300°C are investigated as support for the corrosion and fouling programs. The contact here is Balakrishnan, P.V.

CHINA

CONTENTS

Guan, H., Prof	C-30
He, Yedong, Prof	C-33
Li, T.F., Prof. and Wu, W.T., Prof.	C-41
Wei, Huang Yuan, Prof	C-57

China

Guan, H., Prof.

Department of Superalloy and Special Casting

Institute of Metal Research Academia Sinica

72 Wenhua Road

Shenyang 110015

Telex:

Tel: +86 24 3843531 Fax: +86 24 3891320

Tax. +00 24 3091320

e.mail: hrguan@imr.ac.cn

Key Personnel: Sun, X., Assoc. Prof., Jin, T., Assoc. Prof.

80095 IMRAS CN

Scientific Key Words: Superalloy; Aluminide coatings; High temperature corrosion; Thermal barrier coatings; Diffusion barrier

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. High Temperature Corrosion of Superalloys

The resistance and the corrosion mechanisms of superalloys used for gas turbines have been studied. Of special interest are the directionally solidified and monocrystalline alloys. The effects of grain boundaries, composition, heat treatments, and corrosive media on the corrosion resistance of superalloys is being investigated. Results are evaluated with gravimetry, metallography, and surface microanalyses. The primary aims of the research are to expand our knowledge of basic mechanisms of high temperature corrosion and, on the other hand, to develop more corrosion-resistant superalloys.

2. Modified Aluminide Coatings

Systematic experiments on the development of protective coatings against high temperature corrosion for nickel- and cobalt-based superalloys are conducted. The main work covers the preparation of coatings, which include Ti-Al, Si-Al, RE-Al, Pt-Al and Pd-Al coatings; the failure analyses of coatings under practical and synthetic aggressive environments; the effect of additive element such as Si, Ti, RE, Pt and Pd on

corrosion resistant properties; the influence of coatings on the mechanical properties of substrates. Some of the coatings evaluated in both laboratory and field tests have been proved to be of practical importance.

3. Diffusion Barrier Coatings

The interdiffusion between an aluminide coating and the substrate significantly decreases the coating life above 1100°C. This problem may be solved if a barrier could be formed between the coating and the substrate. In this work, a metal-oxide layer, which was prepared by LPPS, has been tried for use as a barrier. The effect of the volume fraction of oxides, and the post-aluminizing treatment, on the effectiveness of the barrier has been investigated. It is proposed that the effectiveness of the diffusion barrier is decided mainly by (1) the volume fraction of oxides in the barrier, and (2) the ratio of volume-diffusion flux to short-circuit diffusion flux, A model calculaiton is established which is in agreement with the experimental results.

4. Gradient Thermal Barrier Coatings

This is a fundamental study of mechanical and physical properties of gradient TBCs. The gradient TBCs were prepared by plasma spraying in reducing atmospheres, or by sintering at high temperature and high pressure. The properties of the coatings, such as elastic and shear moduli, energy, nominal and tangential hardness, friction coefficient, expansion coefficient, and thermal conductivity, are being investigated. Analytical models of the relationship between the properties and structures of TBCs has been established.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Sun, B.W., Guan, H.R. and Sun, X.F., "The Mechanisms of Metal-Oxide Diffusion Barrier," <u>Proceedings of the International Symposium on High Temperature</u> <u>Corrosion and Protection</u>, June, Shenyang, China, p299 (1990).
- Sun, B.W., Guan, H.R. and Sun, X.F., "The Role of Metal-Oxide Diffusion Barrier in Retarding Substrate/Coating Interdiffusion at High Temperature," <u>Proceedings of the International High Temperature Corrosion and Protection</u>, June, Shenyang, China, p317 (1990).
- 3. Sun, X.F., Sun, B.W., Guan, H.R. and Li, T.F., "Effect of Aluminizing on LPPS Metal Diffusion Barrier," <u>Materials Science Progress</u>, <u>5</u>, 210 (in Chinese) (1991).
- Zeng, G.L., Guan, H.R., Sun, X.F. and Hu, Z.Q., "Na₂SO₄-Induced Hot Corrosion of Superalloys DD8 and DZ38G," <u>Corrosion Science Protection and Technology</u>, <u>5</u>, 81 (in Chinese) (1993).

- China
- 5. Guan, H.R., Sun, X.F. and Sun, B.W., "A Study of the Metal-Oxide Diffusion Barrier Coatings," <u>Proceedings of the 12</u>th <u>International Corrosion Congress</u>, September, Houston, p923 (1993).
- 6. Sun, X.F., Guan, H.R., Jin, T. and Jiang, X.X., "Influence of Pt-Al Coating on the Properties of Superalloy M38," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica (Supplement)</u>, <u>31</u>, 623 (1995).
- Peng, Y., Guan, H.R., Sun, X.F. and Jiang, X.X., "Na₂SO₄ and NaCl Induced Hot Corrosion of Pt-Al Coating," <u>Corrosion Science Protection Technology</u>, in press (1996).

He, Yedong, Prof.

He, Yedong, Prof. Department of Surface Science and Corrosion Engineering UNDP Beijing Corrosion and Protection Centre University of Science and Technology Beijing 30 Xue Yuan Lu Beijing, 100083 Tel: +86 1 62332715 Fax: +86162327283Telex: 7441 Key Personnel: Qi, Huibin, Assoc. Prof. Scientific Key Words: Oxidation kinetics; Selective oxidation; Sulfidation; Mixed gases; Thin films; Surface microcrystalisation; Intermetallics; FeMo and FeMoAl alloys; Fe(Mo,W)Al coatings

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. A Novel Method to Measure the Oxidation Kinetics of Metals and Alloys

A new device to measure the oxidation kinetics of metals and alloys has been invented. This novel method is based on the theory of solid electrochemistry. In this device, the specimen is put into a sealed system composed of a yttria stabilized zirconium oxide tube with one end closed and a quartz tube with one end sealed, under a constant oxygen pressure. The yttria stabilized zirconium oxide tube coated with Pt at both the inside and the outside surfaces works at its most suitable temperature as an electrochemical oxygen pump. The quartz tube works at any temperature for the oxidation of metals and alloys. During oxidation, the amount of oxygen consumed by the oxidation of a specimen can be compensated by the electrochemical oxygen pump. All systems are controlled by a computer. It has been proved that the novel method can measure the oxidation kinetics of metals and alloys over a wide range of oxygen pressure as well as temperature. This device shows the prospect of replacing the electronic thermal balance for its higher accuracy to an extent.

2. The Diagram of Standard Free Energy for Unit Volume Oxide Formation

A new parameter EMBED Equation, standard free energy for unit volume oxide formation of metals, was introduced to analyze the nucleation abilities of oxides on metals thermodynamically. The EMBED Equation -T diagram for some oxides was established. From this diagram, the ability for metal oxides to nucleate at high temperature should be in the order of $Al_2O_3 > MgO > HfO_2 > ThO_2 > CeO_2 > Y_2O_3 > CaO > Cr_2O_3 > Fe_2O_3 > ZnO > FeO > CoO > NiO. This order is quite different from that in Ellingham diagram. Therefore, the reactive elements would be selectively oxidized to form oxide nuclei in the <math>Cr_2O_3$ -forming alloys, and promoting the formation of external Cr_2O_3 scales, but not in the Al_2O_3 forming alloys. This also implies that the free energy change of oxide formation in comparing the selective oxidation tendencies of alloying elements.

3. The Influence of Thin Surface Applied-Oxide Films on the Oxidation of Alloys

The effects of thin surface applied Y_2O_3 , Cr_2O_3 , Al_2O_3 , Al_2O_3 - Y_2O_3 films on the oxidation behavior of Ni-Cr, Fe-Cr, Fe-Cr-Al, Ni₃Al, Fe₃Al, as well as stainless steels, have been studied. The oxide films were deposited by an electrochemical method. It has been shown that the selective oxidation of chromium in Ni-Cr alloys is promoted by surface applied Y_2O_3 and Al_2O_3 - Y_2O_3 films. An integral chromia scale was even established on Ni-10Cr alloy. It has also been shown that Y_2O_3 films remarkably decrease the oxidation rate of the Cr_2O_3 -forming alloys and the spallation of the scales, but they do not decrease the oxidation rate of the Al_2O_3 -forming alloys, although they do reduce the spallation of Al_2O_3 scales. (This work is partly done in co-operation with Stott, F.H., Prof., in the Corrosion and Protection Centre, UMIST).

4. The Oxidation of Ni, AI and Fe, AI Intermetallic Compounds

The oxidation kinetics of Ni₃Al and the structure of oxide scales formed on Ni₃Al were investigated. It is shown that the oxidation kinetics of Ni₃Al in pure oxygen at 600-1000°C followed none of the accepted rate laws in most conditions, except the parabolic law under certain conditions. The ordered structure of the alloy had special influences on the nucleation of oxides and the diffusion of reactants in alloy; as a result, oxides with different composition and structure formed on Ni₃Al surface from grain to grain. The oxidation mechanism of Fe₃Al was studied in air at 800-1200°C. It is shown that the oxidation behaviors were quite different in isothermal and cyclic situations. A transgranular internal oxide formed in former condition and an intergranular internal oxide formed in latter condition. A pesting phenomenon was observed after cyclic oxidation. High energy density pulsed plasma (HEDPP) was applied to modify the surface of Ni₃Al and Fe₃Al intermetallic compounds. A microcrystalline layer with grain sizes between 10-100 nm was obtained. The experimental results of oxidation at

1000R: in air showed that a microcrystalline Al_2O_3 scale formed during oxidation, the plasticity and adhesion of oxide scale was remarkably improved, and the oxidation rate decreased and obeyed a fourth power law. An equation for this fourth power law was derived by taking account of the growth of oxide grain size with time and the diffusion along grain boundaries in oxide scales (co-operated with Institute of Physics, Academia Sinica).

5. The Sulfidation of FeMo and FeMoAl Alloys

The sulfidation of FeMo (Mo=20-57wt.%) and FeMoAl (Mo=30, 60; Al=5-20wt.%) alloys was studied in sulfur vapor. The reaction mechanism, evolution of sulfide scale and transportation of reactants through each layer of the scale were studied in details. The sulfidation rate of FeMo alloys decreased exponentially with the increase of Mo amount in alloys. It is proved that, only when a protective Al_2O_3 scale formed on FeMoAl alloy, could these alloys show excellent sulfidation resistance. The formation of Al_2O_3 scale was produced by the selective oxidation of Al in FeMoAl alloys reacted with the residual oxygen in sulfur vapor under normal conditions. In the case of pure sulfur vapor, however, FeMoAl alloys sulfidized at higher rates, which was similar to the sulfidation rate of FeMo alloys containing the same amount of Mo.

6. High Temperature Corrosion of Fe₃Al in Ar+1%SO₂

Catastrophic corrosion of Fe₃Al was observed in Ar+1%SO₂ mixed gas at temperatures above 1000°C. High energy density pulsed plasma (HEDPP) was applied to get a microcrystalline structure scale on the surface of Fe₃Al. It was shown that Fe₃Al after the HEDPP surface treatment showed an excellent corrosion resistance in Ar+1%SO₂ mixed gas at temperatures above 1000°C. Its corrosion kinetics was quite similar to that during oxidation in air at same temperatures, which obeyed a fourth power law. This tremendous result can be attributed to the formation of a compact Al₂O₃ scale promoted by the surface microcrystalization.

7. Fe(Mo,W)Al Coatings

Based on the rather good sulfidation and oxidation resistance of Fe(Mo,W)Al alloys, a technique to obtain the surface coatings of basically the same composition, as well as the content of refractory metals, as high as it could be was investigated. The Fe(Mo,W)Al coatings, with the content of Mo or W higher than about 50wt%, were obtained by Fe(Mo,W) electroplating and subsequent aluminium packing. The coatings are composed of two layers. The outer layer is predominantly FeAl phase. Underneath is an enriched W layer. The corrosion results under the environment with 10⁻²¹Pa oxygen pressure and 103Pa sulfur pressure at 800°C demonstrated that both of those two sorts of coatings were corroded severely. If the oxygen pressure in the environment is increased to 10⁻³-1Pa and the sulfur pressure kept unchanged, however, the corrosion

rates decreased remarkably. So a trivial amount of oxygen in the environment can greatly improve the corrosion resistance by promoting the establishment of Al_2O_3 scales on the surface of the coatings. Their corrosion rates are comparable to the growth rate of Al_2O_3 scales. In order to promote the corrosion behaviour of the coatings, to change from sulfidation to oxidation in the environment, with high sulfur pressure and low oxygen pressure, a mixed Fe₂O₃-SiO₂ scale was applied to the top of the coatings. In this case, a selective Al_2O_3 scale formed underneath the Fe₂O₃-SiO₂ scale which provides the coatings and the substrate of alloys with a good resistance to sulfidation in the environment of high sulfur pressure.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Qi, H.B., Zhu, R.Z. and He, Y.D., "The Sulfidation Properties of Titanium-, Manganese- and Niobium-Bearing Fe-25Cr alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures at 800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1099-1105 (1993).
- 2. Qi, H.B., Zhu, R.Z. and Wang, S.J., "Influence of Al on High-Temperature Sulfidation of an Fe25Cr Alloy in H₂S-H₂ Gas Mixtures," <u>Transactions of the Nonferrous Metals Society of China</u>, <u>3</u>, 43 (1993).
- 3. Qi, H.B., Zhu, R.Z., He, Y.D. and Sun, G.J., "The High-Temperature Sulfidation of an Fe25Cr Alloy in the H₂S-H₂ Mixed Environments," <u>Journal of the University of Science and Technology Beijing</u>, 414 (1993).
- 4. Mo, Daobin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "Microcell Processes in Hot Corrosion," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1133-1139 (1993).
- 5. Qi, H.B. and Zhu, R.Z., "Effect of Preoxidation of Fe-25Cr Alloy on Its Subsequent Sulfidation Properties," <u>Corrosion Science and Protection Technique</u>, <u>6</u>, 41-46 (1994).
- Qi, H.B., Zhu, R.Z., He, Y.D. and Huang, Z.Z. "High Temperature Sulfidation Behaviour of an Fe-25Cr-9Mn Ternary Alloy," <u>Corrosion Science and Protection</u> <u>Technique</u>, <u>6</u>, 217-224 (1994).
- Qi, H.B., Zhu, R.Z. and Li, M.S., "The Investigation on the Cracking and Spalling of Some Common Oxide Scales on Iron Base Alloys by Means of Acoustic Emission," <u>Journal of the University of Science and Technology Beijing</u>, <u>16</u>, 7 (1994).
- He, Yedong and Stott, F.H., "The Selective Oxidation of Ni-15Cr and Ni-10Cr Alloys Promoted by Surface-Applied Thin Oxide Films," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 1869-1884 (1994).

- 9. Mo, Daobin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "Microcell in Hot Corrosion," <u>Journal</u> of the Nonferrous Metals Society of China, <u>4</u>, 26-29 (1994).
- Qi, Huibin, Zhu, Rizhang, He, Yedong and Wang, Shujuan, "The Sulfidation Behaviours of Fe-25Cr-5Al and Fe-25Cr-10Al Alloys After Pre-Oxidation Treatment," <u>Transactions of the Nonferrous Metals Society of China</u>, <u>4</u>, 118-122 (1994).
- 11. Qi, Huibin, Zhu, Rizhang, He, Yedong and Wang, Shujuan, "Protection and Damage of Preformed Oxide Scales of Fe-25Cr-5Al and -10Al Alloys During Their Subsequent Sulfidation," <u>Transactions of the Nonferrous Metals Society of China</u>, 4, 66-71 (1994).
- Zhu, Rizhang, He, Yedong and Qi, Huibin, "High Temperature Corrosion and Resistant Materials," <u>Shanghai Science and Technology Publishing House</u>, Shanghai (1995).
- 13. Lu, Xinying, Zhu, Rizhang and He, Yedong, "Reactive-Element Effect of Electrodeposited Y₂O₃ Oxide Film on the Oxidation of Fe-25Cr and Fe-15Cr-10Al Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 217-236 (1995).
- 14. Lu, Xinying, Zhu, Rizhang and He, Yedong, "Electrophoretic Deposition of MCrAlY Overlay-Type Coatings," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 353-362 (1995).
- 15. He, Yedong, Mo, Daobin, Qi, Huibin and Zhu, Rizhang, "Electrochemical Potential of Metals Covered with Oxide Films in Electrolyte," <u>Science in China</u> (Series A), <u>25</u>, 550-555 (1995).
- 16. Zhu, Rizhang, Qi, Huibin, Huang, Zhengzhong and He, Yedong, "Some Aspects of High Temperature Sulfidation of Metallic Materials (1)," <u>Corrosion and Protection of Petrochemical Engineering</u>, <u>3</u>, 48-52 (1995).
- Wang, Yonggang, Qi, Huibin, Ma, Tiejun, Zhu, Rizhang and He, Yedong, "A Review of the Advance in Corrosion of Fe₃Al-Base Alloys," <u>Materials and</u> <u>Engineering</u>, <u>13</u>, 46-50 (1995).
- He, Yedong, and Stott, F.S., "Selective Oxidation of Ni-Cr Alloys Promoted by Surface-Applied Oxide Films," <u>Transactions of the Nonferrous Metals Society of</u> <u>China</u>, <u>5</u>, 48-53 (1995).
- 19. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "SEM Observation for the Microstructure of Fe-Mo Alloys," <u>Material Engineering</u>, <u>12</u>, 23-24 (1995).

- China
- Mu, Daobin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "Simulating Experiments of Hot Corrosion Cell," <u>Transactions of the Nonferrous Metals Society of China</u>, <u>5</u>, 41-44 (1995).
- 21. Wang, Yonggang, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "Effect of Electrodeposited Cr₂O₃ Oxide Film on the Oxidation of Fe₃Al," <u>Journal of the University of Science and</u> <u>Technology Beijing</u>, <u>2</u>, 104-108 (1995).
- 22. Wang, Yonggang, He, Yedong, Qi, Huibin, Ma, Tiejun and Zhu, Rizhang, "Effects of Oxide Thin Film on Oxidation of Fe₃Al," <u>Ordnance Material Science and</u> <u>Engineering</u>, <u>18</u>, 15-18 (1995).
- 23. Yu, Weipin, He, Yedong, et al., "ZrO₂-8wt%Y₂O₃ Electrodeposition Films and Their Influence on the High-Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of the AISI 304 SS," <u>Transactions of Rare Earth Elements of China</u>, <u>13</u>, 223-226 (1995).
- 24. He, Yedong, "The Relationship Between Oxidation, Passivation and Anodization in Theory," <u>1995 China Youth Scholar Conference on Materials Science, Proceedings of</u> <u>Corrosion and Protection of Materials</u>, Shenyang, China, 1-12 (1995).
- 25. He, Y.D., Zhu, R.Z. and Qi, H.B., "A Discussion on Some Fundamental Problems in Selective Oxidation of Alloys," <u>Proceedings of the Fifth National Conference of</u> <u>High-Temperature Corrosion and Protection</u>, Shanghai, China, p2 (1995).
- 26. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "TEM Observation to the High-Temperature Sulfide Scales on the Fe20Mo Alloy," <u>Proceedings of the Fifth</u> <u>National Conference of High-Temperature Corrosion and Protection</u>, Shanghai, China, p7 (1995).
- 27. He, Y.D. and Stott, F.H., "An Electrochemical Model of Demixing and Diffusion in Oxide Scales under the Gradient of Oxygen Potential and Its Application in the Oxidation of Metals and Alloys," <u>Proceedings of the Fifth National Conference of</u> <u>High-Temperature Corrosion and Protection</u>, Shanghai, China, p10 (1995).
- 28. Ma, T.J., He, Y.D., Qi, H.B. and Zhu R.Z., "A Diagram of Standard Formation Free Energy Per Volume of Oxides and Its Application in High-Temperature Oxidation," <u>The 2nd Youth Academic Satellite Meetings, Proceedings of the China Youth</u> <u>Symposium of Corrosion and Protection</u>, pp1-6 (1995).
- 29. Ma, Tiejun, Zhu, Rizhang, He, Yedong and Qi, Huibin, "Oxidation of Ni₃Al at 760°C in Pure Oxygen," <u>Corrosion Prevention for Industrial Safety and Environmental</u> <u>Control, Proceeding of the 9th Asian-Pacific Corrosion Control Conference</u>, 1, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, Nov. 5-10, pp129-134 (1995).

- 30. Qi, Huibin, Liu, Haiping, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "A Review on the Advance in Research of High-Temperature Sulfidation of Metallic Materials," <u>Corrosion Science and Protection Technology</u>, <u>8</u>, 114-121 (1996).
- Zhu, Rizhang, Qi, Huibin, Huang, Zhengzhong and He, Yedong, "Some Aspects of High Temperature Sulfidation of Metallic Materials (2)," <u>Corrosion and Protection</u> <u>of Petrochemical Engineering</u>, <u>3</u>, 55-60 (1996).
- 32. Qi, Huibin, Yuan, Haishun, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "Effects of Y Microalloying and (Y₂O₃-Al₂O₃) Multi-Component Coatings on the High-Temperature Oxidation of M38 Superalloy," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica</u>, <u>32</u>, 397-403 (1996).
- 33. Li, Lingchuan and Zhu, Rizhang, "High-Temperature Corrosion of 310SS in Gas Mixture of H₂S/H₂/CO₂," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica</u>, <u>32</u>, 284-288 (1996).
- 34. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "High-Temperature Corrosion of an Fe57Mo Alloy in the Sulfur Vapor of 1kPa Pressure," <u>Materials</u> <u>Science and Technology</u>, accepted for publication (1996).
- 35. Li, F., He, Y.D., Qi, H.B., Huang, Z.Z. and Zhang, R.Z., "FeMoAl Coating and Its High-Temperature Sulfidation Resistance Properties," <u>Transaction of the</u> <u>Nonferrous Metals Society of China</u>, accepted for publication (1996).
- 36. He, Yedong and Stott, F.H., "The Effects of Thin Surface-Applied Oxide Coating Films on the Selective Oxidation of Alloys," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 1853-1868 (1996).
- 37. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "The Evolution Process of the Sulfide Scales Formed on Fe-Mo Binary Alloys," <u>Transaction of the Nonferrous</u> <u>Metals Society of China</u>, accepted for publication (1996).
- 38. Li, L.C. and Zhu, R.Z., "Sulfidation Properties of a Vanadium-Bearing FeNiCr Alloy in H₂S-H₂-CO₂ Mixtures," <u>Transaction of the Nonferrous Metals Society of China</u>, 6, 144-146 (1996).
- 39. Wang, Y.G., He, Y.D., Zhu, R.Z. and Yang, C.Z., "Influence of Micro-Crystallization by High Energy Density Plasma on High-Temperature Oxidation of Fe₃Al," <u>Journal</u> <u>of the University of Science and Technology Beijing</u>, <u>18</u>, 6 (1996).
- 40. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong, and Zhu, Rizhang, "Influence of Sulphur Pressure on the Sulfidation Behavior of Fe40Mo," <u>Rare Metal Materials and</u> <u>Engineering</u>, <u>25</u>, 18-21 (1996).

- 41. Liu, H., Zhu, R., Qi. H. and He, Y.D., "High Temperature Corrosion of Fe60Mo5Al in 50KPa Sulphur Vapour," <u>Proceedings of the 13th International Corrosion</u> <u>Congress</u>, <u>3</u>, Melbourne, Australia, Nov. 25-29, paper 302, 1-6 (1996).
- 42. Li, Lingchuan, Zhu, Rizhang and Gesmundo, F., "Hot Corrosion of Iron in the Presence of Salt Mixture Deposit Containing NaCl and V_2O_5 at 600°C," <u>Journal of Materials Science and Technology</u>, <u>12</u>, 445-451 (1996).
- 43. Lu, Xinying, Zhu, Rizhang and He, Yedong, "Electrodeposited Thin Oxide Films," Surface and Coating Technology, <u>79</u>, 19-24 (1996).
- 44. Li, Lingchuan, Zhu, Rizhang and Gesmundo, F., "Hot Corrosion of Iron in the Presence of Salt Mixture Deposit Containing NaCl and V_2O_5 at 600°C," <u>Journal of Materials Science Technology</u>, <u>12</u>, 445-451 (1996).
- 45. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong and Zhu, Rizhang, "Microstructure of the Sulfide Scale of Symbol 109 \f 'Symbol' Phase in Fe-Mo Alloys," <u>Materials Review</u>, <u>11</u>, 23-25 (1997).
- 46. Liu, Haiping, Qi, Huibin, He, Yedong, and Zhu, Rizhang, "Sulfidation of Fe50Mo Alloy in S₂ with Various Sulphur Pressures," <u>Transactions of Metal Heat Treatment</u>, <u>18</u>, 50-54.(1997).

Li, T.F., Prof. and Wu, W.T., Prof.

State Key Lab. for Corrosion and Protection of Metals				
Institute of Corrosion and Protection of Metals				
The Chinese Academy of Sciences				
62 Wencui Road				
Shenyang 110015				
Tel: +86 24 3847927	+86 24 3847927			
Fax: +86 24 3894149				
e.mail: wwt@icpm.syb.a	wwt@icpm.syb.ac.cn			
Key Personnel:	Tiefan Li, Prof., Weitao Wu, Prof., Hanyi, Lou, Prof., Fuhui, Wang, Dr., Prof., Meishuan Li, Dr., Prof., Yan Niu, Dr., Prof.			
Scientific Key Words:	Oxidation; Oxidation/sulfidation; Chloridation; Hot corrosion; Reactive element effect; Intermetallics; Stress measurement; Aluminide coatings			
Technical Key Words:	Gas turbines; Fossil fuel-fired boiler; Waste-fired boiler; Petroleum refining; Petrochemicals; Surface modification/ coatings			

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The thrust of the research is the role of high-temperature oxide scales in the protection of metals, alloys and coatings, with emphasis on their mechanisms of growth, protective properties and breakdown in aggressive situations, such as low oxygen, high sulfur or chlorine, potential, wet oxygen and molten salts environments. The research includes fundamental studies of the development of protective scales and the effects of reactive elements, growth stress, and in some corrosive situations where protective scales are not stable. Examples include coal conversion, or gasification, or waste-fired boiler environment, gas turbine environments where molten salts may be deposited and fluidized-bed coal combustion conditions where impact erosion by solid particles may cause degradation. The alloy-oxide interface has been examined by TEM and HRTEM. The processes of the development of protective oxide scale on the sputter deposited, microcrystalline MCrAIY coating have been studied.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The sputter coated MCrAlY coating on turbine blades made by NiAl intermetallics and modification of aluminized coating by dispersion of rare earth oxide particles, and their effectiveness for protection of turbine blade, have been studied. Extensive programs are also examining the role of anti-permeation of hydrogen (tritium) by the development of alumina scale on 316L stainless steel. Application of the aluminized coating has been extended to protect some thermal parts in petroleum refining and petrochemical industries.

Specific Topics

1. High Temperature Corrosion of Alloys

1.1 TEM and HRTEM Studies of Oxide Scale

A Ni-La₂ O_3 composite film has been developed by the technique of co-electrodepositon of La₂O₂ dispersed particles with nickel onto a pure nickel plate surface. High resolution electron microscope (HREM) revealed that in the codeposited film a number of La₂O₃ nanocrystals with diameter below 5 nm appeared as dispersions. The isothermal oxidation kinetics in air at 900 °C and 1000 °C showed that the Ni-La₂O₂ filmcoated nickel plate resulted in a significant reduction in oxidation rate in comparison with that of the plates without and with pure nickel film deposited. In addition, specimens of Ni-La₂O₃ film-coated nickel plate also exhibited excellent resistance to cyclic oxidation in air at 1000 °C; conversely, the other two La₂O₃-free specimens deformed considerably at their corners and edges and the scales grown on them cracked severely. Moreover, the NiO scale formed on the composite coating showed an average grain size that was a factor 6~15 smaller than that of the scale formed on nickel plate, with and without a nickel coating. Electron probe microanalysis (EPMA) results showed that La₂O₃ dispersed in the outer part of the NiO scale, with a thickness corresponding to that of the original codeposited film. Transmission electron microscopy observed that La₂O₃ particles, in the diameter range from 20 to 500 nm, were incorporated in the NiO grains as well as along their grain boundaries. It is proposed that the modification in oxidation behavior of nickel plate by the codeposion of Ni-La₂O₃ may be attributed mainly to the formation of La_2O_3 -modified NiO as an outer part of the scale, in which rapid outward-diffusion of nickel along short-circuit paths may be inhibited due to the segregation of La ions into the grain boundaries of the NiO, and also due to possible, partial dissolution of small La₂O₃ nanoparticles originally present in the codeposited film.

1.2 Defect Detection in Al₂O₃ Oxide Scale by SPA Technique

This is conducted on Al_2O_3 -forming alloys, such as FeCrAl and NiAl. The amount and distribution of the defects in Al_2O_3 scale grown on the RE doped and un-doped alloys are measured by the Slow Positive Electron Annihilation technique. Both the electrical conductivity and microstructure of the scales, doped and un-doped, are measured by electrochemical current-impedance technique and TEM. A mechanism based on the theory of permeation flux is suggested for reactive element effects.

1.3 High Temperature Corrosion of Superalloys

High temperature oxidation behavior of Ni-based superalloys M17, K3 and highly homogenized superalloy M41 has been investigated. Experiments including isothermal and cyclic oxidation, XRD, SEM, EDAX have been performed. Results show that the oxidation rate of alloy M41 increases with temperature, but is lower than that of alloy K3. Scale adherence of alloy M41 is better than that of alloy K3 and M17; its cyclic oxidation performance is superior to that of alloy M17. Oxidation kinetics of alloy M41 obviously deviate from the parabolic law because of the volatilization of CrO₃ above 1000 °C. The higher the temperature is, the greater the deviation. In the steady oxidation stage, the scale consists mainly of a continuous and compact Cr_2O_3 oxide outer layer and a tree-root-shaped Al_2O_3 internal oxide zone. The internal oxidation becomes more severe with the rise of temperature and exposure time. The simultaneous addition of 0. 1%Zr in the alloy M17 increased its oxidation rate, and addition of 0. 1%Zr improved the adherence of the scale.

Hot corrosion behavior of alloys K3, M38G and M41, with 0.5mg/cm² Na₂SO₄ coating, at 900°C has been investigated. Both alloys M41 and K3 are subjected to catastrophic hot corrosion in a short time. The weight loss of alloy M41 is rather less than that that of K3, but the corrosion products of M41 penetrate into its substrate more severely than those of K3 do. Alloy M38G has a good resistance to hot corrosion of pure Na₂SO₄ at 950°C. The acidic fluxing can explain the hot corrosion behavior of alloy M41. The accelerated hot corrosion of alloy M41 can be inhibited by pack aluminide coating. The electrochemical impedance technique for the evaluation of hot corrosion behavior of superalloys, coatings and intermetallics in molten salts has been developed, in order to illustrate the electrochemical aspect of hot corrosion especially to understand the corrosion process concerning a fuel cell.

1.4 High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-Cr Alloys in Wet Oxygen

Fe-Cr binary alloys have been oxidized in a stream of oxygen containing different amounts of water vapor at 900-1000°C to study the effects of water vapor. The Fe-Cr alloys exhibited an initial protective behavior due to formation of Cr-rich scale and was succeeded by a non-protective, breakaway oxidation due to formation of iron-rich

scale. The appearance of the breakaway oxidation was very sensitive to the water vapor content in the atmosphere. The higher the water vapor content, the earlier the taking place of the breakaway oxidation. Increasing the oxidizing temperature or decreasing the Cr content in the alloys facilitated the earlier breakaway oxidation. The breakaway oxidation was inhibited effectively by surface applied CeO₂ particles before oxidation. A mechanism of the effects of water vapor based on the observed results and analysis of local reducing condition caused by H_2O molecule has been proposed.

1.5 High Temperature Corrosion of Rare-Earth-Element-Containing Alloys in Gas Mixtures

A project supported by European Community under fixed contract No. CI1*-CT94-0007 has been conducted since 1995 jointly with collaboration of the team of Gesmundo, F., Prof., of the University of Genova of Italy, aimed at illustrating of the corrosion behavior of rare earth metals such as yttrium and cerium containing iron-and cobaltbased alloys in purely oxidizing, and sulfidizing gases as well as in mixed sulfidizingoxidizing mixtures of the coal gasification type, i. e. with high sulfur and low oxygen pressures. The main objectives of the study are firstly because the corrosion behavior of these alloys has never been studied; thus the results are of significant interest from the point of view of the fundamental research and secondly this study would be expected to allow identification of new materials, or coatings, which would be candidates for the relevant industrial environments.

1.6 High Temperature Chloridation of Ni-20Cr Alloy

The high temperature chloridation behaviors of Ni-20Cr alloy in a $(HCl+H_2)$ gas mixture have been studied. Thermodynamic calculation predicted that there are two different regimes of stable chloridation products, depending on the gas ratio of P_{HCI}/P_{HZ} and the temperature. In the regime of lower ratio of P_{HCI}/P_{H2} and higher temperature, the only important chloridation product is volatile $CrCl_2(g)$, and in the regime of the higher ratio of P_{HCI}/P_{H2} and lower temperature, the condensed phase $CrCl_2(c)$ becomes thermodynamically stable. The chloridation kinetics' study was carried out in the two different regimes by TGA measurements. A time-dependent mass loss rate was observed in the first experimental regime. Further analysis of the kinetic data indicated that the chloridation rate limiting process is a combination of a linear gas phase transport in series with a parabolic process of the substrate diffusion of Cr. In the second experimental regime, the growth of condensed product leads to mass gain behavior. The surface of the alloy after chloridation in the first regime showed pitting morphology. A surface scale was visible for the alloy after chloridation in the second regime. These observations are consistent with the expectations of the thermodynamic analysis and the results of kinetic measurements.

1.7 Internal Oxidation of Ag-Cu Alloy

The internal oxidation (at 750°C and 850°C) of Ag-Cu, alloys with the Cu atomic percentage respectively 0.8, 3.3, 6.3 and 9.5, has been studied. It was found that CuO particles precipitated homogeneously on the surface of Ag-Cu alloys except for Ag-9. 5at%Cu, on the surface of which was exhibited the agglomerated precipitation of CuO particle clusters. The experimental results also revealed that the nucleation and growth of CuO oxide evenly varied with the change of Cu contents or oxidation temperature, when both Cu content and exposure temperature were lower. The precipitation, as well as the growth of internal CuO oxide, were consistent with the prediction by the classical Böhm-Kahlweit mode, but the abnormal phenomenon of nucleation and growth of the CuO oxide was observed when the Cu content or the exposure temperature was increased. As a result of investigating the atomic structure of different internally oxidized Ag-Cu alloys, it is proposed that stacking fault tetrahedral (SFT), which was found in the oxidized alloys, promoted the nucleation of CuO internal oxide.

1.8 High Temperature Corrosion of Intermetallics

High temperature oxidation and hot corrosion of Ni-Al and Ti-Al intermetallic alloys in a variety of corrosive environments were evaluated. Ni-Al intermetallics were susceptible to cyclic oxidation and hot corrosion, although they exhibited resistance to isothermal oxidation to some extent. Hf and B were beneficial to the oxidation behaviors of the alloys, whereas Fe and Mo have detrimental effects on the oxidation and hot corrosion resistance. Ti-Al intermetallics showed poor oxidation resistance above 700°C. The effects of several coating systems upon the corrosion behaviors of the alloys were investigated. NiCrAlY coatings showed no harmful effects on the mechanical properties of Ni₃Al-based alloy IC-6. Moreover, the thermal fatigue property of guide vanes made of alloy IC-6 was improved by sputtered NiCrAlY. Due to the inward diffusion of Co and Ni into the substrate for MCrAlY/TiAl system, however, two brittle and hard diffusion layers formed at the coating/substrate interface. Such severe interdiffusion would influence the long-term oxidation resistance and the mechanical properties of alloy. Sputtered TiAl coating with Cr addition on Ti-Al remarkably improved the oxidation resistance of Ti-Al alloys due to the formation of a protective Al_2O_3 scale. Little interdiffusion occurred at the coating /substrate interface. This coating may be a practical coating for Ti-Al alloy. Reactively-sputtered Al₂O₃ film was very effective to improve the oxidation resistance of TiAl alloy below 900°C. However, the thermal expansion mismatch resulted in the poor cyclic oxidation resistance.

2. Mechanical Behavior of Oxide Scale

2.1 Measurement of the Stress in the Oxide Scale

A new method for stress measurement of the oxide scale by cantilever bending with a strip sample oxidized on its two sides has been developed. The influence of yttrium implantation on the growth stress of Al_2O_3 formed on Co30Cr6Al sputtering coating and β -NiAl diffusion coating was investigated. The change of the growth stress due to the RE implantation can be measured precisely by using the new method. The residual stress of oxide scale formed on Co40Cr alloy, with and without yttrium implantation, Ferroalloy and MA956 was measured by using Raman spectroscopy. The studies mainly concerns the stress distribution in the scales and the stress amplitude in the local area where the oxide grain boundary or physical defect may exist.

2.2 Mechanism for Cracking and Spalling of Oxide Scale

The objective of the research is to understand the cracking process of the protective oxide scales of Al_2O_3 and Cr_2O_3 . The main technique used is acoustic emission/AE spectrum analysis. Because of the remarkable effect of the pre-existing physical defects at the oxide/ metal interface on the adherence of the oxide scale, the amount and distribution of the pre-existing physical defects have been measured using an AE technique, particularly for the RE effects. The Cr_2O_3 formers of yttrium-implanted Co40Cr and Ni30Cr are selected for this study.

2.3 Evaluation of the Adherence of Oxide Scale

The purpose of the research is to evaluate the fracture strength and the adherence of the oxide scale by four point bend/AE and pull-off tests. The mechanical failure of the oxide scales formed on Fe23Cr5Al and Fe23Cr5Al(Si, Ti, Y) oxidized at elevated temperature(1000-1200°C) is studied at ambient temperature. This work is also extended to some protective coatings.

3. Erosion-Oxidation of High Temperature Alloys

A test facility for the combined effect of high temperature erosion-oxidation in gassolid stream has been set up. The test samples mounted on a rotating holder move relatively to a stream of high-temperature fluidized solid particles to generate the erosion-oxidation effect. The maximum temperature of the facility is 900°C; the maximum velocity relative to the two phase stream is 15m/s. The erosion oxidation behavior of 310 stainless steel and HK40 alloy have been tested at 700°C. Both alloys exhibited erosion enhanced oxidation behavior under test conditions.

4. Protective Coatings

4.1 Modified Aluminide Coating with RE Oxide Dispersion

Based on the observations of the effects of RE oxide dispersed on the improvement of oxidation resistance of the aluminide coating, the processes and effectiveness of the modified aluminide coating with RE oxides dispersion on turbine blades are investigated. Both aluminide and silicon-aluminide coatings with CeO₂ dispersed are produced on either conventional cast Ni-base alloy or directionally-solidified alloy. Their corrosion resistance is tested at temperature up to 1100°C. The apparatus for the coating deposition and optimizing process has been developed.

4.2 Thermal Barrier Coatings

The aim of the work is to simulate the thermal stress distribution in thermal barrier coatings on turbine blades by the finite element method. Both the loading status and blade shape are considered in the process of computer simulation. Higher loading level and loading rate produced larger thermal stress values, and the back side of the blade has the largest stress value, while the exhausted edge has the lowest. The stress concentration zone in the vicinity of the bond layer/ceramic layer interface is analyzed in detail. Some modifications to increase the lifetime and reliability of TBCs are suggested.

4.3 MCrAlY Overlay Coatings

The work is an investigation of the formation and degradation of the sputtered overlay coatings, with emphasis on the microstructure of the coatings and the performance of the coatings on superalloys, intermetallic compounds of Ni₃Al and TiAl at high temperatures and in a hot-corrosion environment. The influence of Ta and TaN barriers on diffusion of aluminum in the coating and oxidation kinetics of the coating are studied. An investigation is being undertaken of the effects of reactive elements such as yttrium and the microcrystallization of the overlay coating on the oxidation and/or hot-corrosion resistance.

4.4 Microcrystalline Superalloy Coatings

An investigation is being undertaken into the microstructure of the sputtered microcrystalline superalloy films and their performance at high temperatures. The emphasis of the investigation is laid on the effects of microcrystallization on the oxidation of the superalloy. The mechanisms may be the change of oxide scales from complex oxides of Cr_2O_3 , TiO_2 and Al_2O_3 to unitary oxide Al_2O_3 on microcrystalline superalloy coatings and/or the improvement of the adhesion of the oxide scales on the

surface. The formation and the rehealing ability of the protective oxide scales and the excellent adhesion of the oxide scales to the microcrystalline superalloy coatings are being investigated.

4.5 Selective Solar Films for High Temperature Application

The investigation of selective solar films for application above 600°C is been undertaking. The films were produced by dc reactive sputtering from a metallic alloy target. A comprehensive kinetics modal for dc reactive sputtering was proposed to interpret the dependencies of reactive gas flux thresholds upon the history of gas flux. Nanostructure, percolation, optical properties and oxidation behaviors of the oxidealloy composite films were studied.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation

- Ma, X.Q., Li, M.S., Zhou, L.J., Li, T.F. and Shen, J.N., "Effect of CeO₂ on the Growth Stress in the Scales on Aluminide Coatings," <u>Materials Science Progress</u>, <u>7</u>, 36 (1993).
- 2. Mei, C., Patu, S., Shi, C.X. and Shen, J.N., "Effects of B⁺ and Cr⁺ Ion Implantation on The Oxidation of Ni₃Al," Journal of Materials Science, 28, 5508-5513 (1993).
- 3. Mei, C., Patu, S. and Shen, J.N., "High Temperature Oxidation of Cr⁺ Implanted Ni₃Al," <u>Materials Research, 8</u>, 734 (1993).
- 4. Ye, CJ., Shen, J.N. and Li, T.F., "The Synergistic Effects of Simultaneous Addition of Si and Ce on High Temperature Oxidation of Ni-Cr Alloys," <u>Journal of the Chinese Society for Corrosion and Protection, 13</u>, 230 (1993).
- 5. Li, M.S. and Li, T.F., "New Method for Studying influences of Alloying Elements on Stress in Oxide Scales," <u>Materials Science and Technology</u>, *9*, 67 (1993).
- 6. Li, M.S. and Li, T.F., "Stress in Oxide Scale and in-Situ Measurement," <u>Materials</u> <u>Protection, 26</u> (1993).
- Li, M.S., and Li, TF., "In-Situ Measurement of Adhesion of Oxide Scale Using Loaded Cantilever Bending Method," <u>Journal of the Chinese Society for</u> <u>Corrosion Protection</u>, 13, 79 (1993).
- 8. Li, M.S. and Li, T.F., "Iinfluence of Nd on Oxidation of Ti5621s Alloy," <u>12th</u> <u>International Corrosion Congress</u>, Houston, USA, <u>2</u>, 943 (1993).

- Ma, X.Q., Li, M.S. and Li, T., "Study on The influence of La₂O₃ on Stress in Al₂O₃ Scale By a Novel Two-Side Bending Method," <u>Chinese Journal of Rare Earth, 12</u>, 108 (1994).
- Li, M.S., Xin, L., Ma, X.Q., Pen, X., Zhou, L.J. and Li, T., "Measurement of the Adhesion of Oxide Scale Using Pull-off Test," <u>Corrosion Science Protection</u> <u>Technology</u>, 6, 245 (1994).
- 11. Peng, X., Li, T.F., et al., "The Effect of Y Or Mg Implantation on The Oxidation Behavior of β-NiAl Coating," <u>Chinese Journal of Rare Earth</u>, 12, 328 (1994).
- 12. Hu, W.S., Li, T.F. and Shen, J.N., "High Temperature Oxidation of Super Alloy M41," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, B31</u>, 512 (1995).
- 13. Ma, X., Li, M.S., Chen, Q.F. and Li, T.F., "REE Mechanism of CeO₂Dispersion for Al₂O₃ Oxide Scale," <u>Materials Engineering</u>, 142, 23 (1995).
- 14. Ma, X.Q., Li, M.S., Xiao, P. and Li, T.F., "Oxidation Mechanism of Composite Coating Containing Dispersive CeO₂," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, S31</u>, 582 (1995).
- 15. Ma, X.Q. and Li, T.F., "Oxidation Behavior of a Composite Aluminide Coating With Rare Earth Oxide Dispersion," <u>Proceedings of International Conference on</u> <u>Surface Science and Engineering</u>, Beijing 467 (1995).
- Peng, X., Ma, X.Q., Li, T.F., Chen, Q.F. and Wu, W.T., "HREM Study of Effect of La₂O₃ Particles on Al₂O₃ Scale Grown on NiAl Coating," <u>Proceedings of</u> <u>International Conference on Surface Science and Engineering</u>, 457 (1995).
- Peng, X, Ma, X.Q, Chen, Q.F, Li, T.F. and Wu, W.T., "HREM Study of Effect of La₂O₃ Particles on Scale Growth on β-NiAl Coating," <u>Proceedings of International</u> <u>Conference on Surface Science and Engineering</u>, Beijing, May, p457 (1995).
- Peng, X., Ma, X.Q., Li, M.S., Ping, D.H. and Li. T.F., "Dispersion and Morphology of La₂O₃ Particles in Ni-La₂O₃ Electrodeposited Composite Film," <u>Journal of Chinese Corrosion and Protection Society</u> (in Chinese) <u>15</u> (1995).
- 19. Peng, X., Ping, D.H., Li, T.F., Chen, Q.F., Li, M.S. and Wu, W.T., "TEM Study of Oxidation Mechanism Ni20cr Alloy With Ce Ions Beam Mixing Implantation," <u>Chinese Journal of Rare Earth, 13</u>, 245 (1995).
- 20. Ye, C.J., Li, T.F. and Zhou, L.J., "Effect of Grain Size on Oxidation," <u>Acta</u> <u>Metallurgica Sinica, 31</u>, B115 (1995).

- Hu, W.S., Shen, J.N. and Li, T.F., "Effects of Trace Elements on High Temperature Oxidation of Super Alloy M17F," <u>Corrosion Science Protection</u> <u>Technology</u>, 8, 93 (1996).
- 22. Peng, X., Shen, J.N. and Li, T.F., "The Comparative Study of Oxidation Resistance of Superalloys M17 and M17F," Journal of the Chinese Society for Corrosion and Protection, 16, 21 (1996).
- Li, M.S., Li, T.F. and Shen, J.N., "Effects of Surface Applied CeO₂ on Oxidation Behavior of 20CrNi4va Steel," <u>Corrosion Science Protection Technology</u>, *8*, 274 (1996).
- Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y., Zhu, S.L. and Wu, W.T., "The Mechanism of Scale Adhesion on Sputtered Microcrystallized CoCrAl Films," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, 45, 39 (1996).
- Xin, L., Li, M.S. and Li, T.F., "Influence of Y⁺ Implantation on Growth Stress of Oxide Scale Formed on Aluminized Ni-Base Alloy," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, 32</u>, 949 (1996).
- 26. Peng, X., Zhou, L.J., Li, T.F. et al., "A Low Oxygen Partial Pressure Apparatus and its Application to the Study of Selective Oxidation of Binary Alloys," <u>Journal of the Chinese Corrosion and Protection Society</u>, 16, 140 (1996).

2. High Temperature Degradation in Aggressive Gases and Molten Salts

- 27. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Rizzo, F., "The Sulfidation Behavior of Fe-Nb, Co-Nb and Ni-Nb Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures At 800°C," <u>Presented to The</u> <u>Annual Meeting of Brazialian Metallurgy and Materials Association</u>, p28 (1993).
- Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q. and Wu, W.T., "Rapid Oxidation and Sulfidation of FeAl Intermetallics in NaCl-(Na, K)₂SO₄ Melts at 800-850°C," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, 63-65, 672 (1993).
- Shen, H.Q., Zeng, C.L. and Wu, W.T., "Hot Corrosion Behavior of Ni₃Al Intermetallics in O₂/SO₂/SO₃ Atmosphere," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, B450</u>, 10 (1993).
- Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q. and Wu, W.T., "Monitoring of Cracking of Oxide Film During Hot Corrosion," <u>Journal of the Chinese Corrosion and Protection Society</u>, <u>13</u>, 59 (1993).
- 31. Zhang, J.Q., Zeng, C.L., Niu, Y. and Wu, W.T., "An Electrochemical Impedance Study of Hot Corrosion of Fe-Cr Alloys," <u>Journal of the Chinese Corrosion and</u> <u>Protection Society</u>, 13, 274 (1993).

- Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q., Niu, Y. and Wu, W.T., "Electrochemical Impedance of Corrosion of Fe-Based 801 Alloy in a Molten Salt," <u>Corrosion Science Protection</u> <u>Technology</u>, 5, 229 (1993).
- Zhang, S.L., Yan, Y., Zhu, J.Q., Wang, M.C. and Wu, W.T., "Study on the Microstructure and Salt-Coating Hot Corrosion Resistance Of Laser Cladding Co-Base Alloy," <u>Materials Science Progress</u>, 7, 304 (1993).
- Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q., Niu, Y. and Wu, W.T., "Ac Impedance of Ni-Al Intermetallics Compounds After Hot Corrosion," <u>Applied Chemistry</u>, 10, 110 (1993).
- 35. Zhu, S.L., Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Hot Corrosion Behavior of Amorphous Al₂O₃ Coating on Superalloys," <u>Chinese Journal of Non-Ferrous</u> <u>Metals, 3</u>, 54 (1993).
- 36. Zhang, Y.S. and Wu, W.T., "Summary of Studies on Hot Corrosion of Iron-Based Alloys By Sodium Sulfates in O₂/SO₂/SO₃ Environment," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>35</u>, 319 (1993).
- Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q., Niu, Y. and Wu, W.T., "Characterization of Molten Salts Corrosion of Sputter Deposition CoCrAlY Coating Intermetallics System by Means of Impendence Measurement," <u>Chinese Science Bulletin, 19</u>, 1444 (1993).
- Niu, Y., Wu, W.T., Gesmundo, F., and Viani, F., "Low Temperature Hot Corrosion of M₃Al Intermetallics," <u>Acta Metalurgica. Sinica, B162</u> (in Chinese) (1993).
- 39. Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y., Zhu, S.L. and Wu, W.T., "Oxidation of Microcrystalline Ni₃Al Intermetallics," <u>Materials Science Progress, 7(6)</u>, 507 (in Chinese) (1993).
- 40. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Tassa, O., "The Hot Corrosion of Two Fe-Al Intermetallics at 600°C," Journal de Physique IV, 3, 375 (1993).
- 41. Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q. and Wu, W.T., "Molten (Na, K)₂SO₄-NaCl Salt Corrosion of Ni₃Al Alloy," Journal de Physique IV, 3, 381 (1993).
- 42. Niu, Y., Gesmundo F. and Viani, F., "The Sulfidation of Fe-Nb Alloys at 600-800°C," Corrosion Science, 36, 883 (1994).
- 43. Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Gesmundo, F., "The Corrosion of Ni-Nb Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixture At 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science, 36</u>, 883 (1994).
- 44. Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Gesmundo, F., "The Sulfidation of Co-Nb Alloys at 600-800°C in H_2 - H_2 S Mixture Under 10⁻⁸ Atm S_2 ," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, 36, 423 (1994).

- 45. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "The Sulfidation of Fe-Nb Alloys at 600-800 $^{\circ}$ C in H₂-H₂S-CO₂Mixture Under 10⁻⁸ Atm S₂," <u>Corrosion Science, 36</u>, 1885 (1994).
- 46. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Rizzo, F., "The Corrosion of Fe-Nb Alloys in Reducing/Oxidizing-Sulfidizing Gases at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science, 36</u>, 1973 (1994).
- 47. Ma, X.Q. and Li, T.F., "Effect of Re Oxide Addition on Hot Corrosion Behaviors of NiAl Coating," <u>Transactions of the Nonferrous Metallurgical Society of China, 4</u>, 83 (1994).
- 48. Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q. and Wu, W.T., "The Effect of Ce on Hot Corrosion Iron-Based Alloys," Journal of Rare Earth, 12 5, 225 (1994).
- Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q., Wu, W.T. and Niu, N., "Impedance Characterization of Ni₃Al and CoCrAlY Coating in Molten Salts," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica</u>, 30(6), B247 (in Chinese) (1994).
- 50. Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Progresses in Microcrystalline Coatings of Superalloys," Journal of Vacuum Science Technology, 14(4), 287 (in Chinese) (1994).
- 51. Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q., Niu, Y. and Wu, W.T., "Characterization of Molten Salts Corrosion of Sputter Deposited CoCrAly Coating/Intermetallics System by Means of Electrochemical Impedance Measurement," <u>Chinese Science Bulletin, 39(17)</u>, 1444 (1994).
- 52. Zeng, C.J., Wu, W.T. and Li, D., "Molten Salts Induced Hot Corrosion of TiAl Intermetallics," <u>Journal of the Chinese Society for Corrosion and Protection, 14</u>, 270 (1994).
- Zeng, C.J., Wu, W.T. and Guo Jiantingna, "SO₄ Induced Hot Corrosion of Ni₃Al-Fe Intermetallic Compound at Intermediate Temperature," <u>Acta Metallurgica</u> <u>Sinica., 30</u>, B420 (1994).
- Niu, Y., Rizzo, F., Gesmundo, F. and Monteiro, M.J., "The Oxidation of Two Co-Nb Alloys Under Low Oxygen Pressures at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u> <u>Protection Technology, 7</u>, 139 (in Chinese) (1995).
- 55. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Rizzo, F., Castro, Rebelo M. and Viani, F., "The Oxidation of Ni-Nb Alloys Under 1 Atm of Pure Oxygen at 600-800°C," <u>Materials and</u> <u>Corrosion, 46</u>, 223 (1995).
- 56. Shen, J.N., "High Temperature Chloridation of Ni-20Cr Alloy," Journal of the Chinese Society for Corrosion and Protection, 15, 189 (1995).

- Shen, J.N., Zhou, L.J. and Li, T.F., "Simulation Study of Erosion-Oxidation of High Temperature Steels in Hot Gas and Solid Particle Stream," <u>The 5th National</u> <u>Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection</u>, Shanghai, China, p10 (1995).
- Zeng, C.L., Wu, W.T. and Guo, J.T., "High Temperature and Low Temperature Hot Corrosion of Intermetallics," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica</u>, 31, S563 (in Chinese) (1995).
- 59. Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y., Zhu, S.L. and Wu, W.T., "Oxidation of Microcrystalline TiAl Intermetallics," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, 3</u>, S612 (in Chinese) (1995).
- 60. Zeng, C.L., Wang, F.H., Ye, C.J., Lou, H.Y., Wu, W.T. et al., "High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Ni₃Al-Mo Intermetallics," <u>High Technology Letters</u>, <u>12</u>, 30 (in Chinese) (1995).
- 61. Wu, W.T., Zeng, C.L., Zhang, J.Q. and Shen, H.Q., "Hot Corrosion of Ni-Al Intermetallics," <u>Prog. Advanced Materials</u>, Ed. National Commission of High Tech. New Materials, Academic Publishers, 23, Beijing (1995).
- Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Oxidation Resistance of Sputtered Ni₃Al Nanocrystalline Coatings," in <u>Proceedings of the International Conference on</u> <u>Surface Science and Engineering</u>, International Academic Publishers, Beijing, p465 (1995).
- 63. Zeng, C.L., Wu, W.T. and Guo, J.T., "High Temperature Hot Corrosion of NiAl-20at.%Fe Intermetallic Compound and its Aluminide Coating," in <u>Proceedings of</u> <u>the International Conference on Surface Science and Engineering</u>, International Academic Publishers, Beijing, p342 (1995).
- 64. Wang, F., Lou, H. and Wu, W., "Oxidation Resistance of Sputtered Ni₃Al-20at%Fe Intermetallics Compound and its Aluminide Coatings," <u>Corrosion and Surface</u> <u>Engineering</u>, International Academic Publishers, Beijing, p465 (1995).
- Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "The Oxidation Resistance of a Sputtered, Microcrystalline Ti-Al-Intermetallic-Compound Film," <u>Oxidation of Metals, 43</u>, 395 (1995).
- 66. Niu, Y., Wu, W.T., Zeng, C.L. and Viani, F., "Corrosion of Y, Fe and Fe-15Y in H₂-H₂s Mixture Under 10⁻³ Pa S₂ At 600-800°C," <u>Journal of Materials Science and Technology</u>, 12, 321 (1996).
- 67. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Castello, P., Viani, F., Huntz, A.M. and Wu, W.T., "The Sulfidation of Two-Phase Cu-Ag Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures At 550-750°C," <u>Corrosion Science, 38</u>, 1295 (1996).

- 68. Niu, Y., Wu, W.T. and Gesmundo, F., "Oxidation of Two-Phase Cu-Ag Alloys in Air At 650-750°C," <u>Corrosion Science Protection Technology</u>, *8*, 259 (1996).
- 69. Zeng, C.L., Wu, W.T. and Guo, J.T., "Hot Corrosion of Aluminized NiAl-20%Fe Intermetallics," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, 32(2)</u>, 197 (1996).

3. High Temperature Protective Coatings

- 70. Wang, F.H. and Lou, H.Y., "Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Improved by a CoCrAl Coating," Journal de Physique, 3, 551 (1993).
- Ma, X.Q. and Li, T.F., "Oxidation Behavior of NiAl(Si) Aluminide Coating Containing CeO₂ Dispersed," <u>Corrosion Science Protection Technology</u>, 5, 255 (in Chinese) (1993).
- 72. Liu, C.Q., Li, M.S., Jin, Z.J. and Wu, W.T., "Tensile and Adhesive Strength of Fine Tin Film on Ti Substrate," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, 6</u>, 126 (1993).
- 73. Ma, X.Q. and Li, T.F., "Migration of Oxides in a Composite Coating and its Effect on Inhibiting Coating Degradation," <u>Journal of Materials Science and Technology</u>, <u>9</u>, 36 (1993).
- Xia, B.J., Lou, H.Y. and Zhang, L.X., "Morphology and Microstructure of Sputtered Superalloy Coating," <u>Journal of Materials Science and Technology</u>, 9, 116 (1993).
- 75. Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Influence of Defects on the Properties of Sputtered CoCrAly Coating," <u>Acta Metallurgica Sinica, 6</u>, 141 (1993).
- Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Effect of CoCrAl Microcrystalline Coating on Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Intermetallic Compound," <u>Acta Metallurgica</u> <u>Sinica, 6b</u>, 331 (1993).
- Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y., Zhu, S.L. and Wu, W.T., "Oxidation Resistance of Sputtered Ni3Al Microcrystalline Coatings," <u>Materials Science Progress</u>, 7, 507 (1993).
- 78. Yu, J.Q., Wang, M.C. and Wu, W.T., "Microstructure of the Laser Clad Oxide Ceramic Coating," <u>Chinese Journal of Laser, 20</u>, 778 (1993).
- 79. Yu, J.Q., Wang, M.C. and Wu, W.T., "Enamel Coating Manufactured by Laser Irradiation," <u>Chinese Journal of Laser, 20</u>, 778 (1993).
- 80. Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "The Effect of Reactively Sputtered Alumina Films on The Oxidation Resistance of CoCrAlY Coatings," <u>Journal de</u> <u>Physique, 3</u>, 551 (1993).

- 81. Wu, W.T., Streiff, R., Zhang, J.Q., Xu, S.Q. and Zeng, C.L., "Influence of Laser Surface Remelt on High Temperarure Oxidation of a Low Pressure Plasma Sprayed Amdry 997 Overlay Coating," <u>Journal de Physique, 3</u>, 627 (1993).
- 82. Niu, Y., Wu, W.T., Boone, D.H., Smith, J.S. and Zhang, J.Q., "Oxidation Behavior of Simple and Pt-Modified Aluminide Coatings on 738 at 1100°C," <u>Journal de Physique, 3</u>, 511 (1993).
- 83. Zhu, S.L., Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Reactive Sputter Deposition of Alumina Films on Superalloys and their High Temperature and their High Temperature Corrosion Behavior," Su<u>rface Coating Technology</u>, *71*, 9 (1993).
- Peng, X., Li, T.F. et al., "Oxidation Behavior of La₂O₃ Oxide Dispersion Strengthened Aluminum-Diffusional Coating," <u>Chinese Journal of Rare. Earth, 12</u>, 149 (1994).
- 86. Ma, X.Q., Peng, X., Li, M.S., Chen, Q.F. and Li, T.F., "Influence of Oxide Particles on Diffusion in a Two-Phase Coating at High Temperature," <u>Corrosion Science</u> <u>Protection Technology</u>, *6*, 53 (in Chinese) (1994).
- Chen, Q.F., Ma, X.Q., Peng, X., and Li, T.F., "Thermal Stress Analysis of Ceramic Thermal Barrier Coating Under Loading," <u>Corrosion Science Protection</u> <u>Technology</u>, 6, 53 (in Chinese) (1994).
- 87. Li, T.F., Ma, X.Q. et al., "A New-Type NiAl-Base Coating for Improving Hot Corrosion Resistance," <u>Chinese Patent</u>, No. 911061061.0 (1994).
- 88. Ma, X.Q., Li, T.F. et al., "A Novel Device for Preparation of Composite Metallic Layer With Oxide Dispersion," <u>Chinese Patent</u>, No. 94231310. 0 (1994).
- Lou, H.Y., Wang, F.H. and Zhu, S.L., "Oxide Formation of K38g Superalloy and its Sputtered Micro-Grained Coatings," <u>Surface Coating Technology</u>, 63, 105 (1994).
- 90. Wu, T., Wang, M.C. and Yu, J.Q., "Laser Cladding Glass Coatings," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Inorganic Materials, 9</u>, 150 (1994).
- 91. Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Progress in Study on High Temperature Microcrystalline Coatings," <u>Vacuum Science Technology</u>, 14, 287 (1994).
- 92. Wu, W.T., Wang, F.H. and Lou, H.Y., "Enhancement of Oxidation Resistance of High Temperature Alloys Through Microstructure Fining by Sputtering Technique," <u>Asia-Pacific Workshop</u>, 106 (1994).

- Wang, F.H. and Lou, H.Y., "The Oxidation Resistance of Sputtered Microcrystalline TiAl Intermetallic Compound Film," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, 43, 395 (1995).
- 94. Lou, H.Y., Zhu, S.L. and Wang, F.H., Rehealing Ability of Oxide Scales Formed on Microcrystalline K38g Coatings," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, 43, 317 (1995).
- Chen, Q.F., Yuan, K.Q., Yu, J.Q., Ma, X.Q. et al., "Toughened and Strengthened Thermal Barrier Coating Treated with Laser Beam," <u>Chinese Patent</u>, No. 95110278. 8 (1995).
- 96. Zhu, S.L., Wang, F.H., Lou, H.Y. and Wu, W.T., "Reactive Sputter Deposition of Alumina on Superalloys and their High Temperature Corrosion Resistance," <u>Surface Coating Technology</u>, 1, 71 (1995).
- 97. Wang, M.C., Wu, W.T., Feng, X.C. and Mu. G.H., "Study on Oxidation Resistance of Pd Cu Si Alloy," <u>Chinese Journal of Lasers, 22</u>, 232 (1995).
- Yu, J.Q., Wu, W.T. and Wang, M.C., "Interfacial Reaction Between Glass Coatings and Steel Substrates Induced by Laser Cladding," <u>Surface Coating Technology</u>, <u>72</u>, 112 (1995).
- 99. Wang, F.H. and Wu, W.T., "High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Intermetallics," <u>Materials Science Engineering</u>, 13, 14 (1995).
- 100. Lou, H.Y., Tang, Y.J., Sun, X.F. and Guan, H.R., "Oxidation Behavior of Sputtered Micro-Grained Superalloy K17f at High Temperature," <u>Materials Science and Engineering</u>, 207, 121 (1996).
- 101. Xin, L., Li, M.S. and Li, T.F., "High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Aluminized Ni-Base Alloy," <u>Journal of the Chinese Society of Corrosion and</u> <u>Protection, 16</u>, 42 (1996).
- 102. Peng, X., Li, T.F. et al., "Effect of Ni-La₂O₃ Electrodeposited Composite Film on Thermal Cycling Oxidation of Ni," <u>Acta Metallurgica, 32</u>, 180 (in Chinese) (1996).
- 103. Zhu, S.L., Wang, F.H. and Wu, W.T., Investigation of Kinetics Model of Dc Reactive Sputtering," <u>Science in China, 39</u>, 375 (1996).
- 104. Tang, Z.L., Wang, F.H. and Wu, W.T., "High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Ti Alloys and Ti-Al Intermetallics," <u>Rare Metals, 3</u>, 203 (1996).

Wei, Huang Yuan, Prof.

Shanghai Institute of Metallurgy Academic Simica

865 Chang Ning Road

Shangahi 200050

Tel: +86 21 62511070

Fax: +86 21 62513510

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

- 1. High temperature corrosion in mixed gaseous environments.
- 2. Effects of alloying elements on high temperature corrosion resistance etc.

CZECH REPUBLIC

CONTENTS

Cihal, V. Prof	C-60
Cizner, Josef	C-62
Kysela, Jan, Dr	C-64

Cihal, V. Prof.

VSB-Technical University

Faculty of Metallurgy and Materials Engineering

Ostrava

Tel: +420 69 699 4431

Fax: +420 69 699 4401

Telex: 52568 VSB OS

Key Personnel: Cihal, V., Prof., Krhutova, S., Vodarek, V., Wagner, G.

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. Precipitation Processes and Mechanical Properties of Duplex Stainless Steels at Elevated Temperatures

The research deals with the relationships between precipitation reactions and basic mechanical properties in two grades of duplex stainless steels after isothermal annealing at the temperatures 450, 550 and 590°C. The precipitation of minor phases was observed only at γ/δ interfaces and inside ferritic grains. Precipitation reactions were dependent on the chemical compositions of steel, particularly the contents of Si, Cr, Mo and N. Due to precipitation processes during isothermal annealing at 450 and 550°C, especially spinodal decomposition of ferrite, the strength parameters of both steels were increased. Different mechanisms of ferrite decomposition during annealing at 590°C resulted in a decline of strength due to premature failures.

2. Nitriding and Hydrogen Attack on 2.25 Cr-1Mo Steel in Ammonia Systems Gas Converter

Certain ammonia synthesis conditions lead to nitriding of a relatively thin surface layer of low-alloyed 'hydrogen-resistant' steels. For reasons of the thermodynamic stability of carbides and nitrides this causes a modification of the first, releasing carbon which can effuse from the steel and can react with diffusing hydrogen to form methane. Depending on the level and the direction of the total component stresses, small separations of grains, parallel to the surface, or cracks across the wall may slowly develop. Thus nitriding by ammonia synthesis gas causes a modification of the carbides, a decarburization and sensitization to hydrogen attack within a relatively thin metal layer near to the inner surface of the converters. Subsequently, a sensitization to hydrogen attack occurs due to the reaction of diffusing hydrogen with carbon released by the carbides and a decarburization by carbon diffusion to the surface. High local internal stresses perpendicular to the surface, caused by surface nitriding, lead to small intergranular separations parallel to the surface without any significant effect on the integrity of the pressure vessel. As the nitrided layer hinders further nitriding of the steel, this phenomena is without any long-term consequence.

On the other hand, if a sufficiently high load and/or residual stresses apply in the axial or tangential direction to the vessel wall, cracks have to be expected propagating slowly across the wall, as crack growth is controlled by diffusion of nitrogen and carbide transformation. Consequently, the Nelson diagram for NH₃-containing synthesis gas should be applied only with great care. Efforts are necessary to quantify as well the critical stress level for crack initiation, as the propagation rate of such cracks is controlled by nitrogen diffusion and the complex carbide reactions finish by classical chemically induced hydrogen cracking.

Czech Republic

Cizner, Jo	osef	
SVUM a.s		
Research (Centre Bechovice	
P.O. Box 1	7	
190 11 Pra	gue 9	
Tel:	+42 2 627 4366	
Fax:	+42 2 627 1849	
Key Personnel:		Pitter, J.
Scientific Key Words:		Oxidation; Sulfidation; High temperature corrosion; Ion implantation
Technical Key Words:		Coal gasification; Waste incineration

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The problems of high temperature corrosion in gases has been studied in SVUM for many years (since 1952 - Vyklický, M., Cizner, J.). Recently the laboratory participates in the European programs (COST 501 and 515) and programs of the National Grant Agency. Laboratory is equipped by 6 furnaces (up to 1250°C) and tests can be performed in various aggressive atmospheres. Corrosion tests are evaluated in up-todate gravimetric, metallographic and other physical and chemical methods.

Specific Topics

- 1. Laboratory Evaluation of Corrosion of Metal Materials (and Protective Coatings) is Undertaken, Including Kinetics and Mechanisms
 - a) in a coal gasification environment;
 - b) in a waste incineration environment;
 - c) in pyrolysis gases in chemical industry.
- 2. Long Time (up to 5000 hours) High Temperature Corrosion Tests in a Broad Spectrum of Gaseous Environments are Performed:
 - a) under laboratory conditions;

- b) as field tests.
- 3. Service Life Estimation of Plant Parts on the Basis of an Extrapolation of the Long-Term Corrosion Tests Results is in Progress.
- 4. Evaluation of the Influence of IBAD (Ion Beam Assisted Deposition) SiN_x Coatings on the High Temperature Corrosion Resistance of Steels is Being Investigated.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Cizner, J., Pitter, J. and Bína, V., "Corrosion Behaviour of the Cr18Ni11Ti Steel in H₂ + H₂S Environment," <u>Proceedings of the Conference on Materials for Advanced</u> <u>Power Engineering</u>, Liége, Belgium, 3-6 Oct. Part II, 1629-1638 (1994).
- Pitter, J., Cizner, J. and Bína, V., "Corrosion Behaviour of the Austenitic Steel in Sulphidizing Environment," <u>Proceedings of the 9th Symposium on Metallography</u>, Tatranská Lomnica - Stará Lesná, Slovakia, 529-531 (1995).
- Djouadi, M.A., Quesada, J., Pitter, J., Cizner, J. and Èerný, F., "Effect of Ion Bombardment on the Intrinsic Stress of Nitride Films Deposited by Ion Beam Techniques," <u>Proc. 4th European Conference on Residual Stresses</u>, (ECRS4), Cluny en Bourgogne, France (1996).
- 4. Pitter, J., Cizner, J. and Kadlec, J., "Extreme Corrosion Damage of Convection Steam Superheater," <u>Proceedings of the 7th. Conference on Contribution of Metallography</u> to the Solving of the Production Problems, Mariánské Láznì, Czech Republic, (1996).
- 5. Cizner, J., Pitter, J. and Hakl, J., "Contribution to the Laboratory Testing Methodology of the High Temperature Corrosion in Gaseous Mixtures," <u>Proceedings of the Conference EUROCORR 96</u>, Ses.III, P 7, Nice (1996).
- 6. Cizner, J., Pitter, J., Hakl, J. and Leitner, J., "Influence of Coal Gas Environment on Some Metallic Materials Behaviour at High Temperature and Long Exposure," <u>Proceedings of the Conference EUROCORR 96</u>, Ses.III, OR 22, Nice (1996).
- <u>7.</u> Pitter, J., Cizner, J., Èerný, F., Djouadi, M.A. and Koutsomichalis, A., "The Influence of Gradient SiN IBAD Coatings on Corrosion Resistance of the Alloyed Steels in Sulphidizing - Öxidizing Atmosphere at High Temperature," <u>Proceedings of the 5th</u> <u>International Conference on Plasma Surface Engineering</u>, Garmisch - Partenkirchen, Germany (1996).
- 8. Cizner, J., Hakl, J. and Pitter, J., "Behaviour of Steel ODM 751 in Oxidizing -Sulphidizing Environment at Temperature 900°C," <u>International Conference on</u> <u>Deformation and Fracture in Structural PM Materials</u>, Stará Lesná, Vysoké Tatry, Slovakia (1996).
- 9. Cerný, F., Pitter, J., Cizner, J., and Hnatowicz, V., "Influence of IBAD SiNx Thin Films on High Temperature Oxidation Resistance," <u>Proceedings of the International</u>

<u>Conference on the Effect of Non-Standard External Factors on Physikal Properties of</u> <u>Solids</u>, Kocovce, Slovakia, p73 (1996).

Kysela, Jan, Dr.				
Division of Reactor Services				
Nuclear Research Institute Rez plc				
250 68 Rez				
Tel: +42 2 6	6173526			
Fax: +42 2 6	857147			
e.mail: kys@nr	ri.cz			
Scientific Key Wo	ords: High terr	perature water corrosion; Monitoring		
Technical Key W		reactor; Cladding/coolant reaction; IASCC; SCC; n build-up		

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

High Temperature Corrosion in Nuclear Reactor Systems

The thrust of the work is experimental research in the field of environmental degradation of material used in primary and secondary circuits. It includes high-temperature water with additives, radiation and mechanical stresses of specimens. The research also involves corrosion products' release, activation and deposition. The experimental base is formed by a high-pressure in-pile loop (PWR and BWR conditions) and other out-of-pile facilities. Extensive programs have also examined the role of different water chemistries like standard, high pH, hydrazine in the mass activity transfer. Relevant developments include preconditioning of the metal surface by the formation of protective layers which minimise corrosion product release. The experimental base also enables special services for nuclear plants or industry vendors: steam generator tubes testing involving crack propagation, tube plugs etc. Testing of different materials includes SCC, IASCC and corrosion fatigue by CT (1CT, 2CT) or SSRT types of specimens.

Here, reference is restricted to aspects relevant to high-temperature corrosion in the context of this survey.

Specific Topics

1. Environmental Degradation of Materials

A special system of an irradiation channel, equipped with loading systems enabling 1CT, 2CT or SSRT samples, is used. The channels are connected both to a pressurized and a boiling water loop, so both water chemistries are achieved during irradiation. For the boiling water loop, ECP measurement is used to establish the oxidising environment. The 2CT channel enables cyclic stress of 151 kN and neutron irradiation, the two channels are utilized, one with radiation and the second without radiation, in the same run. The main reason is to understand the influence of neutron and gamma dose rate on corrosion phenomena.

2. Cladding-Coolant Interaction

Corrosion of zirconium alloys for fuel cladding is studied. The experimental research investigation involves the cladding temperature, water chemistry, the heat flux and radiation. Testing facilities consist of electrically heated rods with a power flux of 100 W/cm. Emphasis is being placed on the influence of water chemistry, including lithium, potassium, ammonia, hydrazine and boric acid; increased lithium over pH>7.4 and to surface nucleate boiling and synergistic effects of radiation. Eddy current measurement is used for corrosion layer determination.

3. Corrosion Product Release, Deposition and Activity Transport

One purpose rigs are used to study corrosion product release, deposition and activity transport. The rig (Micro loop) models thermohydraulic, material and water chemistry conditions of primary circuit of PWR, VVER or BWR reactors. A post-irradiation study is performed by using different techniques: radioactivity deposition, corrosion product layers, morphology, and phase composition on the surface. The techniques include gamma spectrometry, TEM, SEM and EDAX and in special cases X-ray diffractometry, Mössbauer or infrared spectroscopy. For water analysis, Orbisphere O_2H_2) analysis, high temperature conductivity and ion-chromatography are used. The computer code DISER was developed for the modeling of corrosion product radionuclides behavior in primary systems.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

 Kysela, J., et al., "High Pressure Reactor Water Loop for the Experimental Studies in the Field of Water Chemistry and Corrosion," <u>IAEA Specialists Meeting on</u> <u>Influence of Water Chemistry on Fuel Element Cladding Behavior in Water Cooled</u> <u>Power Reactors</u>, Leningrad, USSR, June (1983).

- 2. Kysela, J., "Loop Experiments in Corrosion and Activity Transport," <u>Nuclear</u> <u>Research Institute, Topical Meeting on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Energy Systems</u>, Bombay (1987).
- 3. Kysela, J. and Splíchal, K., "In-Pile Looper Experimental Research in Corrosion and Chemistry for PWR Primary Coolant Systems," <u>12th Scandinavian Corrosion</u> <u>Congress and Eurocorr'92</u>, Finland (1992).
- 4. Kysela, J., Erben, O., Všolák, R. and Zmítko, M., "In-Pile Irradiation Research at NRI Rez for Corrosion and Material Testing," <u>Nucleon</u>, <u>1</u> (1995).
- 5. Kysela, J., Všolák, R. and Erben, O., "Research Facilities of LVR-15 Research Reactor, ENS," <u>Topical Meeting on Research Facilities for the Future of Nuclear Energy</u>, Brussels, May (1996).

DENMARK

CONTENTS

Blum, R., Henriksen, N. and Larsen, O.H	D-2
Linderoth, S., Dr.	D-5
Montgomery, M., Dr. and Maahn, E.M., Prof	D-7

Denmark

Blum, R., Henriksen, N. and Larsen, O.H.

Faelleskemikerne, Materia	ls Group	
I/S ELSAM		
ELSAMPROJEKT A/S		
Kraftvaerksvej 53		
DK-7000 Fredericia		
Att.: Niels Henriksen		
Tel: +45 7923 3316 an	nd +45 7923 3333	
Fax: +45 7556 4477		
e.mail: nh@elsamprojekt.dk		
Key Personnel:	Blum, R., Henriksen, N., Larsen, O.H.	
Scientific Key Words:	Ash; Chlorine; Hot corrosion; In-plant monitoring; Lifetime; Molten salts; Steam oxidation	
Technical Key Words:	Advanced steam conditions; Biomass combustion; Circulating fluidized-bed combustor; Steam boiler; Ultra- supercritical plant; Straw-fired boilers	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

ELSAM is an electric utility consortium of independent power companies in the western part of Denmark. ELSAM intends to reduce CO₂ emissions by building and operating high-efficiency coal-fired boilers and biomass-fired plants. Higher steam temperatures up to 580°C and the combustion of corrosive biomass fuels, typically straw, have forced ELSAM to initiate research and development into steam oxidation and high temperature corrosion. The R&D work is concentrated on full-scale tests at various boilers (PF, CFB and vibrating-grate) fired with coal, coal/straw mixtures and in some cases straw alone; also waste incineration has been a subject for research. Steam oxidation in evaporators and superheaters of ultra-supercritical boiler is studied with the aim of limiting material temperatures in order to extend lifetime due to corrosion and creep. Computer-based lifetime models have been made for calculation of superheater and evaporator lifetime incorporating literature and plant oxidation data. High temperature corrosion in straw combustion and coal/straw co-combustion are other research areas which have been studied in full-scale tests with a normal duration in the range of 1000-2000 hours. During the test, temperature-regulated corrosion

probes are inserted, deposits are sampled, ash is sampled, boiler service parameters are monitored and combustion may be video-monitored for short periods. Corrosion losses are determined by precision measuring with a combination of a pre-exposure measurement of the wall thickness with a micrometer screw gauge and a post-exposure measurement of the remaining and unaffected wall thickness in a light optical microscope, or with a profile projector. Test pieces, including ash deposits, were investigated by means of scanning electron microscopy with energy dispersive analysis by X-ray (SEM/EDX) in order to acquire more detailed information for evaluation of corrosion mechanisms.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The research of Faelleskemikernes Materials Group is closely related to the technology in focus in the ELSAM utility consortium. The relevant technologies include ultrasupercritical pulverized coal-fired units, coal/straw fired CFB boilers, coal/straw cocombustion on pulverized coal-fired units and straw combustion in grate boilers.

1. Steam Oxidation in Evaporators and Superheaters

The research is carried out by ELSAM, to a small extent in co-operation with the Danish boiler manufacturer Burmeister & Wain Energy. Steam oxidation data of boiler materials are extracted from the literature, oxide deposition rates, as well as oxide porosities of evaporator tubes, are investigated on samples from evaporator tubes of supercritical boilers. Computer-based lifetime models are made for superheater and evaporator tubes. The models are used in design considerations and remnant lifetime analysis.

2. High Temperature Corrosion in Biomass-Fired Boilers

Full-scale tests have been carried out on two PF boilers co-combusting coal and 10-20% straw, a CFB boiler co-combusting 50% coal and 50% straw, and a 100% straw-fired vibrating grate fired boiler. The work has been carried out in close collaboration with in the Combustion Group under the Department of Chemical Engineering and Corrosion and Surface Technology, Institute of Manufacturing Engineering both at the Technical University of Denmark. A good understanding of the corrosion mechanism related to straw-firing has been achieved enabling the modification of combustion and boiler design in order to prevent high corrosion rates.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Steam Oxidation

- Kjaer, S. and Henriksen, N., "The Advanced Pulverized Coal-Fired Power Station. Status and Strategies for the Future", <u>11th International Conference on Power</u> <u>Stations</u>, Liège, September 20-24 (1993).
- 2. Henriksen, N., Larsen, O.H. and Blum, R., "Lifetime Evaluation of Superheater Tubes Exposed to Steam Oxidation, High Temperature Corrosion and Creep," <u>Power Plant Chemical Technology Conference</u>, Kolding, 4-6 September (1996).

2. High Temperature Corrosion by Straw Combustion

- 3. Henriksen, N., Larsen, O.H., Blum, R. and Inselmann, S., "Requirements for the Co-Combustion of Coal and Straw," <u>The Institute of Materials Conference "Materials</u> <u>Issues in Heat Exchangers and Boilers</u>", Loughborough, October (1995).
- Henriksen, N., Larsen, O.H., Blum, R. and Inselmann, S., "High Temperature Corrosion when Co-Firing Coal and Straw in Pulverized Coal Boilers and Circulating Fluidized Bed Boilers," <u>VGB-Conference, "Corrosion and Corrosion</u> <u>Protection in Power Plant</u>", September (1995).
- 5. Larsen, O.H. and Henriksen, N., "Ash Deposition and High Temperature Corrosion at Combustion of Aggressive Fuels," <u>Power Plant Chemical Technology Conference</u>, Kolding, 4-6 September (1996).
- 6. Henriksen, N. and Larsen, O.H., "Fouling and Corrosion in Straw and Coal-Straw-Fired USC Plants," <u>9th European Bioenergy Conference</u>, Copenhagen, June (1996).
- Hansen, P.F.B., Lin, W., Johansen, K.D. and Henriksen, N., "Can Superheater Corrosion During Co-combustion of Straw and Coal in a CFB-Boiler be Reduced?," <u>5th International Conference on Circulating Fluidized Beds</u>, Beijing, May (1996).

Lindero	h, S., Dr.	
Material	s Research Depart	ment
Risø Nat	ional Laboratory	
P.O. Box	49	
DK-4000	Roskilde	
Tel:	+45 4677 5797	
Fax:	+45 4635 1173	
e.mail:	soren.linderoth@)risoe.dk
Key Pers	onnel:	Linderoth, S., Dr., Liu, Q., Dr., Larsen, P.H., Mr.
Scientific	: Key Words:	Adhesion; Chromia; Coating/modifying surfaces; ODS alloys
Technica	l Key Words:	Fuel cells; Solid oxide fuel cells

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. High-Temperature Oxidation Studies of ODS Cr-Rich Alloy

For the interconnection of the cells in a solid oxide fuel cell stack a metallic ODS Cr-rich alloy is being investigated. The Cr5Fe1Y₂O₂ alloy is fabricated at Metallwerk Plansee, Austria. The microstructure, especially the distribution and size of the yttria, has been studied. The oxidation behaviour in various atmospheres (dry and wet air, dry and wet H_{2}/Ar , simulated reformed natural gas) has been studied. The oxidation temperatures have been in the range 850°C to 1600°C. Several of the oxidation studies were performed by thermogravimetry, followed by evaluations by XRD and SEM. For use in a solid oxide fuel cell, the adhesion of the oxide scale to the metal must be good in order to obtain a low electrical resistance through the metal and scale. The thickness of the chromia scale must then also not extend more than a few μ m. Attempts at improvement of the electrical contact between in the alloy and the solid oxide fuel cell is being carried out. One attempt has been coating the alloy with ultrafine particles of La- and Sr-oxide. During heat treatment the chromia formed as a scale may be expected to react with the coating to form a coating of $La_{1,x}Sr_{x}CrO_{3}$ (LSC). This oxide is highly conducting at operating temperatures. The formation of the LSC coating has been confirmed. The work has in part carried out in collaboration with Haldor Topsø A/S, Denmark.

Denmark

2. Fundamental High-Temperature Oxidation Studies of Fe-Cr Alloys

Fe-Cr alloys with Cr-contents of 0, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60 and 100 wt% have been studied. The technological interest is whether the Fe-rich alloys are applicable for the use as a metallic interconnect material in solid oxide fuel cells (SOFC). For use in a SOFC stack the difference, in thermal expansion, between the alloy and the ceramic components of the cell, should not be too great. The thermal expansion has therefore been measured, in dry H_2/Ar , for the alloys between room temperature and 1100°C. The oxidation behavior of the alloys in wet air and wet H_{3}/Ar has been investigated by thermogravimetry at temperatures up to 1300°C. Selected alloys have been coated with ceria by immersion in an aquous Ce-nitride solution. The coating is found to improve the oxidation behaviour significantly. After the oxidation the samples are investigated by x-ray diffraction (XRD) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Selected samples have been investigated by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). In-situ SEM studies of the oxidation of Fe30Cr in saturated water vapour was performed at 1000°C by the use of an environmental SEM (ESEM). Long-term oxidation studies of coated and uncoated Fe-Cr alloys have also been carried out at 1000°C in an atmosphere of simulated reformed natural gas. The work has in part been carried out in collaboration with Haldor Topsøe A/S, Denmark and Oslo University, Norway.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Linderoth, S., "Controlled Reactions Between Chromia and Coating on Alloy Surface," <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>80</u>, 185-189 (1996).
- Linderoth, S., Langvad, N. and Mogensen, G., "High-Temperature Oxidation Studies of Cr₉₄Fe₅(Y₂O₃)₁," <u>Proceedings of the 17th Risø International Symposium on</u> <u>Materials Science: High Temperature Electrochemistry: Ceramics and Metals</u>, Eds. F.W. Poulsen, N. Bonanos, S. Linderoth, M. Mogensen and B. Zachau-Christiansen, Risø National Laboratory, 351-356 (1996).
- 3. Linderoth, S., Hendriksen, P.V., Mogensen, M. and Langvad, N., "Investigations of Metallic Alloys for Use as Interconnects in Solid Oxide Fuel Cell Stacks," Journal of <u>Materials Science</u>, <u>31</u>, 5077-5082 (1996).

Montgomery, M., Dr. and Maahn, E., Prof. Department of Corrosion and Surface Technology Institute of Manufacturing Engineering Technical University of Denmark Building 204 2800 Lyngby Tel: +45 45 25 21 98 and +45 45 25 22 11 Fax: +45 45 93 62 13 e.mail: mm@ipt.dtu.dk; em@ipt.dtu.dk Key Personnel: Montgomery, M., Dr., Maahn, E., Prof. Scientific Key Words: Mixed gases; Salt deposits; Modeling gas-metal reactions Technical Key Words: Advanced steam conditions; Biomass combustion; Wastefired boiler: Straw-fired boilers

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The main aim of the research is to achieve a greater understanding of the corrosion processes in aggressive environments associated with power production, primarily with respect to superheater corrosion, and thereby support the developments within the power production industries in Denmark with regard to the utilisation of biomass as a fuel type.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

In this work, there is contact with the power companies in Denmark in the assessment and characterisation of future materials to function at higher steam temperatures and pressures and in biomass fuels, namely straw-fired and waste-fired power plants.

1. High Temperature Corrosion of Superheater Materials for Power Production through Biomass

This research is based on corrosion of superheaters in straw-fired boilers and waste incinerators. The project is being carried out in collaboration with Materials Department RISØ and The FORCE Institute. The research consists of laboratory studies

where an AISI 321 type steel and Sanicro 28 are exposed to a synthetic flue gas environment containing SO_2 and HCl in the quantities typically found in straw-fired power stations. In addition, specimens are exposed to the ash deposits typically found on superheaters in straw-fired power plants (containing primarily KCl and K₂SO₄), or are exposed to both ash and aggressive flue gas environments. Thus, the relative contributions of flue gas and ash corrosion can be revealed. In addition, thermodynamical modeling is undertaken to support the experimental observations. Another part of the projection is the collection and characterisation, using SEM and XRD, of ash deposits from over 20 biomass fired power plants in Denmark. This work is supported by the Danish Ministry of Energy.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Montgomery, M. and Karlsson, A., "Bericht über die Oxidation von neuen Stahltypen in dampfseitigen Verhältnissen," <u>VGB Kraftwerkstechnik</u>, <u>75</u>, 258-264 (1995).
- Montgomery, M. et. al., "High Temperature Corrosion of Superheater Materials for Power Production through Biomass," Final Report: EFP 94 Project No. 1323/94-0006. ISBN 87-550-2205-7 (1996).
- 3. Montgomery, M., et. al., "High Temperature Corrosion in Biomass Incineration Plants," <u>Final Report: EFP95 Project</u> No 1323/95-0008. ISBN 87-550-2305-3 (1997).
- 4. Montgomery, M., and Maahn, E., "Laboratory Study of High Temperature Corrosion in Straw-fired Power Plants." <u>Proc. Eurocorr '97</u>, Trondheim, Norway. <u>Vol. II</u>, 41-46 (1997).

FINLAND

CONTENTS

Hakkarainen, T., Prof., Hannula, SP., Prof. and Mäkipää, M	F-2
Kettunen, P.O., Emeritus Prof	F-6

Finland

Hakkara	Hakkarainen, T., Prof., Hannula, SP., Prof. and Mäkipää, M.		
VTT Mar	nufacturing Technol	ology	
P.O. Box	1703, FIN-02044 V	/TT	
Metallim	iehenkuja 4, Espo	0	
Tel:	+358 9 4565410 a	nd +358 9 4565407	
Fax:	+358 9 463118		
e.mail:	martti.makipaa@	wtt.fi; tero.hakkarainen@vtt.fi;	
	simo-pekka.hanr	nula@vtt.fi	
Key Pers	onnel:	Mäkipää, M., Mr., Nenonen, P., Mr., Koskinen, J., Dr.	
Scientific	Key Words:	Reducing environments; Sulfidation; Melts; Hot corrosion; Thermodynamic modeling; Coatings; Intermetallics	
Technica	l Key Words:	Pulp/paper boiler; Circulating fluidized-bed combustor; Biomass combustion; Boiler tube failures; Industrial furnaces	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

In the research and collaborative efforts in the Institute, the understanding of process and corrosion chemistry in a joint manner is emphasized. Corrosion of metals and alloys in various complex mixtures of alkali metals and chalcogens, forming various solid or liquid alloy phases, are considered. Recent theoretical and experimental work has concerned the stability of Fe-Cr-Ni alloys in low-melting mixtures of sodium and potassium sulfides and chlorides in process conditions, where sulfur and alkali metal potentials are high, and oxygen potential is low. This work was done in collaboration with Backman, Rainer, Dr., at Åbo Akademi University, Turku, Finland, where theoretical and experimental studies of low melting mixtures of alkali metal sulfates, carbonates, and chlorides are now in progress. Studies on the stability and properties of various corrosion products of transition metals will be joined to that work. In addition, special attention is paid to surface chemistry and to novel experimental methods. Fundamental physico-chemical aspects of the thermal spraying process and coatingsubstrate interaction are studied in order to optimize coatings for various hightemperature applications.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The research work in the field of high-temperature corrosion is undertaken to solve corrosion and material-related problems in the industry. The bias of the applications is in the pulp and paper industry where the continuous development of process and environmental technology creates new, and frequently unique, corrosion environments.

1. Corrosion of Steels and Alloys in Black Liquor Recovery Boilers (BLRB)

This work has been done, in part, in collaboration with Åbo Akademi University and Helsinki University of Technology. The aim of the present work is to establish corrosion properties of various chromium- and nickel-containing steels and alloys in BLRBs. The effects of variation and trends in process parameters on the materials choice are assessed. Material developments considering the needs in future are surveyed.

2. Applications of Thermodynamic Data, Phase Diagrams and Modeling in Materials Technology for High-Temperature Processes

This work has been done in collaboration with Helsinki University of Technology and Åbo Akademi University. The essence of the co-operative work is to evaluate and combine basic data on various chemical systems for modeling calculations. Recently, various systems important in the corrosion and degradation of structural materials in the boiler or furnace technology have been considered. Growing attention will be paid on the modeling of the high-temperature water environment. The use of modeling as a dynamic part of knowledge structures in high-temperature corrosion databases is presently developed in collaboration with Hämäläinen, Marko, Dr., at JRC Petten.

3. Prospects of Surface Engineering and Materials Technology

This work has been done in collaboration with Tampere University of Technology and Helsinki University of Technology. The aim is to find out applications of new materials and manufacturing technologies, e.g., in the field of industrial high-temperature processes. Recent interests include characterization of the properties of HVOF-coatings and optimization of the spraying process, and applications of intermetallics including silicides. Finland

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Corrosion and Degradation of Materials

- Mäkipää, M. and Taskinen, P., "Refractory Wear in Copper Converters. Part II. Copper Matte-Refractory Interactions," <u>Scandinavian Journal of Metallurgy</u>, <u>22</u>, 203-212 (1993).
- Hakkarainen, Tero. and Hakkarainen, Tuulikki, "How to Formulate Corrosion Knowledge for Expert Systems," <u>12th International Corrosion Congress: Corrosion</u> <u>Control for Low-Cost Reliability</u>, Houston, USA, 19-24 September, 1993. National Association of Corrosion Engineers (NACE), 3396-3403 (1993).
- Salmi, J., "Lining Life of Ceramic Fiber Materials in Fuel-Heated Industrial Furnaces," In: <u>Energy-Efficient Steel and Metal Production on the Energy Research</u> <u>Programme 1988-1992</u>, Eds. Hakulin and Håkan, Helsinki Ministry of Trade and Industry, 1993, pp64-66 (Ministry of Trade and Industry, Energy Department, Review B:169) (1993).
- Mäkipää, M., Salonen, J., Nenonen, P. and Hakkarainen, T., "Studies with TEM, SEM and Optical Microscope on the Cracking of BLRB Composite Floor Tubes," <u>Pulp & Paper Industry Corrosion Problems</u>, <u>Volume 8</u>, Swedish Corrosion Institute, Stockholm, Sweden, 189-197 (1995).
- 5. Salmi, J., "Durability of Refractory Materials in Conditions of the Pressurized Gasification of Biomass," <u>VTT Julkaisuja 801</u>, VTT, Espoo, Finland, p54 (1995).
- 6. Auerkari, P., Pohjanne, P., Mäkinen, R. and Mäkipää, M., "Performance of Superheater Materials of Recovery Boilers Under Mechanical and Environmental Loads," <u>VTT Julkaisuja 802</u>, VTT Espoo, Finland, p26 (1995).
- Mäkipää, M., Mäkinen, S., Backman, R. and Hämäläinen, M., "Corrosion of BLRB Floor Tubes in Reduced Kraft Smelts: Experimental and Theoretical Studies," <u>TAPPI</u> <u>Proceedings, 1996 Engineering Conference</u>, TAPPI Press, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, 681-692 (1996).

2. Surface Engineering and Applications of Advanced Materials Technology

8. Mäkipää, M., Hirvonen, J.-P. and Likonen, J., "Erosion of Some HVOF Sprayed Coatings in Fluidized Bed Circumstances," In: <u>Thermal Spray Coatings Research</u>, <u>Design and Applications Proceedings</u>, Eds. C. Berndt and T. Bernecki, Anaheim, Calif., 7-11 June 1993. Ohio: ASM International, 179-184 (1993).

- Hirvonen, J.-P., Suni, I., Kattelus, H., Lappalainen, R., Torri, P., Kung, H., Nastasi, M. and Tesmer, J.R., "Oxidation Behavior of Mo-Si-N Coatings," <u>Fourth.</u> <u>International Conference on Plasma Surface Engineering, PSE '94</u>, Garmisch-Partenkirchen, 19-23 Sept. 1994. European Joint Committee on Plasma and Ion Surface Engineering (EJC/PISE) (1994).
- Keskinen, J., Tiainen, T., Lagerbom, J., Korpiola, K., Ruuskanen, P. and Hannula, S-P., "Potential of Metal Aluminides for Industrial Applications," <u>Nordisk Konferens</u> <u>i Pulverteknik 90</u>, Stockholm, Sweden, 21-22 November 1995, p1 (1995).
- 11. Hannula, S.-P., "Recent Advances in Surface Engineering Applications," In: <u>Advanced Materials and Technologies</u>, Ed. V. Lindroos, Espoo, Helsinki University of Technology, 1995, 351-368 (1995).

Kettunen, P.O., Emeritus Prof.

Institute of Mater	s Science	
Tampere Univers	of Technology	
P.O. Box 589		
FI-33101 Tampere		
Tel: +358 3 3	52280	
Fax: +358 3 3	52330	
Telex: 22313 tt	22313 ttktr fi	
e.mail: pkettunen cc.tut.fi		
Key Personnel:	Kettunen, P.O., Prof., Parkki, J., Dr., Gu, Q., Dr., Lepistö, T., Prof.	
Scientific Key Wo	s: Diffusion; High temperature fatigue; Carbon-carbon composites	
Technical Key Wo	ls: Future gas turbine materials; Blades; Diffusion barrier; Superalloys;	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The blades of the hottest zone of the gas turbine are often of Ni-base superalloys, protected against high-temperature oxidation by an overlay of MCrAlY or aluminides. At temperatures above 1000°C, Ni from the superalloy tends to diffuse into the overlay, and consequently Al from the overlay into the superalloy. The former diffusion reduces the oxidation resistance of the overlay, and the latter one creates large precipitations and a particle-free zone in the upper layer of the superalloy, causing spalling of the overlay.

In order to reduce the harmful diffusion, a diffusion barrier was developed between the superalloy substrate and the MCrAlY overlay. The work was done as part of a larger project COST 501/II, WP 7A and it was based on the earlier guiding results in the programme COST 501/I. The superalloy used was SSR 99 and the overlay plasma sprayed LC022. The original aim was to reach a lifetime of 4000 hours at 1100°C in air. The developed diffusion barrier consisted of 5 layers, and the total thickness of the barrier was 4.5 μ m. The barrier proved to fulfil the original aim and also a similar lifetime at 1150°C.

Other developments for possible future gas turbine blade materials involve a carboncarbon composite with amorphous carbon matrix with no cracks from production. The density of the material is 1.25-1.35g/cm³, and the tensile strength at 1500° C is 500-950 N/mm². At room temperature the corresponding strength is 400-600 N/mm², and the material shows a pseudo-ductility of several per cent.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of the mentioned materials development is done as fundamental studies on a laboratory scale, but further development towards engineering application is under way, for example, in the form of collaborative European projects.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Future Gas Turbine Materials

- Gu, Q., "Carbon Fiber Reinforced Amorphous Carbon Composites," <u>Dr. Tech.</u> <u>Thesis</u>, Institute of Materials Science, Tampere University of Technology, Tampere, Finland (1993).
- Kettunen, P.O., Gu, Q. and Lepistö, T., "Novel Materials for Future Aircraft," <u>High</u> <u>Technology in Finland</u>, The Finish Academies of Technology, Helsinki, Finland, pp156-160 (1995).

2. High-Temperature Fatigue

- Hynnä, A. and Kuokkala, V.-T., "Mechanical Behavior of Superalloy MA 760 During High Temperature Cyclic Straining," <u>Proc. of Fatigue '96</u>, Berlin, Germany (1996).
- 4. Hynnä, A., Kuokkala, V.-T. and Kettunen, P.O., "High Temperature Cyclic Straining of MA 760," <u>Proc. of the 8th International Symposium on Superalloys</u>, Seven Springs, Pa, USA (1996).

FRANCE

CONTENTS

-10
-15
- 23
-27
-31
-32
-34
-36
-41
-44
-58
-62
-65
-68
-73

Bacos, MP., Dr., and Mévrel, R., Dr.		
ONERA		
Materials Science Departme	ent	
B.P. 72		
F-92322 Chatillon Cedex		
http://www.onera.fr		
Tel: +33 1 46 73 45 13	+33 1 46 73 45 13 and +33 1 46 73 44 99	
Fax: +33 1 46 73 41 42		
e.mail: bacos@onera.fr, n	nevrel@onera.fr	
Key Personnel:	Mévrel, R., Dr., Bacos, MP., Dr., Lavigne, O., Dr, Drawin, S., Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:	Aluminide coatings; Carbon-carbon composites; Chemical vapor deposition; Physical vapor deposition; Coated and uncoated superalloys; Coating C-C composites; Coating design; Hot corrosion; Palladium/modified aluminide coatings; Single crystal alloys; Superalloys; Thermal barrier coatings; Water vapor oxidation; Zirconia ceramics	
Technical Key Words:	Engine materials; Aeroengines; Single crystal alloys; Future gas turbine materials; Gas turbines; Thermal barrier coating systems; Surface engineering	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The main effort of the group is focused on designing and developing high temperature protective coatings (modified aluminide coatings, thermal barrier coatings) in close relation with the industries of the aeronautical sector (engine manufacturers, coating/repairer of gas turbine components) and the energy conversion sector.

The work is linked with basic research studies performed in-house (alumina scale growth, modeling oxidation, hot corrosion of single crystal superalloys and coatings) and in cooperation with university laboratories (University of Nancy, Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de Toulouse, for example).

France

Specific Topics

1. Thermal Barrier Coatings

Several topics related to thermal barrier coatings for gas turbine airfoils are being investigated:

- a) Growth mechanisms of the alumina layer forming at the interface between the zirconia layer and the bondcoat in order to improve the performance of EBPVD systems (collaboration SNECMA).
- b) Modeling the thermal conductivity of thermal barrier coatings in relation with their structure (phases, pores, microcracks, etc.), within the framework of a European project coordinated by SNECMA.
- c) Design and development of an equipment for depositing yttria partially stabilized zirconia by PECVD (plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition) in cooperation with Plasmion and University of Orsay. The laboratory equipment, which permits deposition of YPSZ on MCrAlY is to be upscaled to evaluate the potential of this technique, which represents an attractive alternative to EBPVD and plasma spraying.

2. Pd-Modified Aluminide Coatings

The experience gained in formulating a Pd-modified coating (now commercially available and in service in some engines) is being exploited for developing repair techniques in the case of protective coatings on gas turbine airfoils (collaboration with SNECMA, Sochata, Turboméca).

3. Oxidation and Hot Corrosion of Superalloys

The objective is to understand the influence of addition elements on the hot corrosion resistance of single crystal superalloys (collaboration with Turboméca).

4. Oxidation of Coated C-C and C-SiC Composites

Oxidation of coated and uncoated C-C composites has been modeled. This model, which takes into account the morphological evolution of the material, is being extended for predicting the behavior of other high temperature materials in various oxidizing atmospheres: oxygen, water vapor (with and without hydrogen additions). The corresponding experiments are carried out on a specifically designed oxidation laser

bench which permits testing of materials up to 2300 K and under pressures ranging between 0.1 mbar and 5 bars.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

The theses mentioned are available on request from R. Mévrel.

1. General

- 1. Stroosnijder, M.F., Mévrel, R. and Bennett, M.J., "The Interaction of Surface Engineering and High Temperature Corrosion Protection," <u>Materials at High</u> <u>Temperatures</u>, <u>12</u>, 53-66 (1994).
- Alpérine, S., Martinou, R., Mévrel, R.and Huchin, J.P., "New Trends in Coating Development for Turbine Blades: Materials Processing and Repair," <u>AGARD 83rd</u> <u>Symposium of the Propulsion and Energetics Panel on</u> "Erosion, Corrosion and <u>Foreign Object Damage Effects in Small Gas Turbines</u>," Rotterdam (25-29 April), 28-1 to 28-10 (1994).

2. Thermal Barrier Coatings

- 3. Ibégazène, H., Alpérine, S. and Diot, C., "Microstructure of Yttria Stabilized Zirconia-Hafnia Plasma Sprayed Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>Journal de Physique</u> <u>IV, Colloque C7, Suppl. Journal de Physique III</u>, <u>3</u>, (Nov.) 1013-1016 (1993).
- 4. Lelait, L., Alpérine, S. and Diot, C., "Microstructural Investigations of EBPVD Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>Journal de Physique IV C9</u>, <u>3</u>, (Déc.) C9-645 B C9-654 (1993).
- Seiberras, G., Indrigo, C., Rousseau, V., Leprince, P. and Mévrel, J., "MPECVD Reactor for Depositing Zirconia Coatings," <u>9th International Colloquium on Plasma</u> <u>Processes</u>, Antibes, 6-11 Juin (1993).
- 6. Seiberras, G., "Réalisation et Caractérisation de Revêtements de Zircone Obtenus par dépôt Chimique en Phase Vapeur Assistée par un Plasma Micro-onde," <u>Thesè de l'Université de Paris-Sud</u>, Orsay (1994).
- 7. Alpérine, S. and Lelait, L., "Microstructural Investigations of Plasma-Sprayed Yttria Partially Stabilized Zirconia TBC," <u>Trans. ASME</u>, <u>116</u>, 258-265 (1994).
- 8. Chevillard, S., Vidal-Sétif, M.-H. and S. Drawin., "Yttria Partially Stabilized Zirconia Coatings by Microwave Plasma Enhanced CVD (MPECVD)," Supp. <u>Revue</u>

<u>Le Vide : Science, Technique et Applications</u>. N°275 (Janv., Févr., Mars, 431-434 (1995).

- Ibégazène, H., "Etude de la Stabilité Thermique de Phases Métastables dans des Systèmes a Base de ZrO₂, HfO₂ et d'Oxydes de Terres Rares (Applications aux Barrières Thermiques)," <u>Thése de l'Université de Paris-Sud</u>, Orsay, 20 Février (1995).
- 10. Ibégazène, H., Alpérine, S. and Diot, C., "Yttria-Stabilized Hafnia-Zirconia Thermal Barrier Coatings: The Influence of Hafnia Addition on TBC Structure and High-Temperature Behaviour," <u>Journal of Materials Science</u>, <u>30</u>, 938-951 (1995).

3. Protective Coatings

 Steinmetz, P., Alpérine, S., Josso, P. and Claude, J.M., "Effect of Palladium-Based Undercoat on the Formation, Structure and Properties of Diffusion Aluminide Coatings," <u>Journal de Physique IV, C9</u>, <u>3</u> (Déc.) C9-499 B C9-510 (1993).

4. High Temperature Oxidation

- 12. Bacos, M.-P., "Protection of Carbon-Based Composites," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>C9</u>, <u>3</u> (Déc.) C9-819 B C9-830 (1993).
- 13. Bacos, M.-P., "Carbon-Carbon Composites: Oxidation Behavior and Coatings Protection," Journal de Physique IV, C7, <u>3</u> (Nov.) C7-1895 B C7-1903 (1993).
- 14. Talandier, J., "Couplage Entre une Couche Limite Hypersonique et une Paroi dégradable par Oxydation," <u>Thèse de l'Université de Paris VI</u> (1994).
- 15. Gauer, L., Alpérine, S., Steinmetz, P. and Vassel, A., "Influence of Niobium Additions on High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Ti₃Al Alloys and Coatings," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 49-74 (1994).
- 16. Bacos, M.-P. and Sudre, O., "Critical Review on Oxidation Protection for Carbon-Based Composites," 2nd International Conference on High-Temperature Ceramic Matrix Composites, High Temperature Ceramic-Matrix Composites I : Design, Durability and Performance, <u>Ceramic Transactions</u>, <u>57</u>, 437-442 (1995).
- 17. Talandier, J., Sudre, O. and Dorvaux, J.-M., "Oxidation Behavior of a Partially Protected C/C Composite in a Hypersonic Flow," <u>Ceramic Engineering Science</u> <u>Proceedings</u> (July-August) 271-277 (1995).

- Parlier, M., Bacos, M.-P. and Cochon, J.L., "Modeling of Carbon-Carbon Composites Oxidation Behavior: Experimental Test Facilities," <u>Second French/USA Technology</u> <u>Interchange Meeting for Carbon-Carbon and High Temperature Materials</u>, CCM-2, San Diego, 28-30 March, TP 1995-20 (1995).
- 19. Sigrist, S., Vix-Guterl, C., Ehrburger, P. and Bacos, M.-P. "Gasification of Carbon Fibres in Steam," in <u>Proc. of "The European Carbon Conference Carbon 96</u>", Newcastle, UK, July, 284-285 (1996).

MORE RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 20. Bertrand, G. and Mévrel, R., "Zirconia Coatings Realized by Microwave Plasm-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition," <u>Thin Solid Films</u> 292, 241-246 (1997).
- Alpérine, S., Derrien, M., Jaslier, Y. and Mévrel, R., "Thermal Barrier Coatings: The Thermal Conductivity Challenge," <u>AGARD-SMP Thermal Barrier Coating</u> <u>Workshop</u> (Aalborg, Denmark, 15-17 Oct. 1997), Paper No. 1.
- 22. Dorvaux, J.-M., Lavigne, O., Mévrel, R., Poulain, M., Renollet Y. and Mévrel, R., "Modeling the Thermal Conductivity of Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>AGARD-SMP</u> <u>Thermal Barrier Coating Workshop</u> (Aalborg, Denmark, 15-17 Oct. 1997), Paper No. 13.
- 23. Chevillard, S., Drawin, S. and Vidal-Sétif, M.-H., "Plasma Assisted CVD of Thick Yttria Partially Stabilised Zirconia Coatings," <u>AGARD-SMP Thermal Barrier</u> <u>Coating Workshop</u> (Aalborg, Denmark, 15-17 Oct. 1997), Paper No. 11.
- 24. Mévrel, R., "Barrières Thermiques Pour Aubages de Moteurs Aéronautiques. Etat de l'Art et Perspectives," <u>La Recherche Aérospatiale</u> 5-6, 381-392 (1996).
- 25. Chevillard, S., "Etude d'un Procédé de Dépôt Chimique en Phase Vapeur Assisté par Plasma Micro-onde pour la Réalisation de Revêtements de Zircone Yttriée," <u>Thèse de l'Université de Paris Sud</u> (Orsay, 11 Février 1997).
- 26. Bacos, M.-P., Cochon, J.-L., Dorvaux, J.-M., Lavigne, O. and Renollet, Y., "C/C Composite Oxidation Model: I-Experimental Investigations," to be published in <u>Carbon</u>.
- 27. Bacos, M.-P., Dorvaux, J.-M., Lavigne, O. and Talandier, J., "C/C Composite Oxidation Model: II-Physical Basis, Limitations and Applications," to be published in <u>Carbon</u>.

Béranger, G., Prof. and Moulin, G., Prof.

Laboratoire de Génie Mécanique des Matériaux et des Structures

Université de Technologie de Compiègne

Centre de Recherches de Royallieu

B.P. 20529 - 60205 Compiègne cedex

Tel: +33 0344234527	
---------------------	--

Fax: +33 0344204813

e.mail: LG2mS@utc.fr

Gerard.Beranger@utc.fr

	Moulin, G., Prof., Richard, C., Dr., Viennot, M., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:	Computer modeling; Corrosion; Oxidation under lo

tic Key Words: Computer modeling; Corrosion; Oxidation under load; Oxide-metal interface; Surface analytical methods; Water vapor oxidation; Wear

Béranger, G., Prof., David, D., Dr., Lemaitre, C. Dr.,

Technical Key Words: Engine materials; Waste incineration; Thermal barrier coating systems; Industrial furnaces; Surface engineering

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The main topics of research are devoted to the influence of oxygen or gas mixtures on the high temperature properties, such as oxidation or corrosion of metals, alloys and coatings and friction and wear. Many researches are performed to study the role of high temperature oxide scales and coatings in the protection of metals and alloys in oxygen and complex gas mixtures. Specific set-ups are used to analyze the influence of surface treatments and loading on the behavior of oxidized surfaces or coatings, especially with respect to their stress level evolution and/or wear property modifications. In addition to the previous research fields, other research topics are explored based on the diffusion of ¹⁸O (as oxygen tracer), microstructural explorations (using transmission or scanning electron microscopy) and surface analyses by nuclear microprobe, secondary ion mass spectrometry and X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Moreover, the role of oxide scale on friction and wear at high temperature in oxidizing atmospheres is taken into account; special attention is focused on the influence of water vapor on mechanical properties of oxide scale under surface mechanical loading. The various mechanisms for stress generation in the outer oxide scale, or for mechanical evolution of oxidized samples, are determined by computer modeling in connection

with other universities and research centres (ENSAM, Mining School, French and foreign universities).

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Applications of these researches are found in every domain where materials are used at high temperature in aggressive environments (power plants, waste incinerators, aeronautical or car industries, nuclear installations). The protective behavior of coated and uncoated surfaces is more particularly explored with respect to their mechanical properties (stress generation, wear or fretting behavior). Collaborations are then established with many academic and industrial centers and particularly aeronautical, military and nuclear centers (ONERA, ETCA, CEA of Saclay and Fontenay aux Roses), electric power industries (especially EDF), iron and steel industries (IRSID, SOLLAC), metallurgy plants (CETIM, IMPHY, St Gobain).

Specific Topics

1. Relation Between Stress Generation and Adherence in Outer Scales (Oxides and Others)

These studies have been done both for oxide scales on Fe-Si alloys and for Al-Si coatings on steels annealed at 500°C and 700°C.

In the first case, a simplified approach to the stress generation was performed using the curvature or "deflection" test in temperature in air. Such a technique helps to determine, for instance, the low stress level which is generated and gives information on the influence of Fayalite on the oxide scale adherence. Further results on the crack propagation into the oxide layers are obtained with the help of a four-point bending test.

In the second case, the coating behaviour is largely disturbed on account of many aliminures phases which are able to form distinctly with respect to the composition of the steel substrate. Also in oxidizing atmospheres, a competition between intermetallic phase transformation and oxide formation is observed, together with interdiffusion processes between coating and substrate. Phases are determined especially using classic and synchrotron X-ray diffraction.

2. Oxidation under Load

Oxidation under load is studied for two distinct systems: NiO on Ni and iron oxides on steels.

In the first system the mechanical behavior is mainly creep. Relations between deformation and oxidation are studied in a specific set-up, which enables creep or stress relaxation measurements in vacuum or in ¹⁶O₂ and ¹⁸O₂ on monocrystalline or polycrystalline Ni. A local analysis of the deformation mechanism is done, based on the "periodic cracking" model of Jobin, Agrawat and Raj. One of the results is the distinct creep behavior of a preoxidized sample with respect to an unoxidized one. Another result is the determination of the evolution of the oxygen diffusion versus applied load and accordingly to the defects in the oxide structure. Nuclear microprobe analysis of ¹⁸O is especially used.

In the second system, tensile tests in oxygen of oxidized samples are considered. The study is devoted to the analysis of the mechanical properties of the three distinct iron oxide layers on steels with respect to temperature and steel composition. ¹⁸O is used as tracer for the understanding of the oxide scale growth and the stress relaxation phenomena (crack formation, spallation).

3. Role of Water Vapor on Stress Relaxation in Al₂O₃ Grown on Fe Cr Al Alloy or NiO on Ni

Without load, the stress level evolution with respect to water vapor evolution is examined in the deflection test and modeling is done using a calculation code (called "Zebulon"). The main influence of water vapor is to modify the oxide morphology and to only decrease slightly the oxidation kinetics of alumina. Also, there is a significant increase in the stress gradient into the whole oxide scale grown in atmosphere containing water vapor with respect to oxygen.

In the case of applied load on Ni/NiO (in creep conditions), a distinct behavior is observed for the outer and inner NiO layers. Particularly the water vapor increases the plasticity of the inner oxide layer.

4. CO₂ Laser Treatments for Surface Hardening and Elaboration of Protective Sprayed Coating Against Corrosion

Microstructural, analytical and mechanical approaches are employed to determine the mechanisms of surface hardening of a 551 steel using a CO_2 laser treatment. More specifically, the influence of water vapor thrown on the surface is studied with respect to the thermal effect due to water vaporisation.

When NiCrAlY is prepared from powder thrown on the surface using a CO_2 laser, a distinct oxidation behaviour is noted with respect to a bulk NiCrAlY alloy. Especially, phases containing Y are observed between each laser strand and Y is differently distributed in the outer oxide scale during oxidation as shown by RBS experiments.

5. Oxygen Diffusion Mechanism in Cr_2O_3 Grown on PVD Coating by Using CO_2 Laser

¹⁸O isotopic exchange experiments demonstrate that there occurs a preferential diffusion occurs along the grain boundaries of the outer oxide scale. The cationic diffusion was analyzed by oxidation of samples previously covered by a thin layer of ⁵⁴Cr.

6. Oxidation Mechanism of Fe Cr Alloys with an Al Covering in Front of Liquid PbLi

The study is done to analyze how the oxygen coming from liquid LiPb can effectively help the construction of a thin oxide scale with Al in the coating.

Influences are then expected on the protection of the Al coating in front of liquid PbLi

7. Relation Between Wear and Oxidation

Components of high wear resistance can be obtained with consideration of the tribosystem (environment, loading, lubrication etc) in question by using surface modification technologies and by optimising the microstructure of the materials used. Particularly, the research is focused on wear at high temperature and includes studies about interaction between oxidation and wear. Specifically, one area of activity is the study of large components of ceramic for hot rolling operations in the steel-working industry. In this range, the tribological group has set up a collaborative venture with different European partners in a Brite-Euram project. A special tribometer at high temperature has been designed.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Analytical Studies of Oxidation

- Moulin, G., Mons, C., Severac, C., Haut, C., Rotureau, G. and Beauprez, E., "Analytical Study of the Surface and Bulk Oxidation of Astroloy", <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 85 (1993).
- Viennot, M., David, D., Lambertin, M. and Béranger, G., "Détermination par Microanalyse Nucléaire du Coefficient en Volume de l'Oxygène dans le Zirconium a entre 500 et 640°C," <u>C.R. Acad. Sci.</u>, <u>II</u>, 318 (1994).
- Berger, P., Viennot, M. and Moulin, G., "Study by Nuclear Microprobe of the ¹⁸O Diffusion Study in NiO on Ni," <u>Proceedings of the International Congress on Nuclear Analysis</u>, Santa Fé, USA, Decembré (1996).

 Dillmann, P., Populus, P., Chevallier, P., Elkaim, E., Fluzin, P., Béranger, G. and Firsov, A., "Microdiffraction du Rayonnement Synchrotron Identification de Phases non Métalliques dans les Alliages Ferreux," <u>C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris</u>, <u>324</u>, IIb, 763-772 (1997).

Plus other publications in this field.

2. Diffusion Study in Outer Oxide Scales on Materials

- Mons, C., Moulin, G., Priester, L., Rautureau, G., Beauprez, Gosset, J. and Trocellier, P., "Influence of Experimental Procedure and Alloy's Nature on the Oxygen Diffusion into a Nickel Base Alloy (Astroloy)," <u>Intergranular and Interphase</u> <u>Boundaries in Materials iib'92</u>, Trans. Tech. Publications, Eds. Ph. Komninou and A. Rocher, <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>126-128</u>, 379 (1993).
- Moulin, G., Arevalo, P. and Salleo, A., "Influence of External Loading (Creep-Fatigue) on Oxygen Diffusion During Nickel Oxidation," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>45</u>, 1-2 (1996).
- Viennot, M., Moulin, G., Cassino, F., Béranger, G. and Berger, P., "Study of the ¹⁸O Diffusion in Mono and Polycrystalline Nickel Oxidized Under Stresses," <u>Proceedings of the 1st Congress on Mediteranean Material Science</u>, Beyrough, Octobre (1996).

Plus other publications in this field.

3. Relation Between Oxidation and Microstructure

- Moulin, G., Mons, C., Severac, C., Haut, C., Rautureau, G. and Beauprez, E., "Microstructure Influence on the Oxidation Behaviour at 750°C of Astroloy," <u>Journal</u> <u>de Physique IV, Colloque C9, Supplément au Journal de Physique III</u>, <u>3,11</u>, 85 (1993).
- Cassino, F., Dubouchet, C. and Moulin, G., "Rôle of Interphase Cementite in the Mechanical Properties of the CO₂ Laser Transformation Hardened 55Cl Steel," <u>Proc.</u> <u>7 éme Int. Conf. Intergranular and Interphase Boundaries in Materials</u>, Lisbonne, 26 juin (1995).

Plus other publications in this field.

4. High Temperature Oxidation or Corrosion

- Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G., Severac, C. and Haut, C., "Effet de TeO₂ sur la Corrosion á Haute Temperature de l'Inconel 601," <u>La Revue de Métallurgie - CIT/Science et</u> <u>Génie des Matériaux</u>, <u>5</u>, 799 (1994).
- Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G. and Haut, C., "Comparaison de la Résistance á l'Oxydation á Haute Temperature des Alliages MA 956 et Kanthal APM," <u>Matériaux et</u> <u>Techniques</u>, <u>8,9</u>, 9 (1994).

5. Influence of Coatings on Oxidation

- Beauvais, S., Fritsch, S., Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G., Beylat, L. and Blechet, J.J., "Oxydation Comparée d'un Depot de Chrome par Traitement Thermique Classique et par Laser CO₂ Continu á Température Constante," <u>Journal de Physique IV,</u> <u>Colloque C9, Supplément au Journal de Physique III, 3, 615 (1993).</u>
- Beauvais, S., Beylat, L., Bléchet, J.J., Huntz, A.M. and Moulin, G., "Oxidation Mechanism of Chromium Coating by a Continuous CO₂ Laser at Constant Temperature," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1225 (1993).
- 14. Moulin, G., Beauvais, S., Nicod, B., Huntz, A.M., Rautureau, G., Beauprez, E., Beylat, L. and Bléchet, J.J., "Influence of Carbon on the Oxidation of Physical Vapor Deposited Chromium on Laboratory and Industrial Iron," <u>Materials at High</u> <u>Temperature</u>, <u>11</u>, 170 (1993).
- 15. Beauvais, S., Moulin, G., Huntz, A.M., Puig, T. and Bataille, F., "Oxydation d'un Dépôt Electrolytique de Chrome sur Acier Z32CDV13, Classiquement en Four ou Assistée par Laser CO₂ Continu á Température Constante," <u>Revue de Métallurgie,</u> <u>Science at Génie des Matériaux</u>, <u>12</u>, 1845 (1994).
- Richard, C., Lu, J., Béranger, G. and Decomps, F., "Study of Cr₂O₃ Coating Materials, Part I: Microstructures and Modulus," <u>Journal of Thermal Spray Technology</u>, <u>4,4</u>, 342-246 (1995).
- 17. Richard, C., Lu, J., Béranger, G. and Decomps, F., "Study of Cr_2O_3 Coating Materials. Part I: Adhesion to a Cast Iron Substrate," <u>Journal of Thermal Spray Technology</u>, <u>4,4</u>, 347-352 (1995).
- Beauvais, S., Huntz, A.M. Bléchet, J.J. and Moulin, G., "Comparison of Classical Oxidation and Laser Oxidation of a Chromium PVD Coating on a Pure Iron-Substrate," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u> (1995).

- Richard, C., Béranger, G., Lu, J., Flavenot, J.F. and Gregoire, T., "Four Point Bending Tests of Thermally Produced WC-Co Coatings," <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>78</u>, 284-294 (1996).
- 20. Richard, C., Béranger, G., Lu, J., Flavenot, J.F., "The Influences of Heat Treatments and Interdiffusion on the Adhesion of Plasma Sprayed NiCrAlY Coatings," <u>Surface</u> <u>and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>82</u>, 99-109 (1996).
- 21. Cassino, F., Dubouchet, Lebrun, G. and Moulin, G., "Mécanismes de Durcissement de Surface d'Aciers par Traitements Laser CO₂ de Forte Puissance," <u>Proceedings of the 4th European Congress on Residual Stress</u>, ECRS 4, Cluny, juin (1996).

6. Relation Between Stresses or Applied Deformation on Oxidation

- 22. Mons, C., Moulin, G., Lineau, C., Severac, C. and Jaoul, O., "Influence of Oxidation on the Stress Level in Oxidized Surface of Astroloy," <u>Corrosion-Deformation-Interactions, CD19, Les Editions de Physique</u>, Eds. T. Magnin and J.M. Gras, 477 (1993).
- 23. Germidis, A., Andrieu, E., Bernard, F., Lambertin, M. and Moulin, G., "Measurement of Stresses Developed During the High Temperature Oxidation of a Ferritic Alloy," <u>Proceedings of the International Congress on Metallurgy and</u> <u>Technology of Materials, IBEROMET III</u>, Sao Paulo, Bresil, 9-14 October (1994).
- 24. Moulin, G. and Arevalo, P., "Influence d'une Strate Externe de NiO sur le Comportement en Fatigue du Nickel á 550°C," <u>Fatigue et Traitements de Surface</u>, <u>Journées de Printemps, La Revue de Métallurgie</u>, Ed., série no9, Paris (1995).
- 25. Moulin, G. and Berger, P., "Interaction Between Oxidation and Deformation in Ni in Creep at 550°C. Relation with Oxygen Diffusion," <u>Proceedings of the 7th</u> <u>International Conference on Intergranular and Interphase Boundaries in Materials,</u> Lisbonne, 26 juin (1995).
- 26. Richard, C., Béranger, G. and Lu, J., "Residual Stresses, Adhesion and Thermal Sprayed Coatings," <u>Proceedings of the 125th TMS Annual Meeting and Exhibition</u>, <u>High Temperature Coatings II</u>, Anaheim, USA, 77-86, February (1996).
- 27. Moulin, G. and Maurel, F., "Influence of Residual and Applied Stresses on Nickel Oxidation at 550°C. Influence of a Preoxidation Treatment," <u>Proceedings of the 4th</u> <u>European Congress on Residual Stress</u>, ECRS 4, Cluny, Juin (1996).
- 28. Moulin, G., Cassino, F., Berger, P., Viennot, M. and Béranger, G., "Influence of Preoxidation on the Creep of Monocristalline Ni," <u>Proceedings of the European</u>

<u>Congress on Corrosion Deformation, Interaction</u>, CDI 96, Nice, 24-26 Septembre (1996).

7. Influence of Water Vapor on Oxidation or Stress Development During Oxide Scale Formation

- 29. Labaiz, M., Guillot, I., Petelot, D. and Béranger, G., "Relation entre Oxidation et Frottement á Chaud des Aciers - Influence de la Vapeur d'eau," <u>Revue de</u> <u>Métallurgie, Science et Génie des Matériaux</u>, <u>9</u>9, 1291 (1994).
- 30. Moulin, G., Essoum, H., Lambertin, M., Abrudeanu, A., Mousseaux, L., Lemaitre, C. and Béranger, G., "Stresses Developed During the High Oxidation of FeCr₂₂Al₅Ce Alloy. Influence of Water Vapour," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, in press (1997).

8. Electrochemical Study

31. Farah, L., Lemaitre, C. and Béranger, G., "Passive Film Evolution on Stainless Steel with the Medium Composition: Electrochemical Behaviour in the Presence of Chloride and Molybdate Ions," <u>European Federation of Corrosion Publications, The</u> <u>Institute of Materials</u>, <u>198</u> (1994).

Buscail, H., Dr., Bonnet, G., Dr., Colson, J.C., Prof. and Larpin, J.P., Prof.

Laboratoire de Recherches sur la Réactivité des Solides

B.P. 400		
21011 Dij	on Cedex	
Tel:	+33 380 39 6159; +33 380 39 6131; +33 380 39 6441	
Fax:	+33 380 39 6132	
e.mail:	hbuscail@u-bourgogne.fr; gbonnet@u-bourgogne.fr;	
	jccolson@u-bourgogne.fr; jplarpin@u-bourgogne.fr	
Key Pers	onnel:	Buscail, H., Dr., Bonnet, G., Dr., Colson, J.C., Prof., Larpin, J.P., Prof.
Scientific	Key Words:	High temperature corrosion; Oxidation; Sulfidation; Thermal cycling; Coatings; Reactive element effect; Impurities; Water vapor; Texture; In-situ stress measurement
Technica	l Key Words:	OMCVD; Sol-gel coatings; Thermo-gravimetry; Vacuum; XRD stress determination

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research includes fundamental studies of the transport processes within oxide and sulfide scales (MnS, MoS₂ etc). Co-deposited reactive elements by OMCVD coating are tested for alumina and chromia formers. Attention was placed on the optimisation of the coating process and the effect of the coating on the corrosion mechanism. The method of introduction and the study of the location of reactive elements in oxide and sulfide scales are studied using pure metals, or well characterized alloys, studied as model systems. Fundamental research also concerns the examination of the self crystallographic organisation of corrosion products (Textures) and the influence of the scale texture on the stress level (determined by XRD) in oxide scales are also in progress.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

OMCVD is to be applied for electronic purposes. Fundamental studies on the role of water vapor, and the presence of alkaline impurities, in the high temperature corrosion behavior of commercial stainless steels have industrial applications.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Corrosion, Coatings Effects and Characterisation

- Colson, J.C., Bonnet, G., Lachkar, M., Buscail, H., Aguilar, G. and Larpin, J.P., "Elaboration, Caratérisation et Tests de Comportement en Anti-Corrosion par les Gaz Chauds, de Films d'Oxydes de Terres Rares Déposés sur des Alliages à Base Fer," <u>Première Conférence Maghrébine de Génie des Procédés</u> (COMAGEP) Coord. M. Ben Chanaa and A. Belghit, <u>I</u>, 237-240 (1994).
- 2. Bonnet, G., Lachkar, M., Larpin, J.P. and Colson, J.C., "Organometallic Chemical Vapor Deposition of Rare Earth Oxide Thin Films," Application for Steel Protection Against High Temperature Oxidation, <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>72</u>, 344-348 (1994).
- 3. Colson, J.C., Huscail, H., Larpin, J.P., Sotto, P. and Bonnet, G., "Rare Earth Effect on Different Metal and Alloys at High Temperature in Oxidizing Conditions," <u>Transactions of the Materials Research Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>,107-112 (1994).
- 4. Colson, J.C. and Larpin, J.P., "High Temperature Oxidation of Stainless Steel," <u>MRS</u> <u>Bulletin</u>, <u>19</u>, 10, 20-25 (1994).
- Buscail, H., Larpin, J.P., Heizmann, J.J. and Laruelle, C., "Influence d'un Dépôt Superficiel d'Oxyde de Cérium sur l'Orientation Cristalline de la Wustite Formées sur le Fer Pur à Haute Température et Basse Pression d'Oxygène," <u>Revue de</u> <u>Métallurgie-Cit</u>/"Sciences et Génie des Matériaux ," <u>9</u>, 1982 (1994).
- 6. Colson, J.C., Bonnet, G., Lachkar, M., Buscail, H., Aguilar, G. and Larpin, J.P., "Elaboration, Caractérisation et Tests de Comportement en Anticorrosion par les Gaz Chauds de Revêtements d'Oxydes de Terres Rares Déposées sur des Aciers Courants ou Expérimentaux. Perspectives d'Utilisation," <u>Revue de Métallurgie-Cit</u>/"Sciences et Génie des Matériaux ," <u>9</u>, 1239 (1994).
- Nyassi, A., Bendriss, A. and Larpin, J.P., "Behavior of the Alloys Fe17Ti and AISI 304 in an Atmosphere Containing Hydrogen Sulphide at High Temperature," <u>Advanced Materials Research</u>, <u>1-2</u>, 639-648 (1994).

- Nyassi, A., Larpin, J.P. and Bendriss, A., "Sulfidation Behavior of a Ferritic Commercial Alloy in Different Sulfidizing Environments at High Temperature," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 543-560 (1995).
- 9. Colson, J.C., Buscail, H., Bonnet, G. and Larpin, J.P., "The Effect of Rare Earths Deposited Oxide Film on Different Metal and Alloys on High Temperature Corrosion Behaviour," <u>Solid State Phenomena</u>, <u>41</u>, 165-175 (1995).
- 10. Buscail, H. and Larpin, J.P., "The Influence of Ceria Surface Addition on Manganese Oxidation at High Temperature," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 237-261 (1995).
- 11. Bonnet, G., Lachkar, M., Colson, J.C. and Larpin, J.P., "Characterization of Thin Solid Films of Rare Earth Oxides Formed by the MOCVD Technique, for High Temperature Corrosion Application," <u>Thin Solid Films</u>, <u>261</u>, 31-36 (1995).
- 12. Buscail, H., Larpin, J.P., Heizmann, J.J. and Laruelle, C., "Influence d'un Dépôt Superficiel d'Oxyde de Cérium sur l'Orientation Cristalline de la Wustite Formée sur le Fer Pur à Haute Température et Basse Pression d'Oxygène," <u>Revue de</u> <u>Métallurgie-Cit</u>/"Sciences et Génie des Matériaux," <u>5</u>, 661-670 (1995).
- 13. Buscail, H., Gauthey, V., Larpin, J.P., Heizmann, J.J. and Laruelle, C., "The Influence of Ceria Coatings on the Manganese Sulfide Texture," Journal de Chimie Physique, 92,1257-1271 (1995).
- 14. Colson, J.C., Bonnet, G., Lachkar, M., Chevalier, S., Silva, M. and Larpin, J.P., "Oxidation Behavior of Various Alloys at High Temperature. Protective Effect of the Alloying Element Oxides and Role of Alumina, Chromia and Rare Earth Oxides on Thin Film OMCVD," Proc. <u>Int. Conf. for Surface Science and Engineering</u>, Beijing, 15-20 Mai, 413-418 (1995).
- 15. Buscail, H., Courty, C. and Larpin, J.P., "Effects of Ceria Coatings on Pure Iron Oxidation. Comparison with Extra Low Carbon Steels," <u>Journal de Chimie Physique</u> <u>IV, Suppl., Vol. III</u>, Coll. C7, 375-380 (1995).
- 16. Silva, M., Bonnet, G., Larpin, J.P. and Colson, J.C., "High Temperature Corrosion Behavior of Alumina Coated F17Ti Stainless Steel," Book of Abstracts de <u>Euromat</u> <u>95</u>, Padua/Venice (Italy) 25-28 Septembre (1995).
- 17. Bonnet, G., Silva, M., Chevalier, S., Larpin, J.P. and Colson, J.C., "Effect of Chromia and Alumina Coatings on the High Temperature Behavior F17Ti Stainless Steel in Air: Effect of a Rare Earth Element Oxide," <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>80</u>, 76-79 (1996).

- 18. Chevalier, S., Silva, M., Bonnet, G., Larpin, J.P. and Colson, J.C., "Effect of Chromia Coating on the High Temperature Behavior of the F17Ti Stainless Steel in Air. Effect of a Rare Earth Element Oxide," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 53-57 (1997).
- 19. Courty, C., Buscail, H. and Larpin, J.P., "Effect of Impurities (Carbon and Manganese) on Iron Oxidation at High Temperature. Impurities Rare Earth Element (Cerium) Interaction," <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, (accepted).
- 20. Silva, M., Chevalier, S., Bonnet, G. and Colson, J.C., "High Temperature Corrosion Behavior of Coated F17Ti Stainless Steel," <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, (accepted).
- 21. Courty, C., Buscail, H. and Larpin, J.P., "Effects of Carbon and Manganese Impurities on Cerium Incorporation in Iron Oxide Scales," <u>Journal de Chimie</u> <u>Physique</u>, <u>93</u>, 1509-1524 (1996).
- Buscail, H. and Larpin, J.P., "The Influence of a Cerium Surface Addition on Low Pressure Oxidation of Pure Iron at High Temperatures," <u>Solid State Ionics</u> <u>92</u>, 243-251 (1996).
- 23. Buscail, H., Heinze, S., Dufour, Ph. and Larpin, J.P., "Water-Vapor Effect on the Fe-21.5wt%Cr-5.6wt%Al Alloy Oxidation at 1000°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u> <u>47</u>, 445-464 (1997).
- 24. Buscail, H., Heinze, S. and Dufour, Ph., "Initial Stage Oxidation of a FeCrAl Alloy Oxidation at 1000°C. Influence of Water Vapor," <u>Journal de Chimie Physique</u> <u>94</u>, 553-568 (1997).

Caillet, M., Dr. and Galerie, A., Prof.

Laboratoire de Thermodynamique et Physico-Chimie

Métallurgiques de Grenoble

UMR 5614 CNRS - INPG - UJF

ENS d'Electrochimie et d'Electrométallurgie de Grenoble

B.P. 75 Domaine Universitaire

38402 Saint-Martin d'Hères

Tel: +33 04 76 82 65 00

Fax: +33 04 76 82 66 77

Scientific Key Words:

Oxidation/sulfidation; Water vapor oxidation; Refractory metals and components; Surface modification/coating; Laser alloying

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Surface Treatments and Reactivity

The major aims of the work conducted in this group concern high temperature oxidation and sulfidation of metals and alloys, and their reduction by appropriate surface modification or coating application. In order to progress fundamental knowledge, high temperature oxidation processes are studied on their own, as well as surface treatments. When industrial problems of materials degradation are to be combatted, the choice of the right coating solution is therefore made easier.

Specific Topics

1. Fundamentals of High Temperature Oxidation of Dilute Alloys

Concerning the parabolic oxidation of alloys with a low content of a different valence element, we have shown that the Wagner-Hauffe valence approach contains some inaccuracies. We considered the growth of oxides with metal excess or oxygen deficiency and of oxides with metal deficiency or oxygen excess and demonstrated that, in both cases, the evolution of the parabolic rate constant with the impurity content may be not monotonic.

2. Fundamentals of High Temperature Oxidation in Presence of Water Vapor

This underlying research work concerns, at the present date, oxidation of titanium, tantalum, nickel and cobalt. These metals were chosen to represent the most often encountered kinetic laws and oxide morphology. It is tried to understand why vapor inhibits or exacerbates oxidation compared with dry oxygen. In addition to classical kinetic and morphological studies, electrochemical techniques have been shown to be useful as impedance spectrometry and photoelectrochemistry (collaboration with Petit, Dr., LEPMI-Grenoble).

3. Fundamentals of Sulfidation of Transition Metals

As in the case of water vapor, the corrosion of metals by H_2S is not well understood. We studied the sulfidation of tantalum in pure H_2S or Ar/H_2S mixtures. Due to the very low rates, tantalum powder was used to obtain exploitable kinetic curves, showing interface limitation.

4. Surface Alloying by Laser Beam

Many studies are pursued in this field concerning the elaboration of surface alloys mainly devoted to high temperature use in corrosive environments. The substrates studied were two low alloyed ferritic steels (35NCD16 and Z38CDV5). The surface alloys were obtained by laser alloying with predeposits of Cr_3Cr_2 and SiC (on 35 NCD16 steel) and Si, Si₃N₄ or Cr_3C_2 (on Z38CDV5 steel). The oxidation resistance of the treated samples was studied in isothermal and cycling conditions. The formation of a chromia scale was favoured by the initial development of a thin silica film. The surface alloys remarkably resist thermal cycling oxidative conditions at 950°C.

5. Ageing of Silicon Membranes in Ar/Cl₂ Mixtures

The use of silicon membranes in sensors for aeronautic purposes requires the knowledge of their ageing in aggressive environments. Chlorine (without oxygen) leading to volatile SiCl₄ seems to be the most dangerous. The reaction of silicon with chlorine being negligible until 200°C, observations are made at higher temperatures and give, by extrapolation, valuable data for the life duration at service temperatures.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. "High Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of Laser Surface Alloyed Iron-Silicon Coatings on Iron," Journal de Physique IV. Colloque C9. Supplément au Journal de Physique III, <u>3</u>, 625-633 (1993).

- 2. "High Temperature Attack by SO₂ of Laser Boronized Iron," <u>Journal de Physique</u> <u>IV. Colloque C9. Supplément au Journal de Physique III</u>, <u>3</u>, 599-606 (1993).
- 3. Caillet, M., Roy, S.K., Seal, S. and Rose, S.K., "Effect of Superficially Applied Cerium Oxide Coating on the Non-Isothermal Oxidation of AISI 321 Grade Stainless Steel," Journal of Material Science Letters, 12, 249-251 (1993).
- Caillet, M., Galerie, A., Dao Duong, H., Pons, M. and Nguyen Khac, C., "The Behaviour in SO₂ at High Temperatures of Fe-B Coatings on Fe Obtained by Ion Beam, Laser or Pack Cementation Techniques," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1073-1083 (1993).
- Caillet, M., Gemelli, E. and Galerie, A., "Revêtements Anti-Oxydation Obtenus par Traitement Laser de l'Acier Ferritique Faiblement Allié 35NCD16," <u>C.R. Acad. Sci.</u>, <u>319</u>, série II, 1179-1182 (1994).
- 6. Caillet, M., Gleize, Ph., Schouler, M.C. and Gadelle, P., "Growth of Tubular Boron Nitride Filaments," Journal of Materials Science, 29, 1575-1580 (1994).
- Caillet, M., De Nicola, M.R., Wouters, Y. and Galerie, A., "Etude Cinétique de l'Oxydation Thermique du Tantale dans des Atmosphères Mixtes Oxygène-Vapeur d'eau," <u>Journal de Chimie Physique</u>, <u>92</u>, 1142-1153 (1995).
- 8. Galerie, A., "High Temperature Oxidation and Corrosion of Metals and Alloys: Fundamentals and Influence of High Energy Beams," in <u>Application of Particle and</u> <u>Laser Beams in Materials Technology (NATO AISI)</u>, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, NL (1995).
- 9. Caillet, M., Passier, F. and Galerie, A., "Etude Cinétique de la Réaction d'une Poudre de Tantale Avec le Sulfure d'Hydrogène," <u>Annales de Chimie Science de</u> <u>Matériaux</u>, <u>21</u>, 25-32 (1996).
- Caillet, M., Sarrazin, P. and Galerie, A., "Contribution to Understanding of Parabolic Oxidation Mechanism of Dilute Alloys. Part 1: Oxides with Metal Excess or Oxygen Deficit," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 1-17 (1996).
- Caillet, M., Sarrazin, P. and Galerie, A., "Contribution to Understanding of Parabolic Oxidation Kinetics of Dilute Alloys. Part 2: Oxides with Metal Deficit or Oxygen Excess," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 299-312 (1996).
- Caillet, M., Gemelli, E. and Galerie, A., "Thermal Oxidation Resistant Surface Alloys Processed by Laser Alloying on 35NCD16 Ferritic Steel," <u>Journal of Materials</u> <u>Science 31</u>, 6627-6630 (1996).

- "Thermal Oxidation Resistant Surface Alloys Processed by Laser Alloying on Z38CDV5 Ferritic Steel," <u>Colloque "Eurosolid 3</u>," Louvain-la-Neuve, 30 Novembre -1 Décembre 1995, <u>Solid State Ionics 95</u>, 81-86 (1997).
- 14. Galerie, A., Wouters, Y. and Petit, J.P., "Interfacial Reactions and Diffusion During the Thermal Oxidation of Titanium in Water Vapour," <u>Materials Science Forum</u> (in press).
- 15. Galerie, A., Wouters, Y., Antoni, L. and Petit, J.P., "Study and Imaging by Photoelectrochemical Techniques of Oxide Films Thermally Grown on Titanium," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation III</u>, The Institute of Materials, 420-426 (1997).

Daltin, AL., Dr., Bertrand, C., Douglade, J., Prof. and Toesca, S., Prof.		
Laboratoire d'Electrochimie et Chimie du Solide		
Université de	e Reims Champ	agne-Ardenne
Moulin de la Housse B.P. 1039		
51687 Reims Cedex 2		
Tel: +33	3 3 26 05 31 36 a	and +33 3 26 05 32 31
Fax: +33	3 3 26 05 31 95	
Key Personne	el:	Daltin, AL., Dr., Bertrand, C.B., Douglade, J., Prof., Toesca, S., Prof.
Scientific Key	y Words:	Multilayers; Copper alloys; Nickel alloys; Nickel oxidation; Copper oxidation

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

A Comparison of High-Temperature Corrosion Between Cu/Ni Multilayers and Cu-Ni Alloys with the Same Composition

Stratified deposits are a subject of interest because of their original features (modification of magnetic, structural and mechanical properties, increase in corrosion resistance, etc). The high-temperature corrosion of thick electro-deposited Cu/Ni multilayers, and of alloys with the same composition, has been investigated and compared. For multilayer elaboration, the deposition has been conducted under galvanostatic conditions using a dual-bath technique. The baths have been optimized in order to obtain a planar stratification. Thermogravimetric analysis of the oxidation of these materials between 600°C and 1000°C under 1 atm of O₂ exhibits rates and reaction mechanisms very different from those observed for the alloy of the same composition. The results indicate that products of corrosion are different in the two cases. Considering the reaction mechanisms, the global process of rate-determining diffusion is probably the same for the two kinds of materials but the diffusion paths throughout the scales may be very different. The contribution of boundary diffusion seems to be much more important for the multilayers, taking into account the values of the activation energies. Finally, the multilayer material exhibits a better resistance towards oxidation than the alloy of the same composition, even though it constitutes itself an alloy at the end of the reaction. This is a consequence of the efficiency of the diffusion barrier owed to the growth type of the oxide scales, their plasticity, their adherence and above all to the mode of elaboration of our initial specimens.

Davidso	n, James H.	
Imphy S.A.		
Centre de Recherches		
58160 IM	IPHY	
Tel:	+33 186 213 220	
Fax:	+33 186 213 111	
Telex:	IY 800 420 F	
Key Personnel:		Davidson, James H., Boulogne, Bruno, Descemond, Maryse
Scientific Key Words:		Electrical heater materials; Superalloys; Impurities; Reactive element effect; Glass-to-metal seals; Preoxidation; Catalyst support systems

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Main Interests

- High temperature corrosion resistance as a functional property: heat-resisting alloys, electrical heater element materials, superalloys, catalyst support systems.
- Pre-formed oxides for improved bonding in glass-to-metal seals.
- Scale formation during metal processing and its elimination by pickling.

On-Going Projects

- Role of minor additions and impurities on the oxidation behavior of Fe-Ni-Cr and Fe-Cr-Al alloys.
- Effect of impurities and pre-oxidation conditions on the oxide formed on Fe-Ni-Cr glass sealing alloys, and on the quality of the subsequent bond.
- Effect of composition and annealing treatment on scale formation in stainless steels and its elimination by mechanical and/or chemical methods.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Forest, C. and Davidson, J.H., "Some Observations on the Effects of Sulfur and Active Elements on the Oxidation of Fe-Cr-Al Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 479-490 (1995).

2. Boulogne, B., "Glass-to-Metal Sealing," <u>The Iron-Nickel Alloys</u>, Eds. Béranger et al., Lavoisier, Paris, Chap. 17, pp319-332 (1996).

Féron, D. and Terlain, A.

Service de la Corrosion, d'Electrochimie et de Chimie des Fluides

Commisariat à l'Energie Atomique

	Ū.	•
P.O. Box 6		
92 265 Fontenay-aux-Roses Cedex		
Tel:	+33 1 46 54 77 67 or +33 1 46 54 87 89	
Fax:	+33 1 46 54 88 51	
Key Pers	onnel:	Féron, D., Terlain, A., Santarini, G., Cabet, C.
Scientific	Key Words:	Ash; Ceramics corrosion; Chlorine; Flue gas; Hot corrosion; Mixed gases; Mixed oxidants with water vapor; Molten glasses; Molten salts; Nickel alloys; Refractory alloys; Superalloys; Waste incinerator materials
Technica	l Key Words:	Condensate corrosion; Municipal waste-burning; Waste incineration; Nuclear power systems; Industrial furnaces

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research includes fundamental studies on the mechanisms of the degradation of alloys and of ceramics in presence of molten glasses or molten salts. Special attention is paid to oxides and oxide layer behaviour.

Nickel base alloys have been particularly investigated in different molten salts, including sodium sulphate and sodium molybdate (with or without molybdenum oxide), and in various atmospheres with different oxygen contents, at temperatures about 1000°C. Mechanisms of the degradation of these alloys have been investigated and the deterious effects of molybdenum oxide has been pointed out and a mechanism proposed.

Engineering Applications

Most of the laboratory work deals with practical solutions to industrial corrosion difficulties in molten glass technology or in waste incineration plants.

Specific Topics

1. Molten Glass Corrosion

The overall aim is to select materials for industrial applications. Tested materials include alloys and ceramics at temperatures between 1100°C and 1450°C. Emphasis is being placed on life-time prediction in relation to glass composition and evolution. The experimental work is done in two facilities where glasses can be handled and added continuously. The flow effect is reproduced in one facility while, in the other one, stresses can be applied to the tested materials immersed in molten glass.

2. Waste Incineration Corrosion

All the aspects of the corrosion in waste incineration plants are investigated : from hot corrosion in various atmospheres at temperatures up to 1500°C, to dew-point corrosion at the condensate temperatures, or with cold walls and different vapor contents in the flue gas, including also specific degradation due to ashes. To achieve the corresponding experimental work, two main facilities are available: the CORALINE facility is designed to operate with toxic gases, various vapour contents and mixed gases. Ash corrosion is simulated in a micro-waste incinerator called CASIMIR which allows generation of real atmospheres resulting from waste burning and taking into account the presence of ashes.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Devisme, F., Flament, T., Mulet, J.C., Prebende, C. and Martigneaux, J.L., "Coating Behaviour for Materials of Industrial Waste Incinerators and Heat Exchangers in High Temperature Corrosive Atmospheres," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>3</u>, 771-778, December (1993).
- Terlain, A. and Féron, D., "Corrosion Behaviour of Nickel-Base Alloys in Waste Incineration Atmospheres Containing Hydrochloric Acid and Sulfur Dioxide," <u>EUROCORR'96</u>, European Federation of Corrosion, Nice, Session III, OR 2-1 September (1996).

Most of the work, including fundamental studies (thesis), has been performed with industrial partners and has been reported in internal documents which are confidential.

Hannoyer, B., Prof. and Lenglet, M., Prof.

Laboratoire d'Analyse, de Spectroscopie et de Traitement de Surface des Matériaux

Université de Rouen LASTSM - IUT 76821 Mont Saint Aignan Cedex Tel: +33 2 35 14 62 47 and +33 2 35 14 62 45 Fax: +33 2 35 14 62 47 and +33 2 35 14 62 59 e.mail: beatrice.hannoyer@univ-rouen.fr Key Personnel: Hannoyer, B., Prof., Lenglet, M., Prof., Lopitaux, J., Prof., Guillamet, R., Dr., Kasperek, J., Dr., Lefez, B., Dr., Petit, F., Dr. Scientific Key Words: Bulk oxide properties; Copper alloys; Copper oxidation; FTIR spectroscopy; Metal/oxide interface; Mixed oxidation states; Nickel alloys; Nickel oxidation; Nonferrous metals; Preoxidation; Surface analytical methods; Superalloys Technical Key Words: Aeronautical/space propulsion systems; Heat exchangers; Heating elements; Scale adhesion; Solar absorbers

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

Oxides and photon-based analytical techniques are the specialisation of the laboratory.

In the area of high temperature oxidation, work consists essentially of the study of the composition of the high-temperature oxide scales obtained on metals and alloys in air or dry oxygen. The early stages of oxidation receive special focus.

Developments in analysis and surface characterization with infrared absorptionreflection spectroscopy allows the determination of the composition, thickness and structure of the oxide scales. The modeling of infrared reflectance spectra contributes to the enrichment of our library.

The oxidation of copper and copper alloys is of interest both to the scientific and industrial world. Surface analysis by optical methods allows an easy identification of the different copper oxides present in layers from several nanometers up to several micrometers thick. The roles of various minor alloying additions in austenitic and ferritic steels, nickelbase or iron-nickel-base commercial alloys are correlated with the overall oxidation process.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

These are indicated below

Specific Topics

- 1. A part of the laboratory's work concerns fundamental studies of practical problems observed in the industrial area:
 - i) corrosion moulds in the glass industry;
 - ii) alloy preoxidation in order to develop protective scales;
 - iii) failure of electrical contacts in the connector industry;
 - iv) surface modification induced by thermal treatment, creating damage such as wearing effects on machine tools in the processing industry.
- 2. Another part of the laboratory's work concerns fundamental studies, with the objective to improve specific properties of materials:
 - i) conversion coatings developed on ferritic stainless steels for solar applications, in collaboration with the LME/Paul Sabatier University/Toulouse/France;
 - ii) research concerning high temperature oxidation of nickel alloys is being carried out in collaboration with the CEA/Saclay/France;
 - iii) the effect of preoxidation of substrates on the formation and adhesion of plasma sprayed coating is being conducted in collaboration with the LMCTS/Limoges University/France;
 - iv) work on laser surface alloying of steels for high temperature corrosion/oxidation resistance is being undertaken, in collaboration with the IUC and CAT/Indore/India.

- France
- 3. The development of a library of reflectance infrared spectra is being carried out for several incidence angles and different oxide layer thicknesses, oxide layer compositions and oxide layer structures.
- 4. The surface analytical methods available are the following: low-angle X-ray diffraction; electrochemical measurements; Mössbauer spectroscopy; UV-Vis-NIR spectroscopy; FTIR spectroscopy; photoluminescence spectroscopy; SEM-EDS. XPS, RBS and X-ray absorption spectroscopy are complementary techniques available in IPN/Lyon University or LURE/Orsay University.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Souchet, R., Lenglet, M., Miché, P., Weber, S. and Scherrer, S., "Study of Copper Nickel Alloy Oxidation by FTIR and SIMS," <u>Analysis</u>, <u>21</u>, 173 (1993).
- 2. Lenglet, M., Lopitaux, J., Terrier, L., Chartier, J.P., Koenig, J.F., Nkeng, P. and Poillerat, G., "Initial Stages of Cobalt Oxidation by FTIR Spectroscopy," <u>Journal de</u> <u>Physique IV</u>, <u>C9</u>, <u>3</u>, 477 (1993).
- 3. Guillamet, R., Lopitaux, J., Hannoyer, B. and Lenglet, M., "Oxidation of Stainless Steels (AISI 304 and 316) at High Temperature. Influence on the Metallic Substratum," Journal de Physique IV, C9, 3, 349 (1993).
- 4. Guillamet, R., Gazin, L., Lenglet, M., Hannoyer, B. and Lopitaux, J., "Influence of Surface Preparation on Oxidation of Stainless Steels (304 and 316) at High Temperature," <u>Surface and Interface Analysis</u>, 20, 15 (1993).
- Beucher, E., Lefez, B. and Lenglet, M., "Optical Determination of Cuprous Oxide at Zinc Oxide-Metal Interface of an Oxidized α-Brass," <u>Physica Status Solidi (a)</u>, <u>136</u>, 139 (1993).
- Lenglet, M., "Characterization of Initial Stages of Copper Oxidation by Optical Absorption and Photoluminescence," Proceedings of the International Symposium on Control of Copper and Copper Alloys Oxidation, Rouen 1992, <u>La Revue de</u> <u>Métallurgie</u>, <u>n°6</u>, 163 (1993).
- Celati, N., Jomard, G., Kartouni, K., Beucher, E. and Lenglet, M., "GDS and SIMS Characterization of Oxidized Samples of Alpha Brasses and DHP Copper," Proceedings of the International Symposium on Control of Copper and Copper Alloys Oxidation, Rouen 1992, <u>La Revue de Métallurgie</u>, <u>n°6</u>, 191 (1993).
- Lefez, B. and Lenglet, M., "FTIR Study of CuO/Cu and CuO/Cu₂O/Cu Systems. Theoretical Approach and Experience," Proceedings of the International Symposium on Control of Copper and Copper Alloys Oxidation, Rouen 1992, <u>La</u> <u>Revue de Métallurgie</u>, n°6, 197 (1993).
- Lefez, B. and Lenglet, M., "Theoretical and Experimental Study of the Infrared Reflectance of Multilayer Oxide Films on Metals," <u>Surface and Interface Analysis</u>, <u>22</u>, 456 (1994).

- Lefez, B., Kartouni, K., Lenglet, M., Rönnow, R. and Ribbing, C.G., "Application of Reflectance Spectrophotometry to the Study of Copper I Oxides (Cu₂O and Cu₃O₂) on Metallic Substrate," <u>Surface and Interface Analysis</u>, <u>22</u>, 451 (1994).
- Kartouni, K., Lenglet, M., Machefert, J.M., Claude, J.M., Steinmetz, P., Beauprez, E., Heinrich, J. and Celati, N., "Low Temperature Oxidation of Copper: The Formation of CuO," <u>Materials Research Bulletin</u>, <u>30</u>, 393 (1995).
- Souchet, R., Danoix, F., D'Huysser, A. and Lenglet, M., "APFIM and XPS Study of the First Stages of Low Temperature Air Oxidation of Industrial CuNi Alloys," <u>Applied Surface Science</u>, <u>87-88</u>, 271 (1995).
- 13. Lefez, B., Souchet, R., Kartouni, K. and Lenglet, M., "Infrared Reflection Study of CuO in Thin Oxide Films," <u>Thin Solid Films</u>, <u>268</u>, 45 (1995).
- 14. Lefez, B. and Anki, T., "Optical Constants of Various Chromites Determined by Kramers Kronig Analysis," <u>Applied Optics</u>, <u>35</u>, 1399 (1996).
- 15. Lefez, B. and Rives, A., "Surface Luminescence and Oxygen Species," Journal de <u>Physique</u>, submitted (1996).
- Abida, D., Lenglet, M., Lopitaux, J., Berthier, C., Lameille, J.M. and Beucher, E., "Effect of Manganese on the High-Temperature Oxidation of Austenitic and Ferritic Stainless Steels," <u>Proceedings of ECASIA'95</u>, Eds. H.J. Mathieu, B. Reihl and D. Briggs, J. Wiley & Sons, Pub., p176 (1996).
- 17. Marest, G., Ogale, S.B., Hannoyer, B., Joshi, S., Benyagoub, A. and Moncoffre, N., "Ion Beam Mixing at the Fe₂O₃/Al₂O₃ Interface," <u>Journal of Applied Physics</u>, <u>80</u>, 2228 (1996).
- 18. Berthier, C., Lameille, J.M., Lenglet, M., Abida, D., Lopitaux, J. and Beucher, E., "Relation Entre la Présence d'Eléments d'Alliage et les Mécanismes de Croissance de la Couche d'Oxydes Formée sur Aciers Ferritiques AISI 430. Influence de Mn, Al et Ti," Proceedings of the IVth International Symposium on Protection and Corrosion of Materials at High Temperation, Les Embiez, <u>Journal de Physique C</u>, in press (1996).
- 19. Lenglet, M., Delaunay, F. and Lefez, B., "FTIR Study of the Influence of Minor Alloying Elements on the High Temperature Oxidation of Nickel Alloys," Proceedings of the IVth International Symposium on Protection and Corrosion of Materials at High Temperation, Les Embiez, <u>Journal de Physique C</u>, in press (1996).
- 20. Lenglet, M., Beucher, E., Berthier, C. and Lameille, J.M., "Relation Between Minor Elements and Oxide-Scale Growth Mechanisms on Fe-15Cr-26Ni Alloys. Influence of V and Mn," <u>Proceedings of Eurocorr'96</u>, Session III, p8 (1996).
- Anki, T., Lenglet, M., Lefez, B., Bes, R. and Traverse, J.P., "Caractérisation Physicochimique de Revêtements Obtenus par Oxydation Thermique (400-900°C) de Couches de Conversion d'Acier Refractaire AISI 430 Al-Ti.," <u>Annales de Chimie</u>, <u>21</u>, 329 (1996).
- 22. Lenglet, M., Hannoyer, B., Anki, T., Traverse, J.P. and Komla, A., "Control of the Thermal Oxidation of Conversion Coatings Developed on Ferritic Stainless Steels," Journal of Materials Science, in press (1996).

- 23. Delaunay, F., Berthier, C., Galy, D., Lameille, J.M. and Lenglet, M., "Scanning Electron Microscopy Contribution to the Study of High Temperature Oxidation Mechanism of the Alloy Incoloy 800," <u>Proceedings of the 3rd International</u> <u>Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, Sept. 96, Cambridge, Great-Britain, in press (1996).
- 24. Delaunay, F., Berthier, C., Lameille, J.M. and Lenglet, M., "Relation Between Minor Alloying Alements and Oxidation Behavior in Ni-Cr Commercial Alloys," <u>Proceedings of Euromat 96, Oct. 1996</u>, Bournemouth, Great-Britain, in press (1996).

Hoch, P.,	Dr.,	
Corrosior	and Protection La	aboratory
E.N.S. Mi	nes de Douai	
941 rue C	harles Bourseul	
B.P. 838		
F 59508 D	ouai Cédex	
Tel:	+33 03 27 93 21 13	3
Fax:	+33 03 27 93 23 31	1
e.mail:	corrosion@ensm-	douai.fr
Key Perso	onnel:	Hoch, P., Dr., Sc., Dipl., Ing., Lepingle, V., Dr., Sc.
Scientific	Key Words:	Coal-ash corrosion; Combustion gases; Deposits; Heat- resistant steels; Steam-side corrosion
Technical Key Words:		Coal-fired boilers; Waste incineration

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research objective is to give an answer to two main industrial problems, namely (a) to determine the corrosion rate of a given metal in given corrosive media at a given temperature and (b) the relationship between the variation of this rate and the chemical and metallographic composition of this metal. This requires other studies to determine the corrosion mechanisms, e.g involving diffusion, heterogeneous reaction kinetics, thermodynamic equilibria calculations. Studies are generally based on samples exposed in appropriately prepared laboratory furnaces and evaluation of results is by TG, metallographic and corrosion products analyses. Results and their interpretation are compared with the in-situ behaviour of materials and bibliographic data.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Specific Topics

1. High Temperature Corrosion Studies of Heat-Resistant Steels in Gas Mixtures and in Contact with Aggressive Solids

The object is the determination of the resistance and the corrosion mechanisms of steels used for tubes in pulverized coal thermal power stations, normally the Cr10 Mo1 type,

such as T91, EM12, X20. Therefore, the corrosive media studied simulate combustion gases $(O_2, CO_2, SO_2, H_2O, N_2 \text{ etc})$ and deposits coming from fly ashes. The results are evaluated with gravimetric, metallographic and microscopic methods and surface microanalysis.

The results obtained are collected in the report of E.N.S.T.I.M.D. Study of the EM12, T91, X20 corrosion of steels by pulverized coal, which belongs to Vallourec Industries.

2. High Temperature Corrosion Studies of Heat Resistant Steel in Water Vapor

The purpose is the determination of the corrosion rate of heat-resistant ferritic steels, such as Cr10 Mo1 grade, in vapor generator systems. The study is based on the determination of corrosion rate by TG measures and microscopical observations in the temperature range of 500-700°C. This study is running and is planned to end in 1997.

3. High Temperature Corrosion Studies in Waste Incinerator Gases

The aim of this research is the determination of corrosion kinetics and mechanisms of low alloy steels (Cr2 1/4 and Cr10 Mo1 grades) in waste incinerator atmospheres. Tests are conducted in 9% O_2 , 15% H_2O , 0 a 3000 ppm HCl, the balance being N_2 atmospheres, in the temperature range 300-600°C. Evaluation of results made by TG, metallographic and corrosion products analyses. This study will end in 1997 and is presented as a doctoral thesis.

4. Fundamental Research About Self Diffusion and Points Defects (Ionic and Electronic)

This is undertaken with chromium oxide, $\operatorname{Cr}_{2}O_{3}$, which is pure and nickel (or NiO) and titanium (or TiO₂) doped, in the range of temperatures, 400°C-1200°C (752-2192°F). The investigation techniques used are the measurement of the electrical conductivity in terms of temperature and oxygen partial pressure, measurement of Cr^{51} tracer selfdiffusion and chromium selfdiffusion in an electrical field. The interpretation of the results is made with regard to the generalized Nernst-Einstein relation and the Kröger & Vink method related to the function, point defects concentration—pO₂.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

 Colot, D., Petelot, D., Hoch, P. and Béranger, G., "Mechanisms of Hot Corrosion in Coal-fired Boilers Gaz of T91 and EM12 Steels," <u>4th International Symposium on</u> <u>High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials</u>, Les Embiez (Var) France, May 20-24 (1996). 2. Lepingle, V., Hoch, P., Petelot, D. and Vaillant, J.C., "Corrosion of Ferritic Steels in Coal-fired Boilers," <u>Eurocorr '96</u>, European Federation of Corrosion, Nice (Alpes Maritimes) France, September 24-26 (1996).

Huntz, A.M., Prof.		
Université Paris-Sud		
Laboratoire de Métallurgie Structurale		
Bat.413, 91405 Orsay, Cedex		
Tel: +33 01 69 15 63 18		
Fax +33 01 69 15 78 33		
Key Personnel:	Lesage, B., Loudjani, M.K., Maîtres de Conférences	
Scientific Key Words:	Alumina; Chromia; Diffusion; Transport in scales and bulk oxides; Reactive element effect; Impurities; Metal/oxide interface; Residual stress; Strain measurements; Stresses and scale behavior; Creep-oxidation interaction; Modeling	
Technical Key Words:	Aerospace systems; Electrical resistors; Surface engineering	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Oxidation Mechanisms

This research is in relation to transport phenomena in oxide scales and the influence of impurities and active elements.

Several parameters can be considered:

1. Influence of the Substrate Structure, of the Oxidation Conditions, etc...

- (a) As Gesmundo, F., came for one year to the laboratory, a study of the high temperature corrosion behaviour of two-phase Cu-Ag alloys was developed. The aim was experimentally to verify the theory previously developed by Gesmundo on the corrosion behaviour of two-phase alloys and to relate the structure of the inner oxidation zone to the diffusional parameters and to the respective amounts of each element in the alloy. (Papers 9 and 12). See also paper 3 on the effect of microstructural defects.
- (b) This work on the effect of a laser beam was developed in collaboration with ETCA (Arcueil, France) on chromium coatings (see papers 1,2,4 to 7), and the thesis of S. Beauvais-Réveillon. The oxidation kinetics are enhanced only at the beginning of the oxidation and the nature, morphology and composition of the scale are not modified when compared to classical oxidation. Self-diffusion coefficients in the

chromia scale were also measured but, using Wagner's theory, the calculated oxidation constant is smaller than the experimental one.

(c) The effect of pO₂ on chromia growth on Ni-30Cr was studied. (See thesis of Tsaï, C.S., and paper 27.) It was observed that such chromia scales behave as a p-type semi-conductor, in a pO₂ range 0.1-2 atm. This is in favour of $O_i^{"}$ or/and $V_{Cr}^{"}$ point defects. However, the variation law could not be determined as the pressure range is too small.

2. Effect of Impurities and Doping Elements

(a) Influence of Si on the growth of chromia scales (on a stainless steel). See paper 10.

The oxidation kinetics are not significantly modified, even with large amounts of Si (up to 5%) and over a large oxygen pressure range (0.21 atm to 10^{-10} atm). Even by accurate XPS analyses, a continuous layer of SiO₂ was never evidenced. The silicon effect mainly consists in avoiding the incorporation of nickel and iron.

(b) This relates to the effect of active elements on the oxidation mechanism. First, an electrochemical method was used, simultaneously, to more classical experiments, in the case of alumina scales developed on β NiAl (J. Balmain's thesis and papers 11 and 14). It is based on the determination at high temperature of characteristic intensity-potential curves I(V) for alumina scales at various pO₂. It appeared that yttrium slightly decreases the oxidation kinetics and slightly increases the scale adherence. This is related to the fact that yttrium is incorporated in the inner part of the scale, avoids the incorporation of Ni in alumina scale and decreases the aluminum outward diffusion. A similar effect of yttrium is found for chromia scales developed on Ni-30Cr (Papers I-8,11,13 and Tsaï's thesis).

The effect of yttrium (and other doping elements) is also studied on the oxidation of FeCrAl alloys. (Paper 11 and Messaoudi's thesis). With such alloys, the effects on the oxidation kinetics can largely vary according to the elaboration mode of the alloy and its purity degree. However, this work on the role of active elements is mainly focused on their influence on the stress generation during oxidation sequences and on the stress elimination by creep.

3. First Stages of Oxidation: "In-Situ" Approach by XPS

This part is in progress (see paper 11) and the objective is to determine the nature of the scale as it is formed on a heating stick in the XPS chamber. Up to now, some experiments have been performed on steels, at low oxygen pressure up to 500°C. During the heating in ultra-vacuum, there is a modification of the chemistry of the sample surface (precipitate dissolution and associated segregation phenomena).

Transport in Oxides Microstructure and Microchemistry

1. Transport in Oxide Scales. Comparison with Transport in Bulk Oxides

In the past years, many self-diffusion studies have been performed by the group on chromia and alumina bulk oxides (see previous work of Sabioni et al. and papers 17-21, 24-26, 28,30,34,35. It was always observed that such self-diffusion coefficients could not justify the oxidation rate of chromia- or alumina- former alloys: the calculated oxidation constants (on the basis of diffusion coefficients) were always smaller than the experimental oxidation constants. In this last period, attempts were made to explain this discrepancy and to develop self-diffusion measurements directly on oxide scales. Nevertheless, as yttrium is frequently used, its diffusion in bulk alumina and in chromia scales was also studied.

(a) An important work was performed concerning self diffusion in chromia scales formed on Ni-30Cr (see Tsaï's thesis and papers 23,27,28,29,32,39,40,41). At 900° and 800°C, the growth mechanism of Cr_2O_3 scales was studied by determining the diffusivities, in the bulk and along grain boundary, of ¹⁸O and ⁵⁴Cr in Cr_2O_3 scales formed on a Ni₇₀Cr₃₀ alloy unimplanted and implanted with yttrium (10¹⁶ ions/cm²). The diffusion of ¹⁸O and ⁵⁴Cr was carried out simultaneously, which allowed a direct comparison of self-diffusion to be obtained. All the concentration profiles were established by SIMS.

Two important modifications were made in comparison of the classical analyses of the penetration profiles:

- (i) the first part of the penetration profiles was attributed to apparent diffusion (instead of bulk diffusion) and the second one to grain boundary diffusion,
- (ii) the 'f' value, fraction of sites associated to grain boundaries, was modified taking into account the roughness of the scale surface.

With these two modifications, a good agreement is then observed between selfdiffusion coefficients determined in polycrystals and those determined on scales.

Without yttrium in Cr_2O_3 scales, the oxygen bulk diffusion coefficient is close to that of chromium, but the chromium grain boundary diffusion coefficient is greater than that of oxygen. The presence of yttrium in Cr_2O_3 scales slightly decreases the grain boundary diffusivities of ¹⁸O and ⁵⁴Cr, but enhances oxygen lattice diffusion.

The parabolic oxidation rate constants calculated from the diffusion data according to Wagner theory are now close to the experimental ones determined by oxidation kinetic tests.

It is concluded that the Cr_2O_3 scale growth is controlled by counter-current diffusion of oxygen and chromium for the unimplanted and implanted alloys, mainly by grain boundary diffusion. Yttrium does not change the growth mechanism.

(b) Similar studies were conducted in alumina scales developed on β NiAl (see Balmain's thesis and papers II-31,36,37,40,43).

The diffusion treatments were performed at 1100°C by ¹⁸O₂ isotopic exchange and cationic self-diffusion was simulated by chromium diffusion. Though the analysis of the penetration curves was modified as stated before, the diffusion coefficients determined thus do not agree with the parabolic oxidation constants. These discrepancies are related to the fact that the diffusion coefficients are determined only in the outer part of the scale and that, for cationic diffusion, the cationic chemical potential gradient is opposed to the diffusion flux. Moreover, the alumina scales are not as compact as the chromia scales.

Using the electrochemical method, it appears that the calculation of the parabolic oxidation constant deduced from the ionic conductivity evolution in the scale leads to a value close to that of the experimental value. This good agreement, contrary to the previous comparison, is probably due to the fact that, in this last case, 'atomic' transport phenomena in the whole scale thickness are taken into account. Moreover, such a technique allows determination of the evolution of parameters such as the oxygen chemical potential throughout the scale, or the ability to plot the evolution of any other parameter (for instance the concentration of an impurity) as a function of the oxygen chemical potential in the scale.

- (c) A similar study on alumina scales formed on various FeCrAl alloys is in progress (Messaoudi's thesis). The agreement between calculated oxidation constants and experimental ones depends on the quality (compactness, crystallinity) of the alumina scale. If the scale has a low degree of compactness, as for the scale formed on β NiAl, then the comparison of the two types of oxidation constants is not at all satisfying.
- (d) Yttrium diffusion in α alumina single and polycrystals (see papers 17 and 44). Results show a very low penetration depth in bulk and a great one along the short circuits. The difference between $D_{_{b}}$ and $D_{_{gb}}$ is particularly important: $D_{_{gb}}/D_{_{b}} \approx 10^8$. This is correlated to the low solubility limit of yttrium in alumina and its strong segregation along short-circuits, dislocation walls and grain boundaries.

(e) Yttrium diffusion in chromia scale (see paper 45).

The results show that yttrium, probably on account of its large size, diffuses slightly slower than chromium in the bulk and along grain boundaries of chromia scales. The activation energy of grain boundary diffusion is greater than that of bulk diffusion, probably due to interaction effects between the diffusing species and the impurities in the grain boundaries.

The difference between bulk and grain boundary diffusion coefficients for yttrium is smaller than in the case of yttrium diffusion in alumina. It is suggested that the difference of yttrium grain boundary diffusion in Al_2O_3 and Cr_2O_3 is related to a greater solubility of yttrium in chromia than in alumina, and, as a consequence, to a stronger yttrium segregation along grain boundaries of alumina.

2. Microstructure and Microchemistry of Doped Al₂O₃. Local Order Around the Doping Elements (Papers 16,22,33,38,42)

In order to clarify the mechanisms by which yttrium or other active elements act on the growth kinetics of alumina, studies of the microstructure and microchemistry associated to a study of the local disorder around the doping element (EXAFS) are performed. Alumina is doped either with Y_20_3 , zirconia or palladium by sintering.

(a) In case of yttrium doping, for samples with an yttrium amount higher than > 0.03% mol Y_20_3 , most of the yttrium is precipitated as $Y_3A1_5O_{12}$. The apparent solubility limit of yttrium at T = 1550°C is close to 0.03% mol Y_20_3 . However, yttrium is mainly segregating in grain boundaries, with $C_{gb}/C_b \sim 50$. So, the solubility limit in the bulk has been estimated as ~ 10 ppm at 1550°C. For low doping amount, (0.03% mol Y_20_3) most of yttrium is situated on cationic sites and, due to the great size of yttrium atoms compared with aluminium atoms, defect complexes are created as it follows:

$$Y_{\mathrm{Al}}^{x} \Leftrightarrow \left(Y_{\mathrm{Al}}^{x} + mV_{\mathrm{O}}^{\cdot \cdot} + nO_{\cdot}^{^{''}}\right)^{2(m-n)} \text{ with } m > n$$

These defect complexes behave as donors.

It was also shown that the solubility of yttrium is increased by a decrease of the oxygen pressure. Alumina grain growth is limited by yttrium segregation and precipitation along grain boundaries and the mechanical properties of alumina are improved when yttrium is either in solid solution or segregated. The garnet phase precipitation decreases the alumina toughness.

(b) Contrary to yttrium, palladium does not segregate along grain boundaries and its solubility is smaller. It forms a metallic phase of Al_xPd_{1-x} (x~3/5). The XAS study at the K-edge of zirconium and chemical analyses on thin foils of Zr-doped alumina

indicate that zirconium atoms have a strong tendency to localize in alumina grain boundaries. The enrichment ratio depends on the alumina grain size. For an average grain size of about 3.5 μ m, the segregation ratio is $C_{gb}/C_d \sim 8 \, 10^{-3}$. In the grain boundaries, Zr-ions form little nanometric oxide clusters whose structure depends on their size, i.e. on the segregation ratio. For a small size of such clusters, the contribution of the free surface energy becomes preponderant and the tetragonal phase of zirconia, which is the allotropic phase stable at high temperature, becomes stable at room temperature.

Stress Analyses in Oxide Scales

In order to characterize the respective importance of growth stresses, thermal stresses, and stress relaxation, a high temperature chamber for X-ray diffraction was designed some years ago in ENSAM, Paris, allowing to work in controlled atmospheres, using the $\sin^2 \Psi$ method. In a first step, the system Ni/NiO was chosen as only one oxide grows and its oxidation behavior is well known. Residual stress analyses were performed both at high temperature and at room temperature on nickel samples previously oxidized at 900°C (see papers 46-53).

In this last period, the work was focused on the stress determination in $NiCr/Cr_2O_3$ system and on modeling (papers 54-56 and Daghigh's thesis).

High temperature X-ray diffraction has been used first for measuring the expansion coefficients of Ni-30Cr alloy and Cr_2O_3 between 20 and 900°C.

Then, the stresses created in the chromia scale formed on NiCr were determined as a function of various parameters: substrate and oxide scale thickness, grain size, yttrium doping, cooling rate. Besides, relaxation phenomena have been experimentally observed during isothermal or anisothermal heat-treatments after previous oxidation at 900°C.

After oxidation, the stresses in the oxide scale are compressive, their value decreases with the annealing temperature or time and they tend to zero at 900°C, indicating that the oxide growth stresses are negligible.

During heat-treatment after a previous oxidation, it is possible to eliminate the stresses. The relaxation by creep depends on the temperature and on the presence of yttrium. No relaxation is observed for small temperatures and stress relaxation is promoted by yttrium.

Simultaneously, a numerical model was developed to describe the stresses and the relaxation phenomena. It takes into account the mechanical behaviour of the substrate and of the oxide scale and solicitation parameters such as the cooling rate or the heat-

treatment duration, etc. This elasto-visco-plastic modeling agrees with the evolution of experimental results with the various parameters of the study.

By now, X-ray diffraction is used for determining stresses in alumina scales formed on FeCrAl alloys (Messsaoudi's thesis in progress). The more or less important values of compressive stresses in the scale found at room temperature are correlated to the alumina scale morphology and to the oxidation resistance.

In Progress

- <u>Study of the first stages of oxidation or of thin films by an "in situ" approach in XPS</u>
- <u>Analysis of kinetic curves</u> which follows a complete law: $t = \frac{1}{k_1}x + \frac{1}{k_2}x^2$
- <u>Study by TEM and Analyses of Metal-Oxide Interfaces and Oxide Scales. Effect of doping elements on the morphology</u>
- <u>Relation between Stresses and Adherence of Oxide Scales</u>
 - (a) Stress determination by XRD, by RAMAN and by deflection
 - (b) Stress relaxation
 - (c) Stress modelling
- Local order around doping elements in grain boundaries of alumina

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Oxidation Mechanisms

- Beauvais, S., Fritsch, S., Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G., Beylat, L. and Bléchet, J.J., "Oxydation Comparée d'un Dépôt de Chrome, par Traitement Thermique Classique et Par Laser CO₂ Continu, à Température Constante," Proceedings 3rd International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion, 25-29 May 1992, Les Embiez, France. Journal de Physique, C9, Suppl. au Journal de Physique 111, 3, 615-624 (1993).
- Beauvais, S., Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G., Beylat, L. and Bléchet, J.J.S., "Oxidation Mechanism of Chromium Coatings by a Continuous CO₂ Laser at Constant Temperature," Proceedings of the International Conference "Advances in Corrosion and Protection", 28/06-3/07 1992, Manchester, U.K., <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, No.2, 1225-1234 (1993).

- Lesage, B. and Déchamps, M., "Oxidation of Nickel: Influence of Microstructural Defects," Proceedings of the International Conference on Diffusion in Materials DIMAT 92, Kyoto. <u>Diffusion and Defect Data</u>. <u>Solid State Data</u>, <u>95-98</u>, 1077-1082 (1993).
- Réveillon, S., Moulin, G., Nicod, B., Huntz, A.M., Beylat, L., Bléchet, J.J., Rautureau, G. and Beauprez, E., "Influence of Carbon on the Oxidation of Physical Vapor Deposited Chromium on Laboratory and Industrial Iron," "Workshop on Materials for Coal Gasification Power Plant", June 14-16, 1993, Petten, The Netherlands, <u>Materials at High Temperatures</u>, <u>11</u>, 170-175 (1993).
- Beauvais, S., Moulin, G., Huntz, A.M., Puig, T. and Bataille, F., "Oxydation en Four ou Assitée Par Laser CO₂ Continu, à Température Constante, d'un Dépôt Électrolytique de Chrome sur un Acier Z32CDV13," <u>Revue de Métallurgie, Science</u> <u>et Génie des Matériaux</u>, 1845-1856 (1994).
- Beauvais-Réveillon, S., Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G. and Bléchet, J.J., "Comparison of Classical Oxidation and Laser Oxidation of a Chromium PVD Coating on a Pure Iron Substrate," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 279-300 (1995).
- Beauvais-Réveillon, S., Huntz, A.M., Séverac, C., Moulin, G., Beauprez, E. and Rautureau, G., "Role of Carbon During Oxidation of Chromium PVD Coatings on Iron Substrates," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 1721-1737 (1995).
- Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M. and Dolin, C., "Growth Mechanism of Cr₂O₃ Scales: Oxygen and Chromium Diffusion, Oxidation Kinetics and Effect of Yttrium," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Materials Science and Engineering</u>, <u>A 212</u>, 6-13 (1996).
- Gesmundo, F., Niu,Y., Castello, P., Viani, F., Huntz, A.M. and Wu, W.T., "The Sulphidation of Two-Phase Cu-Ag Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures at 550-750°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u> <u>38</u>, no. 8, 1295-1317 (1996).
- Huntz, A.M., Loudjani, M.K., Séverac, C., Haut, C. and Ropital, F., "Effect of Silicon on the Protective Character of Cr₂O₃ Scales. Analyses by In-Situ XPS," Proceedings of the International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials, May 1996, Les Embiez, <u>Materials Science Forum</u> (1997).
- 11. Huntz, A.M., Tsaï, S.C., Balmain, J., Messaoudi, K., Lesage, B. and Dolin, C., "Atomic Transport in Cr₂O₃ and Al₂O₃ Scales: Growth Mechanism and Effect of Yttrium," Proceedings of the International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials, May 1996, Les Embiez, <u>Materials Science Forum</u> (1997).

- Niu, Y., Huntz, A.M., Gesmundo, F. and Castello, P. "The Air Oxidation of a Cu-5wt% Ag Alloy at 650-750°C," Proceedings of the International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials, May 1996, Les Embiez, <u>Materials Science Forum</u> (1997).
- Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M. and Philibert, J., "Diffusion of ⁵⁴Cr and ¹⁸O in Cr₂O₃ Scales and Growth Mechanism," Proceedings of International Conference on Diffusion in Materials, August 1996, Nordkirchen, <u>Defect and Diffusion Forum</u>, Transtec Publications Ltd <u>143-147</u>, 1195-1200 (1997).
- 14. Balmain, J., Huntz, A.M. and Philibert, J., "Atomic Transport Properties in Alumina Scales and Calculation of the Oxidation Parabolic Constant," Proceedings of International Conference on Diffusion in Materials, August 1996, Nordkirchen, <u>Defect and Diffusion Forum</u>, Transtec Publications Ltd, <u>143-147</u>, 1189-1194 (1997).

2. Microstructure and Microchemistry Transport in Oxides

- Eveno, P., Li, J., Huntz, A.M. and Chaumont, J., "Diffusional Phenomena Related to Implantation of ¹³C Ions in SiC," <u>Journal of the European Ceramic Society</u>, <u>11</u>, 219-230 (1993).
- Loudjani, M.K., Huntz, A.M. and Cortès, R., "Influence of Yttrium on Microstructure and Point Defects in α-A1₂O₃. Relation with Oxidation," <u>J. Materials Science</u>, <u>28</u>, 6466-6473 (1993).
- 17. Lesage, B., Le Gall, M., Loudjani, M.K. and Huntz, A.M., "Yttrium Diffusion in α-Alumina," Proceedings of the International Conference on Diffusion in Materials DIMAT 92, Kyoto, <u>Diffusion and Defect Data. Solid State Data</u>, <u>95-98</u>, 1061-1064 (1993).
- Lesage, B., Le Gall, M., Philibert, J. and Bernardini, J., "Cationic Self-Diffusion of Aluminium 26 in α-Alumina Single Crystals," Proceedings of the International Conference on Diffusion in Materials DIMAT 92, Kyoto. <u>Diffusion and Defect Data</u>. <u>Solid State Data</u>, <u>95-98</u>, 1049-1054 (1993).
- Lesage, B. and Philibert, J., "Correlations Between Preexponential Factors and Activation Energies. Case of Transport Processes in α-Alumina," Proceedings of the International Conference on Diffusion in Materials DIMAT 92, Kyoto. <u>Diffusion and</u> <u>Defect Data. Solid State Data</u>, <u>95-98</u>, 1055-1060 (1993).
- 20. Le Gall, M., Lesage, B., Brun, N, Huntz, A.M., Miloche, M. and Monty, C., "Oxygen Self-Diffusion in Y₂O₃ Doped α-Alumina," 6th International Conference on Intergranular and Interphase Boundaries in Materials, Thessaloniki, Gréce, 22-26

June 1992, Ed. by Ph. Komninou and A. Rocher, Trans Tech Publ. Switzerland-Germany-UK-Australia-USA, <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>126-128</u>, 411-414 (1993).

- Philibert, J. and Huntz, A.M., "Microstructural and Diffusional Studies in α-Aluminas and Growth Mechanism of Alumina Scales," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation-2</u>, Cambridge, 253-268 (1993). Ed. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, <u>The Institute of</u> <u>Materials</u>, London, (1993).
- 22. Loudjani, M.K. and Cortès, R., "X-Ray Absorption Study of the Local Structure and the Chemical State of Yttrium in Polycrystalline α-Alumina," <u>Journal of the European Ceramics Society</u>, <u>13</u>, 77 (1994).
- 23. Huntz, A.M. and Tsaï, S.C., "Diffusion in Oxide Scales: Application to Cr₂O₃ Scales," Journal of Materials Science Letters, <u>13</u>, 821-825 (1994).
- 24. Le Gall, M., Lesage, B. and Bernardini, J., "Self-Diffusion in α-A1₂O₃ 1. Aluminium Diffusion in Single Crystals," <u>Philosophical Magazine A</u>, <u>70</u>, 761-773 (1994).
- 25. Lesage, B., "Some Aspects of Diffusion in Ceramics," <u>Journal de Physique III</u>, France 4, 1833-1850 (1994).
- 26. Le Gall, M., Huntz, A.M., Lesage, B., Monty, C. and Bernardini, J., "Self-Diffusion in α-Al₂O₃ and Growth Rate of Alumina Scales Formed by Oxidation. Effect of Y₂O₃ Doping," Journal of Materials Science, <u>30</u>, 201-211 (1995).
- 27. Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M. and Dolin, C, "Diffusion of ¹⁸O in Massive Cr₂O₃ and in Cr₂O₃ Scales at 900°C and Relation with Oxidation Kinetics," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 581-596 (1995).
- 28. Huntz, A.M., "Diffusion dans les Couches d'Oxyde en Cours de Croissance," <u>Journal</u> <u>de Physique III</u>, France, <u>5</u>, 1729-1757 (1995).
- 29. Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M. and Dolin, C., "Oxygen Diffusion in Massive Cr₂O₃ and in Cr₂O₃ Scales Studied by SIMS and Relation with Oxidation Kinetics: The Effect of Y in Cr₂O₃ Scales," <u>'95 Beijing International Conference for Surface Science and Engineering</u>, Ed. Zhu Rizhang, S.C.P.International Academic Publishers, 407-412 (1995).
- 30. Lesage, B., "Recent Results Obtained for Self-Diffusion in Undoped and Yttria-Doped α-Alumina," <u>'95 Beijing International Conference for Surface Science and</u> <u>Engineering</u>, Ed. Zhu Rizhang, S.C.P.International Academic Publishers, (1995).

- Balmain, J., Loudjani, M.K. and Huntz, A.M., "Influence of Yttrium on Transport Properties of a Alumina Scales Developed on Yttrium Implanted β NiAl," EURODIM 94, 5-8 Juin 1994, Lyon, <u>Radiation Effects and Defects in Solids</u>, <u>137</u>, 291-294 (1995).
- 32. Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M., Dolin, C. and Monty, C., "Diffusion of ¹⁸O in Cr₂O₃: Massive and Scales, and Relation with Oxidation Kinetics," EURODIM 94, 5-8 Juin, 1994, Lyon, <u>Radiation Effects and Defects in Solids</u>, <u>137</u>, 285-290 (1995).
- 33. Loudjani, M.K., Haut, C. and Parisot, S., "Effect of Yttrium and Oxygen Pressure on the Point Defects and Microstructure of α-Alumina," Seventh Europhysical Conference on Defects in Insulating Materials (EURODIM 94) Lyon, <u>Radiation</u> <u>Effects and Defects in Solids</u>, <u>134</u>, 233-237 (1995).
- 34. Le Gall, M., Huntz, A.M., Lesage, B. and Monty, C., "Self-Diffusion in α-Al₂O₃, Part III Oxygen Diffusion in Single Crystals Doped with Y₂O₃," <u>Philosophical Magazine</u> <u>A</u>, <u>73</u>, 919-934 (1996).
- 35. Prot, D., Le Gall, M., Lesage, B., Huntz, A.M. and Monty, C., "Self-Diffusion in α-Al₂O₃, Part IV - Oxygen Grain Boundary Self-Diffusion in Undoped and Yttria-Doped Alumina Polycrystals," <u>Philosophical Magazine A</u>, <u>73</u>, 935-949 (1996).
- 36. Balmain, J. and Huntz, A.M., "Improvment of the Application of an Electrochemical Method for the Determination of Transport Properties of an Alumina Scale, part I -Alumina Scale on a β NiAl Alloy," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>45</u>, 183-196 (1996).
- 37. Balmain, J. and Huntz, A.M., "Improvment of the Application of an Electrochemical Method for the Determination of Transport Properties of an Alumina Scale, part II -Alumina Scale on a β NiAl alloy," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, no. 3-4, 213-234 (1996).
- 38. Loudjani, M.K. and Haut, C., "Influence of the Oxygen Pressure on the Chemical State of Yttrium in Polycrystalline α-Alumina. Relation with Microstructure and Mechanical Toughness," Journal of European Ceramic Society <u>16</u>, 1099-1106 (1996).
- 39. Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M., Dolin, C. and Monty, C., "Study by SIMS of the ⁵⁴Cr and ¹⁸O Diffusion in Cr₂O₃ and in Cr₂O₃ Scales," <u>Mikrochimica Acta</u> [suppl] <u>13</u>, 587-595 (1996).
- 40. Moya, E.G., Moya, F., Lesage, B., Loudjani, M.K. and Grattepain, C., "Yttrium Diffusion in α-Alumina Single Crystals," <u>J. of European Ceramic Society</u> (1997).
- 41. Huntz, A.M., Tsaï, S.C., Balmain, J., Messaoudi, K., Lesage, B. and Dolin, C., "Atomic Transport in Cr_2O_3 and Al_2O_3 Scales: Growth Mechanism and Effect of

Yttrium," Proceedings of the International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials, May 1996, Les Embiez, <u>Materials Science</u> <u>Forum</u> (1997).

- 42. Loudjani, M.K. and Cortès, R., "Chemical and Local State Structure Study of Zirconium in Polycrystalline α-Alumina by X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy and STEM Analysis of Thin Foils," Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Xray Absorption Fine Structure ESRF, Grenoble, August 1996, <u>Journal de Physique</u> <u>IV</u>, <u>Vol. 7</u> 1209-1210 (1997).
- 43. Tsaï, S.C., Huntz, A.M. and Philibert, J., "Diffusion of ⁵⁴Cr and ¹⁸O in Cr₂O₃ Scales and Growth Mechanism," Proceedings of International Conference on Diffusion in Materials, August 1996, Nordkirchen, <u>Defect and Diffusion Forum</u>, Transtec Publications Ltd, <u>143-147</u>, 1195-1200 (1997).
- 44. Balmain, J., Huntz, A.M. and Philibert, J., "Atomic Transport Properties in Alumina Scales and Calculation of the Oxidation Parabolic Constant," Proceedings of International Conference on Diffusion in Materials, August 1996, Nordkirchen, <u>Defect and Diffusion Forum</u>, Transtec Publications Ltd <u>143-147</u>, 1189-1194 (1997).
- 45. Li, J., Loudjani, M.K., Lesage, B. and Huntz, A.M., "Yttrium Diffusion in Chromia Layer Grown on a Ni30Cr Alloy," <u>Philosophical Magazine A</u> <u>76</u>, no.4, 857-869 (1997).

3. Stress Analyses in Oxide Scales

- 46. Liu, C., Huntz, A.M. and Lebrun, J.L., "Origin and Development of Residual Stresses in the Ni-NiO System: In-Situ Studies at High Temperature by X-ray Diffraction" <u>Journal of Materials Science and Engineering</u>, <u>A 160</u>, 113-126 (1993).
- 47. Liu, C., Huntz, A.M. and Lebrun, J.L., "Investigation on Origins of Residual Stresses in Ni-NiO System by X-ray Diffraction at High Temperature," Proceedings 3rd International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion, 25-29 May 1992, Les Embiez, France, <u>Journal de Physique</u>, C9, suppl. au Journal de Phys. III, <u>3</u>, 987-997 (1993).
- 48. Liu, C., Lebrun, J.L., Huntz, A.M. and Sibieude, F., "An Advanced Technique for High Temperature X-ray Elastic Constant Measurement and Stress Determination," <u>Zeitschrift für Metallkunde</u>, <u>84</u>, 140-146 (1993).
- 49. Huntz, A.M., Liu, C., Kornmeier, M. and Lebrun, J.L., "Determination of Stresses During Oxidation of Ni. In-Situ Measurements by XRD at High Temperature," Proceedings of the International Conference "Advances in Corrosion and

Protection", 28/06-3/07 1992, Manchester, U.K., <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 989-997 (1993).

- 50. Huntz, A.M., Liu, C. and Lebrun, J.L., "Stresses in NiO Scales Determined by XRD at High Temperature. Influence of the Cooling Rate on Scale Spalling," <u>Proceedings</u> <u>of "Corrosion-Deformation Interactions</u>", Fontainebleau, Oct. 5-7 1992, Ed. by T. Magnin, J.M. Gras, <u>Les Editions de Physique</u>, 841-857 (1993).
- 51. Huntz, A.M. and Schütze, M., "Stresses Generated During Oxidation Sequences and High Temperature Fracture," Proceedings of a Workshop in Teddington, U.K., 20-22 June 1994, on "Mechanical Behaviour of Protective Oxide Scales," <u>Materials at High</u> <u>Temperatures</u>, <u>12</u>, 151-161 (1994).
- 52. Evans, H.E. and Huntz, A.M., "Methods of Measuring Oxidation Growth Stresses," Proceedings of a Workshop in Teddington, U.K., 20-22 June 1994, on "Mechanical Behaviour of Protective Oxide Scales," <u>Materials at High Temperatures</u>, <u>12</u>, 111-117 (1994).
- 53. Huntz, A.M., "Stresses in NiO, Cr₂O₃ and Al₂O₃ Oxide Scales," <u>Materials Science and</u> <u>Engineering</u>, <u>A 201</u>, 211 (1995).
- 54. Daghigh, S., Lebrun, J.L. and Huntz, A.M., "Stresses in Cr₂O₃ Scales Developed on Ni-30Cr," Proceedings of the International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials, May 1996, Les Embiez, <u>Materials Science</u> <u>Forum</u> (1997).
- 55. Daghigh, S., Huntz, A.M., Mokhdani, C. and Lebrun, J.L., "Influence of Relaxation on Residual Stresses During Oxidation of Metallic Alloys at High Temperature," International Conference "Corrosion-Deformation Interaction," CDI'96, Nice, <u>The</u> <u>Institute of Materials</u> (1997).
- 56. Messaoudi, K., Huntz, A.M., Lesage, B., Ji, V. and Lebrun, J.L., "Growth and Thermal Stresses Occuring During Oxidation of Alumino-Former Alloys," International Conference "Corrosion-Deformation Interaction," CDI'96, Nice, <u>The</u> <u>Institute of Materials</u> (1997).

4. Applied Works

57. Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G., Séverac, C. and Haut, C. "Effet de TeO₂ sur la Corrosion à Haute Température de l'Inconel 601," <u>La Revue de Métallurgie, Science et Génie des</u> <u>Matériaux</u>, 799-814 (1994). 58. Huntz, A.M., Moulin, G. and Haut, C., "Comparaison de la Résistance à l'Oxydation à Haute Température des Alliages MA956 et Kanthal APM," <u>Matériaux et</u> <u>Techniques</u>, <u>8-9</u>, 9-19 (1994).

THESES

S. Beauvais-Réveillon 1994

"Oxidation of a Chromium Coating on Various Substrates. Comparison of the Oxidation Mechanisms in a Furnace or Assisted by a Continuous CO₂ Laser at Constant Temperature".

J. Balmain 1995

"Transport Properties of Alumina Scales Developed on β NiAl. Influence of Yttrium and Palladium Doping".

<u>C.S. Tsaï</u> 1996

"Relation Between Self-Diffusion and the Growth Mechanism of Chromia Scales. Influence of Yttrium Doping".

<u>S. Daghigh</u> 1996

"Stress Evolution in Ni-30Cr/Cr₂O₃ System as a Function of Temperature. In-Situ Study by X Diffraction and Modeling".

THESES in Progress

<u>K. Messaoudi</u>

"Resistance of Alumina Scales Formed on Various FeCrAl Alloys. Stresses Associated to the Oxidation".

G. Calvarin

Collaboration with E. Andrieu and R. Molins, ENSMP. "Microstructural and Mechanical Aspects of the NiCr-Cr₂O₃ System During Oxidation of Thin Foils".

Molins, F	R., Dr. and Bienve	enu, Y., Prof.
Centre des Matériaux Pierre Marie FOURT		
Ecole des	Mines de Paris	
B.P. 87		
91003 Ev	ry Cedex	
Tel:	+33 1 60 76 30 65	and +33 1 60 76 30 35
Fax:	+33 1 60 76 31 50	
e.mail:	molins@mat.ensr	np.fr; bienvenu@mat.ensmp.fr
Key Perse	onnel:	Molins, R., Dr., Bienvenu, Y., Prof., Remy, L., Dr., Jeandin, M., Dr., Boussuge, M., Dr.
Scientific	Key Words:	Alumina growth; Auger electron spectroscopy; Coated and uncoated superalloys; Ceramics/molten aluminium; Internal oxidation; Plasma coatings; Refractory alloys; Composite interface reactions; Creep/fatigue-oxidation interactions; Metal/oxide interface; Microstructural analysis; Nucleation; Nickel alloys; Superalloys; Transmission electron microscopy
Technical	Key Words:	Gas turbines; Single crystal alloys; Conventionally-cast alloys; Ceramic components; Zirconium alloys; Wear resistance; Thermal barrier coating systems; Nuclear power systems; Heat exchangers; Catalyst support systems; Steam generators; Engine materials

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The high temperature corrosion aspects are found in many of the Materials Center research topics concerning high temperature materials, metals, composites, intermetallics and ceramics. Oxidation, decarburization, hydration and liquid metal interaction are given special attention. The approach covers a wide range of scales since TEM analysis of the first stages of high temperature oxidation is performed and corrosion products a few mm in thickness are studied. The temperature range of interest is from 350°C (nuclear power generation system) to over 2500°C, also for nuclear engineering (management of the interaction of the molten core with refractories in the event of a major accident). Environmental effects and associated microstructural evolutions on the mechanical behaviour of various materials are studied.

Thermodynamic aspects of corrosion, as well as kinetic aspects, are considered. The studies are applied rather than fundamental since work on model systems is rarely undertaken, corrosion is also rarely studied as such but usually in conjunction with mechanical behaviour and with mechanical damage.

Applications

The applications are in the field of energy conversion systems: nuclear power generation, aeroengine turbines, internal combustion engine. All the research is carried out under contracts from industry, government or EEC agencies. With the development of a plasma processing center in association with Ecole des Mines and other local partners, it is now possible to deposit coatings under various conditions ranging from low partial pressure to high pressure (4 atm).

A non-exhaustive list of subjects with a significant share of corrosion studies follows:

1. Metallic FeCrAl Substrates for Catalytic Converters

These materials (50 to 100 μ m thick foils) have to withstand temperatures of the order of 1200°C under rather oxidizing conditions. The alumina layer is adherent and the oxidized material which may be considered as a composite (alumina/Fe-Cr steel) exhibits thermal ratcheting. The oxidation behaviour of thin FeCrAl strips between 800°C and 1200°C is investigated in relation with kinetic studies. The different observed kinetic regimes are correlated to oxide morphologies themselves related to different oxide structures (transition γ platelets and stable α alumina). The positive effect of active elements has been demonstrated. The structure (honeycomb type or corrugated) is brased locally with nickel-based brazes, with the effect of turning a ferritic material into an austenitic one.

2. Thermomechanical Fatigue of Materials Used in Aeroengines

Fatigue and crack growth in high temperature metallic or MMC materials are studied through an approach combining a detailed mechanical study and a microstructural study of damage to lead to life prediction under various environments. Anisothermal low cycle fatigue tests simulate thermomechanical fatigue of turbine blades. Directionally solidified (single crystals) materials may be protected from corrosion by various coatings. Oxidation of uncoated materials is affected by microstructural features (interdendritic spacings, or the size of carbides).

3. Nickel Base Alloy Intergranular Embrittlement in Relation with Oxidation Mechanisms

The purpose of this study is to specify the parameters which are responsible for the oxidation assisted intergranular embrittlement of nickel-base alloys. Creep-fatigue crack growth tests have been conducted on Ni-Cr alloys and superalloys at 650°C and under a range of oxygen partial pressures (10° to 0.2 atm). These tests give evidence of a sharp increase in the fatigue crack growth rate beyond a transition pressure. The transition pressure is independent of mechanical parameters, such as the loading amplitude and the frequency but depends on the chromium content and is, furthermore, linked to the oxidation mechanisms identified by using analytical TEM. Other tests have been explored, superimposing a square wave pressure on either side of the transition pressure to mechanical cycles. These experiments lead us to conclude that the embrittling process is a very local phenomenon, linked to nickel oxide formation and the stress relaxation ability of the material.

4. Corrosion of Ceramic Tubes Immersed in Aluminium Foundry Baths

Silicon carbide based ceramics are preferred for heat exchanger type of applications (immersed burners). The damage occurs primarily when flux covers are used and materializes by the reaction of Al with silicon nitride (the binding phase) to form AlN, or with graphite (a second binder phase) to form aluminium carbide. A corrosion mechanism has been proposed which rests on the formation of volatile halides permeating through the porosities at the metal/flux/ceramic triple junction and transporting Al deep into the material.

5. Interaction of "Corium" with Refractories in Nuclear Reactors

In the case of a severe incident, the core and the materials it contains may melt and be poured over the underlying refractories. Thermodynamic and solidification calculations suggest the corium separates into a ceramic (uranium- and zirconium-rich) part depositing at high temperature (>2400°C) and into a metallic part which may end solidifying at 1500°C or below. Experiments are conducted to study the interaction of the liquid metallic component with the refractories that are candidates for the application.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Allouard, M., Bienvenu, Y., Naze, L. and Bracho-Troconis, C., "Development of Oxidation Resistant High Temperature NbTiAl Alloys and Intermetallics," 3ème Colloque Inter. sur la Corrosion et la Protection des Matériaux à Haute Température, Journal de Physique IV, Colloque C9, 3, 419-428, Décembre (1993).

- 2. Molins, R. and Andrieu, E., "Analytical TEM Study of the Oxidation of Nickel-Based Superalloy," Journal de Physique, <u>3</u>, 469-475 (1993).
- 3. Molins, R. and Andrieu, E., "TEM Investigation of the Oxidation of Nickel-Based Superalloys and Ni-Cr Alloys," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, <u>2</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, Institute of Materials, 162-171 (1993).
- 4. Molins, R., Hochstetter, G., Chassaigne, J.C., and Andrieu, E., "Oxidation Effects on the Fatigue Crack Growth Behavior of Alloy 718 at High Temperature," Acta. Met., <u>45</u>, no. 2, 663-674 (1997)
- 5. Fritz, M., Dupin, N., Boussuge, M., Bienvenu, Y. and Rezakhanlou, R., "Préselection de Matériaux Réfractaires Industriels pour la Réalisation de Récupérateurs de Corium," <u>Revue de Métallurgie</u>, hors série, JA, p152 (1996).
- 6. Bracho-Troconis, C., Bienvenu, Y., Dupin, N., Frety, N. and Alliat, I., "Corrosion de Tubes de Thermoplongeurs en Fonderie d'Aluminium," <u>Revue de Métallurgie</u>, hors série, JA, p53 (1996).

Nardou, F., Prof.

Laboratoire des Matériaux Céramiques et des Traitements de Surface

CNRS ES	A 6015	
University of Limoges		
123 Avenue Albert Thomas		
87060 Limoges Cedex		
Tel:	+33 5 55 45 74 87	
Fax:	+33 5 55 45 75 86	
e.mail:	nardou@unilim.f	r
Key Pers	onnel:	Nardou, F., Prof., Julien, I., Prof. Assist., Dionnet, B., ATER
Scientific Key Words:		Alumina growth; Ceramic coatings; Growth stress; Oxidation under load; Refractory alloys; Plasma coatings; Residual stress; Thermal cycling
Technical Key Words:		Engine materials; Thermal barrier coating systems; Hot gas filtration; Heating elements

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

- 1. The first theme of this research is the influence of the composition and the elaboration mode on the oxidation mechanism, especially on adherence and spalling of the oxide scale. These two factors are dependent on the mechanical properties of both material and oxide scale. So, the mechanical properties of the material were studied to correlate their evolution with the modification of the oxidation behavior. The second theme of this research is the influence of the mechanical stresses on the oxidation behavior of the material. The mechanical stresses can be residual stresses coming from the elaboration mode of the material, or external stresses as it will occur when the material is on duty in a machine, or in a device. The growth stresses in the oxide scale are also very important since they can cause the breakdown of the oxide scale if they are very high. Thermal stresses can also damage the oxide or coatings in thermal cycling conditions.
- 2. Two types of material were studied: an alumina forming alloy and a ferritic alloy, coated with metal or zirconia.

Applications and Engineering Achievements

1. Influence of the Composition and the Elaboration Mode on the Oxidation of FeCrAI Alloys

This study was developed with the EDF- GDF Research Center Les Renardières of Moret sur Loing, France (Clemendot, F.). The industrial materials are made by casting, or by powder metallurgy. The aim of the work was to explain the changes coming from the presence of yttrium, or the fabrication process, in air oxidation conditions.

2. Influence of Mechanical Stresses on the Oxidation of an FeCrAl Alloy Coated (FeCrAlY, Zirconia) or Non-Coated

The work on the influence of stresses on the FeCrAl alloy oxidation was undertaken with the EDF-GDF Research Center Les Renardières (Moret sur Loing - France). It was also the theme of the Commission "Corrosion by hot gases" of the CEFRACOR. The determination of residual stresses in thin alumina scales is carried out at room temperature and at high temperature (collaboration with the "Institut de Science et de Génie des Matériaux et Procédés", Odeillo, Font - Romeu, France) to correlate the stress levels (growing and thermal) to the behavior of the alloy and the morphology of the oxide scale. The coatings were tested in thermal cycling conditions and their resistance to damage is explained.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Dionnet, B., Clemendot, F. and Nardou, F., "Influence de l'état Mécanique d'un Alliage Réfractaire sur sa Réactivité à Haute Température," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, 963-970 (1993).
- 2. Hamacha, R. and Nardou, F., "Amélioration du Comportement en Cyclage Thermique d'un Dépôt Métallique par CIC," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, 541-550 (1993).
- 3. Clemendot, F., Arnoldi, F., Cerede, J.B., Dionnet, B., Nardou, F. and van Duysen, J.C., "Influence of the Chemical Composition and the Fabrication Process on the Behaviour of High Temperature Oxidation of FeCrAl Alloys," Journal de Physique IV, <u>3</u>, 715-720 (1993).
- 4. Dionnet, B., Clemendot, F. and Nardou, F., "Influence of Elaboration Mode on Stresses in Oxidation Formed Alumina," <u>Residual Stresses</u>, Published by D.G.M., Eds. V. Hauk, H.P. Hougady, E. Macherauch and H.-D. Tietz, 815-826 (1993).
- Dionnet, B., Clemendot, F. and Nardou, F., "Contraintes Résiduelles dans une Alumine de Croissance en Symètrie Cylindrique," <u>Proc. Coll. GFAC</u>, Toulon, France, May (1993).

- 6. Dionnet, B., Clemendot, F. and Nardou, F., "Growth Stresses and Thermal Stresses in Alumina Scales," <u>Bull. Cercle d'Et. des Met</u>., tome XVI, n°7, 14bis, 1-78 (1993).
- 7. Hamacha, R., Dionnet, B., Grimaud, A. and Nardou, F., "Residual Stresses Evolution During the Thermal Cycling of Plasma Sprayed Zirconia Coatings," <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>80</u>, 295-302 (1996).
- 8. Hamacha, R., Fauchais, P. and Nardou, F., "Influence of Dopant on the Behaviour under Thermal Cycling of Two Plasma Sprayed Zirconia Coatings: 2. Surface Residual Stresses," Journal of Thermal Spray Technology, 6(2), 1-12 (1997).

Petot, C., Prof. and Petot-Ervas, G., Dr.

Laboratoire de Chimie Physique du Solide

CNRS-UF	RA 453		
Ecole Cen	trale Paris		
Grande V	oie des Vignes		
92295 Cha	atenay-Malabry Co	edex	
Tel:	+33 1 41 13 13 23 and +33 1 41 13 15 79		
Fax:	+33 1 41 13 14 37		
Telex:	634 991 F EC PARIS		
Key Personnel:		Petot, C., Prof., Petot-Ervas, G., Dr., Lacour, F., Rizea, A.	
Scientific	Key Words:	Ceramic ageing; Ceramic elaboration; Semiconductor oxidation; Diffusion; Electrical conductivity; Electrochemical measurements; Impurity segregation; Interfacial effects; Metal/oxide interface; Point defect effects; Sensors; Thermodynamic/defects of oxide solid solutions; Zirconia ceramics; Uranium oxide; Perovskites	
Technical Key Words:		Membranes; Ceramic components; Electrochemical microsensors; Sintering	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The work concerns the study of atomic transport and diffusion processes in multicomponent oxides exposed under a generalized thermodynamic potential gradient. A directed diffusion of the various components takes place in the material by way of defects. This can lead to cation redistribution (kinetic demixing) in the sublattice, when species with different mobility participate in the transport processes.

A part of the work is also devoted to the study of the defect properties and to the determination of diffusion coefficient in ceramics. Their knowledge is of great importance both to understand and to predict the behavior of multicomponent oxides under non-equilibrium conditions.

Applications, Engineering and Technology Transfer

Cation or anion redistributions can alter the kinetics of growth of an oxide scale on an alloy and the mass transfer across the oxide/metal interface. Such effects are also an important cause of ceramic deterioration at high temperature.

Specific Topics

1. Alloy Corrosion

The work concerns the influence of the cation redistributions on the kinetic of growth of the corrosion scale and on the advancement of the oxidation front in the metal.

2. Ageing of Ceramics

Ageing of ceramics, such as doped-zirconia, under an electrical field or subjected to a nonhydrostatic state of stress is being studied.

Ageing of ceramics, such as alumina or transition metal oxides, under the influence of a temperature or a chemical potential gradient, is also a subject of research.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High Temperature Oxidation

- 1. Petot, C., Petot-Ervas, G., Monceau, D. and Klimczyk, H., "Influence of the Kinetic Demixing of Cations on Ceramic Ageing and Alloy Corrosion," Journal of Physics, <u>3</u>, 107-113 (1994).
- 2. Petot-Ervas, G., Monceau, D., Tebtoub, M., Filal, M. and Petot, C., "Kinetic Demixing of Ceramics in an Electrical Field," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>73</u>, 221-225 (1994).
- Monceau, D., Petot-Ervas, G., Petot, C., Graham, M., Sproule, I. and Le Duigou, J., "Kinetic Demixing Under a Temperature Gradient or During Cooling," <u>Metallurgy</u> <u>and Foundry Engineering</u>, <u>20</u>, 277- 285 (1994).
- Petot-Ervas, G., Monceau, D., Petot, C., Graham, M., Sproule, I. and Fraser, J., "Kinetic Demixing of Solute Cations in α-Alumina Single Crystals During Cooling," <u>Journal of the American Ceramic Society</u>, <u>78</u>, 2314-2320 (1995).

 Golec, S., Petot-Ervas, G., Dhalenne, G., Jasienska, S. and Petot, C., "Influence of Ca on the Transport Properties and on the Oxydo-Reduction Kinetics of CoO," <u>Solid</u> <u>State Phenomena</u>, <u>41</u>, 229- 136 (1995).

2. High Temperature Degradation

- Monceau, D., Petot, C., Petot-Ervas, G., Graham, M., Sproule, I. and Rowley, P., "Influence of the Thermal Treatment on the Microstructure and Microchemistry of Mg-Doped α-Alumina Powders After Thermal Treatment at 1300°C," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>European Ceramic Society</u>, <u>12</u>, 337-341 (1993).
- Filal, M., Lacour, C., Amamra, M., Petot-Ervas, G. and Petot, C., "Influence of the Microstructure on the Ionic Conductivity of Yttrium Doped Zirconia," <u>Electroceramics IV</u>, Eds. R. Waser, S. Hoffman, Verlag der Augustinus Buchhanbdlung (under the auspices of the European Ceramic Society), <u>II</u>, 789-792 (1994).
- 8 Mokchah, M., Filal, M, Petot, C. and Petot-Ervas, G., "Electrochemical Method of Determination of the Oxygen Diffusion Coefficient in Zirconia," <u>Electroceramics IV</u>, Eds. R. Waser, S. Hoffman, Verlag der Augustinus Buchhandlung (under the auspices of the European Ceramic Society), <u>II</u>, 813 (1994).
- Tebtoub, M., Monceau, D., Amamra, M., Petot,C. and Petot-Ervas, G., "Surface Segregation, Microstructure and Sinterability of α-Alumina Powders Doped with Magnesium," <u>Electroceramics IV</u>, Eds. R. Waser, S. Hoffman, Verlag der Augustinus Buchhandlung (under the auspices of the European Ceramic Society), <u>II</u>, 1255-1258 (1994).
- Monceau, D., Petot, C., Petot-Ervas, G., Graham, M., Sproule, I. and Fraser, J., "Surface Segregation and Morphology of Mg-Doped α-Alumina," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>European Ceramic Society</u>, <u>15</u>, 851-858 (1995).
- 11. Petot, C., Ducos, M. and Petot-Ervas, G., "Thermal Spray Spinel Coatings on Steel Substrates: Influence of the Substrate Composition and Temperature," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>European Ceramic Society</u>, <u>15</u>, 637-642 (1995).

Pieraggi, B., Prof.

Réactivité et Protection des Matériaux, UPRES-A 5071 CNRS

Institut National Polytechnique de Toulouse

Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de Toulouse

118, Route de Narbonne

F-31077 Toulouse Cedex

Tel: +33 561 175 657

Fax: +33 561 175 663

bpieraggi@ensct.fr e.mail:

Key Personnel:	Arie
-	

Personnel:	Ariès, L., Prof., Andrieu, E., Prof., Monceau, D., Dr.,
	Oquab, D., Dr., Pieraggi, B., Prof., Roy, J., Dr.

Scientific Key Words:	Coatings/graded layers; Creep/fatigue-oxidation
-	interactions; Interfacial effects; Metal/oxide interface; Role
	of interfacial reactions; Surface modifications; Thermal
	barrier coatings

Technical Key Words: Gas turbines; Single crystal alloys; Thermal barrier coating systems; Nuclear power systems; Surface engineering

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The main goal of the research is to analyze the role of interfacial reactions in the oxidation behavior and resistance of high temperature materials. Indeed, the growth of an oxide scale, or any other corrosion product, is always a combination of mass transport (diffusion) and mass transfer (interface reaction) processes, so that the rate of the slowest step determines the initial scaling rate. At high temperature, interface reactions are too fast and diffusion is usually the rate-limiting process but, at intermediate temperatures, the rate of interface reactions can be sufficiently slow to participate in the control of the oxidation/corrosion kinetics. Therefore, a detailed study of the transfer processes at the interface would lead to a better understanding and control of oxidation and corrosion at intermediate temperatures. The role of mechanical deformation, substrate microstructure and surface preparation or modification on scaling kinetics is also investigated.

Specific Topics

1. Role of Interfacial Reactions

From an analysis of mixed kinetics (interfacial and diffusional), the reactive element effect (REE), as observed for chromia scales, was interpreted as a blocking of one of the cationic interface reactions. This model of REE was extended to a pure metal like nickel. The segregation of Ca, Sr or Ba oxide at the NiO-Ni interface was found to induce a decrease of one to two orders of magnitude in the oxidation rate of nickel and a drastic change in the microstructure of NiO scales. This strong effect of alkaline-earth elements on the oxidation of nickel can apparently be interpreted by an inhibition of interfacial reactions.

2. Interactions Between Oxidation and Deformation

For many materials, a large change in crack growth rate is observed at a critical oxygen partial pressure. The phenomena associated with such a threshold in PO² were carefully analyzed. In the case of nickel-base superalloys, the critical PO² corresponds to a transition between the growth of a chromia scale and the growth of a scale containing large amount of NiO. Therefore, the interfacial reactions involved in the nucleation and growth of differing oxides at the tip of a propagating crack appears to have a quite large influence. This work was performed on alloy 718, single crystal superalloys and binary Ni-Cr alloys.

3. Oxidation of Complex Alloys

The oxidation behavior of many different alloys was studied. The most recent works deals with single crystal superalloys and Nb-Ti-Al alloys. The aim of these studies was to determine the role of alloy composition and microstructure on scale growth mechanisms and kinetics and on scale properties (composition, morphology, microstructure, adherence). In addition, for single crystal superalloys, the behavior of the oxide scale during cooling was particularly investigated and, for Nb-Ti-Al alloys, slight improvement in scaling behavior was achieved through the use of specific 'dopants' acting on interface reactions.

4. Thermal Barrier Coatings

The influence of the structural and chemical characteristics of ceramic (PSZ) and bond coat (MCrAlY) powders on the microstructure, properties and thermal cycling behavior of plasma-sprayed TBC was investigated. For a given set of projection parameters, the volume fraction of tetragonal zirconia, the morphology and

granularity of PSZ powder and the aluminium content of MCrAlY are the most important parameters for the resistance of TBC to thermal cycling.

5. Surface Modifications

Surface modifications by means of chemical conversion treatments and electrolytic deposition of oxide are studied to see how they induce a controlled change in surface morphology, composition and microstructure. The goal of these treatments is to get a graded conversion scale adherent to the substrate such as steel, stainless steel, or superalloys, to improve their resistance to high temperature oxidation or corrosion, or to improve the adherence of ceramic coatings.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Interfacial Effect

- Pieraggi., B. and Van Loo, F.J.J., "Reaction and Diffusion in Multiphase Systems: Phenomenology and Frames," <u>Reactive Phase Formation at Interfaces and Diffusion</u> <u>Processes</u>, Eds. Y. Limoge and J.L. Bocquet, <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>155-156</u>, 307-318 (1994).
- Pieraggi, B., Rapp, R.A. and Hirth, J.P., "Interface Dynamics in Diffusion Driven Phase Transformations for Metallic Systems," <u>Scripta Metallurgica et Materialia</u>, <u>30</u>, 1491-1496 (1994).

2. Role of Interfacial Reactions

- 3. Pieraggi, B. and Rapp, R.A., "A Novel Explanation of the Reactive Element Effect," Journal de Physique III, C9, 275-280 (1993).
- Pieraggi, B. and Rapp, R.A., "Chromia Scale Growth in Alloy Oxidation and the Reactive Element Effect," <u>Journal of the Electrochemical Society</u>, <u>140</u>, 2844-2850 (1993).
- 5. Pieraggi, B. and Rapp, R.A., "Interfacial Scaling Reactions and the Reactive Element Effect," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>12</u>, 229-235 (1994).
- Hirth, J.P., Pieraggi, B. and Rapp, R.A., "The Role of Interface Dislocations and Ledges as Sources/Sinks for Point Defect in Scaling Reactions," <u>Acta Metallurgica</u> <u>et Materialia</u>, <u>43</u>, 1065-1074 (1995).

- Gonzalez, J.J., Oquab, D. and Pieraggi, B., "A Study of the Effect of Calcia Deposits on the Oxidation of Pure Nickel," <u>Reaction and Diffusion: from Basis to</u> <u>Application</u>, Ed. J. Jedlinski, Tr. Tech. Pub., 177-184 (1995).
- 8. Pieraggi, B., Rapp, R.A. and Hirth, J.P., "Role of Interface Structure and Interfacial Defects in Oxide Scale Growth," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 63-79 (1995).

3. Creep/Fatigue-Oxidation Interactions

- Andrieu, E., Hochstetter, G., Molins, R. and Pineau, A., "Oxidation and Intergranular Cracking Behavior of Two High Strength Ni-Base Superalloy," <u>Corrosion Deformation Interactions, CDI94</u>, Eds. T. Magnin and J.M. Gras, Editions de Physique.
- Molins, R., Hochstetter, G., Chassaigne, J.C. and Andrieu, E., "Oxidation Effects on the Fatigue Crack Growth Behavior of Alloy 718 at High Temperature," <u>Acta</u> <u>Metallurgica et Materialia</u>, <u>45</u>, 663-674 (1997).
- Pieraggi, B. and Uginet, J.F., "Fatigue and Creep Properties in Relation with Alloy 718 Microstructure," <u>Alloy 718, 625, 706 and Derivatives</u>, Ed. E. Loria, TMS Pub., 535-544 (1994).

4. Single Crystal Alloys

 Bouhanek, K., "Stabilité Mécaniquedes Couches d'Oxydes Formées Lors de l'Oxydation de Superalliages Monocristallins," <u>Matériaux et Techniques</u>, <u>XII</u>, 59-61 (1995).

5. Thermal Barrier Coating Systems

13. Crabos, F., Monge-Cadet, P. and Pieraggi, B., "Influence of Powder Microstructures on the Thermal Cycling Behavior of ZrO₂-Y₂O₃ (8% wt.) Plasma Coatings," <u>Elevated</u> <u>Temperature Coatings: Science and Technology</u>, <u>I</u>, Eds. N.B. Dahotre et al., TMS Pub., 63-72 (1995).

6. Oxidation of Complex Alloys

14. Roos, C., Oquab, D. and Pieraggi, B., "Oxidation of Nb-Ti-Al Alloys for Gas Turbine Uses," <u>Materials for Advanced Power Engineering</u>, Eds. D. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Acad. Pub. Vol. 2, 1253-1261 (1994).

7. Surface Modifications

- 15. Ariès, L., "Preparation of Electrolytic Ceramic Films on Stainless Steels Conversion Coatings," <u>Journal of Applied Electrochemistry Society</u>, <u>24</u>, 554-558 (1994).
- 16. Ariés, L., Cot, F., Roy, J. and Sotoul, J., "Modification of Conversion Coating on Stainless Steel by Electrolytic Alumina-Zirconia Deposits for High Temperature Applications," <u>Surface Modifications Technologies VIII</u>, Eds. T.S. Sudarshan and M. Jeandin, The Institute of Metals, 199-205 (1995).
- Ariés, L., Pontet, V., Roy, J., Sotoul, J., Costeseque, P. and Ai Gouy, T., "Electrochemical Alumina Coatings on Stainless Steel: Composition and Behavior on Thermal Oxidation," <u>Journal of Applied Electrochemistry</u>, <u>26</u>, 617-622 (1996).
- Ariés, L., Alberich, L., Roy, J. and Sotoul, J., "Conversion Coating on Stanless Steels as a Support for Electrochemically Induced Alumina Deposit," <u>Electrochimica Acta</u>, <u>14</u>, 2799-2803 (1996).

8. Miscellaneous

- Monceau, D., Petot, C., Petot-Ervas, G., Graham, M.J., Rowley, P.N. and Sproule, G.I., "The Microchemistry and Microstructure of Magnesium Doped Submicron α-Alumina Powders After Thermal Treatment at 1300°C," <u>Journal of the European</u> <u>Ceramic Society</u>, <u>12</u>, 337-341 (1993).
- 20. Monceau, D., Filal, M., TedtSoub, M., Petot, C. and Petot-Ervas, G., "Kinetic Demixing of Ceramics in an Electrical Field," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>73</u>, 221-225 (1994).
- Monceau, D., Petot-Ervas, G., Petot, C., Sproule, G.I. and Graham, M.J., "Kinetic Demixing of Solute Cations in Alumina Single Crystals During Cooling," <u>Journal of</u> <u>the American Ceramic Society</u>, <u>78</u>, 2314-2320 (1995)
- Ruck, A., Monceau, D. and Grabke, H.J., "Effects of the Tramp Elements Cu, P, Pb, Sb and Sn on the Gas Carburization of Case Hardening Steels," <u>Steel Research</u>, <u>67</u>, 240-246 (1996).

Steinmetz, P. and J., Profs.

Laboratoire de Chimie du Solide Minéral		
Faculté des Sciences de l'Université Henri Poincaré		
B.P. 239 -	54506 Vandoeuvre	e Cedex
Tel:	+33 03 83 91 21 83	
Fax:	+33 03 83 91 21 66	
e.mail:	psteinme@lcm.u-nancy.fr; jsteinme@lcm.u-nancy.fr	
Key Personnel:		Steinmetz, P., Prof., Steinmetz, J., Prof., Vilasi, M., Dr., Rapin, C., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:		Hot corrosion; High temperature oxidation; Coatings; Glass melting; Refractory alloys and compounds
Technical Key Words:		Gas turbines; Waste incineration;

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

When used at high temperature, refractory materials must satisfy two stability criteria, from the structural and physico-chemical point of view. As regards the first one, bulk and coated materials are concerned. So an important part of research must be devoted to structural as well as diffusion studies, so as to define thermally stable alloys or coating/alloys systems. This point has been studied in the case of refractory base alloys and also of nickel base superalloys/coatings systems.

As far as physico-chemical stability is concerned, research in this field have been focused on high-temperature oxidation in air or multi-oxidant gases (O_2 -S O_2 , O_2 - HCl, O_2 -S O_2 - HCl) and hot corrosion. In this latter case, several types of (molten) condensed phases have been studied, the common characteristic of which is the presence of oxo-anions. It is thus possible to describe hot corrosion reactions with use of the classical redox/acido-basicity formalism. This is particularly interesting in the case of molten glass, where a complete study has been undertaken to determine the corrosion mechanisms of Ni-Cr alloys.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

a) Hot Corrosion of Refractory Alloys Used in Gas Turbines

The aim of this research is to try developing new alloys or coatings which could enable turbine blades to resist for a long time hot corrosion due to molten salts (sulfates), and high temperature oxidation. Niobium-based alloys and Pd-containing aluminides are being studied with this goal.

b) New Alloys Used in the Glass Industry

Glass melting processes, especially fiberglass manufacturing and vitrification of nuclear waste , suffer from temperature limitations due to corrosion of metallic materials by molten glass. The aim of this research is to develop new alloys which could be used for a longer time at temperatures about 1000°C, or resist to temperatures exceeding 1300°C.

c) Materials for Waste Incineration

Waste incineration (industrial or domestic) produces very corrosive atmospheres which drastically limit the lifetime of metallic materials used for making tubes, grids, etc.. The aim of this research is to characterize the corrosion processes, so as to propose new materials resisting to these severely corroding conditions.

Specific Topics

1. Pd Modified Aluminide Coatings

Palladium is a good alternative to platinum in order to modify aluminide coatings used to protect superalloys against oxidation and corrosion. Coating processes, the Ni-Pd-Al phase diagram and diffusion in this ternary system are being studied, in order to propose a complete description of the mechanism of aluminization of Pd-precoated superalloys. The work is in partnership with ONERA and SNECMA

2. Corrosion of Alloys by Glass Used for Fiberglass Manufacturing

Ni-Cr alloys used for fiberglass manufacturing suffer from high-temperature corrosion, and must be modified to increase their lifetime. Mechanisms of corrosion are being studied, in order to propose adequate modifications: alloying elements, surface treatments. New alloys are also being studied. Partnership is with Isover Saint Gobain and Saint Gobain Ceramics (USA).

3. High Temperature Materials used in Waste Incineration Plants

Study of the corrosion processes of alloys, coatings and refractories (silicon carbide, alumina) used in waste (municipal and industrial) incineration plants, is being undertaken. Partnership is with Stein Heurtey and Rhone Poulenc.

4. Protective Coatings for Niobium Alloys

Study of a pack cementation process capable of producing complex silicide coatings for niobium alloys, which offer significant promise in oxidizing environments to the highest temperatures of their application, is under way. Partnership is with Dassault, CNES and CEP.

Research Facilities

Thermogravimetry Equipment

5 thermobalances for high temperature studies with corrosive atmospheres (SO₂, HCl, CO-CO₂).

Synthesis Equipment

2 HF furnaces (30 and 50 KW) for melting high temperature metallic materials

1 high temperature furnace (1700°C) with pressure equipment (10 T) for sintering

planetary high energy ball milling machines

laboratory vacuum equipment for annealing and synthesis

High Temperature Electrochemistry

5 computer driven potentiostats

2 frequency analysers for impedance measurements

Analysis

2 microprobes (CAMECA)

2 scanning electron microscopes (HITACHI, PHILIPS) with EDS analysis

6 X-Ray diffractometers

1 transmission electron microscope (Transmission: 200 kV)

Partnership with Abroad

Present Partnership

NORTHBORO Research Center - NORTHBOROUGH - MA (USA)

ATOCHEM USA

Desired Partnership

Themes: materials and coatings for high temperature applications (gas turbines, incinerators, glass melting)

Competence: high temperature oxidation and corrosion, electrochemistry, surface analysis.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Steinmetz, P., Alperine, S., Josso, P. and Claude, J.M., "Effect of Palladium-Based Undercoat on the Formation, Structure and Properties of Diffusion Aluminide Coatings," <u>Journal de Physique IV Supplément au Journal de Physique III</u>, N°12, <u>3</u>, C9-499-C9-510 (1993).
- Steinmetz, J., Vilasi, M. and Roques, B., "Oxydation et Protection des Alliages Base Niobium," <u>Journal de Physique IV Supplément au Journal de Physique III</u>, N°12, <u>3</u>, C9-487 (1993).
- 3. Steinmetz, P., Steinmetz, J. and Roques, B., "Modification de Revêtements de MoSi₂ sur Molybdène par le Germanium," <u>Journal de Physique IV Supplément au Journal de Physique III</u>, N°12, <u>3</u>, C9-909-C9-920 (1993).
- 4. Vilasi, M., Venturini, G., Steinmetz, J. and Malaman, B., "Crystal Structure of Triiron Chromium Hexasilicide $Nb_{x3}Fe_{x3}Cr_{\approx_1}Si_{6}$: An Intergrowth of $Zr_4Co_4Ge_7$ and $Nb_2Cr_4Si_5$ Blocks," Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 194, 127 (1993).
- Gauer, L., Alperine, S., Steinmetz, P. and Vassel, A., "Influence of Niobium Addition on High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Ti3Al Alloys and Coatings," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 49-74 (1994).
- 6. Lamesle, P., Steinmetz, P., Steinmetz, J. and Alperine, S., "Effect of Palladium-Based Undercoat on the Formation, Structure and Properties of Diffusion Aluminide Coatings," Journal of theElectrochemical Society, 142, 497-505 (1995).

- Lamesle, P. and Steinmetz, P., "Growth Mechanisms and Hot Corrosion Resistance of Palladium Modified Aluminide Coatings on Superalloys," <u>Materials and</u> <u>Manufacturing Processes</u>, <u>10</u>, 1053-1075 (1995).
- 8. Vilasi, M., Venturini, G., Steinmetz, J. and Malaman, B., "Structure of "TaCo₄Si₃", a New Silicide Closely Related to the Y₁₃Pd₄₀Sn₃₁ Stannide," <u>Journal of Alloys and</u> <u>Compounds</u>, 227, 32 (1995).

GEORGIA

CONTENTS

Mikadze, O., DrG-2	2
--------------------	---

Georgia

Mikadze, Omar, Dr.

Research Laboratory of Physical Metallurgy Institute of Metallurgy of Georgian Academy of Science 15 Kazbegy Avenue Tbilisi Tel: +7 995 32370285

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Unfortunately, the group has not carried out full-scale research studies, because of the well-known events in the country in recent years. Extreme material and technical hardships, and an information vacuum, forced the group to halt the activities of the team. However, the chance is taken here to present the plan of the team for the future activities, that cannot be fulfilled yet because of lack of funding. The possibility of joint research with other laboratories is raised.

1. Areas of Interest

The general aim is to determine the crystallographic and structural regularities of oxide layer development (nucleation and growth) on refractory metals and alloys during high-temperature metal-oxygen reactions of free and latent surfaces. The needs of modern technology require a variety of well-understood high temperature processes creating protective oxide films.

Until recently there were many communications dealing with physics and chemistry of the surface separating the metal from the gas with the high temperature oxidation processes. Concepts of oxide film growth mechanisms were mainly based on the kinetics of the processes, which gives indirect information without real structural understanding. The initial oxide formation is a function of surface orientation, crystal defects at the surface, surface preparation and impurities in metal. Because of development of modern experimental methods for solid state surfaces, direct investigation and evaluation of theoretical ideas have accelerated the investigations in this field. Structural researches have been made by the transmission electron microscope, scanning electron microscope, Auger spectroscopy, X-ray crystallography, etc providing the progress of ideas about gas-solid interactions.

Although the peculiarities of the nucleation process of high temperature and low pressure of oxygen are quite well known, details of growth mechanisms are still not exactly determined or quantitative.

There are considerable gaps in the following areas:

- Obtaining direct evidence of the distinction between oxidation via lattice diffusion and oxidation via mutual diffusion of phases.
- Investigation of the operational function in connection with possible removal of molecules (atoms) from the surface into the volume of the solid body and the subsequent creation of a 3-D compound with the adsorbent.
- The influence of the surface preparation technology and impurities in the crystal on reactions taking place after chemisorption, leading to the growth of oxide films.

2. Techniques Available

Currently a modern research base is owned.

- Transmission electron microscopy with microdiffraction analyses.
- Diffraction of fast electrons by 'reflection' and by 'transmission' for the definition of phase composition and perfection of crystal surface.
- Definition of the main inner potential of the crystal lattice. This method is based on the reflection of fast electrons (original method, patented in the USSR).
- Computer simulation of the electron diffraction patterns of the single, twinned and two-phase crystals and the stereographic projections for any crystal systems (original software packages).
- Image analyses and fast Fourier transformation for obtaining the computer analogs of diffraction.
- Auger-spectrometry and mass-spectrometry of secondary ions for the definition of composition and profile of the element distribution.
- Scanning electron microscopy with an X-ray microanalyser.
- Ordinary, high temperature (1700°C) and quantitative optical metallography.
- X-ray diffraction method for the analyses of the diffuse scattering effects
- Measurements of the temperature spectrum of internal friction and shear modulus.
- Method of exoelectron emission (original device).
- Method for quick determination of corrosion resistance of metals and alloys (original device).
- Croygenic resistance measurements p(T,j,H) in the 10-300 K temperature range.

Georgia

Besides, technologies have been worked out for chemical-thermal processing of fusions, thus increasing their heat-resistance. The group has also created fusions for high temperature exploitation in aggressive media, high temperature metal-ceramic knots for solid-oxide electrolytes. The results of the latter researches have not been published yet.

GERMANY

CONTENTS

Borchardt, G., Prof	G-6
Ender, V., Prof	G-10
Fritscher, K., Dr., Peters, M., Dr. and Rätzer-Scheibe, HJ., Dr	G-12
Grabke, H.J., Prof.	G-19
Kolarik, V., Dr. and Juez-Lorenzo, M., Dr	G-29
Nickel, K.G., Prof	G-34
Pompe, W., Prof. and Bobeth, M., Dr	G-38
Quadakkers, W.J., Dr	G-42
Rühle, M., Prof.	G-52
Schütze, M., Priv., Doz., DrIng	G-55
Stratmann, M., Prof. Dr.	G-62
Strehblow, HH., Prof.	G-66

Germany

Borchardt, G., Prof.	Borchardt, G., Prof.		
Technische Universität Cla	nusthal		
Metallurgisches Zentrum			
Arbeitsgruppe Elektronisc	he Materialien		
Robert-Koch-Str. 42			
D-38678 Clausthal-Zellerfeld			
Tel: +49 5323 723188	+49 5323 723188 and +49 5323 722649		
Fax: +49 5323 723184	+49 5323 723184		
e.mail: guenter.borchar	nail: guenter.borchardt@tu-clausthal.de		
Key Personnel:	Borchardt, G., Prof.		
Scientific Key Words:	Alumina growth/breakdown; Aluminides; Ceramic coatings; Coating C/C composites; Computer modeling; Diffusion; Electrochemical measurements; Sensors; Silicides; Spallation; Sulfur segregation; Zirconia ceramics		
Technical Key Words:	Electrochemical microsensors; Energy plants; Engine applications		

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The activities of the research group are mainly focused on transport of matter in oxidebased materials at high temperatures. The extension to fundamental aspects of high temperature oxidation of technical alloys and non-oxide ceramics is a logical consequence.

Applications

The applications comprise matter transport related projects in the following fields.

Specific Topics

1. Growth of Alumina Scales

Tracer diffusion and 'inert' marker studies, in conjunction with high resolution depth profiling (SIMS/SNMS) and computer simulation, have been used to identify growth

mechanisms of such scales on various materials (e.g. FeCrAl, β -NiAl) with funding from national (German) agencies, or the European Union, via a BriteEuram project coordinated by the group and including French, British and other German partners.

2. Oxidation Protection of Non-Oxide Engineering Ceramics, Mainly SiC and Carbon-Reinforced Carbon (C/C)

Ternary oxide coatings are applied via Pulsed Laser Deposition (PLD) and electrophoreses, or combinations thereof. Their protectiveness in isothermal and cyclic oxidation experiments is investigated via thermogravimetry in combination with oxygen isotope diffusion studies (SIMS/SNMS) and model calculations. The work is funded by German national programmes.

3. Diffusion of the Constituent Elements in Doped Zirconia and Titanate Materials for SOFC and Oxygen Sensor Applications

Interfacial reactions, bulk transport, and grain boundary transport govern correct operation and degradation reactions, as well. Both aspects are studied using tracer diffusion and computer simulations. The work is funded via German national projects.

4. Diffusion in Intermetallics at High Temperatures

High temperature creep deformation and oxidation of intermetallic compounds may be controlled by diffusional transport. Therefore, diffusion of the constituent elements in silicides and aluminides is studied applying stable isotope tracers and radioisotopes in combination with sputtering techniques. The projects are funded by German national agencies.

Collaboration

Most of the projects are run either in the framework of a bilateral or multilateral partnership, both on a voluntary, or a formalized, basis as given, e.g., by a targeted programme funded by (mostly) national German agencies. The group is clearly interested to extend the scope of national and international coorporations if the expected synergy justifies the additional administrative and organisational loads on the partners.

Germany

Facilities

The main tool is SIMS/SNMS based surface analysis in combination with tracer diffusion. Standard thermogravimetry, Mossbauer spectroscopy and standard electron microscopy (SEM, TEM) as well as X-ray diffraction are available in the department.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High Temperature Oxidation (Protection)

- 1. Mishin, Y. and Borchardt, G., "Theory of Oxygen Tracer Diffusion Along Grain Boundaries and in the Bulk in Two-Stage Oxidation Experiments. Part I: Formulation of the Model and Analysis of Type A and C Regimes," <u>Journal de</u> <u>Physique III France</u>, <u>3</u>, 863-881 (1993).
- 2. Mishin, Y. and Borchardt, G., "Theory of Oxygen Tracer Diffusion Along Grain Boundaries and in the Bulk in Two-Stage Oxidation Experiments. Part II: Analysis of Type B Regime," <u>Journal de Physique III France</u>, <u>3</u>, 945-960 (1993).
- 3. Jedlinski, J., Cohat, B. and Borchardt, G., "The Influence of Yttrium on the Oxidation Behaviour of Fe19-Cr5-Al Alloy at High Temperatures: I. Oxidation Resistance," <u>High Temperature Materials and Processes</u>, <u>13</u>, 241-258 (1994).
- Jedlinski, J., Graham, M.J., Sproule, G.I., Mitchell, D.F., Borchardt, G. and Bernasik, A., "A Combined Approach: Isotopic Exposure/SIMS Analysis/SEM to Study the Early Stages of Oxidation of β-NiAl at 1473 K," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>46</u>, 297-305 (1995).
- 5. Glazkov, A., Göbel, M., Jedlinski, J., Schimmelpfennig, J., Borchardt, G., Weber, S., Scherrer, S. and Le Coze, J. "On the Influence of Yttrium and Sulphur on the High Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of Alumina-Forming High Purity FeCrAl Alloys," Journal de Physique III, C7, 381-385 (1995).
- Fritze, H., Thouelin, J.-M., Borchardt, G. and Jedlinski, J., "High Temperature Oxidation of SiC Coated Carbon/Carbon Composites," <u>Solid State Phenomena</u>, <u>41</u>, 269-276 (1995).
- Fritze, H., Jojic, J., Borchardt, G., Lenk, A., Witke, T., Schultrich, B., Weber, S., Scherrer, S., and Weiss, R., "Protective Mullite Diffusion Barriers for SiC-C/C Composites in Oxidizing Environments at Temperatures up to 2000 K," <u>Proc.</u> <u>Microscopy of Oxidation III</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb et al., in press.

2. Miscellaneous

- 8. Chaissac, M., Claus, J., Borchardt, G., Slowik, J. and Frischat ,G., "Behaviour of RF Sputter Deposited SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ Diffusion Barriers on Float Glass at 300°C in Air," <u>Glastechnische Berichte</u>, <u>66</u>, 331-333 (1993).
- Róg, G., Kozłowska-Róg, A., Zakula-Sokol, K., and Borchardt G., "Determination of Standard Gibbs Free Energies of Formation of the Calcium Aluminates from Oxides by E.M.F. Measurements," <u>Journal of Chemical Thermodynamics</u>, <u>25</u>, 807-810 (1993)
- 10. Young, T.F., Borchardt, G. and Kieffer J., "Tracer Diffusion of Oxygen in CoO-SiO₂ Melts," Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, <u>6</u>, 9825-9834 (1994).
- 11. Young, T.F., Borchardt, G. and Kieffer, J., "Application of a Kinetic Model to Tracer Diffusion of Silicon and Oxygen in Silicate Melts," <u>Journal of Physics: Condensed</u> <u>Matter</u>, <u>6</u>, 9835-9852 (1994).
- Borchardt, G., Kowalski, K., Nowotny, J., Rekas, M., and Weppner, W., "Thermopower and Electrical Conductivity of Single Crystalline and Polycrystalline CoO," <u>Journal of the European Ceramic Society</u>, <u>14</u>, 369-376 (1994).
- He, Z., Borchardt, G. and Wegener W., "Ionic Space Charge Phenomena during SIMS Analysis of Ceramic Materials," <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u>, 264-268 (1994).
- 14. Kieβling, U., Claus, J., Borchardt, G., Weber, S. and Scherrer, S., "Oxygen Tracer Diffusion in Lanthanum Doped Single Crystal Strontium Titanate," <u>Journal of the American Ceramic Society</u>, <u>77</u>, 2188-2190 (1994).
- 15. Róg, G., Haberko, K., Kozłowska-Róg, A. and Borchardt, G., "Determination of CaO Activity in the Mixture {xCaO+(1-x)ZrO₂} at the Temperature 1270 K by a Galvanic Cell Involving Calcium-Ion Conducting Solid Electrolyte," <u>Journal of Chemical</u> <u>Thermodynamics</u>, <u>27</u>, 741-744 (1995).
- 16. Claus, J., Borchardt, G., Weber S., Hiver, J.-M. and Scherrer S., "Combination of EBSP Measurements and SIMS to Study Crystallographic Orientation Dependence of Diffusivities in a Polycrystalline Material: Oxygen Tracer Diffusion in La_{2x}Sr_xCuO_{4^{±δ}}," <u>Materials Science and Engineering</u>, <u>B38</u>, 251-257 (1996).
- 17. Schultrich, B., Lenk, A., Witke, T., Borchardt, G. and Fritze, H., "Pulsed Laser Deposition of Oxide Films by Mu-Kilowatt CO₂Lasers," HCti <u>Applied Surface</u> <u>Science</u>, <u>109/110</u>, 362-365 (1997)

Germany

 Kilo, M., Borchardt, G., Weber, S., Scherrer, S., and Tinsehert, K., "Zirconium and Calcium Tracer Diffusion in Stabilized Cubic Zirconia," <u>Ber. Bunsenges. Phys.</u> <u>Chem.</u>, <u>101</u>, 1361-1365 (1997).

Ender, V., Prof.			
Fachgruppe Chemie			
Hochschule für Technik, Wirtschaft und			
Sozialwesen Zittau/Görlitz (FH)			
Theodor-Körner-Allee 16			
02763 Zittau			
Tel: +49 3583 611705	+49 3583 611705		
Fax: +49 3583 611740	+49 3583 611740		
e.mail: ender@na-wiss.htw-zittau.de			
Key Personnel:	Ender, V., Prof., Seibt, K., Prof.		
Scientific Key Words:	Chemisorption; High-temperature water corrosion; Metal- metal oxide composite transport; Distribution; Chemical additives to water		
Technical Key Words:	Coal-fired boiler; Nuclear power systems; Steam generators; Steam turbine; Clean-up systems		

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Research

One of the main topics of the research is optimizing of the chemical water conditions of larger water/steam-cycles, like steam generators or heating networks, on the basis of thermodynamic consideration, with special reference to cycles with more than one metal component. Further, the chemisorption including desorption of the hydrolyzable 3d-elements from aqueous solutions on to metal/metal oxide surfaces is being dealt with. This includes the investigation of the sorption dependence on temperature, pH, concentration and other water constituents.

In a recent development the group became concerned with the measurement of partition coefficients of several water constituents between the liquid and gaseous phases with the help of in-situ methods. This plays an important role on corrosion and corrosion protection.

Germany

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Specific Topics

1. Water Regimes of High-Temperature Cycles

This work is concentrated on the improvement of operational results of power stations and heating networks. A special aim is to optimize the transition processes between steady-state and transient operational conditions. Further, it is desired to clarify the best conditions for the use of bypass clean-up systems. The results are immediately incorporated by the power stations of VEAG Berlin and several heating stations.

2. Distribution of Water Constituents Between Solid and Liquid Phase

One special point is the minimizing of the activity build-up in nuclear power stations. Knowledge about the mechanism of this process, especially due to the chemisorption of 3d-elements, is now included in the investigation of desorption processes during the flooding of coal mines. This work is being carried out in collaboration with LMBV Berlin and with the Bundesministerium BMBF Bonn.

3. Distribution of Water Constituents Between Liquid and Gaseous Phase

This research is being carried out on the basis of the group's own financial resources. The group is trying to obtain a better understanding of the transition mechanisms of water constituents during the processes of vaporisation and first condensation, so that corrosion processes can be minimized.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Ender, V., "Waterchemical Measures for Corrosion Protection of Metallic Materials," <u>Wasserkalender 1995</u>, Jahrbuch f
 ür das Gesamte Wasserfach, Erich Schmidt Verlag Berlin, 60-78 (1993).
- 2. Ender, V., Seibt, K. et al., "Sorption of Heavy Metals and Boron from Ashes and Soils in Aqueous Solutions," <u>Final Report FO917.00</u>, Bundes-ministerium für Bildung, Wissenschaft, Forschung und Technologie Bonn, p102 (1996).
- 3. Ender, V., "On the Usefulness of Bypass Clean-up Systems," <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>VGB-Conference</u>, "Chemie im Kraftwerk 1996", <u>5</u>, 14 (1996).

Fritscher K Dr Peters M Dr and Rätzer-Scheibe H - I Dr

Fritscher, K., Dr., Peters, M., Dr. and Ratzer-Scheide, HJ., Dr.			
Institute of Materials Research			
DLR-Gei	rman Aerospace Re	search Establishment	
D-51140	Köln		
Tel:	+49 2203 601 2543; +49 2203 601 2438; +49 2203 601 3442		
Fax:	+49 2203 696 480		
e.mail:	klaus.fritscher@dlr.de; h-j.r-s@dlr.de		
Key Personnel:		Fritscher, K., Dr., Peters, M., Dr., Rätzer-Scheibe, HJ., Dr., Schulz, U., Dr., Leyens, C., Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:		Adhesion; Alumina growth; Aluminide coatings; Bond/thermal barrier coatings; Burner rigs; Coating design; Coatings/graded layers; Cyclic oxidation; Electrochemical measurements; Hot corrosion; Interdiffusion; Interfaces; Intermetallics; Marine conditions; Molten salts; Multilayers; Overlay coatings; Oxidation/sulfidation; spallation/overlay-thermal barrier coatings; Superalloys; Thermal shock; Titanium alloys/aluminides; Zirconia ceramics	
Technica	l Key Words:	Engine materials; Aeroengines; Compressors; Diesel engines; Gas turbines; Land-based gas turbines; Thermal barrier coating systems	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research is focused mainly on application of EB-PVD thermal barrier coatings (TBCs) on nickel-based superalloys for high-temperature use. Research covers coating processing, characterization and testing. The principal aim is to let turbine parts operate at higher temperatures and at an improved thermal efficiency. Major progress in this field is expected from zirconia based TBCs deposited on turbine vanes and blades by EB-PVD. The interplay between base material, bond coat and microstructurally designed TBCs under service-like conditions is investigated to particularly minimize oxidation and internal stresses between the single layers, thus preventing spallation of the TBC and improving the lifetime of the whole coating system. Testing includes isothermal and cyclic high-temperature exposure, thermo-

Germany

mechanical testing as well as burner-rig testing. Furthermore, FEM calculations are in progress to model the stress situations in TBC systems.

Oxidation of conventional titanium alloys and titanium aluminides is being studied with respect to oxide scale formation and degradation of mechanical properties by interstitial solution of gaseous species in the subsurface zone. Intermetallic Ti-Al coatings have been developed to provide environmental protection especially paying regard to mechanical properties of the substrate material. Extensive mechanical tests were done to characterize the influence of the coating systems on tensile properties, creep and fatigue behavior of titanium alloys after long elevated temperature exposure and at high temperature, respectively. Recently, investigation of a new orthorhombic titanium aluminide alloy has been started. Furthermore, advanced aluminide coatings are being designed for optimized environmental protection as well as mechanical properties.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most work is devoted to the development of metallic and ceramic coating compositions and to their applicability on Ni base superalloys by the EB-PVD process. Cooperations exist with European manufacturers of aeroengine and stationary gas turbines and also with coatings and equipment producers. Supplementary experimental work is conducted by DC and RF sputtering of these compositions.

Specific Topics

1. Bond Coatings

Model bond coat compositions were developed which exhibit low oxidation rates, controlled interdiffusion and an intermediate coefficient of thermal expansion between superalloy matrix and zirconia top coat. Experiments address the applicability and performance of these layers under service conditions. They will allow prediction of the industrial processability of novel bond coat compositions by a multi-source EB-PVD process. Conventional MCrAIY coatings were compositionally (in a graded manner), or microstructurally, modified for comparative investigations on thermally activated alumina formation and thermocyclic/burner rig performance. Alumina scale growth on NiCoCrAIY coatings under various atmospheres was studied.

2. Thermal Barrier Coating Systems

The layer formation of various zirconia compositions on EB-PVD processing was studied and their performance under themocyclic loading was evaluated in order to understand their inherent potential for long-term heat protection. TBC adhesion and premature failure encountered in predeposition procedures (annealing environments, bead peening processing) was followed by thermocyclic and by TEM investigations. Besides predeposition procedures and compositional differences in the TBCs the microstructural design of the TBCs has a strong influence on their life. For the modification of the microstructure of the TBCs by variation of some important parameters like temperature and rotational speed of the substrate samples was systematically evaluated. Data for interfacial stresses and of E-modulus and Poisson's number are being generated for FEM calculations in cooperation with the materials science groups at the University of Karlsruhe and The Technical University of Berlin.

3. Hot Corrosion and Molten Salt Corrosion

Uncoated and coated nickel-based superalloys designed for use in gas turbine blades and vanes were tested under hot corrosion conditions in a high-velocity burner rig. The burner rig was also involved in a VAMAS (Versailles Project on Advanced Materials and Standards) programme that has aimed at the standardization of hot salt corrosion burner rig tests. For comparison with burner rig test results, an electrochemical method was used to simulate the sodium sulphate induced hot corrosion of uncoated and coated nickel-based superalloys. Current density versus potential curves were utilized for studying corrosive processes.

4. Oxidation and Protection of Titanium Alloys and Titanium Aluminides

The aim of this work is to get a fundamental understanding of failure mechanisms of uncoated and coated titanium based alloys and aluminides for use as compressor components in aeroengines. The influence of coatings on the mechanical properties of the base material is of great concern considering potential application as monolithic alloys as well as matrix material in titanium matrix composites (TMCs) at high temperatures. In this context, the effect of coatings on the fatigue properties of the base material is being carefully investigated.

Special Equipment

A dual source single beam EB-PVD equipment was installed. It offers production-like opportunities concerning evaporation rates and temperature regimes for the deposition of metallic and ceramic coatings on rotating substrates up to 400 mm long and 10 kg in weight. It is intended to process novel compositions of elements with widely varying vapor pressures and compositionally as well as microstructurally graded coatings.

For thermo-mechanical testing of internally air-cooled specimens a rig was designed at DLR to simulate service-like conditions for TBC systems particularly considering the radial temperature gradient.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Bond Coatings

- Fritscher, K., Leyens, C. and Peters, M., "Development of a Low-Expansion Bond Coating for Ni-Base Superalloys," <u>Materials Science and Engineering</u>, <u>A190</u>, 253-258 (1995).
- 2. Leyens, C., Fritscher, K., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Phase Stability, Oxidation and Interdiffusion of a Novel NiCrAlTiSi Bond Coating Alloy Between 900 and 1100°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>34</u>, 329-352 (1995).
- 3. Schulz, U., Fritscher, K., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Processing and Behavior of Chemically Graded EB-PVD MCrAlY Bond Coats," <u>FGM 94</u>, Eds. B. Ilschner and N. Cherradi, Presses Polytechniques et Universitaires Romandes, 441-446 (1995).
- Leyens, C., Fritscher, K., Gehrling, R., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Oxide Scale Formation on an MCrAlY Coating in Various H₂/H₂O Atmospheres," <u>Surface and</u> <u>Coatings Technology</u>, <u>82</u>, 133-144 (1996).
- Fritscher, K., Schulz, U., Leyens, C., Rätzer-Scheibe, H.J., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Hot Corrosion Behavior of Microstructurally In-Situ Modified EB-PVD NiCoCrAlY Coatings," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation III</u>, The Institute of Materials, London 354-367 (1997).
- 6. Leyens, K., Fritscher, K., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Transformation and Oxidation of Sputtered Low-Expansion Ni-Cr-Al-Ti-Si Coatings for Thermal Barrier Systems," <u>ICMCTF '97</u>.

2. Thermal Barrier Coating Systems

- Fritscher, K. and Schulz, U., "Burner-Rig Performance of Density-Graded EB-PVD Processed Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>Ceramic Coatings</u>, Ed. K. Kokini, ASME MD-Vol. 44, 1-8 (1993).
- 8. Schulz, U. and Fritscher, K., "Behavior of Subsurface-Modified EB-PVD Processed Thermal Barrier Coatings on Cyclic Tests," <u>Ceramic Coatings</u>, Ed. K. Kokini, ASME MD-Vol.44, 163-17 (1993).
- Schulz, U., Fritscher, K. and Peters, M., "EB-PVD Y₂O₃ and CeO₂/Y₂O₃ Stabilized Zirconia Thermal Barrier Coatings - Crystal Habit and Phase Composition," <u>Surface</u> <u>and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>82</u>, 259-269 (1996).

- 10. Schulz, U., Fritscher, K. and Peters, M., "Thermocyclic Behavior of Variously Stabilized EB-PVD Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>ASME Turbo Expo</u>, in press (1996).
- Schulz, U., Fritscher, K., Rätzer-Scheibe, H.-J., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Thermocyclic Behavior of Microstructurally Modified EB-PVD Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>4th International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and</u> <u>Protection of Materials</u>, in press (1996).
- 12. Fritscher, K., Schmücker, M., Leyens, C. and Schulz, U., "TEM Investigation on the Adhesion of EB-PVD Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>4th International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials</u>, in press (1996).
- Schulz, U., Oettel, H., and Bunk, W., "Texture of EB-PVD Thermal Barrier Coatings under Variable Deposition Conditions," <u>Zeitschrift für Metallkunde</u>, <u>6</u>, 488-492 (1996).
- 14. Krell, T., Schulz, U., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Influence of Various Process Parameters on Morphology and Phase Content of EB-PVD Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>Proc. EUROMAT 97</u>, eds., L.A.J.L. Sarton and H.B. Zeedijk, Netherlands Soc. For Materials Science, <u>3</u> 3/29-3/32 (1997).
- Leushake, U., Schulz, U., Krell, T., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Al₂O₃-ZrO₂ Graded Thermal Barrier Coatings by EB-PVD—Concept, Microstructure and Phase Stability," Proc. <u>4th Int. Symp. On FGM '96</u>.
- Peters, M., Staniek, G., Fritscher, K., Schulz, U. and Kaysser, W.A., "Effective Thermal Barrier Coatings for Modern Turbine Engine Design," <u>Proc. Propulsion</u> <u>Forum</u>, ed. L. Fottner, Berlin (1997) 179-188.
- 17. Peters, M., Schulz, U., Fritscher, K. and Kaysser, W.A., "Struktur und Eigenschaften von EB-PVD Wärmedämmschichten für Turbinenschaufeln," In <u>Werkstoffe für die Energietechnik</u>, 231-236, DGM, Oberursel, 1997.
- Leushake, U., Krell, T., Schulz, U., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Microstructure and Phase Stability of EB-PVD Processed Alumina/Zirconia Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>ICMCTF '97</u>.
- 19. Peters, M., Fritscher, K., Staniek, G., Kaysser, W.A. and Schulz U., "Design and Properties of Thermal Barrier Coatings for Advanced Turbine Engines," <u>Materialwissenschaft und Werkstofftechnik 28</u> (1997) 357-362.
- Schulz, U., Fritscher, K., Leyens, C., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Thermocyclic Behavior of Differently Stabilized and Structured EB-PVD Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>Materialwissenschaft und Werkstofftechnik 28</u> (1997) 370-376.

- Fritscher, K. and Leyens, C., "Grenzschicht-Problematik und Haftung von EB-PVD Wärmedämmschichtsystemen," <u>Materialwissenschaft und Werkstofftechnik</u>, <u>28</u> 391-394 (1997).
- Leushake, U., Krell, T. and Schulz, U., "Graded thermal barrier coating systems for gas turbine applications, <u>Materialwissenschaft und Werkstofftechnik 28 (1997)</u> 391-394.
- 23. Schulz, U., Fritscher, K., Leyens, C., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "The Thermocyclic Behavior of Differently Stabilized and Structured EB-PVD TBCs, <u>JOM</u> <u>49</u> 10 (1997), presented as <u>JOM-e</u> Elhttp://www.tms.org/pubs/JOM/9710/Schulz.

3. Hot Corrosion and Molten Salt Corrosion

- 24. Rätzer-Scheibe, H.-J. and Winstone, M.R., "Hot Corrosion Resistance of Coated Single Crystal Superalloys under Marine Conditions," <u>Materials Science</u> <u>Technology</u>, <u>9</u>, 258 (1993).
- 25. Rätzer-Scheibe, H.-J., "Hot Corrosion Resistance of Coated and Uncoated Superalloys Investigated by Electrochemical Experiments in Molten Sulphates," <u>Materials for Advanced Power Engineering II</u>, Eds. D. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1357-1366 (1994).
- 26. Rätzer-Scheibe, H.-J., "High-Velocity Burner Rig Tests at the DLR a Contribution to a VAMAS Project for Standardization of Hot-Salt Corrosion Burner Rig Tests," <u>Materials for Advanced Power Engineering II</u>, Eds. D. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1243-1252 (1994).
- 27. Fritscher, K., Schulz, U., Leyens, C., Rätzer-Scheibe, H.-J., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Hot Corrosion Behavior of Microstructurally In-Situ Modified EB-PVD NiCoCrAlY Coatings," <u>4th International Symposium on High Temperature</u> <u>Corrosion and Protection of Materials</u>, in press (1996).
- Rätzer-Scheibe, H.-J., "Electrochemical Hot Corrosion Studies of Uncoated and Coated Ni-Base Superalloys in Molten Sulphate," <u>4th International Symposium on</u> <u>High Temperature Corrosion</u>, in press (1996).

4. Oxidation and Protection of Titanium Alloys

29. Leyens, C., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Influence of Microstructure on the Oxidation Behavior of Near-Alpha Titanium Alloys," <u>Materials Science and Technology</u>, <u>12</u>, 213-218 (1996).

- Leyens, C., Peters, M., Winem, D. and Kaysser, W.A., "Influence of Long-Term Annealing on Tensile Properties and Fracture of Near-α Titanium Alloy Ti-6Al-2.75Sn-4Zr-0.40Mo-0.45Si," <u>Metallurgical and Materials Transactions</u>, <u>27A</u>, 1709-1717 (1996).
- 31. Leyens, C., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Oxidation Behavior of Near-α Titanium Alloys and their Protection by Coatings," <u>Titanium '95: Science and Technology</u>, Eds. P.A. Blenkinsop, W.J. Evans and H.M. Flower, The Institute of Materials, 1935-1942 (1996).
- 32. Leyens, C., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Oxidation and Protection of Near-Alpha Titanium Alloys," <u>Proc. 4th International Symposium on High Temperature</u> <u>Corrosion and Protection of Materials</u>, in press (1996).
- 33. Leyens, C., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Influence of Intermetallic Ti-Al Coatings on the Creep Properties of TIMETAL 1100," <u>Scripta Materialia</u>, <u>35</u>, 1423-1428 (1996).
- 34. Leyens, C., Trautmann, K.-H., Peters, M. and Kaysser, W.A., "Influence of Intermetallic Ti-Al Coatings on the Fatigue Properties of TIMETAL 1100," <u>Scripta</u> <u>Materialia</u>, <u>36</u>, 1309-1314 (1997).

Grabke, H.J., Prof.

Max-Planck-Institut für Eisenforschung GmbH (MPI E)

		-	
Postfach 140444			
D-40074 I	Düsseldorf		
Tel:	+49 211 6792 236		
Fax:	+49 211 6792 268		
e.mail:	grabke@pcsun1.m	pie-duesseldorf.mpg.de	
Key Personnel:		Grabke, H.J., Prof., Spiegel, M., Dr., Uebing, C., Dr., Viefhaus, C., Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:		Aluminides; Alumina growth; Carburization; Chromia; Cold work/grain size effects; Diffusion; Flue gas; Fly ash particles; Fused salts; Gas mixtures; Gas-solid reaction kinetics; Heat exchanger materials; Heat-resistant steels; Hot corrosion; Impurity segregation; Interface analysis; Interfacial effects; Intergranular oxidation; Inter-metallics; Kinetic boundaries; Metal dusting; Mixed oxidants; Molten salts; Nickel alloys; Nucleation; Oxidation/sulfidation; Oxide-metal interface; Pack cementation; Pesting; Pre-oxidation; Reactive element effect; Salt deposits; Scanning Auger microscopy; Spallation; Sulfur segregation; Surface reactions; Thermo- chemistry; Void formation during oxidation	
Technical	Key Words:	Waste incinerator materials; Furnace wall corrosion; Waste incineration; Waste pyrolysis; Ethylene pyrolysis; Steam reforming; Molten carbonate fuel cells; Thermal barrier coating systems; Syngas coolers; Hot gas cleanup; Petrochemical industry; Energy plants; Heat exchangers; Industrial furnaces	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The research on high temperature corrosion at the MPI E in its beginning was mainly aimed at the elucidation of the mechanisms of attack on metals and alloys in more or less complex atmospheres. Starting with work on carburization in 1974, continuing with studies of oxidation-sulfidation, now oxidation-chloridation is the active topic. The reactions and processes in the formation of scales, mostly chromia scales, the ways of penetration by C, S, Cl, and of scale failure, were studied, but also the effects of these nonmetal and other 'reactive' elements on scale formation and protectivity. Recently a

new main topic was added, 'metal dusting', a disintegration of metal materials upon carbon pickup (at $a_c > 1$). The mechanism of this corrosion process was elucidated, which is different for different alloys, but also ways and means for protection were developed. The latter aim became gradually of more importance and is also followed in the research on corrosion in environments simulating waste incineration conditions (flue gas with HCl and SO₂, deposits containing chlorides, sulfates etc.)

The emphasis of studies is on low and high alloy steels, forming magnetite, chromia or alumina scales. But also intermetallics were studied, especially NiAl and FeAl, while other laboratories in Germany concentrated on the Ti aluminides and some silicides.

The very good facilities for surface analytical studies (AES, SAM, XPS, LEED, SEM/STM, recently also SNMS) allow study of initial states of oxidation, processes at the oxide/metal interface and at grain boundaries in the oxide or alloy; these options are often used in planning and conducting the studies. However, the most general methods are thermogravimetry and discontinuous exposures, in atmospheres of any composition and below deposits.

The topics of research are conceived and chosen by the principal investigator, independently. However, they are chosen so that the research is of fundamental interest and also relevant for application - the projects should lead to progress in understanding of high temperature corrosion phenomena but also lead to ways and means to avoid corrosion or to develop materials with improved corrosion resistance. All research projects need funding, which comes from institutions, such as Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Bundesminister für Bildung und Forschung, and the European Community for Coal and Steel, but also from some industrial companies.

Specific Topics

1. Metal Dusting, Mechanisms and Ways of Protection

In strongly carburizing atmospheres ($a_c > 1$) a disintegration of metallic materials can occur under formation of a dust of metal particles, carbon (graphite) and sometimes oxides and carbides. In recent years, many failure cases were observed in atmospheres obtained by reforming natural gas and used for synthesis, reduction of iron ores etc., but also in other chemical and petrochemical processes. The different mechanisms of metal dusting for iron and low alloy steels, for high alloy steels and for Ni-base alloys have been elucidated in the recent years, in collaboration with a group at the Max-Planck-Institut für Mikrostrukturforschung (Woltersdorf, J., Pippel, E., Schneider, R.) which did TEM studies supplementary to the broad approach at the MPI E. One way of protection is by a protective oxide scale, i.e. usually a spinel/chromia scale in the most critical temperature range (around 600°C). Ways and means to obtain a protective scale are studied on ferritic and austenitic steels; very important is the surface state, and

Germany

microstructure - a fine grained structure and surface-near deformation provide fast diffusion paths for supply of Cr to the surface for scale formation. The role of alloying elements in high alloy steels (Alloy 800) is studied in detail.

The other way of protection is by poisoning the surface for carbon ingress and for the start of metal dusting, which is possible by sulfur and some other means. Quantitative studies of such effects were firstly done at the MPI E. The presence of sulfur, e.g. adsorbed from H₂S, stabilizes cementite Fe₃C on iron, otherwise the cementite decomposes, which is the metal dusting mechanism for iron. This stabilization is used now in a fundamental study of Fe₃C concerning thermodynamics, nonstoichiometry, diffusivities etc.

Many studies, e.g. on failure cases, long-term plant and laboratory exposures, have been conducted, partially supported by metal producers, petrochemical and chemicalengineering companies, and a vast experience and knowledge has been compiled on the ranking of alloys concerning metal dusting resistance and on their different metal dusting behavior.

2. Development of High Temperature Corrosion Resistant Materials for Aggressive Environments

At present for the heat exchangers in waste incineration plants, mainly low alloy steels are used which, due to corrosion by HCl and SO₂ in the atmosphere and by chlorides and sulfates in the deposits, generally last up to 1-2 years. In previous studies, the mechanisms of the complex chemical and corrosion processes in the system atmosphere/deposits/scale/metal phase have been elucidated. Most dangerous is the 'active oxidation', an accelerated formation of non-protective scales, catalyzed by chlorine, which stems from HCl or chlorides in the deposits. An important and surprising result was the positive effect of SO₂, reducing attack by active corrosion, since in the presence of SO₂ the chlorides in the deposits are mostly converted to sulfates which are less dangerous than chlorides in the temperature range of interest, 300-500°C. But, development of more corrosion-resistant materials is necessary and two ways are being studied:

- (i) For the coating of heat exchanger tubes, ferritic alloys containing high concentrations of Cr and Si, are tested under waste incineration conditions. These alloys proved to be more corrosion resistant than any other high-alloy bulk materials and coatings. Research and development now concentrate on coating by high velocity thermal spraying.
- (ii) The improvement of stainless steels on the base of Fe-18Cr-10Ni to attain fast formation of a protective spinel/chromia scale. The alloy composition will be varied but also the microstructure. A stabilized fine-grain structure and also an

appropriate surface finish method is expected to lead to fast diffusion paths for Cr and rapid scale formation.

The first development (i) is in cooperation with German industry and institutions, working on the coating technology. The second project (ii) involves French, Spanish, and Swedish steel companies and is funded by the ECSC. This project certainly also can lead to `metal dusting' resistant steels.

A very special task is the development of materials for molten carbonate fuel cells, which must be resistant against carbonate metals at 650°C and on the other hand sustain a sufficient electrical conductivity, for use as current collectors. Therefore, formation of the usual protective oxide scales, chromia or alumina, which are insulating would be disadvantageous. The scales aimed at are mixed spinels of various alloying elements, warranting sufficient conductivity and good protection. The scale compositions and formulation mechanisms were elucidated for various austenitic steels and model alloys. Steels with relatively low Cr-content, but considerable concentrations of Ni, Co, and Mn, could be recommended for the application in the molten carbonate fuel cells.

3. Oxidation of Intermetallics

After extended research on NiAl oxidation, now for comparison FeAl is studied. These aluminides show some interesting common features: (i) In the temperature range 750-1050°C at first metastable γ - and θ -Al₂O₃ are formed and afterwards replaced by α -Al₂O₃, which is favored with increasing temperature and certain alloying additions (Cr, Y). (ii) Voids and cavities are formed by Al-depletion and Ni(Fe) inward diffusion beneath the oxide scale, and probably also at grain boundaries. (iii) The latter effect leads to intergranular oxidation of NiAl. But, also (iv) internal oxidation of NiAl is observed under certain conditions.

After some summarizing publications and actions in 1996, e.g. the European workshop on Oxidation of Intermetallics, the interest in this topic fades away, at least at the MPI E.

4. Effects of `Active Elements' in the Nucleation and Growth of Chromia and Alumina Scales

This topic includes the so-called rare-earth element effects but also effects of nonmetal elements, such as S, N, C, Cl and P. Using the good facilities for surface analytical (AES, XPS) and surface-structural studies (LEED, SEM, XRD), a joint approach is possible with kinetic studies. For example, it could be clearly shown that Y already plays a role in the nucleation of Al-oxide on Fe-Cr-Al alloys. The effects of the presence of S, N or C on the formation of Cr_2O_3 on Fe-Cr and Ni-Cr alloys were elucidated. A

great help in such studies is the knowledge collected at the MPI E on two-dimensional surface compounds, such as 'CrN' or 'CrC', which can form as intermediates in oxidation processes in the presence of nitrogen or carbon. The study of the thermodynamics and structures of such surface compounds has been an important topic in the MPI E since about 10 years.

5. Guidelines and Standards in High Temperature Corrosion Research and Testing

There are only very few standards on high temperature corrosion testing and a general lack of guidelines and agreements on how to conduct experiments and tests and how to avoid errors and mistakes. In an European workshop in June 1994, the methods and techniques were put forward based on the experience of many researchers - discussed and later on recommendations were published in a book: 'Guidelines on Methods and Testing in High Temperature Corrosion Research'. Further steps have been taken in the development of best practices and standards, in which the MPI E is strongly involved:

- (i) A European project on 'Discontinuous corrosion testing in high temperature atmospheres', with the partners: ERA, NPL, Cranfield University, MPI E, Krupp VDM, JRC Petten, Sandvik, Avesta Sheffield, SIMR, ENEL-CRAM, in which the group takes the main responsibility concerning reference experiments and definition of gas atmospheres, and
- (ii) A project 'Best Practice for the Carburization Testing of Alloys' for the initiation of standards in "Discontinuous Gas Carburization of Alloys" and "Pack Carburization of Alloys for Steam-Cracking Tubes" sponsored by Mat. Technology Institute St. Louis (concluded).

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Metal Dusting, Mechanisms and Ways of Protection

- 1. Nava-Paz, J.C. and Grabke, H.J., "'Metal Dusting'," Oxidation of Metals, 39, 437-456 (1993).
- 2. Grabke, H.J., Krajak, R. and Nava Paz, J.C., "On the Mechanism of Catastrophic Carburization `Metal Dusting'," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1141-1150 (1993).
- 3. Grabke, H.J., Krajak, R. and Müller-Lorenz, E.M., "'Metal Dusting' of High Temperature Alloys," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>., <u>44</u>, 89-97 (1993).

- Grabke, H.J., Krajak, R. and Nava Paz, J.C., "Mechanismen des 'Metal Dusting' bei Modellegierungen, Stählen und Hochtem-peraturwerkstoffen," in <u>Nichtmetalle in</u> <u>Metallen '92</u>, Hrsg. D. Hirschfeld, DGM, Oberursel, p21-32.
- 5. Grabke, H.J., Bracho-Troconis, C.B. and Müller-Lorenz, E.M., "Metal Dusting of Low Alloy Steels," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>45</u>, 215-221 (1994).
- 6. Grabke, H.J., Müller-Lorenz, E.M., Pippel, E. and Strauß, S., "Mechanisms of the Metal Dusting of Steels," <u>Proc. UK Corrosion and EUROCORR '94</u>, Ed. The Institute of Materials, London, printed by The Chameleon Press Ltd., <u>3</u>, 361-377 (1994).
- Pippel, E., Woltersdorf, J., Grabke, H.J. and Strauß, S., "Micro-Processes of Metal Dusting and Their Investigation by Transmission Electron Microscopy," <u>Steel</u> <u>Research</u>, <u>66</u>, 217-221 (1995).
- 8. Grabke, H.J. and Müller-Lorenz, E.M., "Effect of Sulfur on the Stability of Cementite," <u>Steel Research</u>, <u>66</u>, 252-258 (1995).
- 9. Grabke, H.J., "Metal Dusting of Low and High Alloy Steels," <u>Corrosion NACE</u>, Sept. (1995).
- 10. Grabke, H.J., Krajak, R., Müller-Lorenz, E.M. and Strauß, S., "Metal Dusting of Nickel-Base Alloys," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 495-504 (1996).
- 11. Monceau, D., Müller-Lorenz, E.M. and Grabke, H.J., "Metal Dusting of Stainless Steels," <u>4th Int. Symp. on High Temp. Corrosion</u>, Les Embiez (1996).
- 12. Grabke, H.J., Monceau, D., Müller-Lorenz, E.M., "Metal Dusting Resistance of Steels in the Temperature Range 500-600°C," <u>Proc. EUROCORR '96</u>.

2. Development of High Temperature Corrosion Resistant Materials for Aggressive Environments

- 13. Reese, E., Müller-Lorenz, E.M. and Grabke, H.J., "Investigation of the Transient State of Oxidation-Chloridation," <u>Journal de Physique IV, Colloque C9, Supplément</u> <u>au Journal de Physique III</u>, <u>3</u>, 133-141 Décembre(1993).
- 14. Spiegel, M. and Grabke, H.J., "High Temperature Corrosion of Low and High Alloy Steels in Simulated Waste Incineration Atmospheres," in <u>Proceed. EUROCORR '93</u>, 'Progress in the Understanding and Prevention of Corrosion', Eds. J.M. Costa, A.D. Mercer, The Institute of Materials, pp758-764 (1993).
- 15. Grabke, H.J., "Fundamental Aspects of Oxidation, Sulphidation, Chloridation and Carburization in the Gasifier Environments," (review) <u>Proceed. Int. Workshop on</u>

<u>Materials for Coal Gasification Power Plant</u>, Petten 1993, Eds. J.F. Norton, W. Bakker, Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, p23-29 (1993).

- 16. Grabke, H.J., "Mechanisms in the Attack of High Temperature Alloys by Multiple Oxidants," <u>Proceed. 1st Mexican Symposium and 2nd International Workshop on Metallic Corrosion</u>, Merida, Mexico 7-11 March, p57 (1994).
- 17. Grabke, H.J., "Hot Corrosion The Experience from Metals and Intermetallics," in: <u>Corrosion of Advanced Ceramics</u>, Ed. K.G. Nickel, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, p223-234 (1994).
- 18. Spiegel, M. and Grabke, H.J., "High Temperature Corrosion of High Alloy Steels Under Fly Ash Deposits in Simulated Waste Incineration Atmospheres," <u>Proceed.</u> <u>UK Corrosion and EUROCORR '94</u>, Ed. The Institute of Materials, printed by The Chameleon Press Ltd., <u>3</u>, 307-316 (1994).
- 19. Grabke, H.J., Reese, E. and Spiegel, M., "Effects of Chlorides, Hydrogen Chloride, and Sulfur Dioxide in the Oxidation of Steels Below Deposits," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 1023-1043 (1995).
- Spiegel, M. and Grabke, H.J., "High Temperature Corrosion of High Alloy Steels in Simulated Waste Incineration Environments," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 179-189 (1996).

3. Oxidation of Intermetallics

- 21. Brumm, M.W. and Grabke, H.J., "The Oxidation Behaviour of NiAl I. Phase Transformations in the Alumina Scale During Oxidation of NiAl and NiAl-Cr Alloys," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>33</u>, 1677-1690 (1992).
- 22. Brumm, M.W. and Grabke, H.J., "Oxidation Behaviour of NiAl II. Cavity Formation Beneath the Oxide Scale on NiAl of Different Stoichiometries," <u>Corrosion</u> <u>Science</u>, <u>34</u>, 547-561 (1993).
- 23. Grabke, H.J., Brumm, M.W., Steinhorst, M. and Wagemann, B., "Accelerated Oxidation of Aluminides at Intermediate Temperatures," <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>Colloque C9, Supplément au Journal de Physique III</u>, <u>3</u>, 385-393 (1993).
- 24. Roux, J.P., Brumm, M.W. and Grabke, H.J., "The Influence of Orientation and Pt-Doping on the Oxidation of β-NiAl," <u>Fresenius Z. Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 265-268 (1993).

- 25. Roux, J.P. and Grabke, H.J., "AES and LEED Studies of the Initial Stages of Oxidation of β-NiAl With and Without Platinum Doping," <u>Applied Surface Science</u>, <u>68</u>, 49-63 (1993).
- 26. Tolpygo, V. and Grabke, H.J., "Mechanism of the Intergranular Disintegration (Pest) of the Intermetallic Compound NbAl₃," <u>Scripta Metallurgica</u>, <u>28</u>, 747-752 (1993).
- 27. Viefhaus, H., Roux, J.P. and Grabke, H.J., "AES and LEED Studies of the Initial Stages of Oxidation of β-NiAl With and Without Platinum Doping," <u>Fresenius Z.</u> <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 69-74 (1993).
- 28. Meier, G.H., Birks, N., Pettit, F.S., Perkins, R.A. and Grabke, H.J., "Environmental Behavior of Intermetallic Materials," in <u>Structural Intermetallics</u>', Eds. R. Darolia et al., The Minerals, Metals and Materials Society, 861-877 (1993).
- 29. Brumm, M.W., Grabke, H.J. and Wagemann, B., "Oxidation Behaviour of NiAl III. Internal Oxidation at Reduced Oxygen Pressure and Intermediate Temperatures," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 37-53 (1994).
- Wagemann, B., Rommerskirchen, I. and Grabke, H.J., "Interkristalline und Innere Oxidation von β-NiAl," in <u>Nichtmetalle in Metallen '94</u>', DGM Oberursel, 53-62 (1995).
- Grabke, H.J. and Meier, G.H., "Accelerated Oxidation, Internal Oxidation, Intergranular Oxidation and Pesting of Intermetallic Compounds," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 147-176 (1995).
- Katsman, A.V., Grabke, H.J. and Levin, L., "Penetration of Oxygen Along Grain Boundaries During Oxidation of Alloys and Intermetallics," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 313-331 (1996).
- 33. Rommerskirchen, I. and Kolarik, V., "Oxidation of β-NiAl, Undoped and Doped With Ce, Y, Hf," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 625-630 (1996).
- 34. Rommerskirchem, I., Eltester, B. and Grabke, H.J., "Oxidation of β-FeAl and Fe-Al Alloys," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 646-649 (1996).
- 35. Grabke, H.J., Brumm, M.W. and Wagemann, B., "The Oxidation of NiAl," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 675-677 (1996).
- 36. Strauß, S., Krajak, R., Palm, M. and Grabke, H.J., "Metal Dusting of Fe₃Al and (Fe,Ni)₃Al," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 701-702 (1996).

4. Effects of 'Active Elements' in the Nucleation and Growth of Chromia and Alumina Scales

- Reese, E. and Grabke, H.J., "Einfluß von Natriumchlorid auf die Oxidation von Hochlegierten Chrom- und Chrom-Nickel-Stählen," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>44</u>, 41-47 (1993).
- 38. Siegers, M., Grabke, H.J. and Viefhaus, H., "Initial Stage of Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-5Al Single Crystals With and Without Additions of Yttrium," in <u>Microscopy of</u> <u>Oxidation</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett. The Institute of Materials, London, pp269-276 (1993).
- 39. Dennert, R., Grabke, H.J. and Viefhaus, H., "Effect of Sulphur in the Initial Stage of Oxidation of Ni-20Cr Single Crystals," in <u>Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett. The Institute of Materials, London, pp197-204 (1993).
- 40. Siegers, M., Grabke, H.J. and Viefhaus, H., "AES and LEED Investigations of the Oxidation Behaviour of Fe-20Cr-5Al Single Crystals With and Without Additions of Yttrium," in <u>Proc. EUROCORR '93</u>, 'Progress in the Understanding and Prevention of Corrosion'. Ed. J.M. Costa, A.D. Mercer, The Inst. of Materials, pp777-784 (1993).
- 41. Siegers, M., Grabke, H.J. and Viefhaus, H., "AES and LEED Investigations of the Oxidation Behaviour of Fe-19.5Cr-4.5Al Single Crystals," <u>Fresenius Z. Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 269 (1993).
- 42. Kurbatov, G., Viefhaus, H. and Grabke, H.J., "Segregation of Phosphorus at the Metal/Scale Interface During Oxidation of Ni and Ni-20Cr," <u>Surface and Interface Analysis</u>, <u>20</u>, 967-976 (1993).
- 43. Schmutzler, H.J., Viefhaus, H. and Grabke, H.J., "Einfluß von Nichtmetallen in Hochtemperaturlegierungen auf die Haftung Schützender Oxidschichten," in <u>Nichtmetalle in Metallen '92</u>, Hrsg. D. Hirschfeld, DGM Oberursel, p33-40.
- 44. Lobnig, R.E., Grabke, H.J., Schmidt, H.P. and Hennesen, K., "Sulfur in Chromia," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 353-370 (1993).
- 45. Grabke, H.J., "Interfacial Phenomena in the Oxidation and High Temperature Corrosion of Metals and Alloys," <u>Fresenius Z. Analytcal Chemistry</u>, <u>349</u>, 11-19 (1994).
- 46. Tolpygo, V.K. and Grabke, H.J., "Microstructural Characterization and Adherence of α-Al₂O₃ Oxide Scales on Fe-Cr-Al and Fe-Cr-Al-Y Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 343-364 (1994).

- 47. Grabke, H.J., Kurbatov, G. and Schmutzler, H.J., "Segregation Beneath Oxide Scales," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 97 (1995).
- 48. Grabke, H.J., Siegers, M. and Tolpygo, V.K., "Oxidation of Fe-Cr-Al and Fe-Cr-Al-Y Single Crystals," <u>Z. Naturforschung</u>, <u>50a</u>, 217-227 (1995).
- 49. Grabke, H.J., Dennert, R. and Wagemann, B., "Non-Metal Element Effects in the Oxidation of Ni-20%Cr and Fe-20%Cr," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 495-506 (1997).

5. Guidelines and Standards in High Temperature Corrosion Research and Testing

- 50. Grabke, H.J., Bennett, M.J., Bregani, F., Gesmundo, F., Hall, D.J., Meadowcroft, D.B., Mrowec, S., Norton, J.F., Quadakkers, W.J., Saunders, S.R. and Zurek, Z., "Points to be Considered in Thermogravimetry," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>44</u>, 345-350 (1993).
- 51. Viefhaus, H., Hennesen, L., Müller-Lorenz, E.M., Lucas, M. and Grabke, H.J., "Ion Sputter Rates and Yields for Iron-, Chromium- and Aluminium Oxide Layers," <u>Surface and Interface Analysis</u>, <u>21</u>, 665-672 (1994).
- 52. Grabke, H.J., "Definition and Preparation of Gas Atmospheres," in <u>Guidelines on</u> <u>Methods and Testing in High Temperature Corrosion Research</u>, Ed. H.J. Grabke, Monograph of the Europ. Fed. of Corrosion, The Inst. of Materials, London, pp52-61 (1995).
- 53. Grabke, H.J., "Thermogravimetry," in <u>Guidelines on Methods and Testing in High</u> <u>Temperature Corrosion Research</u>, Ed. H.J. Grabke and D.B. Meadowcroft, Monograph of the European Federation of Corrosion, The Institute of Materials, London, pp62-84 (1995).
- 54. Grabke, H.J., Meadowcroft, D.B. and Nicholls, J.R., "Development of Guidelines and Standards for High Temperature Corrosion Testing of Metals and Alloys," in <u>Corrosion Standards II</u>, Ed. A.D. Mercer, The Institute of Materials, London (1996).

Kolarik, V., Dr. and Juez-Lorenzo, M., Dr.

Fraunhofer-Institut für Chemische Technologie (ICT) Joseph-von-Fraunhofer Str. 7 76327 Pfinztal Tel: +49 721 4640 147 Fax: +49 721 4640 111 e.mail: vk@ict.fhg.de; mjl@ict.fhg.de Key Personnel: Kolarik, V., Dr., Juez-Lorenzo, M., Dr., Groß, M., Dipl. Phys., Fietzek, H., Dipl. Ing. (FH) Bond/thermal barrier coatings; Superalloys; Aluminides; Scientific Key Words: Silicides; High temperature X-ray diffraction; in-situ studies **Technical Key Words:** Gas turbines; Thermal barrier coating systems; Energy plants; Supercritical water oxidation (SCWO)

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The activities on the topic of high temperature corrosion at the Fraunhofer-Institut für Chemische Technologie consist of research works closely related with application in practice and special topics in innovation and fundamental research. Fundamental developments are introduced immediately into applied research, which is carried out in direct cooperation with the customers.

Experimental Methods

The experimental work emphasizes the use of high temperature X-ray diffractometry as an in-situ method, with post oxidation studies by interference microscopy and the electron microprobe.

The time and temperature resolved X-ray diffraction is an effective in-situ method for studies of high temperature corrosion. The measuring system consists of an X-ray diffractometer with a high temperature device recording series of diffraction patterns, showing the changes in the sample as a function of time or temperature. The method yields the following information in-situ:

- Identification of the corrosion products and their modifications.
- Kinetic evaluation for the formation of each corrosion product individually.

- Thermal dilatation of all phases in the oxide scale and in the substrate simultaneously.
- Texture changes and formation of stresses.

After the in-situ experiments the samples are investigated by electron microprobe or interference microscopy leading to a complete information about the oxide scale formation.

Current and Recent Research Work

The research work in the last years has been focused mainly on topics related to gas turbines for electric power generation and on special questions relating to the oxidation behaviour of several intermetallics. The turbine blade aspects are closely related to application; meanwhile fundamental research is carried out on the oxidation of intermetallic phases.

Specific Topics

1. Turbine Blade Materials

The oxidation behaviour of superalloys for application in gas turbine blades is studied in the relevant temperature ranges using the high temperature X-ray diffraction. The scope of the research is to obtain in-situ information about the influence of the Al and Cr contents on the formation of protective alumina scales and about the formation of other, eventually transient oxidation products. The formed oxides are identified in-situ and their formation is monitored as a function of time simultaneously for each oxidation product. Post oxidation studies by means of electron microprobe are performed in order to complete the information about the oxidation behaviour.

2. MCrAIY Coatings for Turbine Blades

The oxidation resistance of the MCrAlY coatings (M=Ni/Co) controls mainly the lifetime of the blades in modern stationary gas turbines for electric power generation. Improving the oxidation resistance of the coating allows increase of the working temperature of the turbine, providing a higher efficiency. The objective of the research work is to study the influence of the coating composition and of the temperature on the oxidation behaviour and phase stability. Studies of the oxidation in the initial state by means of the in-situ X-ray diffraction are carried out, as well as long-term experiments for life time prediction.

3. Intermetallic Phases

The high temperature oxidation of the intermetallic phases NiAl, FeAl, TiAl, $MoSi_2$ and $TiSi_2$ has been studied using the in-situ X-ray diffraction. In the case of the aluminides the emphasis is placed on the influence of the temperature, dopant elements and aluminum content on the formation of metastable alumina phases. The studies of the disilicides has been focussed on the influence of the temperature on the SiO₂ modification.

4. Thermal Barrier Coatings

The phase stability of partial stabilized zirconia has been studied in-situ by means of high temperature X-ray diffraction. Deviations in the dilatation behaviour and reversible and irreversible changes in the phase composition have been observed. The scope of the research work is to obtain additional information contributing to a better understanding of the thermal barrier coating system.

5. Corrosion under the Conditions of Supercritical Water Oxidation (SCWO)

The Supercritical Water Oxidation (SCWO) is an efficient procedure for converting hazardous residues into environmentally friendly products. The reactor material, however, is subjected to a highly corrosive medium and to high pressures and high temperatures. An experimental set-up was designed that allows corrosion studies under these conditions. A series of materials like Ni-base alloys IN625, IN686 and Alloy 59 has been studied at 500°C and 46.5 Mpa up to 300 h with a model fluid consisting of HCl+H₂O+NaCl using H₂O₂ as oxidant.

Future Plans

A continuous development of the experimental possibilities and evaluation procedures, such as further reaction models for a quantitative kinetic evaluation of the corrosion reactions observed in-situ by X-ray diffraction, is an important part of the research works. The experimental emphasis on the combination of high temperature X-ray diffraction as an in-situ method and post oxidation studies by electron microprobe will play a central role offering a complete characterization and understanding of the studied systems and reactions. The research works will be concentrated further on topics related to gas turbines and special aspects of fundamental research. The group, however, is open to any new input due to new interests and requirements.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Kolarik, V., Juez-Lorenzo, M., Eisenreich, N. and Engel, W., "High Temperature Corrosion Kinetics by a Fast X-Ray Diffraction Method Applied to Nickel," Proc.

G-32

3rd Int. Symp. on High Temperature Corrosion, <u>Journal de Physique IV, Colloque</u> <u>C9</u>, <u>3</u>, 447-452 (1992).

- 2. Juez-Lorenzo, M., Kolarik, V., Eisenreich, N., Engel, W. and Criado, A.J., "In-Situ Study of High Temperature Corrosion Kinetics of Steels using a Fast X-Ray Diffraction Method," Proc. 3rd Int. Symp. on High Temperature Corrosion, <u>Journal de Physique IV, Colloque C9</u>, <u>3</u>, 461-467 (1992).
- 3. Kolarik, V., Engel, W. and Eisenreich, N., "Kinetics of Growing Oxide Layers Studied by Means of X-Ray Diffraction," Proc. 2nd European Powder Diffraction Conference EPDIC2, <u>Material Science Forum</u>, <u>133-136</u>, 563-568 (1993).
- Juez-Lorenzo, M., Kolarik, V., Eisenreich, N., Engel, W. and Criado, A.J., "Application of X-Ray Diffraction to Studies of High Temperature Corrosion of Iron," Proc. 2nd European Powder Diffraction Conference EPDIC2, <u>Material Science</u> <u>Forum</u>, <u>133-136</u>, 569-574 (1993).
- Kolarik, V., Juez-Lorenzo, M., Engel, W. and Eisenreich, N., "Kinetics of the α-Fe₂O₃ Formation on Fe₃O₄ Between 400 and 570°C Studied by Means of X-Ray Diffraction with Grazing Incidence," <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 252-254 (1993).
- Juez-Lorenzo, M., Kolarik, V., Eisenreich, N., Engel, W. and Criado, A.J., "Non-Isothermal Kinetics of the Iron Oxides in Steels with Different Carbon Contents Studied In-Situ by a Fast X-Ray Diffraction Method," <u>Progress in the Understanding</u> and Prevention of Corrosion, <u>The Institute of Materials</u>, 2, 1129-1135 (1993).
- Kolarik, V., Juez-Lorenzo, M., Eisenreich, N. and Engel, W., "In-Situ Study of the Formation of Orientations During the High Temperature Oxidation of Copper," Proc. 3rd European Powder Diffraction Conference EPDIC3, <u>Materials Science</u> <u>Forum</u>, <u>166-169</u>, 355-360 (1994).
- 8. Juez-Lorenzo, M., Kolarik, V., Eisenreich, N., Engel, W. and Criado, A.J., "In-Situ Study of the High Temperature Oxidation of X20CrMoV 12 1 in Air by Means of X-Ray Diffraction," Proc. 3rd European Powder Diffraction Conference EPDIC3, <u>Materials Science Forum</u>, <u>166-169</u>, 361-366 (1994).
- Kolarik, V., Fietzek, H., Engel, W., Eltester, B. and Grabke, H.J., "High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-Al Alloys Studied by In-Situ X-Ray Diffraction," <u>Proc. 4</u>th <u>International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion</u>, Les Embiez (1996).
- 10. Rommerskirchen, I. and Kolarik, V., "Oxidation of β-NiAl, Undoped and Doped with Ce, Y, Hf," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, in press (1996).
- 11. Melsheimer. S., Fietzek, H., Kolarik, V., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "Oxidation of the Intermetallics MoSi₂ and TiSi₂ A Comparison," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, in press (1996).
- Czech, N., Kolarik, V., Quadakkers, W.J. and Stamm, W., "The Oxide Layer Phase Structure of MCrAlY Coatings," <u>Proc. Symp. On Materials, Coatings and Processes</u> <u>for Improved Reliability of High Temperature Components</u>, TMS Annual Meeting ,Orlando, Florida, USA., (1997)

- 13. Groß, M., Kolarik, V. and Rahmel, A., "Scale Formation on γ-TiAl During Oxidation at 800 and 900°C in Air and in He-20%O₂," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>48</u> (1997) 171-184.
- 14. Czech, N., Fietzek, H., Kolarik, V., Quadakkers, W.J. and Stamm, W., "Initial State Oxidation of a NiCoCrAlY Coating Studied *in situ* by High Temperature X-Ray Diffraction," submitted for publication in <u>Surface & Coating Technology</u> (1997).
- Groß, M., Kolarik, V., Juez-Lorenzo, M., Singheiser, L. and Boßmann, H.-P., *In situ* X-Ray Diffraction Studies on High Temperature Oxidation of the Turbine Blade Alloy DS SM247 LC," <u>Proc. ECASIA</u>, 7th Europ. Conf. Applications of Surface and Interface Analysis, Göteborg (1997).
- Gonzalez, V., Michelfelder, B., Kolarik, V., Juez-Lorenzo, M., Hirth, T. and Eisenreich, N., "Corrosion of Nickel-base Alloys under the Conditions of Supercritical Water Oxidation (SCWO)," <u>Proc. EUROCORR '97</u>, <u>I</u> 623-628 (1997).

Nickel, K.G., Prof

Applied Mineralogy					
Wilhelmstr. 56					
D-72074 Tübingen					
Tel:	+49 70 71 29 72 603 and +49 70 71 29 76 802				
Fax:	+49 70 71 29 30 60				
e.mail:	klaus.nickel@uni-tuebingen.de				
Key Personnel:		Nickel, K.G., Prof., Berthold, C., Dr., Gogotsi, Y., Dr.			
Scientific Key Words:		Ceramics corrosion; Ceramics oxidation; Hot corrosion; Thermodynamic modeling; Life prediction; Non-oxide ceramics			
Technical Key Words:		Engine materials; Gas turbines; Ceramic components; Ceramic filter durability; Automotive engines			

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The oxidation and corrosion of non-oxide ceramics, in particular Si_3N_4 and SiC-based materials, is the main thrust of research. The aim is to bring together thermodynamic calculations, kinetic modeling and mechanical property measurement (4-point-bending to 1400°C) to allow life time predictions. The conditions range from hot corrosion (e.g. by Na₂SO₄, Na₂CO₃, T = 700-1300°C) and hydrothermal corrosion (P to 2 kbar, T = 100-800°C) to oxidation and corrosion to 1700°C. Atmospheres: air, O₂, N₂, Ar, CO_x, mixtures. Microstructural development is also an important parameter investigated. Thus phase relations, e.g. in the Y-Si-O-N system, are investigated. Kinetic modeling of oxidation and corrosion processes is performed.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Fundamental studies are directed to high-temperature limits of advanced ceramics and the application of corrosion to make new products (carbon layers, see below). Industrial applications are gas turbine components, soot filtering devices, engine components such as valves. Projects are sponsored either by DFG, EU or industrial partners. Examples are given in the following abstracts:

Specific Topics

1. Fundamental Research into Phase Relations and Corrosion

Simple system studies (Si-O-N, Y-Si-O-N) are directed towards the absolute limits of use for nitrides and carbides, often defined by "secondary active-passive boundaries", e.g. the ambient pressure is exceeded by gaseous corrosion products, leading to bubbling and spallation. Sponsorship is by DFG.

2. Structure of Oxidation Scales on SiC and Si_3N_4

Fundamental research into the scale development, with special interest in crystallisation of phases from amorphous products, is undertaken. Ways to influence this behavior are explored (atmosphere control, H₂O, surface modification) to gain improved life-time and its prediction. Collaboration takes place with CNRS (F), laboratories of, or derived from, the Academy of Sciences in Kiew (IPMS, MRC) and Minsk (ISSPS), ESK Ltd, ABB. Sponsorship is by EU (Inco-Copernicus).

3. Carbon Production by Hydrothermal Treatments

A new way for the production of carbon (layers, powder) is being investigated. Hydrothermal corrosion of carbide leaves C, ranging in structure from graphitic to amorphous or diamond-like is being studied. Layers from nm to microns in size can be made. Possible applications are catalytic coatings, or layers for wear resistance or chemical resistance on parts or fibres. Sponsorship is by DFG.

4. SiC as Soot Filtering Material

The chemical stability of SiC in soot filtering was investigated in regeneration related environments (C-H-O-atmospheres, hot corrosion conditions). The work is sponsored by JRC of automotive companies (Volvo, DB, VW, Fiat, Renault, Rover).

5. Corrosion of Si_3N_4 for Valve Applications

The influence of (mainly hot corroding) agents on valve materials from Si_3N_4 is investigated. Fundamental mechanisms, implications for mechanical properties and reliability are explored. The research is sponsored by Daimler-Benz AG.

Special Equipment

Thermal Analysis to 1700°C. Micro-Raman-Spectroscopy Hydrothermal Laboratory (to 1000°C, 5 kb).

Networks

There is a Working Group, "Corrosion of Ceramic Materials" under the German Ceramic Soc. (DKG) and the German Materials Soc. (DGM), with approximately 30 active members from universities, research centers and industry. Two meetings are held per year and Prof. Nickel is the chairman.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Nickel, K.G., Fu, Z. and Quirmbach, P., "High Temperature Oxidation and Corrosion of Engineering Ceramics," <u>Journal of Engine Gas Turbines and Power</u>, <u>115</u>, 76-82 (1993).
- Quirmbach, P., Morgan, T.J.P., Nickel, K.G. and Petzow, G., "Oxidation of Silicon Carbide in Carbon Monoxide," <u>Proc. 2nd European Ceramic Society Conference</u> (1993).
- 3. Nickel, K.G., Däumling, U. and Weißkopf, K., "Hydrothermal Reactions of Si₃N₄," <u>Key Engineering Materials</u>, <u>89-91</u>, 295-300 (1994).
- 4. Nickel, K.G., "Corrosion of Advanced Ceramics Measurement and Modelling," <u>NATO ASI Series E</u>, <u>267</u>, pp468, Kluwer Academic Pub., Dordrecht, NL (1994).
- Nickel, K.G., "Multiple Law Modeling for the Oxidation of Advanced Ceramics and a Model-Independent Figure-of-Merit," <u>Corrosion of Advanced Ceramics -</u> <u>Measurement and Modeling</u>, Ed. K.G. Nickel, NATO ASI Series E, <u>267</u>, 59-72, Kluwer Academic Pub., Dordrecht, NL (1994).
- Schneider, G.A. and Nickel, K.G., "Thermal Loading and Corrosion of Ceramics by Light Irradiation," <u>Corrosion of Advanced Ceramics - Measurement and Modelling</u>, Ed. K.G. Nickel, NATO ASI Series E, <u>267</u>, 375-384, Kluwer Academic Pub., Dordrecht, NL (1994).
- 7. Quirmbach, P., Schäfer, U., Nickel, K. and Petzow, G., "Destruktions-Mechanismen bei der Hochtemperaturgaskorrosion von SiC," <u>Prakt. Metallographie Sonderbände</u>, <u>25</u>, 167-178, Carl Hanser Verlag, München (1994).
- 8. Nickel, K.G., "Corrosion of Ceramics at High Temperatures," <u>Encyclopedia of</u> <u>Advanced Materials</u>, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 502-506 (1994).
- Schwab, K. and Nickel, K.G., "Einfluß von P(O₂) und Na₂SO₄ auf die Korrosion von SiC," <u>Korrosion und Verschleiß von keramischen Werkstoffen</u>, Eds. R. Telle and P. Quirmbach, DKG, Köln, 85-90 (1994).

- Berthold, C., Nickel, K.G. and Weißkopf, K., "Korrosion und Mechanische Eigenschaften von Si₃N₄-Ventilwerkstoffen bei Anwendungstemperaturen," <u>Korrosion und Verschleiß von keramischen Werkstoffen</u>, Eds. R. Telle and P. Quirmbach, DKG, Köln, 141-145 (1994).
- Telle, R., Nickel, K.G. and Quirmbach, P., "Standardisierung von Prüfmethoden für Korrosion und Verschleiß keramischer Werkstoffe Chance oder Hindernis im internationalen Wettbewerb," <u>Korrosion und Verschleiß von keramischen</u> <u>Werkstoffen</u>, Eds. R. Telle and P. Quirmbach, DKG, Köln, 347-352 (1994).
- 12. Nickel, K.G., Nickel, H., Förthmann, R. and Porz, F., "Recommendations for the Conduction of Corrosion Tests of Ceramic Materials Part I: Furnace Tests on the Passive Oxidation and its Influence on the Mechanical Properties of SiC Materials," <u>Ceramic Forum International.</u>, <u>71</u>, 624-631 (1994).
- Nickel, K.G. and Gogotsi, Yu. G., "Approaches to Standardisation High-Temperature Oxidation and Hydrothermal Corrosion of Silica-Forming Ceramics," <u>Key Engineering Materials</u>, <u>113</u>, 15-30 (1996).
- 14. Gogotsi, Yu. G., Nickel, K.G., Bahloul-Hourlier, D., Merle-Mejean, T., Khomenko, G.E. and Skjerlie, K.P., "Structure of Carbon Produced by Hydrothermal Treatment of β-SiC Powder," Journal of Materials Chemistry, 6, 595-604 (1996).
- Gogotsi, Yu. G., Kofstad, P., Yoshimura, M. and Nickel, K.G., "Formation of sp³-Bonded Carbon upon Hydrothermal Treatment of SiC," <u>Diamond and Related</u> <u>Materials</u>, <u>5</u> (2), 151-162 (1996).
- Nickel, K.G., Lukas, H.L. and Petzow, G., "High-Temperature Corrosion of SiC in Hydrogen-Oxygen Environments," <u>The SGTE Casebook. Thermodynamics at Work</u>, Ed. K. Hack. The Institute of Metals, Book 621, London, 163-175 (1996).
- 17. Nickel, K.G., "Corrosion of Non-Oxide Ceramics," Ceramics International, 23 (1996).
- 18. Berthold, C. and Nickel, K.G., "Modelling of the Influence of Corrosion on Strength and Reliability of Si₃N₄-Ceramics," <u>Proc. Werkstoffwoche '96</u>, <u>7</u> (1996).
- Butchereit, E., Nickel, K.G., Sauer, E. and Schwab, K., "Reaction Kinetics in the Si-O-N System and Their Relation to Bubble and Pit Formation in Si₃N₄-Ceramics," <u>Proc.</u> <u>Werkstoffwoch '96</u>, <u>7</u> (1996).

Pompe, W., Prof. and Bobeth, M., Dr.

University of Technology Dresden

Institute for Materials Science

D-01062 Dresden

Tel: +49 351 463 1420

Fax: +49 351 463 1422

e.mail: pompe@tmfs.mpgfk.tu-dresden.de; bobeth@tmfs.mpgfk.tu-dresden.de

Key Personnel:	Pompe, W., Prof., Bobeth, M., Dr., Hollatz, M.
Scientific Key Words:	Alumina; Mathematical modeling; Mechanical testing; Nodular growth; Stress measurement; Optical fluorescence spectroscopy

Technical Key Words: Thermal barrier coating systems

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research is devoted to the analysis of the morphological development of oxide scales and the relationship between the scale morphology and the protective properties of the scales. Theoretical investigations include the modeling of diffusion-reaction processes during scale growth. Special problems of interest are the development of a rough oxide-metal interface owing to a diffusion-controlled morphological instability, and the formation of interfacial pores which are detrimental to the scale adherence. Experimental investigations concern the analysis of the fracture behavior of oxide scales. In particular, stresses in α -alumina scales at room temperature were determined with high spatial resolution by using optical fluorescence spectroscopy. Scale failure has mainly been studied under a graded scale loading induced by an appropriate substrate deformation. The aim of this approach is to determine fracture-mechanical properties of oxide scales by an ex-situ analysis of crack and delamination patterns of the scales. The investigations were financially supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (Germany).

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The analysis of the mechanical properties of oxide scales is of great practical relevance. The bend and indentation tests used in the present studies for elucidating the failure mechanisms of scales are relatively easily to perform also at high temperatures.

Indentation experiments, as only weakly destructive tests, seem to be suited for comparative studies of scale cracking and delamination. The establishment of a graded scale loading, e. g. by an appropriate bending of samples, could provide an effective ex-situ analysis of the fracture behavior of oxide scales. A beneficial aspect of the technique of optical fluorescence spectroscopy is the possibility to analyze stresses in buried

 α -alumina scales provided the covering layer is sufficiently transparent. Thus, stresses could be examined, for example, in the alumina scale growing in thermal barrier coatings at the interface between zirconia and the bond layer when α -alumina is formed at sufficiently high temperatures.

Specific Topics

1. Modeling of Diffusion-Reaction Processes During Scale Growth

The aim of the modeling of diffusion-reaction processes during oxidation is the quantitative understanding of the scale growth. This work includes one-dimensional simulations of the out-diffusion of the less noble metal during the selective oxidation of binary alloys, as well as two-dimensional simulations of the unstable roughening of the oxide-metal interface based on finite difference methods. The theoretical investigations were performed in close co-operation with experimental studies of the scale growth on Ni₃Al and NiAl by Rühle, M., Prof., and Schumann, E., Dr., (Max-Planck-Institute, Stuttgart). For example, the theoretical analysis showed that the growth of oxide intrusions into the metal during the initial oxidation of Ni₃Al at low oxygen partial pressure could be affected by a morphological instability of the oxide-metal interface due to a relatively fast initial inward diffusion of oxygen through the scale. From measurements of the Al-depletion profile after oxidation of NiAl at the Max-Planck-Institute in Stuttgart, the interdiffusion coefficient of NiAl was calculated by means of a modified Boltzmann-Matano analysis.

2. Stress Measurement and Fracture Behavior of Scales

The analysis of the fracture behavior of α -alumina scales includes the measurement of mechanical stresses in the scale at room temperature by means of optical fluorescence spectroscopy. These measurements are carried out in close co-operation with Clarke, D.R., Prof., and coworkers (University of California Santa Barbara). Optical fluorescence spectroscopy was firstly applied to measure stresses in thin alumina scales by Clarke and Lipkin in 1993. Similar to Raman spectroscopy, this method permits a high spatial resolution of the stress measurement in the 1µm-region. It yields, however, only the trace of the stress tensor for polycrystalline alumina. A local stress analysis in scales on NiAl suggested the presence of large spatial stress fluctuations which are presumably connected with the high roughness of the scale due to the appearance of

oxide ridges. Current investigations concern the proper interpretation of spectroscopic data in terms of stresses. Problems arise when both the stress state and the Cr concentration in the probed volume are non-uniform since the fluorescence signal is proportional to the Cr concentration in α -alumina.

The failure mechanisms and fracture-mechanical properties of alumina scales on NiAl and FeCrAl were investigated by bend and indentation tests at room and oxidation temperature.

The analysis of crack and spallation patterns occurred ex-situ at room temperature. The graded loading of the scale on the side face of bending bars after four-point bending allows in principal to estimate lower bounds of the fracture strain and strength of the oxide from the observed damage patterns. Furthermore, the lateral propagation of through-thickness scale cracks is sensitive to the fracture toughness of the oxide.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Modeling of Scale Growth

- Bobeth, M., Rockstroh, M., and Pompe, W., "Modeling of the Structural Development of Oxide Scales on Single Crystalline Ni₃Al in the Initial Stage of Oxidation," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, <u>2</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, The Institute of Materials, Cambridge, UK, 412-422 (1993).
- 2. Bobeth, M., Pompe, W., Rockstroh, M., and Schumann, E., "Morphological Instability of a Planar Oxide-Alloy Interface for Inward Oxide Growth," <u>Acta</u> <u>Metallurgica Materialia</u>, <u>42</u>, 579-588 (1994).
- 3. Rockstroh, M., Bobeth, M., and Pompe, W., "Zur Zweidimensionalen Simulation der Instabilen Ausbreitung von Reaktionsfronten mit Finiten Differenzen auf Adaptiven Netzen," <u>ZAMM</u>, <u>75</u> <u>SII</u>, 703-704 (1995).
- Rockstroh, M., Bobeth, M., and Pompe, W., "Two-Dimensional Simulation of Unstable Roughening of the Oxide-Metal Interface During Selective Oxidation of Binary Alloys," <u>Solid State Phenomena</u>, <u>41</u>, 157-164, (1995).
- Bobeth, M., Bischoff, E., Rockstroh, M., Schumann, E. and Rühle, M., "Aluminium Depletion Profiles in Oxidized NiAl Single Crystals," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 657-670 (1995).

2. Stress Measurement and Fracture-Mechanical Analysis

- 6. Hollatz, M., Bobeth, M., Pompe, W., and Marx, V., "Orientation Dependent Crack Patterns in Alumina Films on NiAl Single Crystals Due to Spherical Indentation," <u>Acta Materialia</u>, <u>44</u>, 4149-4159 (1996).
- Hollatz, M., Bobeth, M., Pompe, W., Nasse, H., Faltermeier, B., and Jörgens, R., "Kombination von Laser Scanning Mikroskopie und Optischer Fluoreszenzspektroskopie zur Lokalen Spannungsmessung in Dünnen Aluminiumoxidschichten," <u>Technisches Messen</u>, <u>63</u>, 142-148 (1996).
- 8. Lipkin, D.M., Clarke, D.R., Hollatz, M., Bobeth, M. and Pompe, W., "Stress Development in Alumina Scales Formed upon Oxidation of (111) NiAl Single Crystals," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 231-242 (1997).
- 9. Hollatz, M., Bobeth, M. and Pompe, W., "Failure of Alumina Scales on NiAl under Graded Scale Loading," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u> <u>47U</u>, 663-645 (1996).
- 10. Hollatz, M., Bobeth, M., and Pompe, W., "Local Analysis of the Stress Development in Alumina Scales on NiAl and FeCrAl," <u>Proc. 4th Int. Symp. on High Temperature</u> <u>Corrosion</u>, Les Embiez, France, May, in press (1996).

3. Miscellaneous

 Wolf, B., Warner, C., Bonnell, D., Bobeth, M., Baunack, S., and Pompe, W., "Investigation of Initial Oxide Growth on NiAl by Scanning Tunneling Microscopy," <u>Physica Status Solidi (a)</u>, <u>145</u>, 319-331 (1994).

Quadakkers, W.J., Dr.				
Research Centre Jülich				
Institute for Materials in Energy Systems				
P.O. Box 19 13				
52425 Jülich				
Tel: +49 2461 61 4668				
Fax: +49 2461 61 3699				
e.mail: j.quadakkers@kf	j.quadakkers@kfa-juelich.de			
Key Personnel:	Quadakkers, W.J., Dr., Ennis, P.J., Mr., Wouters, Y., Dr.			
Scientific Key Words:	Life prediction; Thermal cycling; Surface analytical methods; Oxidation diagrams; Mathematical modeling			
Technical Key Words:	Gas turbines; Lifetime prediction; Creep/corrosion interactions; Mixed oxidants with water vapor; Thermal barrier coating systems			

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The aim of the research is to investigate the behavior of materials in aggressive environments at high temperatures. Special emphasis is placed on the formation, growth, adherence and long-term integrity of the protective surface oxide scales.

The studies include investigations of the scale-growth mechanisms as well as the longterm behavior (experiments up to 10 000 h) under actual service conditions. The experimental conditions are mainly related to the materials behavior in energy conversion systems such as gas turbines, combustion and gasification plants as well as waste incineration systems. The long-term aim is to incorporate the results of the fundamental research into the technologically oriented studies to develop models which enable prediction of long-term component behavior under actual service conditions. In the experimental and modeling work both corrosion, as well as the interaction between corrosion and mechanical properties (mainly creep), are addressed.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Next to fundamental studies on oxide scale growth and adherence, extensive studies are being carried out concerning the long-term material behaviour under realistic

service conditions. Most of the latter studies are either directly funded by industry within bilateral contracts, or carried out in cooperation with industry, e.g. with common government or EU funding.

Specific Topics

1. Mechanisms of Oxide Scale Growth and Adherence

Growth processes of chromia and alumina scales on high-temperature alloys at high and low oxygen partial pressures are being investigated by two-stage oxidation using ¹⁸O and H₂¹⁸O-tracers. The surface scales formed during this oxidation process at temperatures in the range 600-1200°C are studied by a number of analytical techniques, such as SIMS, SNMS, RBS, SEM/EDX, EPMA and TEM. Mathematical models are being developed to describe diffusion processes in the scale, as well as depletion phenomena in the sub-surface depletion zone.

Fundamental aspects of oxide scale adherence are being investigated using a number of experimental methods, such as the scratch test and acoustic emission analysis, in combination with various surface analytical techniques such as AES and RBS. Stresses in oxide scales, determined using X-ray diffraction and LRS, are correlated with scale adherence measured under thermal cycling conditions.

2. Intermetallics

A small project is being carried out concerning intermetallics on the basis of γ -TiAl, mainly for applications in gas turbines. The studies include fundamental aspects of scale formation as well as determination of long-term materials behavior. The present programme is mainly aimed at the development of alloys which form protective alumina scales upon long time exposure.

3. Solid Oxide Fuel Cells

The behavior of the metallic interconnector of solid-oxide fuel cells (SOFC's) is being studied in oxidizing and reducing environments in the temperature range 700-1000°C. Depending on the actual fuel cell operation temperature, two types of alloys are presently investigated: ferritic steels and Cr-based ODS alloys. The studies concentrate on the actual corrosion behavior of the metallic materials in the SOFC environments, but also on the interaction of the metals with the perovskite type ceramic electrode or contact materials. In relation to the latter subject, major efforts are being put into the measurement of high temperature electrical conductivity of metal/ceramic bonds, as well as the development of protection methods against cell degradation by volatile chromium oxides and oxy-hydroxides.

4. Corrosion and Corrosion/Creep Interaction of Materials for Heat Exchangers in Advanced Power Plants

The effect of carbon-, sulfur- and/or chlorine-bearing gas species in oxidizing environments on the behavior of metallic materials is being studied. The main emphasis is being placed on the development of mathematical models predicting various modes of corrosion attack as a function of alloy composition and environmental conditions. The present program is strongly connected with the development of new materials for heat exchanging components in power plants with advanced steam conditions. In this context, increasing efforts are being put into studies on steam oxidation of new ferritic and austenitic steels, as well as Ni-based alloys for heat exchangers and steam turbine components.

5. TBC/MCrAIY-Coating Systems

For turbine components subjected to very high gas temperatures, TBC coatings are being developed. The program mainly addresses the effect of MCrAlY-based coat oxidation performance on TBC coating life. In co-operation with industry new MCrAlY-coating types are being developed. The MCrAlY and TBC coatings are being applied by plasma spraying and tested during isothermal as well as cyclic oxidation. Significant efforts are being put into the development of analytical methods such as imaging-SNMS for the characterisation of the MCrAlY/TBC interface.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Fundamentals of Oxide Growth and Adherence

- Quadakkers, W.J., "Oxidation of ODS Alloys," High Temperature Corrosion, Les Embiez, France, 25-29 May 1992, Proceedings in <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>3</u>, part I, 177 (1993).
- Jedlinski, J., Krasovec, M., Borchardt, G. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Effect of Implanted Yttrium on the Oxidation Behaviour of Fe-20Cr-5Al Alloy at 1373 K in Air," High Temperature Corrosion, Les Embiez, France, 25-29 May 1992, Proceedings in Journal de Physique IV, <u>3</u>, part II, 591 (1993).
- Clemens, D., Bongartz, K., Speier, W., Hussey, R.J. and Quadakkers, W. J., "Analysis and Modelling of Transport Processes in Alumina Scales on High Temperature Alloys," 7.Arbeitstagung "Angewandte Oberflächenanalytik" 22-25 Juni 1992, Jülich, FRG, Proceedings in <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 318-322 (1993).

- Versaci, R.A., Clemens, D., Hussey, R.J. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Distribution and Transport of Yttrium in Alumina Scales on Iron Base ODS Alloys," <u>Solid State</u> <u>Ionics</u>, <u>59</u>, 235-242 (1993).
- Czyrska-Filemonowicz, A., Versaci, R., Clemens, D. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Effect of Yttria Content on the Oxidation Resistance of ODS Alloys Studied by TEM;" <u>2nd International Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, 29-31 March, Cambridge, UK, Proceedings, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, The Institute of Materials, London, ISBN 0 901716 50 2, p288-297 (1993).
- Bongartz, K., Quadakkers, W.J., Pfeifer, J.P. and Becker, J.S., "Mathematical Modelling of Oxide Growth Mechanisms Measured by ¹⁸O Tracer Experiments," <u>Surface Science</u>, 292, 196-208 (1993).
- Czyrska-Filemonowicz, A., Clemens, D., Versaci, R.A. and Quadakkers, W.J., "TEM Studies of Alumina Scales Formed During High Temperature Oxidation of Ferritic ODS Alloys," <u>ICEM 13</u>, Paris, 17-22 July, <u>Proceedings</u>, pp1097-1098 (1994).
- Quadakkers, W.J. and Viefhaus, H., "The Application of Surface Analysis Techniques in High Temperature Corrosion Research," EFC-Workshop "Methods and Testing in High Temperature Corrosion", Frankfurt, FRG, 20-21 January, <u>Proceedings in "EFC Publications", nr 14, Guidelines for Methods of Testing and Research in High Temperature Corrosion</u>, The Institute of Materials, pp189-217 (1995).
- Clemens, D., Bongartz, K., Quadakkers, W.J., Nickel, H., Holzbrecher, H. and Becker, J.S., "Determination of Lattice and Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients in Protective Alumina Scales on High Temperature Alloys Using SEM, TEM and SIMS, AOFA 8," Proceedings in <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>353</u>, 267 -270 (1995).
- Czyrska-Filemonowicz, A., Szot, K., Wasilkowska, A., Gil, A., Ennis, P.J., Heroin, J. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Atomic Force Microscopy Study of Oxide Film Formed on INCOLOY MA 956," <u>3rd International Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, Cambridge, 16-18 September, in press (1996).
- Dunin-Borkowski, R.E., Newcomb, S.B., Boothroyd, C.B., Czyrska-Filemonowicz, A., Clemens, D. and Quadakkers, W.J., "A Grain Boundary Study of the Aluminium Oxide Formed on MA 956 of Different Yttria Contents," <u>3rd Conference on</u> <u>Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, 16-18 September 16-18, Cambridge, in print (1996).

 Vosberg, V., Berger, M., Fischer, W., Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "Stresses in Alumina Scales on NiCrAlY-Alloys Determined by XSE and LRS 8," Tagung Werkstoffanalytik, Vienna, 3-5 July, <u>Microchim. Acta</u>, <u>125</u>, 275-278 (1997).

2. TiAl-Based Intermetallics

- Gil, A., Hoven, H., Wallura, E. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Effect of Microstructure on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Based Intermetallics, <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>34</u>, 615-630 (1993).
- 14. Gil, A., Wallura, E., Grübmeier, H. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Influence of Cooling Rate During Alloy Casting on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl Based Intermetallics," <u>Journal of Materials Science</u>, <u>28</u>, 5869-5874 (1993).
- 15. Quadakkers, W.J., Zheng, N., Gil, A. and Nickel, H., "The Effect of Casting and Heat Treatment Procedures on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Base Intermetallics," <u>10th EUROCORR</u>, Barcelona, Spain, 5-8 July, <u>Proceedings</u>, Eds. J.M. Costa and A.D. Mercer, The Institute of Materials, ISBN 0 901716 36 7, pp770-776 (1993).
- Quadakkers, W.J., Elschner, A. and Zheng, N., "SNMS-Studies on the Oxidation Behaviour of Titanium Aluminides," <u>12th International Corrosion Congress</u>, 19-24 September, Houston, Texas, USA, <u>Proc. NACE International</u>, Houston, ISBN 1-877914-65-7, vol. 5B, pp3842-3851 (1993).
- 17. Quadakkers, W.J., Elschner, A., Zheng, N., Schuster, H. and Nickel, H., "SNMS-Studies on the Effect of Niobium Additions on the Oxidation Behaviour of Titanium Aluminides," <u>2nd International Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, 29-31 March, Cambridge, UK, Proceedings, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, The Institute of Materials, London, ISBN 0 90171650 2, pp488-496 (1993).
- Figge, U., Elschner, A., Zheng, N., Schuster, H. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Surface Analytical Investigations on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Base Intermetallics," 7. Arbeitstagung "Angewandte Oberflächenanalytik", 22-25 Juni, Jülich, FRG, Proceedings in <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 75-78 (1993).
- Gil, A., Rajchel, B., Zheng, N., Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "The Influence of Implanted Chromium and Yttrium on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Base Intermetallics," <u>Journal of Materials Science</u>, <u>30</u>, 5793-5798 (1995).
- Zheng, N., Quadakkers, W.J., Gil, A. and Nickel, H., "Studies Concerning the Effect of Nitrogen on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Based Intermetallics," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 477-499 (1995).

- Nickel, H., Zheng, N., Elschner, A. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Oxidation Behaviour of Niobium Containing g-TiAl Based Intermetallics in Air and Argon/Oxygen," <u>Microchimica Acta</u>, <u>119</u>, 23-29 (1995).
- Zheng, N., Fischer, W., Grübmeier, H., Shemet, V. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Significance of Sub-Surface Depletion Layer Composition for the Oxidation Behaviour of g-Titanium Aluminides," <u>Scripta Metallurgica et Materialia</u>, <u>33</u>, 47-53 (1995).
- Stroosnijder, M.F., Zheng, N., Quadakkers, W.J., Hofman, R., Gil, A., and Lanza, A., "The Effect of Implanted Niobium on the Oxidation Behaviour of g-TiAl Based Intermetallics," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 19-35 (1996).
- 24. Rahmel, A., Quadakkers, W.J. and Schütze, M., "Fundamentals of TiAl-Oxidation A Critical Review," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>46</u>, 271-285 (1995).
- 25. Schmutzler, H.J., Zheng, N., Quadakkers, W.J. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Influence of Niobium Ion Implantation on the High Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of Ti-48Al-2Cr," 9th International Conference on Surface Modification, San Sebastian, Spain, 4-8 September, <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>83</u>, 212-217 (1996).
- 26. Quadakkers, W.J., Schaaf, P., Zheng, N., Gil, A. and Wallura, E., "Beneficial and Detrimental Effects of Nitrogen on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Based Intermetallics, <u>EFC-Workshop "Oxidation of Intermetallics</u>", Frankfurt, FRG, 18-19 January, <u>Proceedings in Materials and Corrosion</u>, in press (1996).
- 27. Shemet, V., Karduck, P., Hoven, H., Grushko, B., Fischer, W. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Synthesis of the Cubic Z-Phase in the Ti-Al-O System by a Powder Metallurgical Method, <u>Intermetallics</u>, in press (1996).

3. Metallic Materials for Solid Oxide Fuel Cells

- 28. Mallener, W., Quadakkers, W.J., Grübmeier, H., Syskakis, E. and Stöver, D., "Zur Kompatibilität von metallischen und keramischen Hochtemperatur-Brennstoffzellen-Komponenten, Chemnitz," <u>DGM-Tagung Verbundwerkstoffe und</u> <u>Werkstoffverbunde, Proceedings</u>, Eds. G. Leonhardt and G. Ondracek, DGM, Oberursel, ISBN 3-88355-188-0, pp505-512 (1992).
- 29. Quadakkers, W.J., Mallener, W., Grübmeier, H. and Wallura, E., "Corrosion and Compatibility Studies on Metallic Interconnector Materials for SOFC's, 5th IEA Workshop, SOFC," <u>Materials, Process Engineering and Electrochemistry</u>, Jülich,

FRG, 2-4 March, <u>Proceedings, Conference Service KFA Jülich</u>, ISBN 3-89336-127-8, October, pp87-99 (1993).

- 30. Quadakkers, W.J., Greiner, H. and Köck, W., "Metals and Alloys for High Temperature SOFC Applications," <u>European Solid Oxide Fuel Cell Forum</u>, Lucerne, Switzerland, 3-7 October, Proceedings, pp525-541 (1994).
- 31. Quadakkers, W.J., Norton, J.F., Canetoli, S., Schuster, K. and Gil, A., "Hot-Stage Microscopy of the Nucleation and Growth of Oxide Scales on Cr and Cr-Based Alloys," <u>3rd International Conference on Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, Cambridge, UK, 16-18 September, in print (1996).
- 32. Rieck, T., Hänsel, M., Lebek, W., Leps, G., Köck, W. and Quadakkers, W.J., "REM-Untersuchungen zur Oxidation von Cr-Basis-Legierungen in den Betriebsatmosphären der Hochtemperaturbrennstoffzelle," PVM-Tagung, 17, <u>Tagung des Arbeitskreises Rastermikroskopie in der Materialprüfung vom</u>, 27-29 März, Halle, Proceedings, pp299-304 (1996).
- 33. Gil, A., Penkalla, H.J., Hänsel, M., Norton, J.F., Köck, W. and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Oxidation Behaviour of Cr-Based ODS Alloys in H₂/H₂O at 1000°C," <u>IX</u> <u>Conference on Electron Microscopy of Solids</u>, 6-9 May, Krakow-Zakopane, Poland, S., 441-446 (1996).
- 34. Crone, U. v.d., Hänsel, M., Quadakkers, W.J. and Vaßen, R., "Oxidationsverhalten von mechanisch legierten Chrombasislegierungen," AOFA, 9. Arbeitstagung für Angewandte Oberflächenanalytik, Aachen, 24-27 Juni, <u>Fresenius' Journal of</u> <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, in press (1966).
- 35. Quadakkers, W.J., Norton, J.F., Penkalla, H.J., Breuer, U., Gil, A., Rieck, T. and Hänsel, M., "SNMS and TEM-Studies Concerning the Oxidation of Cr-Based ODS Alloys in SOFC Relevant Environments," <u>3rd International Conference on</u> <u>Microscopy of Oxidation</u>, Cambridge, UK, 16-18 September, in press (1996).
- 36. Quadakkers, W.J., Greiner, H., Köck, W., Buchkremer, H.P., Hilpert, K. and Stöver, D., "The Chromium Base Metallic Bipolar Plate-Fabrication, Corrosion and Cr Evaporation," <u>2nd EUROPEAN Solid Oxide Fuel Cell Forum</u>, 6-10 May, Oslo, Norway, Proceedings, Ed. B. Thorstensen, pp297-306 (1996).
- 37. Quadakkers, W.J., Greiner, H., Hänsel, M., Pattaniak, A., Khanna, A.S. and Mallener, W., "Compatibility of Perovskite Contact Layers Between Cathode and Metallic Interconnector Plates of SOFCs," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, 91, 55-67 (1996).
- 38. Quadakkers, W.J., Breuer, U., Tyagi, A., Gil, A., Stroosnijder, M.F., Becker, S. and Hänsel, M., "MCs⁺-SIMS Studies Concerning the Effect of Y-Surface Modification on

the Oxidation Behaviour of Cr-Based ODS Alloys," <u>Report, Forschungszentrum</u> <u>Jülich GmbH</u>, Jül-1372, ISSN 0944-2952, pp97-112 (1996).

4. Materials for Heat Exchangers in Advanced Power Plants

- 39. Ennis, P.J., Quadakkers, W.J. and Schuster, H., "The Effect of Oxidation Induced Chromium Carbide Depletion on the Creep Strength of Alloy 617," <u>3rd International</u> <u>Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion</u>, 25-29 May, Les Embiez, France, Proceedings in <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>3</u>, part II, 979 (1993).
- 40. Khanna, A.S., Quadakkers, W.J., Yang, X., Schuster, H., "On the Mechanisms of the Oxidation of NiCrAl Base Alloys in Air and Air Containing Sulphur Dioxide," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 275-294 (1993).
- Quadakkers, W.J. and Bennett, M.J., "Oxidation Induced Life Time Limits of Thin Walled Iron Based ODS Alloy Components," <u>Materials Science and Technology</u>, <u>10</u>, 126-131 (1994).
- 42. Quadakkers, W.J. and Bongartz, K., "The Prediction of Breakaway Oxidation for Alumina Forming ODS Alloys Using Oxidation Diagrams," <u>Werkstoffe und</u> <u>Korrosion</u>, <u>45</u>, 232-241 (1994).
- 43. Quadakkers, W.J., Bongartz, K. and Schubert, F., "The Prediction of Oxidation Limited Life of Thin Walled ODS Heat Exchangers for High Temperature Applications," <u>Materials for Advanced Power Engineering, COST 501</u>, Liege, 3-6 October, Proceedings, p1533-1542 (1994).
- 44. Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "The Effect of Major and Minor Alloying Elements on the Oxidation Limited Life of FeCrAl-Based Alloys," <u>2nd International</u> <u>Conference on Heat Resistant Materials</u>, 11-14 September, Gatlinburg, TS, USA, pp91-96 (1995).
- 45. Thiele, M., Teichmann, H., Schwarz, W., Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "Korrosionsverhalten von ferritischen und austenitischen Stahlen in simulierten Rauchgasen von stein- und braunkohlebefeuerten Kraftwerken," <u>VGB-Konferenz</u> <u>Korrosion und Korrosionsschutz in der Kraftwerkstechnik</u>, 28-30 November, Essen, Proceedings, in press (1995).
- 46. Nickel, H., Ennis, P.J. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Candidate Materials for Advanced Power Stations and High Temperature Heat Exchangers," PVP 1996, Montreal, 21-26 July, Proceedings, Ed. W.H. Bamford, vol. 335, <u>American Society ASME</u>, New York, ISBN 0-7918-1782-2, p147-152 (1996).

- Williams, C., Thiele, M. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Oxidation Characteristics of 9%Cr-Steels in Atmospheres Containing Water Vapour," <u>EUROCORR 96</u>, 24-26 September, Nice, France, <u>Proceedings, III</u>, pp10/1-10/4 (1996).
- 48. Nickel, H., Quadakkers, W.J., Sporer, D. and Buckkremer, H.P., "Life Time Prediction of Thin Walled Heat Exchanger Tubes Fabricated from FeCrAl-Based Alloys," PVP 1996, Montreal, 21-26 July, Proceedings, Ed. W.H. Bamford, vol. 335, <u>American Society ASME</u>, New York, ISBN 0-7918-1782-2, pp159-164 (1996).
- 49. Williams, W., Quadakkers, W.J., Meadowcroft, B., "Assessment of Steam Oxidation and Fireside Corrosion of 9-12%Cr Steels, <u>Report European Community, COST</u> <u>501/3 WP 11, EUR-Contract No. COST-CT-95-0099-DE</u>, November (1996).

5. MCrAIY/TBC-Coating Systems

- 50. Pfeifer, J.-P., Holzbrecher, H., Quadakkers, W.J. and Speier, W., "Quantitative Analysis of Oxide Films on ODS-Alloys Using MCs-SIMS and e-Beam SNMS," 7. Arbeitstagung Oberflächenanalytik, 22-25 June, Proceedings in <u>Fresenius' Journal</u> <u>for Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>346</u>, 186-191 (1993).
- 51. Clemens, D., Vosberg, V., Hobbs, L.W., Breuer, U., Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "TEM and SNMS Studies of Protective Alumina Scales on NiCrAlY-Alloys," XXIX Colloquium Spectroscopicum Internationale CSI, 27 August-1 September, <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>355</u>, 703-706 (1996).
- 52. Vosberg, V., Fischer, W., Berger, M.G., Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "Stress Measurements in Alumina Scales on High Temperature Alloys Using X-Ray Stress Evaluation and Laser Raman Spectroscopy," XXIX Colloquium Spectroscopicum Internationale CSI, 27 August-1 September, <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical</u> <u>Chemistry</u>, <u>355</u>, 745 - 747 (1996).
- 53. Clemens, D., Vosberg, V., Penkalla, J., Schumann, E., Czyrska-Filemonowicz, A. and Quadakkers, W.J., "TEM and SNMS Studies on the Oxidation of Ti- and Si-Containing NiCrAlY Alloys," <u>IX Conf. Electr. Micr. of Solids</u>, 6-9 May, Zakopane, Poland, Proceedings, pp435-440 (1996).
- 54. Clemens, D., Vosberg, V.R., Penkalla, J., Breuer, U., Quadakkers, W.J. and Nickel, H., "TEM and SNMS Studies on the Oxidation Behaviour of NiCrAlY-Based Coatings," AOFA, 9. Arbeitstagung für Angewandte Oberflächenanalytik, Aachen, 24-27 Juni, in print, <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u> (1996).
- 55. Vosberg, V.R., Clemens, D., Berger, M.G., Quadakkers, W.J., Fischer, W. and Nickel, H., "Stresses in Alumina Scales on High Temperature Alloys Measured by X-Ray and Optical Methods," AOFA, 9. Arbeitstagung für Angewandte

Oberflächenanalytik, Aachen, 24-27 June, <u>Fresenius' Journal of Analytical</u> <u>Chemistry</u>, in press (1996).

- 56. Quadakkers, W.J., Stamm, W., Czech, N., Wallura, E. and Hoven, H., "Rhenium Containing Plasma Sprayed NiCoCrAlY Coatings with Improved Oxidation and Interdiffusion Properties," <u>EUROMAT '97</u>, Maastricht, NL, 21-23 April, Proceedings, in press (1997).
- 57. Dietze, H.J., Becker, J.S., Breuer, U., Holzbrecher, H., Jäger, R., Saprykin, A.I., Westheide, J., and Quadakkers, W.J., "Anwendung massenspektrometrischer Methoden für analytische Aufgabenstellungen in den Werkstoffwissenschaften," <u>Berichte des Forschungszentrums</u>, Jülich, Jül. 3272, ZCH, ISSN 0944-2952, pp18-35.
- 58. Beele, W., Czech, N., Quadakkers, W.J. and Stamm, W., "Long Term Oxidation Tests on a Re-Containing MCrAlY-Coating," Abstract, <u>International Conference on</u> <u>Metallurgical Coatings and Thin Films ICMCTF 97</u>, San Diego, 21-25 April, Proceedings, in press (1997).
- 59. Czech, N., Fietzek, H., Kolarik, V., Quadakkers, W.J. and Stamm, W., "Initial State Oxidation of a NiCoCrAlY Coating Studied In Situ by High Temperature X-ray Diffraction," <u>ICMCTF 97</u>, San Diego, 21-25 April, <u>Proceedings</u>, in press (1997).
- 60. Wouters, Y., Thiele, M., Ennis, P.J. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Application Limits of Ferritic and Austenitic Materials in Steam and Simulated Combustion Gas of Advanced Fossil Fueled Power Plants," <u>EUROCORR 97</u>, Trondheim, Norway, 22-25 September, Proceedings, in press (1997).
- 61. Nickel, H., Wouters, Y., Thiele, M., and Quadakkers, W.J., "The Effect of Water Vapour on the Oxidation Behaviour of 9-12% Cr Steels in Simulated Combustion Gases," <u>ASME Conference PVP 97</u>, Orlando, Florida, USA, Proceedings, in press.

Rühle, M	., Prof.	
Max-Plan	ck-Institut für Me	tallforschung
Seestr. 92		
70174 Stu	ttgart	
Tel:	+49 711 2095 319	
Fax:	+49 711 2095 320	
Key Personnel:		Rühle, M., Prof., Dr., Schumann, E., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:		Alumina growth; Intermetallics; Interfaces; Reactive element effect; Transmission electron microscopy

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The main interest is in fundamental research on high temperature oxidation. The focus thereby is on the microstructural development of protective scales during oxidation of alloys and intermetallics. The studies are performed using the whole spectrum of modern electron microscopy techniques, including high-resolution (HREM) and analytical transmission electron microscopy (e.g. STEM). Problems which are being studied are the reactive element effect, e.g. the influence of dopants (Y, Ti) or impurities (S) on the oxidation of alumina-formers (NiAl, FeCrAl). The segregation of reactive elements at scale grain boundaries and the metal/scale interface is also studied. Another project is on the oxidation of TiAl, which under practical conditions does not form protective alumina scales. Analytical studies have been conducted in order to identify the mechanism by which nitrogen prevents the formation of a protective oxide. The results highlight the critical role of the composition of the metal/scale interface for the corrosion process.

Recently the focus of the research has been broadened. Mechanical stresses in alumina scales have been determined using a new optical fluorescence method. This method allows the measurement of residual stresses with high spatial resolution, which is important in order to understand scale spallation and stress relaxation mechanisms.

Cooperation with other groups has been established, for example with the group of Meier, G.H., Professor and Pettit, F.S., Professor, at the University of Pittsburgh, with Grabke, H.J., Professor, from the Max-Planck-Institut für Eisenforschung in Düsseldorf as well as with Graham, M.J., Professor, from the National Research Council of Canada in Ottawa.

Sponsors, are indicated in the following abstracts.

Specific Topics

1. Oxidation of Intermetallics

This research is being carried out in collaboration with Pompe, W., Professor, Max-Planck-Group Dresden, as part of the high temperature corrosion research program of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. The aim is the analysis and modelling of scales formed on intermetallics (NiAl, TiAl). The work on NiAl includes microstructural and mechanical characterization. The composition of scales and subscale metal developed during oxidation of TiAl are studied using analytical TEM and advanced electron diffraction methods.

2. The Adhesion of Oxide Scales on FeCrAl Alloys

This research is carried out together with other researchers from universities and industries in Europe, with the overall goal to improve the adhesion of oxide scales formed on FeCrAl alloys. This project is sponsored by the Commission of the European Union as part of the EURAM/BRITE program. Model alloys with different compositions have been produced, which are compared with state-of the-art commercial alloys. The work in Stuttgart includes the characterization of alloys and scales as well as the measurement of internal stresses in alumina.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

High Temperature Oxidation

- Schumann, E. and Rühle, M., "Microstructural Observations on the Oxidation of γ'-Ni₃Al at High Oxygen Partial Pressure," <u>Acta Metallurgica Materialia</u>, <u>42</u>, 1481-1487 (1994).
- Bobeth, M., Pompe, W., Rockstroh, M. and Schumann, E., "Morphological Instability of a Planar Oxide-Alloy Interface for Inward Oxide Growth," <u>Acta</u> <u>Metallurgica Materialia</u>, <u>42</u>, 579-588 (1994).
- 3. Schumann, E., "The Effect of Y Ion Implantation on the Oxidation of β-NiAl," <u>Oxidation of Metals.</u>, <u>43</u>, 157-172 (1995).
- 4. Schumann, E., Yang, J.C., Graham, M.J. and Rühle, M., "Segregation Studies of Oxidized Y and Zr Doped NiAl," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>46</u>, 218-222 (1995).

- Bobeth, M., Bischoff, E., Rockstroh, M., Schumann, E. and Rühle, M., "Aluminium Depletion Profiles in Oxidized NiAl Single Crystals," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 657-670 (1995).
- Rakowski, J.M., Pettit, F.S., Meier, G.H., Dettenwanger, F., Schumann, E. and Rühle, M., "The Effect of Nitrogen on the Oxidation of TiAl," <u>Scripta Metallurgica et</u> <u>Materialia</u>, <u>33</u>, 997-1003 (1995).
- Yang, J.C., Nadarzinski, K., Schumann, E. and Rühle, M., "Electron Microscopy Studies of NiAl/γ-Al₂O₃ Interfaces," <u>Scripta Metallurgica et Materialia</u>, <u>33</u>, 1043-1048 (1995).
- Rühle, M. and Schumann, E., "The Application of Transmission Electron Microscopy in the Analysis of High Temperature Corrosion," <u>Guidelines for</u> <u>Methods of Testing and Research in High Temperature Corrosion</u>, Institute of Materials, London, 177-187 (1995).
- 9. Schumann, E., Yang, J.C. and Graham, M.J., "Direct Observation of Y and S Interaction in Oxidized NiAl," <u>Scripta Materialia</u>, <u>34</u>, 1365-1370 (1996).
- 10. Schumann, E., Yang, J.C., Rühle, M. and Graham, M.J., "High Resolution SIMS and Analytical TEM Evaluation of Alumina Scales on β-NiAl," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 37-49 (1996).
- 11 Cheng, Y.F., Dettenwanger, F., Mayer, J., Schumann, E. and Rühle, M., "Identification of a New Phase Formed During the Oxidation of γ-Titanium Aluminium," <u>Scripta Metallurgica et Materialia</u>, 707-711 (1996).

Schütze, M., Priv. Dr.-Ing.

Karl-Winnacker-Institut der DECHEMA e.V. (KWI)					
Theodor-Heuss-Allee 25					
60486 Frankfurt/Main					
Tel: +49 69 7564 361					
Fax: +49 69 7564 388					
e.mail: schuetze@decher	na.de				
Key Personnel:	Schütze, M., Dr., Lang, C., Dr., Rahmel, A., Prof. (consultant until 1995)				
Scientific Key Words:	Acoustic emission; Chloridation; Coated and uncoated super alloys; Corrosion-mechanical properties interactions; Cyclic oxidation; Heat-resistant steels; Interfacial effects; Intermetallics; Sulfidation				
Technical Key Words:	Coal gasification; Combined cycle system; Aeroengines; Gas turbines; Energy plants				

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The work focuses on the limits of the protective effect of surface scales (oxides, sulfides, scales on protective coatings, etc.) in different atmospheres, with and without superimposed mechanical or thermocyclic loading. The main aim is the understanding and the modeling of the damage mechanisms leading to scale fracture, loss of scale adhesion and breakaway effects in oxidation. Another aim is to throw light on the growth mechanisms of the scales with respect to their role for long-term protective behavior. The investigations are carried out in air and more aggressive atmospheres e.g. H₂S-, Cl₂- and HCl-containing atmospheres. Many of the tests are accompanied by acoustic emission measurements in order to detect scale damage. The materials covered are low and high alloy steels, Ni-base alloys, TiAl-alloys and silicides.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of the work is in undertaking fundamental studies under near-service conditions in order to develop recommendations for materials use and development. A new type of coating has been developed for protection in H₂S atmospheres and the 'chlorine effect' has been developed as a surface treatment for significantly improving the

oxidation resistance of TiAl-materials. Many of the projects are undertaken with consortia of industrial partners, thus, promoting technology transfer.

Specific Topics

1. Oxidation of Molybdenum and Titanium Disilicide

This project is carried out in collaboration with Cesiwid, H.C. Starck and Technical University of Aachen under the sponsorship of the German Materials Research program. The aim of the work is to develop recommendations for the improvement of silicide materials for the use in aggressive combustion atmospheres. The corrosion tests and the microstructural evaluation as well as the modeling of the corrosion processes are performed at KWI.

2. Oxidation of TiAl-Alloys

Projects are running on the initial stages of TiAl-oxidation, funded by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, and on the oxidation behavior of P/M-TiAl-alloys, funded by the German Materials Research Program. In the first case the oxidation products after several minutes up to 100 hrs are characterized by TEM investigations and correlated with oxidation kinetics. In the second case several P/M-versions are tested concerning their oxidation resistance. This project is carried out in collaboration with Metallgesellschaft, MTU, BMW-Rolls Royce, FIA and GfE. A surprising improvement of oxidation resistance has been achieved by using the 'chlorine effect'.

3. The Influence of Water Vapor on the High Temperature Mechanical Properties of TiAI-Alloys

The project is funded by the German Ministry of Economy and performed in cooperation with MTU, Tital, ABB and Siemens. Creep strength can be significantly affected by the presence of water vapor and the investigations also include the water vapor effect on fatigue behavior.

4. The Influence of HCI-Impurities in Combustion Atmospheres on the Oxidation of Advanced Ni-Base Alloys and Coatings

This work is carried out in collaboration with Siemens, ABB and MTU and funded by the German Ministry of Economy. Small amounts of HCl impurities may decrease adhesion of protective oxide scales so that internal corrosion is increased due to the loss of the protective effect under thermal cycling and under mechanical load. In the test near-service conditions of simultaneous load and temperature changes are applied and

it turns out that optimizing the Y-content in particular in coatings can overcome the detrimental effects of HCl impurities.

5. Improvement of the Resistance Against H₂S-High-Temperature Corrosion by Coatings

Funded by the German Ministry of Economy, and supported by a committee of companies including MAN-GHH, Siemens, Ciba-Geigy, Lab and Bayer, several potential new protective coatings based on aluminides and silicides are investigated in this project. Good protection is achieved up to 700°C for a TiAl-type coating.

6. Materials for the Use in CI-containing High Temperature Environments

The project funded by the German Ministry of Economy and supported by VDM and Robert Zapp, aims at identifying the role of simultaneous mechanical stresses and chlorine attack for several commercial Ni-base alloys. The damage mechanisms are identified and modeled, and a life-time prediction procedure is developed for these conditions.

7. Development of a Test Procedure Characterizing Corrosion Resistance at Temperatures above 1500°C

This work is part of the COST 510 action and performed in collaboration with Cesiwid, Carbolite and the Universities of Erlangen and Vienna. A special thermogravimetric equipment has been developed together with Carbolite allowing the separation of negative effects by equipment oxidation from the thermogravimetric results of the specimen. Several exotic ceramics partially supplied as most recent developments from Russian ceramics research are being tested.

8. The Role of Cr-Depletion in the Metal Subsurface for the Oxidation Behavior of 9 Cr Steels With and Without Superimposed Mechanical Load at 650°C

The project is part of the European Human Capital and Mobility Action, performed together with 9 labs in other European countries. A significant drop in oxidation resistance due to Cr-depletion during oxidation is found for X20 CrMo 12 1 with about 10.4 Cr and for Nf 616. Small additions of Si seem to improve the oxidation resistance of 9 Cr-steels. Creep deformation enhances the local formation of Fe-rich non-protective oxides.

9. Adhesion Strength of Oxide Scales

Adhesion of oxide scales on TiAl and on pure Ni is measured in a modified 4 pointbending test, accompanied by acoustic emission measurements at temperatures up to 900°C. The project is funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft.

10. Measurement of Growth Stresses in Oxide Scales

In this project the unilateral strip oxidation test has been modified with a continuous electronic measurement system which records bending as a function of oxidation time. At present the growth stresses are measured for the oxide scales on TiAl and on pure Ni. Further scale/metal systems will follow. Critical growth stress levels for microcracking in the scales are detected by acoustic emission. The project is funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Oxidation of Molybdenum and Titanium Disilicide

- Melsheimer, S., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "Mechanismus der Hochtemperaturoxidation von Molybdän- und Titandisilizid," <u>Refractory Metals</u> <u>and Hard Materials - Key to Advanced Technologies</u>, Eds. H. Bildstein und R. Eck, Band <u>1</u>, Plansee Metall AG, Reutte, 939 (1993).
- Bundschuh, K., Melsheimer, S. and Schütze, M., "Hochtemperaturoxidation von MoSi₂ als Beschichtungswerkstoff auf SiC-Keramik," <u>Fortschrittsber. DKG</u>, <u>10</u>, 182-194 (1995).
- Bundschuh, K. and Schütze, M., "The Characterisation of the Environmental Resistance of Advanced Materials above 1500°C," <u>Proc. Esa/estec 2nd European</u> <u>Workshop on Thermal Protection Systems</u>, esa - European Space Agency, Paris, 145-150 (1966).
- 4. Melsheimer, S., Fietzek, M., Kolarik, V., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "Oxidation of the Intermetallics MoSi₂ and TiSi₂," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 139-203 (1997).
- 5. Melsheimer, S., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "Changes in the Transport Properties of Silicon Dioxide Due to Doping by Foreign Ions," submitted to <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>.

Germany

2. Oxidation of Titanium Aluminides

- Becker, S., Rahmel, A., Schorr, M. and Schütze, M., "Mechanism of Isothermal Oxidation of the Intermetallic TiAl and of TiAl Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>38</u>, 425 (1992).
- Rahts, K., Schorr, M., Schütze, M. and Schmitz-Niederau, M., "Darstellung von Oxidschichten und Gefüge von TiAl-Legierungen aus Hochtemperaturversuchen," <u>Praktische Metallographie</u>, <u>27</u>, 561-565 (1995).
- Rahmel, A., Quadakkers, W.J. and Schütze, M., "Fundamentals of TiAl Oxidation -A Critical Review," <u>Materials and Corrosion/Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>46</u>, 271-285 (1995).
- 9. Lang, C. and Schütze, M., "TEM-Investigations of the Early Stages of TiAl Oxidation," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 255-285 (1996).
- 10. Lang, C. and Schütze, M., "The Initial Stages in the Oxidation of TiAl," <u>Materials</u> <u>and Corrosion</u>, <u>48</u>, 13-22 (1997).
- 11. Lang, C. and Schütze, M., "TEM Studies of the Mechanisms in the Early Stages of TiAl Oxidation," submitted to <u>Microscopy of Oxidation III</u>.
- 12. Schütze, M. and Hald, M., "Processes for Improving the Oxidation Resistance of TiAl-Alloy," <u>German Patents</u> Nos. DE 195 39 305.8, DE 195 39 303.1 and DE 196 27 606.5.

3. Oxidation of Ni-Base Alloys and Coatings

- Göbel, M., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "The Isothermal Oxidation Behaviour of Several Nickel-Base Single-Crystal Superalloys With and Without Coatings," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 231 (1993).
- 14. Göbel, M., Rahmel, A., Schütze, M., Schorr, M. and Wu, W.T., "Interdiffusion Between the Platinum-Modified Aluminide Coating RT22 and Nickel-Based Single-Crystal Superalloys at 1000 and 1200°C," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>12</u>, 301-309 (1994).
- Link, T., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "The Influence of Gaseous Impurities in Air on the High Temperature Corrosion of Coated and Uncoated Nickel-Based Superalloys," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>13</u>, 55-66 (1995).

4. Interaction Between Corrosion and Mechanical Stresses

- 16. Schütze, M. and Glaser, B., "The Role of Environmental Effects for the Mechanical Behaviour of Materials at High Temperatures," <u>Aspects of High Temperature</u> <u>Deformation and Fracture in Crystalline Materials</u>, Eds. Y. Hosoi et al., The Japan Institute of Metals, Sendai, 561-567 (1993).
- Schütze, M. and Schmitz, M., "The Oxidation Behaviour of Titanium Aluminide Under the Effect of Mechanical Stresses," <u>Trans. Mat. Res. Cos. Jpn.</u>, <u>14A</u>, 219-224 (1994).
- 18. Schütze, M., Guttmann, V. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Simultaneous Corrosion and Mechanical or Thermal Stresses," <u>Guidelines for Methods of Testing and Research</u> <u>in High Temperature Corrosion</u>, Eds. H.J. Grabke and D.B. Meadowcroft, European Federation of Corrosion Publications No. <u>14</u>, The Institute of Materials, London, 104-120 (1995).
- 19. Schütze, M. and Glaser, B., "The Influence of Cl-Containing Atmospheres on Creep Crack Growth at 800°C," <u>Heat-Resistant Materials II</u>, Eds. K. Natesan et al., ASM International, Materials Park (Ohio), 343-351 (1995).
- 20. Schütze, M. and Schmitz-Niederau, M., "Interaction of Mechanical Loading and Oxidation at 900°C for TiAl," <u>Gamma Titanium Aluminides</u>, Eds. Y.-W. Kim, R. Wagner and M.Yamaguchi, TMS, Warrendale, 83-92 (1995).

5. Cyclic Oxidation/Corrosion

- 21. Becker, S., Schütze, M. and Rahmel, A., "Cyclic Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl and of TiAl Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 93 (1993).
- 22. Walter, M., Schütze, M. and Rahmel, A., "Behaviour of Oxide Scales on 12 Cr-1 Mo Steel During Thermal Cycling," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 389 (1993).
- 23. Walter, M., Schütze, M. and Rahmel, A., "Behaviour of Oxide Scales on Alloy 800 H and HK 40 During Thermal Cycling," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 37 (1993).
- 24. Schulte, M. and Schütze, M., "The Behaviour of Protective Sulfide Scales on Various Steels in H₂S-Containing Atmospheres During Temperature Changes," <u>Progress in</u> <u>the Understanding and Prevention of Corrosion</u>, Eds. J.M. Costa and A.D. Mercer, The Institute of Materials, London, 750-757 (1993).

- 25. Göbel, M., Rahmel, A. and Schütze, M., "The Cyclic-Oxidation Behaviour of Several Nickel-Base Single Crystal Superalloys Without and With Coatings," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 271-300 (1994).
- 26. Schütze, M., "Einfluß von Temperaturänderungen auf das Verhalten Schützender Sulfidschichten," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 103-105 (1996).

6. Scales and Mechanical Stresses

- 27. Schütze, M., "Mechanical Aspects of High-Temperature Oxidation," <u>Corrosion</u> <u>Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 955-963 (1993).
- 28. Küppenbender, I. and Schütze, M., "The Deformation Behaviour of NiO Scales on Ni in Argon and Air at Temperatures from 20 to 800°C With Respect to the Relief of Growth Stresses," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 109-144 (1994).
- 29. Saunders, S.R.J., Nagl, M.M. and Schütze, M., "Measurement Methods for the Determination of Fracture Strain," <u>Materials at High Temperatures</u>, <u>12</u>, 103-109 (1994).
- 30. Huntz, A.M. and Schütze, M., "Stresses Generated During Oxidation Sequences and High Temperature Fracture," <u>Materials at High Temperatures</u>, <u>12</u>, 151-161 (1994).
- Schütze, M., "An Approach to a Global Model of the Mechanical Behaviour of Oxide Scales," <u>Materials at High Temperatures</u>, <u>12</u>, 237-247 (1994).
- 32. Schütze, M., "Mechanical Properties of Oxide Scales," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 29-61 (1995).
- 33. Schütze, M. and Nicholls, J.R., "Behaviour of Scales Under Mechanical Loading," Oxidation of Metals, <u>45</u>, 605-613 (1996).
- 34. Schütze, M., "Protective Oxide Scales and Their Breakdown," <u>Series on Corrosion</u> <u>and Protection Vol. I</u>, ed. D.R. Holmes, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, (1997).

Stratmann, M., Prof. Dr.		
Institute of Materials Science IV		
Chair of Corrosion and Surface Technology		
University of Erlangen		
Martensstraße 7		
D-91058 Erlangen		
Tel:	+49 9131 85 7576	
Fax:	+49 9131 85 7582	
e.mail:	stratman@servww4.ww.uni-erlangen.de	
Key Personnel:		Stratmann, M., Prof. Dr., Auer, W., Dr., Rohwetdet, M., Dr., Heldt, J., Dr., Kremer, R., Dr., Rebhan, M., Schramm, B., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:		Interface structure; Metal-oxide formation; Aluminides; Silicides; Thermal cycling; Chemical vapor deposition; Surface analytical methods

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The aim of the research is to understand the formation and growth behavior of corrosive layers which are formed by oxidation, hydrogenation, sulfidation, chloridation, nitridation, carbonation and silicide formation on a microscopic level. The group therefore combines classical methods like thermogravimetry, volumetry and resistometry with surface analytical tools like electron spectroscopic techniques (AES, XPS, UPS), diffraction methods (LEED) and scanning probe microscopy (STM, AFM) in order to characterize the initial steps during the formation of the scales and to understand the underlying kinetic and thermodynamic processes. It is believed that this approach leads to a better understanding of the phase boundary region between metals or alloys and the corrosive layer. The work which is introduced in the following abstracts is financed by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG).

Specific Topics

1. High-Temperature Corrosion of Nickel-Aluminides in Complex Gas Mixtures

The kinetics of high temperature corrosion of nickel-aluminides was measured gravimetrically. The resulting morphology of the corrosion products was analyzed with light and electron microscopy, whereas the elemental composition of the corrosive layers was elucidated from Auger microprobe analysis. A mixture of H, and HCl resulted in an almost selective chloridation of Al. The speed of the chloridation increased with the aluminum content of the sample, with the rate-determining step being the transport of the aluminum chlorides in the gas phase through the pores in the scale. The sulfidation in a H₂-H₂S gas mixture showed a parabolic time dependence, but was almost independent of the aluminum content in the range of 25 to 45% Al. The result of the reaction is a multilayer system (Ni₃S₂ outside and NiAl₃₅S₅₅ inside) which is independent of the H₂S partial pressure (1 - 10 vol%.) in the temperature range from 750°C to 950°C. The growth of the sulfide is accomplished by diffusion of nickel cations to the surface and of sulfide anions into the bulk. Reaction of NiAl with an aluminum content of less than 25% resulted in a layer with low Al content and inner sulfidation of aluminum. Low oxygen partial pressures in the H₂-H₂O-H₂S system suppressed the sulfidation but the inner oxidation was enhanced, which resulted in the destruction of the metallic samples within a rather short time.

2. Oxidation Mechanism of Titanium Aluminides

The formation of a protective Al_2O_3 layer depends on the Al content of the titanium aluminides, on their structure, the previous surface treatment, the reaction temperature and the purity of the oxygen. An atmosphere of pure oxygen resulted in the selective oxidation of Ti55Al and the formation of an Al_2O_3 layer. The corrosive multilayer consisted of an outer TiO₂ scale, followed by an Al_2O_3 -rich layer. A mixture of TiO₂ and Al_2O_3 is formed at low aluminum contents. This complex multilayer system showed only little lateral expansion which increased with decreasing aluminum content. A N_2 - O_2 gas mixture suppressed the formation of the protecting Al_2O_3 surface layer almost completely, but the above mentioned complex multilayer system could also be found. Segregation of TiN is observed at the boundary layer between the oxide and the titanium aluminide. Titanium aluminides with an Al content between 45 and 55%, which were oxidized in a H_2 - H_2O gas mixture, showed a large region with decreased Al content underneath the complex multilayer oxide. It consists of segregated Al_2O_3 and a homogenous a_2 -Ti₃Al phase.

3. The Influence of the Surrounding Environment on the Threshold of Corrosion Fatigue

The influence of dry hydrogen, oxygen and water vapor on the threshold of corrosion fatigue of the 90MnV8 steel has been studied. The aim was to elucidate the parameters for the formation of cracks in the samples. The influence of the gas mixture on the threshold microstructure was analyzed by REM and TEM.

4. Study of the Initial Steps during High Temperature Oxidation of Metallic Materials by in-situ UHV-STM

The initial steps during high-temperature oxidation of clean metal surfaces will be investigated with respect to oxide nucleation and growth with in-situ STM. The aim will be the structural characterization of the interface during isothermal experimental conditions. The group will also try to correlate the oxide nucleation and growth behavior with the crystallographic orientation of the substrate. Additionally, the influence of thermal cycling will be investigated, with special emphasis on the thermal expansion and the subsequent misfit between the metallic substrate and the oxide lattice. Later on thicker oxide layers will be grown and the blistering of these scales observed. The studies will be extended to technologically important alloys, for instance titanium aluminides. In-situ variable temperature STM will also be used in order to get an atomistic view of the structural properties of the metal-oxide interface. Additionally the results of the STM will be corroborated with studies by LEED, AES, XPS and UPS to get some insight into the long-range order, the elemental composition and the electronic properties of the oxide layer.

5. Growth, Electrical and Electrochemical Properties of Iron Silicides on Iron

It is intended to grow iron silicides on single- and polycrystalline iron by chemical vapor deposition of a SiH_4 - H_2 gas mixture at elevated temperatures. The reaction kinetics within the phase boundary region and the diffusion of silicon into the bulk are characterized by thermogravimetry in combination with AES and sputter-depth-profile analysis. Impedance spectroscopy will be used to investigate the electrical and electrochemical properties of the iron silicide films. Later on the iron silicide samples will be exposed to an oxygen atmosphere to grow a passive silicate layer.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Schramm, B. and Auer, W., "Sulfidation Behaviour of Nickel Aluminides," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>12</u>, 678-684 (1996).

Germany

2. Kremer, R. and Auer, W., "Influence of Moisture on the Oxidation of (-TiAl," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>1</u>, 35-40 (1997).

Strehblow, H.-H., Prof.

Institut für Physikalische Chemie und Elektrochemie II Heinrich-Heine Universität Düsseldorf

Universitätsstr. 1		
D-40225 Düsseldorf		
Tel:	+49 211 8114867	
Fax:	+49 211 8114842	
e.mail:	henning@serv1.pc2str. uni-duesseldorf.de	
Key Personnel:		Strehblow, HH., Prof.
Scientific Key Words:		Surface analytical methods; Chloridation; Chlorine; Reactive element effect; Heat-resistant steels; X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy; Auger electron spectroscopy
Technical Key Words:		Heat exchangers; Waste incineration

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The main focus of the research is the corrosion behaviour of iron- and nickel-based high-temperature alloys. In the temperature range from 700 to 1000°C, commercial materials as well as model alloys are tested in both oxygen- and chlorine-containing environments. Emphasis is placed on a possible rare-earth effect for the applied aggressive gas mixtures and the influence of pretreatment on the protection properties of some commercial alloys. In collaboration with the J. Stefan Institute, Ljubljana, Slovenia the high temperature corrosion resistance of hard PVD nitride coatings on commercial alloys has been examined.

Specific Topics

1. High Temperature Chlorination Behavior of Inconel 600

This research is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. The corrosion behaviour of Inconel 600 is studied for different gas compositions, pretreatments and exposure times at 700°C. From the composition and the distribution of the elements inside the corrosion layer, determined by XPS depth profiling, mechanistic information

Germany

concerning the chloride attack, and the protective properties of the oxide scales in dependence on their composition, are obtained.

2. The Active Element Effect in Chlorine- and Oxygen-Containing Environments at 700°C

This research is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. The influence of reactive elements on the corrosion behaviour of commercial alloys is studied, as well as of some model alloys with different contents of the reactive element. Emphasis lies on alloys with contents of niobium, cerium and yttrium.

3. Thermal Oxidation of TiN and CrN Hard Coatings

This work is performed in collaboration with Navinšek, B., Prof., Dr. and Milošev, I., Dr., from the J. Stefan Institute, Ljubljana, Slovenia and has been supported by the International Bureau of the Research Center Jülich, Germany. The aims of this research program are experimental data and mechanistic information, especially with regard to the corrosion behaviour of CrN and TiN hard coatings on commercial alloy substrates obtained by reactive sputtering at 200°C. The main focus lies on their protective properties against aggressive HCl/O₂ gas mixtures at $T \leq 700^{\circ}C$.

4. A Closed Specimen Transfer for Surface Analytical Application

This research has been supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. The aim is the construction and test of a low-cost system for specimen transfer under inert conditions. The developed compact and mobile system allows the specimen transfer from different external preparation stages to the ultra high vacuum of a XPS, UPS, AES and ISS-spectrometer without any significant surface contamination.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation

- Milošev, I., Strehblow, H.-H., Navinšek, B. and Metikoš-Hukovic, M., "Electrochemical and Thermal Oxidation of TiN Coatings Studied by XPS," <u>Surface</u> <u>and Interface Analysis</u>, <u>23</u>, 529-539 (1995).
- Milošev, I., Strehblow, H.-H. and Navinšek, B., "XPS in the Study of High-Temperature Oxidation of CrN and TiN Hard Coatings," <u>Surface and Coatings</u> <u>Technology</u>, <u>74-75</u>, 897-902 (1995).

- Milošev, I., Navinšek, B. and Strehblow, H.-H., "Corrosion Properties of Hard PVD Nitride Coatings (with the Emphasis on TiN)," German-Slovenian Cooperation in Research and Technological Development, <u>Forschungszentrum Jülich</u>, <u>Zentralbibliothek</u> (1995).
- Milošev, I., Strehblow, H.-H., Gaberscek, and Navinsek, B., "Electrochemical Oxidation of ZrN Hard (PVD) Coatings Studied by XPS," <u>Surface and Interface</u> <u>Analysis</u>, <u>Vol. 24</u>, 448-458 (1996)
- 5. Milošev, I., Abels, J.-M., Strehblow, H.-H., Navinšek, B. and Metikoš-Hukovic, M., "High Temperature Oxidation of Thin CrN Coatings Deposited on Steel," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Vacuum Science and Technology</u>, <u>A 14(4)</u>, 2527-2534 (1996).
- Milošev, I., Strehblow, and Navinsek, B., "Comparison of TiN, ZrN and CrN Hard Nitride Coatings: Electrochemical and Thermal Oxidation," <u>Thin Solid Films</u>, <u>303</u>, 246-254 (1997)

2. High-Temperature Degradation in Aggressive Gases

 Abels, J.-M. and Strehblow, H.-H., "A Surface Analytical Approach to the High Temperature Chlorination Behaviour of Inconel 600 at 700°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>39</u>, 115-132 (1997).

3. Miscellaneous

8. Abels, J.-M., Hecht, D. and Strehblow, H.-H., "A Closed Specimen Transfer for Surface Analytical Application," <u>Surface and Interface Analysis</u>, <u>24</u>, 332-338 (1996).

HUNGARY

CONTENTS

Õsz, J., Prof and Salamon	T., Prof	.H-2
---------------------------	----------	------

Hungary

Õsz, J., Prof.

Department for Energy

Technical University Budapest

Mûegyetem rkp. 3.

1111 Budapest

Tel: +36 14 632558

Fax: +36 14 632203

e.mail: osz@eta.enrg.bme.hu

Salamon, T., Prof.

Department of Physical Chemistry

University of Veszprém

Tel: +36 88 423409

Fax: +36 88 423409

e.mail: salamon@almos.vein.hu

Scientific Key Words:	Computer modeling; Databases; Deposits/heat transfer; Erosion; Erosion-corrosion; Inpurities; In-plant monitoring; Lifetime; Reducing environments
Technical Key Words:	Boiler tube failures; Combined cycle system; Fossil-fuel boiler; Steam turbine; Nuclear power systems; Steam generators; In-plant monitoring

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The Department for Energy has not done fundamental corrosion research as such; rather it does applied research relating to thermal and nuclear power plants: water chemistry of the steam cycles; transport of impurities; chemicals and corrosion products of the steam cycles, failures and lifetime of main equipment.

The Department of Physical Chemistry co-operates with the Department for Energy, and has done fundamental corrosion research: high temperature corrosion of high alloyed and stainless steels in NH₃ and KOH buffered boric acid solutions.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Specific Topics

1. Modelling of Stochastic Processes of Erosion-Corrosion in Thermal Powerplant Equipments

The corrosion and water chemistry database of the units by electrical power of 200 MW, operating in Hungarian thermal power plants was created. The iron corrosion transport model of steam cycles was developed and its simulation program was ready. The research was financed by OTKA (National Scientific Research Fund) and MVM Rt. (Hungarian Electricity Company), Tisza and Dunamenti Powerplant Company.

2. The Modification of Secondary Water Chemistry for NPP Paks

The shell-side corrosion risk factors of WWER-440 steam generators were analysed by the new reliability philosophy of PWR steam generators, and on the bais of this analysis the proposals (change of copper tubes to stainless steel in condenser, initiation of HAVT in working medium) were made to modify the secondary water regime. This modification will be realized in the Paks Nuclear Powerplant, which financed this research, at all units between 1997-2000.

3. The Water Chemistry Expert System of NPP Paks

Six simulating models of Paks NPP (Primary Side: Water Chemistry, Activity Transport; Secondary Side: Ion Impurities, Chemicals and Iron Corrosion Products Transport of Steam Cycles, Mixed-Bed Ion Exchangers) were made and controlled. The computer program of the expert system was made and controlled also; its implementation will be to the NPP net in 1997.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Õsz, J., Nagy, O., Salamon, T. and Tilky, P., "Reduction, Minimization of the Corrosion Risk of the Steam Generators and the Erosion-Corrosion of the Secondary Side at Nuclear Powerplant Paks," <u>Second International Seminar on Primary and</u> <u>Secondary Side Water Chemistry of Nuclear Power Plants</u>, Hungary, Balatonfüred, September 19-23 (1995).
- Õsz, J., "Knowledge Base of the Water Chemistry Expert System for Nuclear Powerplant Paks," <u>Second International Seminar on Primary and Secondary Side</u> <u>Water Chemistry of Nuclear Power Plants</u>, Hungary, Balatonfüred, September 19-23 (1995).

Hungary

- 3. Lipovszki, Gy., "Computer Implementation of the Water Chemistry Expert System for NPP Paks," <u>Second International Seminar on Primary and Secondary Side Water</u> <u>Chemistry of Nuclear Power Plants</u>, Hungary, Balatonfüred, September 19-23 (1995).
- 4. Õsz, J., "Erosion-Corrosion of the Thermal Powerplant Equipments," <u>Hungarian</u> <u>Energetics</u>, pp42-48 (1996/1).

INDIA

CONTENTS

Bose, S.K., Prof. and Roy, S.K., Prof.	I-2
Khanna, A.S., Prof	I-7
Pillai Rajendran, S., Dr., Sivai barasi, N. and Khatak, H.S., Dr	I-11
Singh, I.B., Dr	I-12

Bose, S.K., Prof. and Roy, S.K., Prof.

Corrosion Research Group

Metallurgical and Materials Engineering Department

Indian Institute of Technology

Kharagpur - 721302

Tel: +91 3222 55 221/222/223 Extn 4767

Fax: +91 3222 55 303

Telex: 06401 - 201 ITKG IN

e.mail: skbose@hijli.iitkgp.ernet.in; sanat@hijli.iitkgp.ernet.in

Key Personnel: Bose, S.K., Prof., Roy, S.K., Prof.

Scientific Key Words:	Copper oxidation; Coating durability/adhesion; Coating interfaces; Coating methods; Cyclic oxidation; Laser alloying; Mechanisms; Oxidation at low oxygen pressure; Oxide-metal interface; Point defects; Reactive element effect; Silicides; Iodination; Vacancy annihilation/creation; Void formation during oxidation; Surface analytical methods
Technical Key Words:	Solar absorbers; Fuel cells; Steam generators; Engine materials; Surface engineering

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research activities of this laboratory mainly embrace fundamental studies relating to film/scale growth processes on different metal-oxygen and metal-halogen systems, with emphasis on kinetics and growth mechanisms, defect structure of the compounds, transport properties of the different species, adhesion and protective properties of the scales etc. The superimposition of external stimuli such as impressed direct current, impressed static charge and short circuiting across the two reaction interfaces has thrown more light on the role of the interfacial reactions vis-a-vis the inherent physical properties of the growing film/scale and their effect on subsequent growth processes. Novel experimental techniques have been devised to examine changes, if there are any, on the nature of driving forces (Wagner's electrochemical potential gradient and Mott's electrical field gradient) brought about by such external influences. The role of

aliovalent dopants in altering the rate of film/scale growth caused by changes in the bulk properties of the reaction products, has also been probed.

Specific Topics

1. Oxidation Kinetics of Copper and Iron under Two Different Modes of Impressed Direct Current, Short Circuiting and Impressed Static Charge

The acceleration and deceleration in the rates of oxide growth on Cu/Cu₂O/CuO/O₂ (g) and Fe/FeO/CO + CO₂ (g) in a wide range of temperature (973-1173 K), under the two different modes of current application (interrupted and uninterrupted), have established the differential responses of the two reaction interfaces to the scale growth processes. The effect of a shorting circuitry attachment between the M/MO and MO/O₂ (g) interfaces during the scale growth process has normally been reported to enhance the oxidation rate. However, this has been found to be valid only within Wagner's parabolic regime. In contrast, the reverse effect has been observed in the Mott's field-induced parabolic growth region. Static charge application of either kind at one of the reaction interfaces during scale growth process has also brought about changes in the rates. This study has unequivocally established that, without allowing a net electrical current to flow through the growing oxide, modification in the oxide growth rates can be achieved.

2. Iodine Film Growth on Lead and Silver

Tarnishing studies on lead and silver in iodine atmosphere ($PI_2 = 0.067 - 6.578$ kPa) over a wide temperature range (333 - 523 K) have established the defect structures of PbI_2 and AgI to be Schottky-Wagner type and Frenkel type, respectively. In conformity to existing literature, the shorting circuitry attachment between the two reaction interfaces has resulted in enhancement in iodination rates. The kinetic data have been utilized to estimate the potential developed across the iodide layers, diffusivity, concentration of defects, hole and ionic conductivities. The effect of aliovalent elements like Sb and Ag in Pb and Cd in Ag affecting the iodination rates has been explained in terms of defect interactions and transport properties of the defect species.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The main activities centre around development of high temperature coatings to reduce scale loss and improve scale adhesion. However, the emphasis is on the use of superficially applied coatings and coatings developed by laser surface alloying. Studies relating to oxidation behavior of ferritic steels like 2.25-Cr-1Mo and 9Cr-1Mo used for

steam generators have also been one of the activities in collaboration with Indira Gandhi Centre for Atomic Research, Kalpakkam.

Specific Topics

1. Development of High Temperature Scaling Resistant Coatings for Plain-Carbon Steels

Plain carbon steels which virtually do not have much high temperature oxidation resistance are invariably subjected to high temperature treatments in air or other oxidizing environments during their various stages of manufacturing processes in steel plants. A number of coating mixtures consisting of various proportions of bentonite, ferro-silicon, ferro-manganese and calcium silicide have resulted in remarkable improvement in reducing scale loss and facilitating scale adhesion.

2. Improvement in Oxidation Resistance of Austenitic Grades Stainless Steel by Superficially Applied Rare Earth Oxides.

AISI-304, -316, -321 and -347 grades of stainless steel are considered to be potential materials of construction for the primary circuit, controlled components, thermal insulations, hot box components etc. in the fast breeder reactors. Such components are invariably subjected to thermal cycling during their service period. Superficially applied rare earth oxide coatings on such steels have shown similar improved oxidation resistance and scale adhesion, as reported for such alloys with elemental rare earth or their oxide dispersoid additions. Similar studies are in progress with AISI-310 grade stainless steel. This investigation is also being extended to c.p. grade Ti and Ti-6AI-4V alloy, where preliminary studies have exhibited promising results even though TiO₂ is known to be a predominantly n-type oxide.

3. Oxidation Behavior of Ferritic Steels for Steam Generators

A detailed study on the effect of microstructural variations of 2.25Cr-1Mo and 9Cr-1Mo steels involving grain size, precipitation of Cr-rich secondary phases brought about by different types of heat treatments as well as welding, on their air oxidation behavior in the temperature range of 773-973K, has been the subject of investigation in collaboration with I.G.C.A.R. Kalpakkam. It is established that tempering treatments, which are normally applied to such steels for improvement in mechanical properties, should be restricted to such time-temperature parameters so that precipitation of Cr-based carbides like $M_{23}C_6$ and M_7C_3 be avoided to retain oxidation resistance.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High Temperature Oxidation/lodination

- Roy, S.K., Seal, S., Bose, S.K. and Caillet, M., "Effect of Superficially Applied CeO₂ Coating on the Non-Isothermal Oxidation of 321 Grade Stainless Steel," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Materials Science Letters</u>, <u>12</u>, 249-251 (1993).
- Mitra, S.K., Roy, S.K. and Bose, S.K., "Influence of Superficial Coating of CeO₂ on the Oxidation Behavior of AISI-304 Stainless Steel," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 221-229 (1993).
- 3. Singh Raman, R.K., Gnanamoorthy, J.B. and Roy, S.K., "Oxidation Behavior of 2.25Cr-1Mo Steel with Prior Tempering at Different Temperatures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 21-36 (1993).
- Singh Raman, R.K., Gnanamoorthy, J.B. and Roy, S.K., "Microstructural Variations in the Weldment of 9Cr-1Mo Steel and Their Influence on the High Temperature Oxidation Behavior," Proceedings of <u>National Welding Seminar</u> at Bhilai in December '93, pp12(a)-12(e) (1993).
- Singh Raman, R.K., Gnanamoorthy, J.B. and Roy, S.K., "High Temperature Corrosion of Weldments of Cr-Moly Ferritic Steels," Proceedings of Symposium on "<u>Welding in Power Plants</u>", at Madras, in February '94, pp57-70 (1994).
- 6. Kuiry, S.C., Roy, S.K. and Bose, S.K., "A Superficial Coating to Improve High Temperature Oxidation Resistance of Plain Carbon Steels Under Non-Isothermal Conditions," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 65-79 (1994).
- Seal, S., Bose, S.K. and Roy, S.K., "Improvement in Non-Isothermal Oxidation Behavior of Austenitic Grades of Stainless Steel by Superficially Applied Cerium Oxide Coating," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 139-178 (1994).
- 8. Kuiry, S.C., Seal, S., Bose, S.K. and Roy, S.K., "Effect of Surface Preparation on the High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of AISI-316 Grade Stainless Steel," <u>Iron and Steel Institute of Japan International</u>, <u>34</u>, 599-606 (1994).
- Kuiry, S.C., Bose, S.K. and Roy, S.K., "Development of High Temperature Scaling Resistant Coating for Plain Carbon Steels," <u>Industrial Product Finder</u>, <u>22</u>, 209-213 (1994).

- Singh Raman, R.K., Gnanamoorthy, J.B. and Roy, S.K., "Synergistic Influence of Grain Size and Si Content on Oxidation Behavior of 9Cr-1Mo Steel," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 1-21 (1994).
- 11. Singh Raman, R.K., Gnanamoorthy, J.B. and Roy, S.K., Oxidation Behavior of Microstructurally Different Regions in the Weldment of 9Cr-1Mo Steel," <u>Oxidation</u> <u>of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 31-47 (1994).
- Roy, S.K., Ananth, V. and Bose, S.K., "Oxidation Behavior of Copper at High Temperature Under Two Different Modes of Current Applications," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 185-215 (1995).
- Roy, S.K., Bottino, C., Kuiry, S.C., Rakesh, V.R. and Bose, S.K., "Improved High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of AISI 347 Grade Stainless Steel by Superficial Coating of CeO₂," <u>Iron and Steel Institute of Japan International</u>, <u>35</u>, 433-442 (1995).
- Kuiry, S.C., Roy, S.K. and Bose, S.K., "Hole Conductivity Estimation in Lead Iodide Film Through Kinetic Study of Tarnishing Reactions," <u>Materials Research Bulletin</u>, <u>31</u>, 317-327 (1996).
- 15. Bose, S.K., Mitra, S.K. and Roy, S.K., "Effect of Short Circuiting on the Oxidation Kinetics of Copper and its Doped Varieties in the Temperature Range of 523-1073 K," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 73-107 (1996).
- 16. Kuiry, S.C., Roy, S.K. and Bose, S.K., "Kinetics and Mechanism of Lead Iodide Film Growth on Lead," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 397-421 (1996).
- Kuiry, S.C., Roy, S.K. and Bose, S.K., "Kinetics and Mechanism of Film Growth on Lead - Effect of Short Circuiting and Higher Valent Dopant," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 295-315 (1997).
- Bose, S.K., Mitra, S.K. and Roy, S.K., "Oxidation Kinetics of Copper Under Charge Supply," <u>Transactions of Indian Institute of Metals</u>, <u>50</u>, 85-96 (1997).

2. Miscellaneous

 Fasasi, A.Y., Roy, S.K., Galerie, A. and Caillet, M., "Development of Protective Coatings on Ti-6Al-4V by Laser Surface Alloying," <u>Surface Engineering</u>, <u>Vol.1</u>: <u>Fundamentals of Coatings</u>, Eds. P.K. Dutta and J.B. Gray, Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, U.K., 57-67 (1993). 20. Roy, S.K., Fasasi, A.Y., Galerie, A. and Caillet, M., "High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Laser Surface Alloyed Iron-Silicon Coatings on Iron," <u>Journal de</u> <u>Physique IV</u>, <u>3 (Part II)</u> 625-633 (1993).

Khanna,	A.S.,	Prof.
---------	-------	-------

Corrosion Science and Engineering		
Indian Institute of Technology, Powai		
Bombay - 400 076		
Tel:	+91 22 578 2545 and +91 22 578 7401	
Fax:	+91 22 578 3480	
Telex:	011-72313 IITB IN	
e.mail:	khanna@cc.iitb.ernet.in	
Key Personnel:		Khanna, A.S., Prof.
Scientific Key Words:		Acoustic emission; Coated and uncoated superalloys; Coating methods; Cyclic oxidation; Deposits; Hot- corrosion; Diffusion coatings; Future gas turbine materials; Heat exchanger materials; Intermetallics; Laser alloying; Surface modifications; Thermal barrier coatings; Plasma and arc; Pack cementation; Spallation; Wear; Water vapor
Technical Key Words:		Boiler tube failures; Fossil fuel-fired boiler; Gas turbines; Single crystal alloys; Thermal barrier coating systems; Steam generators; Surface engineering

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The main aim of the high temperature research at the Indian Institute of Technology is to understand the basic mechanisms of degradation of metals and alloys in various industrial applications and train the research students towards high temperature corrosion research. Research projects are assigned to students to carry out basic studies. Three main areas have been concentrated on in the last few years: (a) oxidation research for studying the material degradation in power generating systems, (b) development of high performance materials by surface modification and (c) development of new materials for gas turbine applications. It is unfortunate that the Indian industry does not fund these projects of great importance in the international market. Therefore, the aim of the work remains of academic interest.

Specific Topics

1. Materials Degradation in Power Generating Industry

In the last few years, work is going on to study the degradation behaviour of several superalloys, single crystals. The mechanism of oxidation, hot corrosion, is being studied by carrying out various isothermal, cyclic and short- and long-term tests. Detailed analyses of scale morphologies and composition using sophisticated techniques such as SEM/EDAX, EPMA, SIMS, AES/ESCA leads to understanding of the degradation mechanism (project in collaboration with Research Centre Juelich under Indo-Germany Bilateral Programme).

2. Intermetallics

Oxidation of intermetallics is another important project which is being pursued for the last three years. The studies are being carried out on the alpha2 intermetallics. The effect of Nb has been studied, and the effect of heat treatment, which changes the microstructure, has been investigated with regard to the oxidation behaviour. The effect of quaternary addition to TiAlNb alloys is being studied to achieve the best oxidation resistance.

3. Surface Modification

One of the main works undertaken in the last five years is the surface modification by a laser technique. Mild steel, and ferritic steels, such as 21/4Cr-1Mo and 9Cr-1Mo, have been modified to change their surface composition, which gives not only better oxidation resistance at high temperatures but also better aqueous corrosion resistance. Similarly, 304 stainless steel has been improved by making its surface rich in Mo, to make it better than even commercial available Avesta type super austenitic stainless steels. (The project is being funded by Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi, also in collaboration with the Fraunhofer Institute for Lasertechnik, Aachen, Germany).

4. Failure Analysis

In addition, much work on the failure analysis of boiler tubes, tubes failed due to sulfidic corrosion in petrochemical plants is also undertaken and suitable recommendations are given for future safeguards.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

Some of the important publications in the last 3 years are given below:

- Khanna, A.S., Quadakkers, W.J., Yang, X. and Schuster H., "On the Mechanism of Oxidation of NiCrAl Base Alloys in Air and Air Containing SO₂," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 275 (1993).
- Khanna, A.S. and Desai, V.H., "Corrosion and Oxidation Behaviour of Ti-Al Surface Alloys Formed Using Laser Irradiation," <u>Proc. 12th International Congress on</u> <u>Metallic Corrosion</u>, Sept. 9-14, Houston, Texas, Vol.1, p250, NACE International (1993).
- 3. Khanna, A.S., Singh Raman, R.K. and Kreutz, E.W., "Oxidation Resistance of Plasma Coated and Laser Treated Mild Steel," in High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of Materials," R. Streiff, J. Stringer, R.C. Krutenat and M. Caillet, <u>Journal de Physique IV</u>, <u>3</u>, 635 (1993).
- Pujar, M.G., Dayal, R.K., Khanna, A.S. and Kruetz, E.W., "Effect of Laser Surface Melting on the Corrosion Behaviour of Cr-Plated Ferritic Steel in Acidic Media," <u>Journal of Materials Science</u>, <u>28</u>, 3089 (1993).
- 5. Khanna, A.S., "High Temperature Corrosion of Materials," in <u>Metallic Corrosion</u>, <u>Principles and Control</u>, Eds. A.S. Khanna, S.N. Malhotra, K.S.V. Santhanam and M.E. Totlani, M.E, Wiley Eastern, Delhi, pp123-136 (1994).
- 6. Khanna, A.S., "Recent Approaches to the Understanding of Corrosion," Proc., "<u>New Horizons and Current Opportunities in Chemistry of Materials</u>", organized by USEFI, TIFR, Bombay, Feb. 10-11, pp146-171 (1994).
- N'gandu Muamba, J.M., Streiff, R. and Khanna, A.S., "The Effect of Chromiumaluminide and Aluminide Coatings on the Oxidation Behaviour of Some Ni-Base Superalloys," in <u>Materials for Advanced Power Engineering</u>, <u>Part II</u>, Eds. D. Coutsouradis et al., Kluver Academic Publisher, Netherlands, p1335 (1994).
- 8. Khanna, A.S., Gasser, A., Wissenback, K., Desai, V.H. and Quadakkers, W.J., "Effect of Laser Treatment on the Oxidation Behaviour of Mild Steel Plasma Deposited with Cr+Ni," Journal of Materials Science, <u>3</u>, 4648 (1995).
- 9. Khanna, A.S., Coddet, C., Harendranath, C.S. and Anuja, K., "Surface Property Modification Using Vacuum Plasma Technique," <u>Prot, ITSC 95 Conf. on Thermal</u> <u>Spray</u>, Kobe, Japan, 22-26 May, Vol. II, pp577-584 (1995).
- Pattnaik, A.K., Khanna, A.S. and Wissenback, K., "Oxidation and Corrosion Behaviour of Mild Steel Plasma Coated with Cr and Ni Followed by Laser Treatment," <u>Proc. ITSC 95 Conf. on Thermal Spray</u>, Kobe, Japan, 22-26 May, Vol. II, pp993-1000 (1995).
- 11. Pattnaik, A.K., Khanna, A.S. Harendranath, C.S., Wissenbach, K. and Goswami, G.L., "Oxidation and Corrosion Behaviour of Laser Alloyed Mild Steel with Chromium," <u>Bulletin of Materials Science</u>, <u>18</u>, 169 (1995).

- 12. Prasanna, K.M.N., Khanna, A.S., Ramesh Chander and Quadakkers, W.J., "Effect of θ-Alumina Formation on the Growth Kinetics of Alumina Forming Superalloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 465 (1996).
- 13. Sridhar, K., Khanna, A.S. and Deshmukh, M.B., "Development of Superaustenitic Steels for Marine Applications," <u>Laser Engineering</u>, <u>5</u>, 107-125(1996).
- Priya Smpath, Khanna, A.S. and Ganti, S.S., "Environmentally Influenced Degradation of Fibre Reinforced Composites," <u>Materials Performance</u>, <u>36</u>, 65-69 (1996).
- 15. Khedkar, J., Khanna, A.S. and Grupt, K.M., "Tribological Behaviour of Plasma and Laser Coated Steels," <u>Wear</u>, <u>205</u>, 220-227 (1996).
- Pattnaik, A.K. and Khanna, A.S., "Laser Surface Processing of Cr Coated 9Cr-1Mo Ferritic Steel for Improved Corrosion Resistance," <u>Proc. Int. Conf. on Thermal Spray</u>, <u>STM-10</u>, Singapore 2-4 Sept. (1996).
- Pattnaik, A.K., Khanna, A.S. and Harendranath, C.S., "Oxidation Resistance of 21/4Cr-1Mo Steel After Laser Surface Alloying with Cr," <u>Metal Forum</u>, 285-292 (1996).
- 18. Jha, S.K., Khanna, A.S. and Harendranath, C.S., "Oxidation Behaviour of Alpha 2 Intermetallics," <u>Metal Forum</u>, 205-212 (1996).
- 19. Jha, S.K., Khanna, A.S. and Harandranath, C.S., "Oxidation Characteristics of Ti3AlNb Alloys and Improvement in the Oxidation Resistance by Pack Aluminizing," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 465-493 (1996).
- 20. Khanna, A.S., Maya, G. and Ramakrishnan, P., "Oxidation Behaviour of C/Al and SiC/Al Composites, Journal of Materials Science, <u>31</u> 6653-58(1996).
- Khanna, A.S. and Pattnaik. A.K., "Recent Trends in the Formation of Corrosion Resistant Alloys Using Laser Surface Alloying," <u>Proc. International Conference on</u> <u>Recent Advances in Metallurgical Processes</u>, IISc, Bangalore, India, D.H. Shastri, E.A. Dwarakadasa, G.N.K. Iyerngar and S. Subramaniam (editors), <u>2</u>, pp1281-89 (1997).
- 22. Khanna, A.S. and Pattnaik, A.K., "Recent Trends in the Coatings for High Temperature Applications," <u>Trans MFAI</u>, <u>6</u>, 187-206 (1997).

Piliai Rajendran, S., Dr., S	Pillai Rajendran, S., Dr., Sivai barasi, N. and Khatak, H.S., Dr.		
Metallurgy Division			
Indira Gandhi Centre for Atomic Research			
Kalpakkam, Tamil Nadu 603 102			
Tel: +91 4 114 40202	+91 4 114 40202		
Fax: +91 4 114 40301; +	+91 4 114 40360; +91 4 114 40396		
e.mail: srp@igcar.ernet.in; khatak@igcar.ernet.in			
Key Personnel:	Pillai Rajendran, S., Dr., Sivai barasi, N. Khatak, H.S., Dr.		
Scientific Key Words:	Oxidation; Acoustic emission; Spallation; Stress and scale behavior		
Technical Key Words:	Nuclear power systems; Steam generators; Very high temperature heat exchangers		

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Oxidation Under External Stress of 9Cr-1Mo Steel

This research activity is targeted at understanding the high temperature corrosion behavior of steam generator materials. Oxidation by steam/water of the materials leads to generation of scale that impedes heat transfer. Moreover, after crossing a definite thickness, the scale spalls and is carried through the fluid to other vital components of the system where these corrosion products are deposited. The integrity of the scale is also influenced by the external stress experienced by the components. A study is in progress to understand the oxidation behavior of 9Cr-1Mo steel in air for different temperatures and durations with the objective of understanding the scale behavior. In this study, tensile specimens of 9Cr-1Mo steel were subjected to oxidation under an external stress of 40 MPa. The cracking behavior of the scale was monitored by an in-situ acoustic emission technique. Specimens were also subjected to oxidation without application of external stress. The modes of failure of the oxide scale were determined in this way. The data were supported by post-oxidation examination using SEM and EDS. The overall aim of the work is to evolve predictive modes about scale growth so that the schedule of component maintenance by scale removal may be worked out.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Pillai Rajendran, S., Sivai barasi, N. and Khatak, H.S., "High-Temperature Oxidation of 9Cr-1Mo Steel-Influence of External Stress on the Integrity of the Oxide Scale," <u>Proc. Symposium on Localized Corrosion Environmental Cracking</u>, January, Kalpakkam, India, paper C-31 (1997).

Singh, I.B., Dr.

Regional Research Laboratory		
Council of Scientific and Industrial Research		
Hoshangabad Road		
Bhopal - 462026		
Tel: +91 0755 587615 a	+91 0755 587615 and +91 0755 587609	
Fax: +91 0755 587042 and +91 0755 580985		
Telegram: "Research" Bhopal		
Key Personnel:	Singh, I.B., Dr., Balakrishnan, K., Dr., Sultan, S., Dr., Venkatachari, G., Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:	Hot corrosion; Fused salts; Electrochemical measurements; Oxidation	
Technical Key Words:	Heat-transfer; Thermal storage; Fuel ash corrosion; Power plant	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The thrust of the research is on the hot corrosion of metals and alloys in fused salts, with emphasis on their electrochemical phenomena and the role of moisture in influencing the electrochemical reactions related to hot corrosion of metals. The research includes fundamental studies of the understanding of electrochemistry of fused salts, the electrode kinetics of oxide film formation and the role of moisture in affecting those reactions, which enhance hot corrosion of metal in fused salt systems. Fused alkali nitrates and nitrites, widely used as heat-transfer and storage media in the thermal storage system, are the main investigation media in which research has been carried out. An approach is also being made to know the electrochemical role of vanadate ion in increasing the acidity in alkaline sulfates melt and their ultimate effect on hot corrosion of structural metals, with special emphasis on evolving electrochemical understanding of vanadate-induced hot corrosion of metals, relevant to fuel-ash corrosion of power plants.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of the laboratory's work is to undertake fundamental studies of electrochemical understanding of hot corrosion of metals in fused salt systems. Besides evolving

knowledge for know-how of electrochemical reactions involved in hot corrosion, the expertise employed for the fundamental studies can be utilized in electrochemical screening of the hot corrosion resistance of high-temperature-resistant alloys in various fused salt systems. This can be useful for their selection in fabrication of engineering materials related to power plants.

The fundamental works undertaken are as indicated in the following abstracts .

Specific Topics

1. Electrochemical Understanding of Hot Corrosion of Metals in Fused Nitrates Salt

This research has been carried out at Central Electrochemical Research Institute (CSIR), Karaikudi. The main aim of this work was to understand the cathodic and anodic processes which are responsible for the hot corrosion and protection of metals in fused salt systems. In this study, cyclic voltammetry investigation was carried out on platinum and iron surfaces in sodium nitrate, potassium nitrate and in their mixed melt up to 340° C. It has been observed that nitrate ion reduction is the main cathodic reaction which determines the extent of hot corrosion while alkali metal oxide formation decreases the cathodic reaction. Formation of highly soluble potassium oxide on an electrode surface in potassium nitrate melt is not able to control the cathodic reaction, while less soluble sodium oxide formation on an electrode surface in sodium nitrate melt decreases the cathodic reaction substantially.

2. Moisture Effect on Hot Corrosion of Metals in Fused Alkali Nitrates Salt

This work was also carried out at Central Electrochemical Research Institute (CSIR), Karaikudi. The overall aim of this research work was to identify and estimate the moisture content and its effect on nitrate ion reduction in the alkali nitrate melt. The moisture content was identified and estimated by observation of the water reduction wave prior to nitrate ion reduction during a cyclic voltammetric study of platinum in wet sodium nitrate, potassium nitrate and in their mixed melt up to 340°C. Presence of moisture in the melt catalyzes the nitrate ion reduction reaction and also increases the solubility of alkali metal oxides, which are formed on the metal surfaces. This results in an increase of oxidation rate of metals in fused nitrate salts.

3. V_2O_5 Induced Hot Corrosion in Sulphates Melt

A detailed study is being carried to see the electrochemical role of V_2O_5 in catalyzing the oxidation rate of structural metals and nickel-based alloys in an alkali sulfates melt relevant to fuel-ash corrosion of power plants. The main aim of this work is to estimate the extent of hot corrosion of metals in the presence of V_2O_5 in sulfates melt by

electrochemical measurements. Emphasis is being placed on understanding the various electrochemical reactions involved between vanadate and sulfate ions which are responsible for the increases of the acidity of the melt. The work still is in progress.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Singh, I.B., Ali, U. and Sen, U., "The Stability Studies of Mild Steel in Molten Mixture of NaNO₃-KNO₃ - A Solar Thermal Energy Storage System," <u>Indian</u> <u>Chemical Engineering</u>, <u>34</u>, 231-234 (1993).
- Singh, I.B., Sultan, S., Venkatachari, G. and Balakrishnan, K., "Nitrate Ion Reduction on Iron Surfaces in NaNO₃ - KNO₃ Melt at 300°C," <u>International Symposium on</u> <u>Molten Salt Chemistry and Technology</u>, Eds. M.L. Saboungi, H. Kojima, J. Duruz and D. Shores, The Electrochemical Society, NJ, 138-146 (1993).
- Singh, I.B., Venkatachari, G. and Balakrishnan, K., "Electrochemical Noise Measurement of Iron in Equimolar NaNO₃ - KNO₃ Melt at Various Temperature," <u>12th International Congress on Metallic Corrosion</u>, (NACE) Houston, <u>2</u>, 979-986 (1993).
- Singh, I.B. and Sen, U., "Effect of NaCl Addition on the Corrosion of Mild Steel in NaNO₃Melt," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>34</u>, 1733-1742 (1993).
- 5. Singh, I.B., Sultan, S. and Balakrishnan, K., "Cyclic Voltammetric Behaviour of Platinum in Dried and Wet Nitrate Melt," <u>Electrochimica Acta</u>, <u>38</u>, 2611-2615 (1993).
- 6. Singh, I.B., Venkatachari, G. and Balakrishnan, K., "Electrochemical Studies on the Oxidation Behaviour of Iron in NaNO₃ NaNO₂ Melt," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 1777-1787 (1994).
- 7. Singh, I.B., Sultan, S. and Balakrishanan, K., "Cathodic Process on Iron in NaNO₃ and KNO₃ Melt," <u>Electrochimica Acta</u>, <u>40</u>, 1755-1759 (1995).
- 8. Singh, I.B., "Influence of Moisture on the Corrosion Rate of Iron in NaNO₃ and KNO₃ Melts," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 1981-1989 (1995).

IRELAND

CONTENTS

Ireland

Pomeroy, M.J., Dr.

Department of Materials Science and Technology University of Limerick Limerick +353 61 202200 Tel: Fax: +353 61 338172 e.mail: michael.pomeroy@ul.ie Key Personnel: Pomeroy, M.J., Dr, Hampshire, S., Prof., Petty, E.R., Prof., Robinson, J.S., Dr, Ramesh, R., Dr, Stockmann, Y, Dr. Scientific Key Words: Ceramic oxidation; Ceramics corrosion; Coal-ash corrosion; Fused salts; Heat exchanger materials; Oxidation/sulfidation; SiAlONs; Silicon nitride; Underdeposit corrosion Coal-fired boiler; Biomass combustion; Circulating Technical Key Words: fluidized-bed combustor; Pressurised fluidized-bed combustor; Future gas turbine materials; Ceramic heat exchangers

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The major interest of the High Temperature Corrosion Group (HTCG) is the application of phase equilibria towards understanding two areas of corrosion science. These areas are: i) the corrosion of metallic and ceramic alloys by corrosive deposits, ii) correlations between the morphological development of corrosion products formed on metallic and ceramic materials and corrosion kinetics. With respect to area i), the group actively seeks to acquire information relating to the establishment of micro-environments at scale/deposit interfaces or, in the case of ceramics, at the corrosion product/material interface. To this end, fundamental research programmes in progress investigate chemical interactions between metallic materials and 'dry' alkali metal and alkaline earth metal sulphates and between silicon - based ceramic materials and molten alkali metal sulphates. Work related to area ii) involves careful determination of corrosion product chemistry and phase assemblage after various periods of corrosion. The HTCG has extensive knowledge and experience of phase relationships in M-Si-Al-O-N (M=Y or rare earth) systems and is able to apply this in developing an understanding of the manner in which corrosion products form during oxidation or molten sulphate corrosion of silicon nitride - based ceramics. The group also has interests in the reactive

element effect as a method of reducing the tendency for Ni-Cr alloys to undergo catastrophic sulfidation/oxidation corrosion. A further interest of the group is standardised oxidation and corrosion test procedures for materials, in particular structural ceramics.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The HTCG's activities are geared toward emulating corrosion effects observed in real systems. Thus the studies of interactions of materials with 'dry' and molten deposits relate to corrosion environments likely to arise in coal-fired boilers (pulverised, fluidised bed, circulating fluidised bed) and in combined cycle systems. The studies pertaining to ceramics relate to US and Japanese initiatives in developing ceramic gas turbines and toward developing simple materials screening experiments. As indicated below, work is frequently conducted in association with other European Universities / Laboratories or with European or Irish Industry.

Specific Topics

1. Corrosion of Boiler Steels by Alkali-Metal Sulfates at Temperatures in the Range 400 to 650°C

This research project forms one aspect of a much larger research program financed by the Human & Capital Mobility programme of the European Union. Nine other European partners are involved in this program which is investigating the oxidation, carburisation, sulfidation, oxidation-chloridation, and deposit corrosion of more recently developed 9 and 12% Cr ferritic steels. The work at Limerick focuses on the interactions between these materials and alkali-metal sulphate deposits in a gas environment corresponding to that produced by the combustion of brown coal. Corrosion morphologies typical of those observed on corroded boiler tubes can be produced by the testing techniques employed. Work is in progress to determine differences in corrosion rates of these materials and how their performance compares with austenitic stainless steels Type 304 and Incoloy 800.

2. Oxidation and Corrosion of Silicon Nitride and SiAIONs in Gaseous Environments

This work has been conducted in conjunction with the University of Northumbria at Newcastle (UK) under the Brite Euram programme of the European Union. Industrial endorsers of the project were T & N Technology (UK) and British Gas. Materials investigated were RBSN and HIPped silicon nitride (supplied by T&N) and β -sialon materials with z-values ranging from 0.2 to 3.0 which were fabricated at Limerick. Environments employed in the corrosion test programme included laboratory air, chloridising, sulfidising and simulated flue gases. Experiments at

Ireland

temperatures of 1150 and 1350°C were conducted for times of up to 1000 hours. The major conclusion from this program was that a z=3.0 material was the only one which could withstand corrosion in all of the four environments. In the oxidising and oxidising/chloridising environment the HIPped and RBSN materials performed well. From the work conducted at 1350°C, it has been possible to elucidate the mechanism by which the materials oxidise/corrode and why each of the gaseous environments give different degradation rates. Similar effects have been observed for these materials containing 10% (by weight) silicon carbide ie. SiN - SiC composites. In rationalising the results obtained from these corrosion studies, the HTCG used its extensive experience relating to glass formation and crystallisation in M-SiAlON systems together with its knowledge of phase relationships in these systems.

3. Chemical Degradation of Silicon Nitride-Based Materials by Molten Alkali-Metal Sulfates

This work, which is sponsored by the University of Limerick is investigating the chemical degradation of the silicon nitride materials referred to above by molten sodium, potassium sulfates. The work involves complete immersion of coupons of the ceramics in the sulfate in air or in a gas containing sulphur dioxide at a temperature of 1150° C. Of the materials tested, only a z=3.0 b-sialon has sufficient corrosion resistance to withstand such aggressive environments and this material has been tested for up to 360 hours with encouraging results.

4. Reactive Element Effects for Chromia Formers in Sulfidation/Oxidation Environments

This project investigates the corrosion of Inconel 690 and 617 alloys in calcium sulphate - carbon mixtures. By suitable manipulation of the calcium sulfate to carbon mole ratio, it is possible to induce catastrophic sulfidation/oxidation corrosion in these nickel - based alloys within 24 hours at temperatures in the range 750 to 950°C. Results obtained show that pre-oxidation of these alloys reduces extents of corrosion slightly. If, however, coupon surfaces are lightly coated with yttria prior to pre-oxidation, sulfidation/oxidation corrosion can be completely prevented in the temperature range 800 to 900°C.

5. Commercially Sensitive Industrially-Based Projects

The University of Limerick was established to provide technical support to Irish Industry and to provide a R&D infrastructure which could assist multi-national enterprises which operate in Ireland. To this end the HTCG has conducted a two year programme of oxidation and corrosion testing for Garret Ireland (Allied Signal). In addition, the group has assisted Shannon Turbine Technology with investigations into Pt-Al coating application techniques and plasma sprayed bond coat reliability. The duration of these two projects was one year.

Collaborators

Human & Capital Mobility Network (Corrosion of boiler steels)

Grabke, H., Prof. (network leader) (MPI Dusseldorf), Stott, F.H., Prof. (UMIST), Gesmundo, F., Prof. (Genoa), Pieraggi, B., Prof. (Toulouse), de Wit, H., Prof. (Delft), Shutze, M., Dr. (DECHMA), Norton, J., Mr. (JRC Petten), Quadakkers, J., Dr. (KFA Julich), Trujillo, F., Prof. (Un. Complutense, Madrid).

Corrosion of Ceramics

Datta, P.K., Prof. (University of Northumbria at Newcastle).

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Oxidation of Silicon Nitride Ceramics

- Ramesh, R. and Pomeroy, M.J., "Understanding the Morphological Development of Oxidation Products Formed on β-SiAlON Materials with Different z-values," <u>Microscopy of Oxidation : 2</u>, Eds. S.B. Newcomb and M.J. Bennett, (Publ. Institute of Materials) p566 (1994),
- Pomeroy, M.J., Ramesh, R. and Hampshire, S., "Morphological Development of Surface Scales During Long Term Oxidation of a Low Substituted β-SiAlON," <u>Key</u> <u>Engineering Materials</u>, <u>89-91</u>, 283 (1994).
- 3. Ramesh, R., Byrne, P. and Pomeroy, M.J., "Oxidation Studies of a High Al Substituted β-SiAlON," <u>J. Mat. Proc. Tech</u>, <u>PR056/1-4</u>, p600 (1996).
- Ramesh, R., Byrne, P., Hampshire, S. and Pomeroy, M.J., "Kinetics of Weight Change and Morphological Development During Oxidation of Pressureless Sintered β-SiAlONs," Journal of the European Ceramic Society, in press.

2. Corrosion of Ceramics

 Datta, P.K., Chu, H., Pomeroy, M.J. and Ramesh, R., "Characterisation of Thin Films Formed on Silicon Nitride-Based Ceramics in a H₂S / H₂O / H₂ Gas Mixture at 1350°C," <u>Proc. 10th CIMTEC Conf.</u>, Florence, June/July (1994).

- Ramesh, R., Pomeroy, M.J., Chu, H. and Datta, P.K., "Effect of Gaseous Environment on the Corrosion of β-SiAlON Materials," <u>Journal of the European</u> <u>Ceramic Society</u>, <u>15</u>, 1007 (1995).
- Byrne, P., Ramesh, R. and Pomeroy, M.J., "Oxidation and Corrosion Mechanisms for Silicon Nitride-Based Ceramics in Air and Fused Salts," <u>Materials Science Forum</u> (in press).

3. Glasses, Glass Ceramics and Phase Relationships in M-Si-Al-O-N Systems

- 8. Ramesh, R., Nestor, E., Flynn, R., Pomeroy, M.J. and Hampshire, S., "Optimisation of the Nucleation in a Y-Si-Al-O-N Glass," <u>Ceramics Materials and Components for Engines</u>, Eds. D.S. Yan, X,R. Fu and S.X. Shi (Publ. World Scientific, Singapore) p433 (1995).
- Ramesh, R., Nestor, E., Pomeroy, M.J., Hampshire, S., Liddle, K. and Thompson, D.P., "Potential of Nd-Si-Al-O-N Glasses for Crystallisation to Glass Ceramics," <u>Journal of Non Crystalline Solids</u>, <u>196</u>, (1-3) 320-32 (1996).
- 10. Nestor, E., Ramesh, R., Pomeroy, M.J. and Hampshire, S., "Formation of Ln-Si-Al-O-N Glasses and their Properties," <u>Journal of the European Ceramic Society</u> (in press).

ISRAEL

Contents

Werber, T., Dr I-22

Israel

Werber, T., Dr.

Technion - Israel Institute of Technology Department of Materials Engineering

+972 48 294591/2

Technion City

Haifa 32 000

Tel:

Fax: +972 48 321978

Telex: TECON IL 46406

Key Personnel: Werber, T., Dr., Katsman, A., Levin, L., Klinger, L.
 Scientific Key Words: Alloy oxidation; Grain boundary diffusion and interdiffusion; Void formation during oxidation; Intergranular oxidation; Intergranular oxidation; Intermetallics; Pesting; Metal dusting

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. A New Model of the Pest-Like Disintegration of Intermetallics Due to Intergranular Oxidation

A new, diffusional model of disintegration of intermetallics during oxidation has been developed. The model is concerned with intermetallics, such as NbAl₂, in which the pest phenomenon occurs due to intergranular oxidation. It is assumed that in these cases oxidation leads to an excess of vacancies at grain boundaries. The migration of the excess vacancies to the surface facilitates the diffusional growth of grain boundary cracks. The steady-state vacancy concentration ahead of the crack tip is found from the diffusional equation comprising the vacancy sources and sinks. The rate of crack propagation is found through the vacancy flux to the crack tip. Two different steadystate regimes of crack growth (fast and slow) are established, and the temperature of transition from one regime to the other is determined. The fast regime is related to the disintegration of intermetallics containing a substantial number of structural vacancies. The slow regime corresponds to the case when no disintegration occurs. The rate of diffusion crack propagation is only slightly affected by the gradients of the internal stresses and of the equilibrium vacancy concentration in the oxidation zone. The decisive role of the vacancy excess generation in the fast crack diffusion propagation is revealed. Activation energies of the process are estimated.

Israel

2. The Mechanism of Disintegration During Metal Dusting

The process of catastrophic carburization known as 'metal dusting', whereby a solid metallic material is converted into fine particles in a carburizing atmosphere, has been analyzed. It is shown that this conversion is the result of plastic deformation and subsequent fracture accompanying diffusional phase formation in the near-surface layer. The process is controlled by internal stresses arising during phase transformation. Competition between stress generation and relaxation may result in attaining ultimate strength in the near-surface layer and its fracture. Such a mechanism of metal disintegration may occur in a certain temperature interval, depending on the kinetic and geometrical parameters of the system - the diffusivities of the alloy's components, the ratio between specific volumes of the new and the old phases, and the ultimate plastic strain. The temperature interval for disintegration of carbon steel, the rate of disintegration, and the period of the disintegration cycle, are evaluated and compared with experimental data.

3. Penetration of Oxygen Along Grain Boundaries During Oxidation of Alloys and Intermetallics

Fast penetration of oxygen into grain boundaries and intergranular oxidation of β -NiAl have been observed. Since the solubility of oxygen in NiAl is virtually nil, special ways of oxygen ingress at grain boundaries have to be presumed. Selective intergranular oxidation of binary alloys and fast penetration of oxygen along grain boundaries are analyzed by computer simulation. Interdiffusion caused by consumption of the less noble component by oxidation at the metal/oxide interface leads to deviation of the alloy composition from the original value. When the diffusivity of the less noble component is higher than the diffusivity of the other component, a grain boundary Kirkendall effect may lead to void chain formation. Experimental evidence for this phenomenon is presented. The deviation in composition and void formation are considered as processes influencing the effective oxygen diffusivity. Both processes are found to allow penetration of oxygen as fast as grain boundary interdiffusion occurs. In addition, oxygen penetration during intergranular internal oxidation when oxides form at voids beneath the metal/oxide interface is analyzed and treated as a selfpropagating process. In this case, fast oxygen penetration is accompanied by fast internal oxide formation and fast displacement of the metal/oxide interface.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Katsman, A., Levin, L. and Werber, T., "A New Model of the Pest-Like Disintegration of Intermetallics Due to Intergranular Oxidation," <u>Materials Science</u> <u>and Engineering</u>, <u>A188</u>, 241-245 (1994). Israel

- 2. Katsman, A., Klinger, L., Levin, L.A. and Werber, T., "Mechanism of Disintegration During Metal Dusting," In: <u>Design Fundamentals of High Temperature Composites</u>, <u>Intermetallics, and Metal-Ceramic Systems</u>, Eds. R.Y. Lin, Y.A. Chang, R.G. Reddy and C.T. Lin, <u>The Minerals</u>, <u>Metals & Materials Society</u>, 413-420 (1995).
- 3. Katsman, A., Grabke, H.J. and Levin, L., "Penetration of Oxygen Along Grain Boundaries During Oxidation of Alloys and Intermetallics," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, Nos. 3/4, 313-331 (1996).

ITALY

Contents

Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G	. I-26
Farina, C.A. Dr	. I-32
Fedeli, G., Dr. and Grilli, S., Dr	. I-35
Gesmundo, F., Prof. and Viani, F., Prof	. I-37
Gozzi, D., Prof., Cignini, P.L., Dr., and Tomellini, M., Dr	. I-46
Sivieri, E., Prof	. I-49
Stroosnijder, M.F., Dr	. I-51
Uberti, F	. I-58

Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G.

ENEL SpA - Centro Ricerca Ambiente e Materiali

Corrosion and Electrochemistry Section

Via Rubattino 54, I - 20134 Milano

Tel: +39 2 7224 3913 and +39 2 7224 3045

Fax: +39 2 7224 3915

Telex: ENEL-CRAM 310496 MI

e.mail: COLOMBO_A@CRAM.ENEL.IT; ROCCHINI@CRAM.ENEL.IT

Key Personnel: Colombo, A., Rocchini, G. and Toledo, G.P.

Scientific Key Words: Oxidation/sulphidation; Cyclic oxidation; Hot corrosion; Deposits/heat transfer; Salt deposits; Reducing environments; Bond/thermal barrier coatings; Burner rigs; Ceramics corrosion; Coal-ash corrosion; Coated and uncoated superalloys; Corrosion-mechanical property interactions; Gasification; Heat exchanger materials; Intermetallics; ODS alloys; Probes; Silicon carbide/combustion atmosphere; Waste incinerator materials **Technical Key Words:** Oil-fired boiler; Coal-fired boiler; Advanced steam conditions; Atmospheric pressure fluidized-bed combustor; Condensate (dew-point/downtime) corrosion; Waste incineration; Very high-temperature heat exchangers; Land-based gas turbines; Thermal barrier coating systems;

Coal gasification; Syngas coolers; Heat exchangers

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The unavailability of ENEL thermal power plants, due to fireside corrosion problems, is estimated to be less than 1% of its overall value, even if it is believed that their exploitation under cycling conditions and the construction of multi-fuel boiler (oil, coal and gas) could increase the previous figure as a consequence of a major impact of fireside corrosion on material stability. Furthermore, in the medium future, gas turbines operating at high temperature will be extensively used for power generation and also for repowering some steam boilers. The aims of the research activity are the assessment of high temperature corrosion behavior of traditional and advanced

materials to be used for the construction of the most critical components of power plants, and the evaluation of their resistance to corrosion in the operative environments. Moreover, the acquisition of basic knowledge is very useful for a proper choice of technical alloys, so that ENEL is engaged both in fundamental and experimental studies as concerns the behavior of carbon steels, low alloy steels, alloyed steels, stainless steels, nickel and cobalt based superalloys, ODS alloys, ceramics materials and metallic and ceramic coatings. The main components examined are: conventional and advanced combustors and/or boilers, land-based gas turbines, coal gasification and waste-to-energy systems. Careful attention is devoted to simulate in the laboratory the operating conditions accurately in order to obtain a better understanding of corrosion damage mechanisms. So the experimental research concerns the combustion gas thermochemistry, formation of aggressive deposits on suitable specimens, influence of deposits and/or gaseous species on the stability of bare alloys, dependence of the corrosion mechanisms on heat flux, and of coating and protective oxide- scale integrity on thermal cycling and mechanical damage due to fatigue and creep. ENEL is also participating in the project "Discontinuous corrosion testing in high temperature gaseous atmospheres", supported by The European Community in the frame of the Fourth Framework Program, and aimed at standardizing high temperature corrosion tests.

Applications, Engineering Achievement and Technology Transfer

Most of the experimental activities are addressed to assess the choice of structural and process materials, collect engineering data on their resistance to corrosion in simulated and true operating conditions, develop procedures for the prevention and control of corrosion, and guidelines for a correct exercise of thermal power plants, and define suitable models, which allow estimation of the service life of the most critical components in the energy production field. The work is often done in cooperation with industrial partners, Universities and other Research Institutes such as CISE and the Institute for Advanced Materials of Joint Research Center of the European Community.

Specific Topics

1. Corrosion of Materials for Fossil-Fired Boilers

The behavior of candidate materials, to be adopted for the superheaters of the steam advanced cycles in the fossil-fired thermoelectric power plants, is examined. Corrosion tests concern the low alloy steel grade T22, medium alloy steels grades T91 and E911, and stainless steels types 304SS and 347SS, and are usually performed by simulating heat fluxes through the use of suitable probes. The surface of specimens is sprayed with alkali sulfates or with sulfate/vanadate salt mixtures before starting each test.

Generally temperature ranges from 540°C to 650°C and the influence of different amounts of SO_2 , SO_3 and HCl is examined.

2. Corrosion of Materials for Very High Temperature Heat Exchangers

This specific activity is carried out in the framework of the European COST-501 R III Program. The behavior of ODS alloys types MA956, PM2000 and ODM 751 are performed at temperatures ranging from 850°C to 1100°C and specimens are exposed to oxidizing gaseous atmospheres. Tests are carried out using as-received specimens and specimens with the surface contaminated by sodium sulfate. Specimens of ODS alloys are also exposed to flue gas in a propane fuelled combustor at 1200°C and daily cycled to room temperature.

3. Corrosion in Reducing Atmospheres

This activity is mainly performed in the framework of the COST-501 R III Program with the aim of assessing the corrosion performance of ODS alloys and some other commercial alloys such as Alloy 800H and Sanicro 28 under Downtime Corrosion conditions. Specimens are exposed to simulated Coal Gasification Atmospheres at temperatures of 350°C and 500°C, and cycled to room temperature at 100 hour intervals. The test duration is of about 1000 hours and operating atmospheres are simulated using gaseous mixtures of H₂, CO, H₂S, HCl and H₂O. After the 1000 hour period of exposure to the high temperature atmosphere, the specimens in form of sheet are subjected to mechanical stress. Then they are exposed to moist air for a period of 720 hours in order to verify if pitting and/or stress corrosion cracking occurs. ENEL is also studying the behavior of carbon and low alloy steels under atmosphere simulating combustion with low NO₂ content and different water concentration. Tests with a length of about 1000 hours are performed at temperatures up to 500°C. The resistance to corrosion of the same steel is also evaluated when oxidizing atmospheres are cyclically replaced by sulfidizing ones, in order to develop a suitable method able to restrain corrosion attack when the concentration of H₂S is significant.

4. Corrosion of Materials for Land-Based Gas Turbines

The resistance to oxidation in sulfur-containing atmospheres and to type-I/II hot corrosion of nickel and cobalt base superalloys, coatings and thermal barriers employed for blades and vanes of gas turbines is evaluated, and the attack morphology is examined, in order to rank the performance of different materials and coatings. Superalloys such as IN738, IN792, IN939, U510, U520, X45, and FSX-414, as received and coated with MCrAIY, Al, Al/Si (11%) and YPSZ, YPSZ SiO₂ sealed thermal barriers are tested at temperatures ranging from 700°C to 1000°C. The oxidation tests are performed using a three horizontal furnace corrosion test circuit, while the hot-salt corrosion tests are performed in a low-velocity burner rig, based on VAMAS

guidelines, and in a rig using the 'Dean test' methodology for condensing Na_2SO_4 vapours on the specimen surface. Tests simulating heat-flux conditions with a gas temperature of about 1300°C are also performed. A small experimental activity is devoted to the characterization of TiAl intermetallic alloys. High temperature corrosion/deformation in the creep regime and in creep/fatigue regime tests at temperatures ranging from 850°C to 900°C are also carried out in oxidant sulfur-containing atmospheres, with and without salt addition, on IN738 and U520 superalloys as received and coated with MCrAlY.

5. Corrosion in Case of Cofiring RDF and Coal

At present, ENEL has a small technological observatory aimed at acquiring the state-ofthe-art as concerns the boiler materials implications of cofiring a fraction of municipal waste, with coal in utility boilers designed to burn coal, and the effect of excessive boiler fouling on the plant performance. At any rate, ENEL has developed a suitable probe to evaluate through in-field tests with resistance to corrosion of boiler materials when RDF is cofired with coal.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Corrosion of Materials for Fossil-Fired Boilers

- Uberti, F. and Bregani, F., "Influence of Process Variables on the Deposit-Induced Sulphidation of Materials for FBC Components," <u>Proc. 10th European Corrosion</u> <u>Congress</u>, Barcelona (E), July 1993, Eds. Costa and Mercer, The Institute of Materials, The University Press, Cambridge (UK), 736-741 (1993).
- Uberti, F., De Gaudenzi, G.P., Bregani, F. and Toledo, G.P., "High Temperature Corrosion Behaviour of T91 in Simulated Coal Combustion Atmosphere," <u>Proc.</u> <u>Materials for Advanced Power Engineering 1994</u>, LiPge (B), October 1994, Eds. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (NL), 1669-1676 (1994).
- Uberti, F., Colombo, A., De Gaudenzi, G.P. and Rocchini, G., "Influence of Temperature, Sulphur Dioxide and Thermal Exchange on Deposit Induced Oxidation/Sulphidation of Alloys for Fluidized Bed Combustors," <u>Proc. 4th</u> <u>International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of</u> <u>Materials</u>, Les Embiez (F), May 20-24, to be published (1996).

2. Corrosion of Materials for Very High Temperature Heat Exchangers

4. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Bregani, F. and Toledo, G.P., "ODS Alloys for High Temperature Heat Exchangers - Evaluation of Corrosion Resistance of MA956 and

PM2000," <u>Proc. Materials for Advanced Power Engineering 1994</u>, Liège (B), October 1994, Eds. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (NL), 1563-1572 (1994).

 Colombo, A., De Gaudenzi, G.P., Rocchini, G. and Uberti, F., "Behaviour of Some Fe-Base ODS Alloys for Very High Temperature Heat Exchangers," <u>EUROCORR</u> <u>'96</u>, Nice (F), September 24-26, to be published (1996).

3. Corrosion in Reducing Atmospheres

 De Gaudenzi, G.P., Toledo, G.P. and Uberti, F., "Influence of Alloying Elements on the Corrosion Behaviour of Austenitic Stainless Steels in Reducing/Sulphidizing Environments," <u>Proc. Process and Materials Innovation in Stainless Steel Products</u>", Firenze (I), October 11-14, 1993, AIM, Milano (I), 3.93-3.98 (1993).

4. Hot Corrosion of Materials for Land-Based Gas Turbines

- De Gaudenzi, G.P., Toledo, G.P. and Uberti, F., "A Dean Test Screening of Some Gas Turbine Alloys," <u>Proc. "10th European Corrosion Congress</u>, Barcelona (E), July 1993, Eds. Costa and Mercer, The Institute of Materials, The University Press, Cambridge (UK), 821-824 (1993).
- 8. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F. and Toledo, G.P., "Comportamento alla Corrosione ad Alta Temperatura di Alcuni Materiali Avanzati per Turbine a Gas Industriali e di Potenza," <u>Proc. Giornate Nazionali sulla Corrosione e Protezione</u>, Milano (I), May 1994, AIM, Milano (I), 233-242 (1994).
- De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Bregani, F., Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G., "Influence of Test Parameters on Hot Corrosion of Some Gas Turbine Alloys Using the Dean Test," <u>Proc. Corrosion in Natural and Industrial Environments: Problems and Solutions</u>, Grado (I), May 23-25, 1995, NACE International, 381-390 (1995).
- Bianchi, P., Colombo, A., De Gaudenzi, G.P. and Guardamanga, C., "Creep and Corrosion Behaviour of an Intermetallic Alloy for Gas Turbine Applications," <u>Proc.</u> <u>EUROMAT 95 - The 4th European Conference on Advanced Materials and</u> <u>Processes</u>, Padova (I), September 25-28, AIM, Milano, <u>IV</u>, 1-6 (1995).
- 11. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Bregani, F., Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G., "High Temperature Corrosion and Thermal Cycling Behaviour of Gas Turbine Coatings and Substrates in Simulated Environments," <u>Proc. EUROMAT 95 - The 4th</u> <u>European Conference on Advanced Materials and Processes</u>, Padova (I), September 25-28, 1995, AIM, Milano, <u>IV</u>, 213-218 (1995).

Italy

- Gilliland, D., Lanza, F., Brossa, F., Bregani, F., Bianchi, P. and Toledo, G.P., "Corrosion Resistance and Structural Characterization of Silicon Enriched Aluminide Coatings on Nickel Supe ralloys," <u>Proc. EUROMAT 95 - The 4th</u> <u>European Conference on Advanced Materials and Processes</u>, Padova (I), September 25-28, 1995, Milano, <u>IV</u>, 197-202 (1995).
- 13. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G., "The Resistance of Some Gas Turbine Hot Components Coatings to High Temperature Corrosion and Thermal Cycling Damage," <u>Symposium on High Temperature Coatings II, 1996</u> <u>TMS Annual Meeting</u>", Anaheim, CA (USA), February 4-8, to be published (1996).
- 14 De Gaudenzi, G.P., Colombo, A., Rocchini, G. and Uberti, F., "Comportamento alla Corrosione a Caldo di Secondo Tipo (LHTC) di Superleghe Base Nichel e di Rivestimenti Protettivi per Palette di Turbine a Gas," <u>Proc. Conf. Giornate Nazionali</u> <u>sulla Corrosione e Protezione</u>, Milano (I), May 29-30, 1996, AIM, Milano (I), <u>1</u>, 73-82 (1996).
- 15. Baxter, D.J., Gilliland, D., Lanza, F., Toledo, G.P. and Bregani, F., "Caratterizzazione a Ossidazione e Corrosione di Ricoprimenti Applicati per VPS," <u>Proc. Giornata di</u> <u>Studio Materiali per Turbine a Gas Industriali</u>, Milan (I), April 23 (1996).
- 16. Baxter, D.J., Gilliland, D., Lanza, F., Toldeo, G.P. and Bregani, F., "The Oxidative and Corrosive Degradation of Vacuum Plasma Sprayed Coatings in Industrial Gas Turbine Environments," <u>Proc. 4th International Symposium on "High Temperature Corrosion and Protection on Materials</u>", Les Embiez (F), May 20-24, to be published (1996).
- Bregani, F., Toledo, G.P., Lanza, F., Gilliland, D. and Baxter, D.J., "Caratterizzazione a Ossidazione e Corrosione di Ricoprimenti Applicati per VPS," <u>La Metallurgia</u> <u>Italiana</u>, <u>88</u>, n. 5/96, pp357-362.

Farina, C.A. Dr.

Donegani Anticorrosione S.r.l.			
Via G. Fauser, 36Q			
28100 Novara			
Tel:	+39 321 677416		
Fax:	+39 321 677 444		
e.mail:	donegant@mbox	.vol.it	
Key Pers	onnel:	Farina, C.A., Dr., Grassini, U., Dr., Tarocco, M., Ing., Sala, C., p.i.	
Scientific Key Words:		Alloy creep relaxation/cracking; Carburization; Centrifugally cast alloys; Coating methods; Eddy current; Life prediction; Ultrasonic attenuation	
Technical Key Words:		Ethylene pyrolysis; Steam reforming; In-plant monitoring	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The aim of this research is the evaluation of the damage due to creep on the tubes installed in the radiant zone of steam reforming furnaces, and the evaluation of the degree of the damage due to carburization on the tubes installed in the radiant zone of thermal cracking furnaces.

In the case of the steam reforming tubes, the earliest and more frequent rupture is normally due to the creep-damage as a consequence of local overheating brought about both by anomalies of the burners' flame and catalyst plugging that reduces the gas flow inside the tubes.

The creep-induced cracks are nucleated somewhere in the material comprised between the half thickness and internal surface, and they grow both towards the internal and the external surfaces till mechanical collapse.

In a steam-reforming furnace, operating under pressure, if a tube fails during service, it must be put out of the service: if on-line crimping of the corresponding pigtail is not feasible for either technical or safety reason, plant shutdown cannot be avoided, with associated heavy production losses and shutdown/startup costs.

The need of an effective in-service inspection technique for early and reliable detection of creep damage in reforming tubes is obvious.

In the case of thermal cracking furnace tubes, the cracking reactions lead to coke formation as an adherent layer onto the internal surface of the tubes. In ethylene cracking furnaces this layer is removed at regular intervals by burning it with a steam and air mixture: such an operation is currently called decoking.

Regular production and decoking induce a cycle pattern of shot oxidizing (decoking) and long carburization periods, in which carbon diffuses into the metal matrix.

Beyond a certain level of carburization, the tubes may unexpectedly fail on the basis of different mechanisms: in the case of HK40 alloy, the failure is usually due to creep (the internally carburized layer is characterized by greater specific volume compared with that of the original material, which fact causes additional stresses affecting the periphery of the tube) and sometimes leads to reduction of the wall thickness due to metal dusting. Regarding the alloys with higher nickel content (HP40, MAN 36X, 36X), the failure more commonly found is represented by circumferential cracks due to the increased brittleness of the material.

Materials saving, effective spare part management and avoiding unnecessary maintenance costs, come out as the more relevant motivations for in-service inspection of cracking furnace tubes.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Ultrasonic (UT) in-service inspection of steam reforming tubes, to assess the degree of damage due to creep, has been successfully carried out.

The physical principle is represented by UT beam transmission through the tube wall. A pair of separate emitting and receiving transducers are coupled to the tube walls by means of a water feed. The attenuation of the transmitted beam increases with the density and the stage of development of creep fissures.

Together with UT beam transmission techniques, a low frequency eddy current test method is under investigation. The use of a proper winding for the probe, as well as the development of computerized equipment with dedicated software, is the aim of the research, in order to obtain a reliable detection of cracks without significant interference due to the extenral oxixe layers or the residual magnetism typical of the high nickel alloys.

The eddy current technique can be considered an important option, having the great operative advantage not to require liquid coupling, but the accuracy and the sensitivity should be similar to those guaranteed by the UT technique.

In the case of the carburization on the tubes installed in the thermal cracking furnaces, such as those of ethylene plants, tube integrity evaluation is strictly related to a precise and reliable measurement of the carburization depth. The reliability of both inspection equipment and damage grading have been achieved in a satisfactory way. However, some more efforts are required in order to improve the accuracy of the measured carburization depth.

Moreover, a research program has been initiated to investigate the effect of aluminum and ceramic coatings to counteract the carburization of the tubes in the ethylene cracking plants.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Grassini, U. and Puppo, G., "L'Ispezione Degli Elementi Tubolari di Forni per Reforming a Vapore," <u>Manutenzione</u>, <u>37-39</u>, June (1994).

Fedeli, G., Dr. and Grilli, S., Dr.			
ENEL Società per Azioni			
Divisione Produzione, Ingegneria-			
Servizi Specialistici e Laboratori-			
Unità Misure e Laboratorio di Piacenza			
Via Nino Bixio, 39			
I 29100 Piacenza			
Tel:	+39 523 52 5363	; 5345; 5431; 5389	
Fax:	+39 523 52 5387	7 and 5203	
e.mail:	Stefano_Grilli:DP@mailbox.enel.it Giovanni_Fedeli.DP@mailbox.enel.it		
Key Personnel:		Fedeli, G., Dr., Grilli, S., Dr., Scolari, P.V., Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:		Fatigue/creep evaluation; High temperature fatigue; Overlay coatings; Plasma coatings; Superalloys; Turbine lifetime enhancement; Flue gas; Oxidation/sulfidation; Probes; Sulfidation	
Technical Key Words:		Gas turbines; Energy plants; Fossil fuel-fired boilers; Furnace wall corrosion; Waste-fired boilers	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

- 1. Once activity is aimed at identifying the eventual effects of the application, by vacuum plasma spray, of overlay coatings, on the properties of nickel-based superalloys, used in land-based gas-turbine buckets. It is focused on commercial alloys and coating processes, used for ENEL's plant fabrication. In particular, fatigue, creep, thermal shock and corrosion in Na₂SO₄ tests, together with optical and electron microscopy examinations, are performed on as-machined and coated specimens, and the observed properties are compared.
- 2. In the second research, a probe has been developed for the measurement of fire-side corrosion in thermal power plants, that has the aim to simulate the behavior of waterwall tubes in contact with combustion gas. The probe is made of the same material as the waterwalls, and is kept at the same temperature as the boiler tubes near them by an air-cooling system. The probe is installed in the boiler through a hole between two tubes, having a very little diameter which does not need any

cutting and does not straddle the tubes. After the planned exposure time the probe is extracted; a platinum plug applied in the surface allows the measurement of the thickness loss. This can be done either by direct measurement with a roughness-meter after descaling of the probe surface, or by SEM observation of the metallographic cross-section, including the scale elements' analysis. The probe design allows also the measurement of heat flux and gas sampling for in-field analysis of the concentration of the main species in flue gas that can be related to corrosion phenomena (O_2 , H_2S , CO, SO₂ etc).

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

- 1. In the first research, it is well known that the application of coatings implies complicated processes of microstructural transformation on the underlying base metal, due both to the thermal cycles, during deposition and subsequent heat treatments, and to compositional changes, that may continue during service, close to the coating. Such processes may alter the complicated equilibrium of the microstructure, on which the strength of the material depends. The subject of the investigation is thus crucial, with respect to the availability and reliability of the gas turbines for energy production, the importance of which is now enhanced by the increasing popularity of the combined cycle plants.
- 2. In the second investigation, the probe has been established for the study of the risk of the sulfidation attack in reducing atmospheres in boilers equipped with primary low-NO_x measures (low-NO_x burners, BOOS, OFA, Reburning etc), and corrosion monitoring is performed in ENEL power stations since 1990. The next applications of this technology are planned in tests of combustion or Orimulsion, and in a test of cofiring of refuse-derived fuel and coal, that will be undertaken in conjunction with some other European partners.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Bruno, R., Fedeli, G., Marotta, V. and Tarditi, P.L., "Effetto del Rivestimento NiCoCrAlY, Depositato Mediante VPS, Sulle Caratteristiche Meccaniche di Superleghe Impiegate in Turbine a Gas per Generazione di Energia Elettrica," <u>Giornata di studio AIM</u> (1996).

Italy

Gesmundo, F., Prof. and Viani, F., Prof.			
Istituto di Chimica, Facoltà di Ingegneria			
Università di Genova			
Fiera del Mare, Pad. D			
16129 Genova			
Tel:	+39 10 3536029 and +39 10 3536040		
Fax:	+39 10 3536028		
e.mail:	gesmundo@unige.it		
Key Pers	onnel:	Gesmundo, F., Prof., Viani, F., Prof., Castello, P., Dr., Niu, Y.,Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:		Oxidation; Sulfidation; Oxidation/sulfidation; Hot corrosion; Internal oxidation	
Technical Key Words:		Coal-fired boiler; Oil-fired boiler; Coal gasification	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The primary aim of the studies carried out in this period was to develop a better understanding of a number of basic aspects in the corrosion of simple metallic materials at high temperatures. These included a number of different subjects such as:

- 1. A critical examination of the kinetics of scaling in the corrosion of binary alloys by a single oxidant.
- 2. The effect of the reactions at the interfaces between the scale and the gas on the overall rate of corrosion of pure metals and alloys.
- 3. The critical content of the most-reactive component for the transitions between the various fundamental scaling modes of binary alloys.
- 4. The prediction of the scaling modes of binary alloys between components presenting a limited reciprocal solubility (LSBA).
- 5. The kinetics of oxidation of LSBA by a single oxidant forming only the most-stable oxide as an external scale.
- 6. The kinetics and morphology of internal oxidation of LSBA in the presence or not of external scales.

The experimental studies involved the search for materials with an improved resistance to high-temperature corrosion in purely sulfidizing gases and in mixed oxidizing-sulfidizing atmospheres of high sulfur and low oxygen activities, such as those involved in coal gasification processes. Additions of metals such as Nb, Y and Ce have been tested and are partly still under examination. A number of studies involved examination of the scaling behavior of commercial materials, such as low and medium-chromium steels, under conditions of thermal or chemical cycling, simulating conditions which may arise in the operation of industrial boilers, but also of the corrosion of intermetallic materials within the systems Fe-Al, Ni-Al and Ti-Al in various environments. Finally, many studies examined the corrosion of simple LSBA by a single oxidant (either oxygen or sulfur) to examine the effect of the low solubility of the two components, and of the presence of two metal phases, on the scaling behavior of these materials, to be compared with the theoretical models which have been developed simultaneously.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

A number of the studies developed in this period concerned various materials which are used, or could be used in systems of relevance for practical applications, such as in the operation of coal- fired and/or oil-fired boilers or that of coal gasification plants, as specified below. Most of these works have been developed in collaboration and with financial support by industrial partners such as the Italian Electricity Generating Board (ENEL) or the Centre for Development of Materials (CSM). The objective of these works was to establish the kinetics of scaling of materials under the conditions examined as well as the related mechanisms. The information obtained is of interest for the related technologies. Other researches of more fundamental approach, part of which has been supported by the European Community through a number of specific Contracts, are not of immediate interest for practical applications.

Specific Topics

1. Corrosion of Various Ferritic Steels Under Conditions Relevant to the Operation of Industrial Boilers

This work, mainly developed in collaboration and under Contract by ENEL, concerned various aspects of the scaling of plain and low and medium-chromium steels used in the construction of coal-fired or oil-fired industrial boilers, including corrosion in combustion gases of an oxidizing type under thermal cycling conditions and corrosion under isothermal conditions but in atmospheres whose composition was changed cyclically from oxidizing to sulfidizing conditions. The latter study was intended to simulate situations which may arise when the boilers are operated by means of a two-stage process recently developed to reduce the NO_x emissions. The results of the tests carried out at 500°C showed that initial oxidation of samples does not offer a good

Italy

protection against following sulfidation, even of short duration. The initial oxide scales are easily penetrated by sulfur with a substantial increase in the scaling rate. Similar studies have been carried out more recently within the framework of a collaborative program between 10 laboratories of 7 different countries, funded by the European Community (Human Capital and Mobility). The materials tested were two 9 Cr and two 12 Cr ferritic steels exposed to a number of cycles (up to 4) of 24 hr each at 600°C. Cyclic corrosion, starting with an oxidizing cycle, produced scales presenting alternate layers of oxides and sulfides, while the rate was intermediate between that of pure oxidation and pure sulfidation. The results of cycles starting with oxidation have not yet been examined.

2. Corrosion of Intermetallic Materials in Various Corrosive Environments

These studies included the corrosion of a number of alloys in the Fe-Al, Ni-Al and Ti(Nb)-Al systems under different operating conditions (generally combustion gases in the presence or not of salt deposits) in order to assess the possibility of using these materials for various industrial applications at high temperatures. Most of this work has been developed in collaboration and under Contract by the Centre for Development of Materials (CSM). Testing of FeAl, with and without Y_2O_3 additions in atmospheres of coal combustion, showed a very good resistance of these materials at 600 and 700°C, while the hot corrosion resistance of both Fe₃Al an FeAl at 600°C was not very good. Corrosion of both Ni₃Al and (Ti,Nb)₃Al in a simulated combustion gas with and without salt (Na₂SO₄/NaCl mixtures) deposits at 600-800°C showed a rather good resistance to the gas, but a considerable acceleration of the corrosion rate in the presence of salts.

3. Effect of the Addition of Refractory or Reactive Elements on the Corrosion Resistance of Base Metals

The aim of these studies was to examine the possibility to improve the corrosion resistance of base metals such as Fe, Co and Ni to atmospheres of high sulfur activity, and/or low oxygen activity, such as those involved in the operation of coal gasification plants, by means of additions of a second component having a good resistance to sulfidation. For this, niobium additions have been tested first, and then additions of reactive metals such as yttrium or cerium, which are expected to be also resistant to high-temperature sulfidation. This work has been supported by the European Community through specific Contracts involving collaboration with partners from outside Europe. Main coworkers have been: Rizzo, F.C., Prof., of the Department of Materials Science and Metallurgy of the Pontificia Universidade of Rio de Janeiro (Brazil) and Wu, W.T., Prof. and Niu, Y., Dr., of the Institute of Corrosion and Protection of Metals of the Academia Sinica in Shenyang (China). The results showed that generally these alloys are much more resistant than the base metals to sulfidation and sulfidation-oxidation, even though the corrosion rates are still too high for

additions of the refractory or reactive elements up to 30 wt%. Moreover, in no case it has been possible to prevent the formation of an outermost layer of the sulfide of the base metal completely. These studies are also of interest as examples of scaling of binary alloys forming intermediate phases.

4. Scaling Behavior of Simple Two-Phase Binary Alloys by a Single Oxidant

The materials studied in this field include a number of simple binary alloys involving metals presenting a low reciprocal solubility and forming only the two terminal solid solutions, because this is the simplest situation which may arise for alloys presenting a solubility gap. The systems examined so far, or still under examination, include the corrosion by oxygen and/or by sulfur of alloys such as Cu-Ag, Cu-Co, Cu-Cr, Cu-Fe etc. The results of these studies have been compared with the theoretical predictions developed simultaneously for some special situations in the scaling of two-phase alloys and have been of help in understanding the complex processes involved in the corrosion of these materials. While these studies do not have an immediate relevance for practical applications, they can contribute to provide a better basis for understanding the scaling behavior of multicomponent, multiphase materials useful for high-temperature applications, such as coatings, which may eventually result in materials improvement. These studies involved to a different extent also scientists from other laboratories, already listed above.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation

- Monteiro, M.J., Niu, Y., Rizzo, F.C. and Gesmundo, F., "The Oxidation of Co-Nb Alloys under Low Oxygen Pressures at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 527-542 (1995).
- Castro Rebello, M., Niu, Y., Rizzo, F.C. and Gesmundo, F., "The Oxidation of Fe-Nb Alloys under Low Oxygen Pressures at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 561-579 (1995).
- 3. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Rizzo, F.C., Castro Rebelo, M. and Viani, F., "The Oxidation of Fe-Nb Alloys in 1 atm of Pure Oxygen at 600-800°C," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>46</u>, 223-231 (1995).
- 4. Oliveira, J.F., Niu, Y., Rizzo, F.C. and Gesmundo, F., "The Oxidation of Ni-Nb Alloys at Low Oxygen Pressures at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>44</u>, 399-415 (1995).

- Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Rizzo, F.C. and Oliveira, J.F., "The Corrosion of Two Ni-Nb Alloys under 1 atm O₂ at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 2043-2058 (1995).
- Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Rizzo, F.C. and Monteiro, M.J., "The Corrosion of Two Co-Nb Alloys under 1 atm O₂ at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, 38, 193-211 (1996).
- Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Rizzo, F.C., "An Analysis of the Internal Oxidation of Binary M-Nb Alloys under Low Oxygen Pressures at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 441-463 (1996).
- 8. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Wu, W.T., "The Air Oxidation of Two-Phase Cu-Ag Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 525-555 (1996).

2. High-Temperature Sulfidation

- Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Randi, G., "The Sulfidation Behavior of Fe-Nb, Co-Nb and Ni-Nb Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures at 700°C," <u>Progress in the</u> <u>Understanding and Prevention of Corrosion</u>, Eds. J.M. Costa and A.D. Mercer, The Institute of Materials, <u>1</u>, 742-749 (1993).
- 10. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y. and Viani, F., "The Corrosion of Fe, Co and Ni Alloys Containing 15 and 30 wt% Nb in H_2 - H_2S Mixtures under 10⁸ atm S_2 at 600°C," <u>Solid</u> <u>State Ionics</u>, <u>63-65</u>, 765-771 (1993).
- 11. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "The Sulfidation of Co-Nb Alloys at 600-800°C in H₂-H₂S Mixtures under 10⁸ atm S₂," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 423-439 (1994).
- 12. Niu, Y. Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "The Sulfidation of Fe-Nb Alloys at 600-800°C Under 10⁻⁸ atm S₂," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 853-869 (1994).
- 13. Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Gesmundo, F., "The High-Temperature Corrosion of Ni-Nb Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 883-900 (1994).
- 14. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Castello, P., Viani, F., Huntz, A.M. and Wu, W.T., "The Sulfidation of Two-Phase Cu-Ag Alloys in H₂-H₂S Mixtures at 550-750°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 1295-1317 (1996).
- 15. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., and Wu, W.T., "The High Temperature Sulfidation of Pure Y and a Co-15wt%Y Alloy in H₂-H₂S Mixtures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u> (in press).

3. High-Temperature Corrosion in Complex Environments

- 16. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Toledo, G.P., "The Corrosion of Three Commercial Steels in Chemically Cycling Conditions at 500°C," <u>Progress in the Understanding</u> <u>and Prevention of Corrosion</u>, Eds. J.M. Costa and A.D. Mercer, The Institute of Materials, <u>1</u>, 825-832 (1993).
- 17. Zeng, C.L., Niu, Y., Wu, W.T., Gesmundo, F., Zhang, J.Q. and Guo, J.T., "Rapid Oxidation and Sulfidation of FeAl Intermetallics in NaCl-(Na,K)₂SO₄ Melts at 800-850°C," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>63-65</u>, 672-677 (1993).
- Gesmundo, F., Uberti, F.and Toledo, G.P., "High Temperature Corrosion of MA 956 in Sulfidizing/Oxidizing/Carburizing Environments: A Study of the Influence of Preoxidation on the Corrosion Resistance of the Alloy," <u>Supplement C9 to Journal</u> <u>de Physique III</u>, <u>3</u>, 197-204 (1993).
- 19. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Tassa, O., "The Hot Corrosion of Two Fe-Al Intermetallic Compounds," <u>Supplement C9 to Journal de Physique III</u>, <u>3</u>, 375-381 (1993).
- 20. Li, L.C., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Toledo, G.P., "Corrosion of Commercial Stainless Steel AISI 310 and of a V-Modified Fe-Ni-Cr Model Alloy in Coal Gasification Type Atmospheres at 600°C," <u>High Temperature Materials and</u> <u>Processing</u>, <u>12</u>, 199-211 (1993).
- 21. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Wu, W.T., "The Corrosion of Ni₃Al in a Combustion Gas With and Without Na₂SO₄ Deposits at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 265-284 (1994).
- 22. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Di Gianfrancesco, A., Pocci, D., Tassa, O.and Testani, C., "Corrosion of Fe-Al Intermetallics in Coal Gasification Atmospheres," <u>Proceedings</u> <u>of the 5th Conference on Materials for Advanced Power Engineering 1994</u>, Eds. D. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Acad. Pub., Amsterdam, <u>II</u>, 1657-1667 (1994).
- 23. Niu, Y. Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "The Oxidation-Sulfidation of Fe-Nb Alloys in Mixed H₂-H₂S-CO₂ Gases at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 1885-1906 (1994).
- 24. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "The Corrosion of Co-Nb Alloys in Oxidizing-Sulfidizing Gases at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 1973-1998 (1994).
- 25. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Wu, W.T., "The Corrosion of Nb-Modified Ti₃Al in a Combustion Gas With and Without Na₂SO₄-NaCl Deposits at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 393-407 (1994).

- 26. Niu, Y., Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "The Oxidation-Sulfidation of Ni-Nb Alloys in Mixed H₂-H₂S-CO₂ Gases at 600-800°C," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 169-188 (1995).
- 27. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y. and Viani, F., "The Corrosion of Pure Niobium in Atmospheres of Low Oxygen and/or High Sulfur Pressures at 600-800°C," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 287-297 (1996).

4. Basic Aspects of the Corrosion of Binary Alloys by a Single Oxidant

- 28. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y., Viani, F. and Douglass, D.L., "Further Aspects of the Oxidation of Binary Two-Phase Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 197-209 (1993).
- 29. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Niu, Y. and Douglass, D.L., "The Transition from the Formation of Mixed Scales to the Selective Oxidation of the Most-Reactive Component in the Corrosion of Single and Two-Phase Binary Alloys," <u>Oxidation of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 373-393 (1993).
- 30. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Niu, Y. and Douglass, D.L., "The Transition from the Formation of Mixed Scales to the Selective Oxidation of the Most-Reactive Component in the Corrosion of Single and Two-Phase Binary Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 373-393 (1993).
- 31. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Niu, Y. and Douglass, D.L., "The Relation Between the Parabolic Rate Constants for the Internal Oxidation of Binary Alloys in Terms of Weight Gain or of Thickness," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 239-247 (1994).
- 32. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Niu, Y., "The Kinetics of Growth and the Critical Conditions for the Formation of the Most-Stable Oxide in the Oxidation of Binary Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 285-301 (1994).
- 33. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Niu, Y., "The Possible Scaling Modes in the High-Temperature Oxidation of Two-Phase Binary Alloys. Part I: High Oxidant Pressures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 409-429 (1994).
- 34. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F., Niu, Y. and Douglass, D.L., "An Improved Treatment of the Conditions for the Exclusive Oxidation of the Most-Reactive Component in the Corrosion of Two-Phase Binary Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 465-483 (1994).
- 35. Gesmundo, F., Niu, Y. and Viani, F., "The Possible Scaling Modes in the High-Temperature Oxidation of Two-Phase Binary Alloys. Part II: Low Oxidant Pressures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>43</u>, 379-394 (1995).

- 36. Gesmundo, F. and Gleeson, B., "Oxidation of Multicomponent Two-Phase Alloys," Oxidation of Metals, <u>44</u>, 211-237 (1995).
- 37. Gesmundo, F., Philibert, J. and Niu, Y., "The Effect of the Reactions at the Scale-Gas and Scale-Metal Interfaces on the Kinetics of Oxidation of Pure Metals," <u>Revue de</u> <u>Métallurgie</u>, 1315-1330 (1995).
- 38. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Niu, Y., "The Internal Oxidation of Two-Phase Binary Alloys under Low Oxidant Pressures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>45</u>, 51-76 (1996).
- Gesmundo, F., Castello, P. and Viani, F., "The Steady-State Corrosion Kinetics of Two-Phase Binary Alloys Forming the Most-Stable Oxide," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 381-396 (1996).
- 40. Gesmundo, F., Castello, P., Viani, F. and Philibert, J., "An Approximate Treatment of the Transient State in the Corrosion of Binary Alloys Forming the Most-Stable Oxide. Part I: Solid-Solution Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 91-115 (1997).
- 41. Gesmundo, F., Viani, F. and Niu, Y., "The Internal Oxidation of Two-Phase Binary Alloys Beneath an External Scale of the Less-Stable Oxide," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u> (in press).
- 42. Gesmundo, F., Castello, P. and Viani, F., "The Kinetics of Oxidation of Single-Phase Alloys with a Solubility Gap Forming the Most-Stable Oxide," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u> (in press).
- 43. Gesmundo, F., Castello, P., Viani, F. and Philibert, J., "An Approximate Treatment of the Transient State in the Oxidation of Binary Alloys Forming the Most-Stable Oxide. Part II: Single-Phase Alloys in Systems with a Solubility Gap," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u> (in press).
- 44. Gesmundo, F. and Pereira, M., "The Transient State in the Oxidation of Solid-Solution Binary Alloys Forming the Most-Stable Oxide: a Numerical Solution," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u> (in press).

5. Miscellaneous

45. Li, L.C., Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "A Computer Program for the Calculation of Quaternary Phase Diagrams for Hot Corrosion Applications," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>40</u>, 395-419 (1993).

Italy

- 46. Li, L.C., Gesmundo, F. and Viani, F., "A Simple Computer Program for the Calculation of Isothermal Ternary Phase Stability Diagrams Involving One Metal and Two Oxidants," <u>Materials Engineering</u>, <u>4</u>, 133-148 (1993).
- 47. Grabke, H.J., Auer, W., Bennett, M.J., Bregani, F., Gesmundo, F., Hall, D.J., Meadowcroft, D.B., Mrowec, S., Norton, J.F., Quaddakers, W.J., Saunders, S.R. and Zurek, Z., "Points to be Considered in Thermogravimetry," <u>Werkstoffe und</u> <u>Korrosion</u>, <u>44</u>, 345-350 (1993).
- 48. Gesmundo, F. and Przybylski, K. , "3rd International Workshop on High Temperature Corrosion, Report for Subject Area 2: Sulfidation of Metallic Materials and Development of Sulfidation Resistant Alloys," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>45</u>, 545-559 (1996).

Gozzi, D., Prof.

Dip. di Chimica Universita' di Roma "La Sapienza"

Ple. Aldo Moro 5 00185 Roma

Tel: +39 6 49913849

Fax: +39 6 49913951

e.mail: Gozzi@axcasp.caspur.it

Cignini, P.L., Dr.

Centro di Termodinamica Chimica alle alte Temperature

Dept. di Chimica Universita' di Roma "La Sapienza"

Ple. Aldo Moro 5 00185 Roma

Tel: +39 6 49913849

Fax: +39 6 49913951

Tomellini, M., Dr.

Dip. Chiwica Universita' di Roma Tor VergataVia della Ricerca Scientifica 00133 RomaTel:+39 6 72594398Fax:+39 6 72594328Key Personnel:Gozzi, D., Prof., Cignini, P.L., Dr., Cellucci, F., Dr.,
Tomellini, M., Dr.Scientific Key Words:Electrochemical measurements; Oxidation at low oxygen
pressure; Sensors; Oxide-metal interface; NucleationTechnical Key Words:Electrical resistors; Electrochemical microsensors; Heat
treating equipment; Heating elements

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The aim of the research is to study the reactivity of materials towards oxygen at high temperature and low oxygen partial pressures. The research includes the measurements of the oxidation kinetics, by means of non-conventional apparatus,

under well defined values of temperature and oxygen pressure. The experimental setup consists of a micro chamber where the sample is located and with a system of electrochemical oxygen sensors which allow the measurements of the oxygen partial

electrochemical oxygen sensors which allow the measurements of the oxygen partial pressure. The oxygen activity is measured along the stream line, at the entrance and at the exit of the microchamber. Through a mathematical algorithm, the E.M.F. of the sensors may be used to evaluate the number of oxygen moles that reacts with the sample and, therefore, the kinetics.

Preliminary measurements have been carried out on carbon in the form of: graphite, glassy carbon, fullerene C₆₀ and synthetic diamond. Successively the oxidation of titanium carbide was also studied. The reliability of the new experimental method has been verified by oxidising a copper foil for which the oxidation kinetics, in the same range of pressure an temperature, was already known from a different method.

Experiments were also performed for studying transport properties of oxides at high temperature. In this experiments the oxide/oxygen-gas system is displaced from the equilibrium by a temperature-jump. Then, the relaxation of the conductivity, due to the new condition, is measured as a function of time. An appropriate analysis of the conductivity-time curve allows the evaluation of the activation energy for ionic conduction.

Application

The work mainly deals with the study of the metal-oxide interfaces. Concerning technology, there is interest in the possibility of producing metal-ceramic junctions by growing a compact oxide layer at the common interfaces.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Oxidation

- 1. Gozzi, D., Guzzardi, G. and Salleo, A., "High Temperature Reactivity of Different Forms of Carbon at Low Oxygen Fugacity," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>83</u>, 177 (1996).
- Gozzi, D., Guzzardi, G., Montozzi, M. and Cignini, P.L., "Kinetics of High Temperature Oxidation of Refractory Carbides," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>101-103</u> (1997) in press.
- Tomellini, M., Davoli, I., and Gozzi, D., "High Temperature Oxidation of One- and Two- Component Metallic Systems Studied by In-situ X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy," <u>Journal of Alloys Comp</u>, <u>218</u>, 237 (1995)

2. Transport Properties

- Gozzi, D., Cignini, P.L., Cellucci, F. and Tomellini, M., "Heterogeneous Equilibrium Between and Oxygen Gas Studied by a Kinetic Approach," <u>Journal of Materials</u> <u>Chemistry</u>, <u>3</u>, 421 (1993).
- 5. Cellucci, F., Gozzi, D. and Tomellini, M., "Oxygen Diffusion in YBa₂Cu₃O_{7-δ} Mixed Conductors: Interpretation of T-Jump Measurements and Experiments on Hysteresis of Conductivity," Journal of Materials Chemistry, <u>4</u>, 579 (1994).

3. Nucleation

- 6. Tomellini, M., "On the Rate Constant for Non-Steady State Nucleation at Solid Surfaces," <u>Beric. Bunsen. Chem. Phys.</u>, <u>99</u>, 838 (1995).
- Tomellini, M., "Modelling of the Particle Size Distribution Function in the Nucleation and Early Stages of Thin Film Growth," <u>Applied Surface Science</u>, <u>99</u>, 67 (1996).

Sivieri, E., Prof.

Dipartimento di Chimica Fisica e Elettrochimica Università degli Studi di Milano via C. Golgi 19 20133 Milano Tel: +39 2 26603209 Fax: +39 2 70638129 Key Personel: Sivieri, E., Prof., Sacchi, B., Mrs. Scientific Key Words: Hot corrosion; Salt deposits Technical Key Words: Future gas turbines materials; ODS alloys

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

A small group is interested in hot corrosion behavior of metallic superalloys in gas turbine and in waste incinerators environments. The overall aim of the work is on the setting-up of laboratory method able to provide a continuous contaminant deposition on the samples during the hot corrosion tests. The research includes studies of the corrosion resistance of metallic alloys in conditions similar to the operating conditions of an oil-stoked gas-turbine, where molten salts arising from the fuel may be deposited. We have worked for some years at the laboratory in this field using the method of spraying once the contaminant on the samples before the high temperature tests, but the experimental results do not always correspond to the data arising from the service. After about 24 hours the corrosion rate is constant, as if the salt is consumed. In order to set up a more reliable method able to provide more valid data, a device has been assembled in which a continuous deposition of the contaminant is supplied onto the surface of the samples during the corrosion tests.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The studied method is apparently similar to that proposed by Dean in 1961 and exploits a two independently controlled furnaces. In the first section the contaminant evaporates and is carried by an inert gas in the second colder section; the temperature decrease produces the condensation of the contaminant on the sample, assuring the continuous deposition also in the long-time tests. The experimental data obtained by using various metallic alloys, shows that in the hot corrosion tests the continuous

deposition of the contaminant is able to provide substantially different data than those obtained by once contaminant spraying. The difference between the data obtained by once spraying and by continuous deposition, at the same temperature and in the same gaseous atmosphere, is approximately a factor of three for all the metallic alloys considered. This method is also able to provide the continuous deposition of undissolvable water contaminants (V_2O_5 , vanadates etc.), contrary to the method proposed by Dean, and may be advantageously employed in the hot corrosion tests.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Bregani, F. and Sivieri E., "Resistenza Alla Corrosione a Caldo Sotto Depositi Salini Fusi di Superleghe di Nichel per Turbine a Gas," <u>Atti delle Giornate Nazionali Sulla</u> <u>Corrosione e Protezione</u>, AIM, Milano (1994).
- Sivieri, E., "Misure di Velocità di Corrosione ad Alta Temperatura Sotto Sali Fusi con Deposizione Continua e Discontinua dell'Inquinante," <u>Atti del Convegno</u> <u>Materiali per Turbine a Gas Industriali</u>, AIM, Milano, <u>Metallurgia Italiana</u>, in press (1996).
- Sivieri, E., "A Comparison Between High Temperature Corrosion Rates Determination in the Presence of Continuous and Discontinuous Salts Deposition," <u>4th International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of</u> <u>Materials</u>, 20-24 May, Les Embiez, France (1996).
- Sivieri, E., "High Temperature Corrosion Rates Determinations in the Presence of Continuous and Discontinuous V₂O₅ Deposition," <u>13th International Corrosion</u> <u>Congress</u>, 25-29 November, Melbourne, Australia (1996).
- Rondelli, G., Sivieri, E. and Vicentini, B., "Caustic Stress Corrosion Cracking of Some Austenitic and Duplex Stainless Steels in Alkaline Environment at High Temperature," <u>13th International Corrosion Congress</u>, 25-29 November, Melbourne, Australia, <u>Corrosion Science</u>, in press (1996).

Stroosnijder, M.F., Dr.

Institute for Advanced Materials-Ispra Site			
Joint Research Centre of the European Commission			
21020 Ispra (VA)			
Tel:	+39 332 785281		
Fax:	+39 332 789385		
e.mail:	rien.stroosnijder	@jrc.it	
Key Pers	onnel:	Stroosnijder, M.F., Dr., Hirvonen, J.P., Dr., Gilliland, D.D., Dr., Haanappel, V.A.C., Dr., Sunderkötter, J.D., Dr.	
Scientific Key Words:		Coatings; Intermetallics; Ion implantation; Spallation; Surface analytical methods; Thermal cycling; Thin layer activation	
Technical Key Words:		Airframe materials; Engine materials; Fuel cells; In-plant monitoring; Surface engineering	

INTRODUCTION

The Joint Research Centre (JRC) is the corporate research laboratory of the European Union. It is established by the European Commission (EC) with headquarters in Brussels, Belgium. The JRC objectives include the provision of independent scientific and technical expertise to Community institutions and support for the implementation of Community policies and activities; to make JRC capabilities and (special) scientific and technical installations available to public and private bodies; and to contribute to the reduction of scientific and technological differences between Member States. The JRC is increasingly engaged in competitive activities, including shared cost actions. The JRC is located in five separate sites; the largest one is in Ispra, Italy. One of its seven institutes is the Institute for Advanced Materials (IAM) located in Petten, The Netherlands and in Ispra, Italy. Besides 250 permanent staff members, the IAM hosts approximately 50 visiting scientists, post doctoral fellows and post graduate students. One of the activities in Ispra is surface degradation studies, including high temperature corrosion. Within this activity, which was expanded significantly over recent years, emphasis is put on external collaborations and advanced techniques, which would normally lie outside the scope and capabilities of national organisations.

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. Ion Implantation as a Tool for High Temperature Corrosion Studies

Ion implantation offers the advantage of adding an element to a surface layer in a fast, well controlled and reproducible manner. Also due to the fact that the process is rather expensive and the obtained layers are relatively thin, the possible application of the method for improving the high temperature corrosion resistance in industrial applications is very limited. However, the method can be used as a research tool, in the frame of screening tests and to gain insights in corrosion mechanisms. In this frame the method is used for example on TiAl- and Ni₃Al-based intermetallic alloys and Cr-based alloys. The latter material is also of interest for fuel cell applications. For this activity a high current ion implanter is available.

2. Thin Layer Activation

The principal basis of Thin Layer Activation (TLA) is the creation of radionuclides in a surface layer to a well defined depth of a selected area, by exposure to a high energy charged particle beam. Various nuclides disintegrate with simultaneous emission of nuclide specific y-radiation. Any loss of activated material due to a surface degradation process, like wear or corrosion, will result in a decrease in γ -activity of the component. TLA offers various advantages, which include area selectivity (i.e. material loss from a particular region can be monitored), high sensitivity and low total activity, in addition to the possibility for in-situ and on-line monitoring (due to the material penetrating properties of γ -radiation and the speed of measurement) of individual elements. Due to these specific properties, TLA can contribute significantly to the monitoring of surface degradation in both research and industrial applications. This holds certainly for the assessment of highly corrosion or wear resistant materials, such as those obtained by surface treatments. Besides laboratory and industrial wear testing the method is also used at IAM for corrosion testing, the latter including cyclic high temperature corrosion. In this frame the method is used, for example, on Cr based alloys and thermal barrier coatings. For these TLA studies the group possesses a wide range of advanced facilities, the major one a variable energy light ion cyclotron with all related facilities, infrastructure for handling radioactive materials, a gamma spectrometry laboratory and dedicated cyclic oxidation facilities.

3. Scale Growth Mechanisms

Emphasis lays on the use of tracers, such as ¹⁸O and ¹⁵N, to study scale growth mechanisms. Analyses are performed using SIMS and SNMS in collaboration with

external organisations. Material systems under study include TiAl-based intermetallic alloys and Cr-based alloys. Often these studies are combined with ion implantation. To support this activity, a facility is available for tracer experiments with option for thermal cycling and gas analysis using a mass spectrometer.

4. Cyclic Corrosion Testing

Besides screening tests of different materials and coatings, more recently emphasis has been laid on pre-normative cyclic corrosion testing. High temperature corrosion has been particularly void of Codes of Practice and Standards, resulting in an inability to compare results from different organisations, and to many workers repeating the same mistakes and omissions. The activity is focused on investigating the influence of test parameters on the results, with the objective of helping to formulate test guidelines. For this purpose besides classical multi-specimen test facilities, thermobalances for cyclic corrosion testing and TLA facilities are employed.

5. Coatings for Gas Turbine Applications

The work conducted concentrates on the behavior of nickel (X-45, FSX-414) and cobalt (IN738, UD520) base superalloys protected with a range of commercial and novel coating types when exposed to temperatures and atmospheres representative of the first stage of a gas turbine burning a high sulphur, salt free fuel. Coatings include commercial MCrAlY, novel aluminum and aluminum-silicon diffusion coatings and thermal barrier coatings modified with CVD treatments.

Special Equipment

As was indicated in the introduction related to the objectives, emphasis is put on advanced facilities, which are accessible via collaborations to external organisations. Among the specialized facilities, not widely available, are:

- 1. Variable light ion cyclotron with all related facilities and infrastructure.
- 2. Gamma spectrometry laboratory.
- 3. Fully automitized single specimen rigs for cyclic oxidation testing using TLA.
- 4. Facility for isothermal and cyclic oxidation testing with isotope exchange possibility, e.g. ¹⁶O/¹⁸O with integrated gas analysis (mass spectrometry) facilities.
- 5. Thermobalances for cyclic oxidation testing under well controlled cyclic conditions.
- 6. High current ion implanter.
- 7. Corrosion loops for testing in SO₂ containing gas mixtures.

- 8. Various surface analytical facilities, including XPS, AES and R.F. powered GD-OES.
- 9. CVD, PVD and LPPS coating facilities.

Collaboration

Also related to the objectives of the JRC, an active policy is followed to make the capabilities and facilities available to public and private bodies. This might be in the frame of a formal or informal collaboration, research network, work under contract with one or more customers or as partner in a shared cost action under the Framework Programmes of the European Commission, such as e.g. BRITE/EURAM and JOULE. At present the group is involved in all these different types of collaborations.

Future Plans

The mentioned activities dealing with surface degradation studies at the IAM-Ispra site are in rapid expansion. All activities mentioned are expected to be extended further in the future. These are closely related with the activities of the Surface Engineering Unit of IAM-Ispra site. As mentioned, emphasis is and will be put on external collaborations in relation to advanced techniques, which would normally lie outside the scope and capabilities of national organisations and should thus be set up at an European level.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Coen-Porsini, F., Saiu, R., Dos Santos, F. and Bregani, F., "Protective Effects of Coatings on the Corrosion Behaviour of Ni-Based Superalloys in Gas Turbine Atmospheres," Journal de Physique III, 12, C9-569-580 (1993).
- Stroosnijder, M.F., Mevrel, R. and Bennett, M.J., "The Interaction of Surface Engineering and High Temperature Corrosion Protection," <u>Materials at High</u> <u>Temperature</u>, <u>12</u>, 53-66 (1994).
- 3. Stroosnijder, M.F., Guttmann, V., Buscail, H. and de Wit, J.H.W., "Effect of Pre-Oxidation and the Influence of Deformation on the Corrosion Behaviour of Two Heat Resistant Steels in a Sulphur-Oxygen-Carbon Bearing Environment," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 207-219 (1994).
- 4. Stroosnijder, M.F., Macchi, G. and Murris, I., "The Use of Thin Layer Activation to Study Spallation by Thermal Cycling," <u>EUROCORR '94</u>, The Institute of Materials, <u>3</u>, 341-350 (1994).
- Stroosnijder, M.F. and Norton, J.F., "Use of Ion Implantation to Study the Corrosion of an Austenitic Steel in an Oxidizing/Sulphidizing Atmosphere," <u>Surface and</u> <u>Interface Analysis</u>, <u>22</u>, 436-440 (1994).
- 6. Stroosnijder, M.F. and Macchi,G., "A Method of Measuring Spalling of a Protective Surface," International patent application and U.S. application.

- Bisconti, R., Casteleyn, K., Castiglioni, M., Fossati, F., Manes, L. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Production of ⁵¹Cr by Deuteron Activation of Natural Chromium," <u>Nuclear</u> <u>Instruments and Methods B</u>, <u>88</u>, 282-286 (1994).
- 8. Stroosnijder, M.F., Macchi, G. and Murris, I., "The Use of Thin Layer Activation to Study the Adhesion of Protective Surface Layers," <u>EURADH '94</u>, 594-597 (1994).
- 9. Stroosnijder, M.F., "Thin Layer Activation in Materials Technology," <u>Application of Particle and Laser Beams in Materials Technology</u>, Ed. P. Misaelidis, Kluwer Publishers, 399-413 (1995).
- Gilliland, D.D., Dos Santos, F., Coen-Porsini, F. and Bregani, F., "Corrosion Resistance and Interdiffusion Behaviour of VPS Deposited Aluminide Coatings for High Temperature Applications," <u>Surface Modification Technologies VIII</u>, Eds. T.S. Sudarshan and M. Jeandin, The Institute of Materials, London, U.K., 787-782 (1995).
- Hofman, R., Dos Santos, F. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Influence of Cr and Pt Ion Implantation on the Oxidation Resistance of a TiAl-Based Intermetallic Alloy," <u>Surface Modification Technologies VIII</u>, Eds. T.S. Sudarshan and M. Jeandin, The Institute of Materials, London, U.K., 443-450 (1995).
- Schütze, M., Guttmann, V. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Simultaneous Corrosion and Mechanical or Thermal Stresses," <u>Guidelines for Methods of Testing and Research</u> <u>in High Temperature Corrosion</u>, Eds. H.J. Grabke and D.B. Meadowcroft, EFC publication no. 14, The Institute of Materials, 104-120 (1995).
- Stroosnijder, M.F., Guttmann, V. and de Wit, J.H.W., "The Influence of the S/O Ratio in the Environment on the Creep and Creep Damage Behaviour of a Heat Resistant Steel," <u>Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A</u>, <u>26A</u>, 2103-2110 (1995).
- 14. Stroosnijder, M.F. and Macchi, G., "A Nuclear Method to Measure Spallation by Thermal Cycling of Protective Surface Layers," <u>Nuclear Instruments and Methods</u> <u>in Physics Research B</u>, <u>100</u>, 155-158 (1995).
- Murris, I., Cristobal, J. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Influence of Yttrium Addition on the Cyclic Oxidation Resistance of PM Chromium," <u>EUROMAT '95</u>, Associazione Italiana di Metallurgia, Milan, <u>4</u>, 179-184 (1995).
- 16. Gilliland, D.D., Lanza, F., Brossa, F., Bregani, F., Bianchi, P. and Toledo, G.P., "Corrosion Resistance and Structural Characterisation of Silicon Enriched Aluminide Coatings on Nickel Superalloys," <u>EUROMAT '95</u>, Associazione Italiana di Metallurgia, Milan, <u>4</u>, 197-202 (1995).
- Hofman, R., Schmutzler, H.J., Sunderkötter, J.D., Glatz, W., Clemens, H. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Isothermal and Cyclic Oxidation of Different Near-gamma TiAl-Alloys," <u>EUROMAT '95</u>, Associazione Italiana di Metallurgia, Milan, <u>4</u>, 91-96 (1995).
- Laguzzi, G., Bisconti, R., Macchi, G. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Thin Layer Activation of Chromium with Deuterons," <u>Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics</u> <u>Research B</u>, <u>100</u>, 540-542 (1995).

- 19. Stroosnijder, M.F., Sunderkötter, J.D., Cristóbal, M.J., Jenett, H., Isenbügel, K. and Baker, M.A., "The Influence of Yttrium Ion Implantation on the Oxidation Behaviour of PM Chromium," <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>83</u>, 205-211 (1996).
- Sunderkötter, J.D., Jenett, H. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "SNMS Studies on the Role of Nitrogen in the Oxidation Behaviour of a TiAl-Based Intermetallic," <u>ECASIA 95</u>, Eds. H.J. Mathieu, B. Reihl and D. Briggs, Wiley, 147-150, (1996).
- Schmutzler, H.J., Zheng, N., Quadakkers, W.J. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Influence of Niobium Ion Implantation on the High Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of Ti-48Al-2Cr," <u>Surface and Coatings Technology</u>, <u>83</u>, 212-217 (1996).
- 22. Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Application of a Cyclotron in Materials Research at the IAM of the European Commission," <u>Cyclotrons '95</u>, Ed. J.C. Cornell, World Scientific, Singapore, 144-147 (1996).
- 23. Stroosnijder, M.F., Zheng, N., Quadakkers, W.J., Hofman, R., Gil, A. and Lanza, F., "The Effect of Niobium Ion Implantation on the Oxidation Behaviour of a g-TiAl-Based Intermetallic," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 19-35 (1996).
- Cristóbal, M.J., Gibson, P.N. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "A Study of the Initial Stages of Oxidation of Yttrium Implanted Chromium Using X-Ray Diffraction and Absorption Spectroscopy," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 805-822 (1996).
- 25. Laguzzi, G., Bisconti, R., Macchi, G. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Deuteron Activation of Chromium for Thin Layer Activation Studies," <u>Cyclotrons '95</u>, Ed. J.C. Cornell, World Scientific, Singapore, 154-156 (1996).
- 26. Stroosnijder, M.F., Sunderkötter, J.D. and Haanappel, V.A.C., "High Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Based Intermetallics," <u>Design Fundamentals of</u> <u>Composites, Intermetallics and Metal-Ceramics Systems</u>, Eds. R.Y. Lin, Y.A. Chang and C.T. Liu, TMS, Warrendale, 287-293 (1996).
- Stroosnijder, M.F., Haanappel, V.A.C., Meadowcroft, D.B. and Starr, F., "The Influence of Test Parameters on the High Temperature Cyclic Corrosion Behaviour of Materials," <u>EUROCORR</u> '96, <u>III</u>, 12.1-12.4 (1996).
- 28. Quadakkers, W.J., Breuer, U., Tyagi, A.K., Gil, A., Stroosnijder, M.F., Becker, J.S. and Hänsel, M., "MCs⁺-SIMS Studies Concerning the Effect of Y Surface Modification on the Oxidation Behaviour of Cr-Based ODS Alloys," <u>Entwicklung und Anwendung massenspektrometrischer Methoden zur Spuren-, Ultraspuren-, Isotopen- und Oberflächenanalytik für Forschungsaufgaben des Forschungszentrums Jülich, Eds. J.S. Becker and H.J. Dietze, Jül-3272, KFA-Jülich, 97-112 (1996).</u>
- 29. Stroosnijder, M.F., Schmutzler, H.J., Haanappel, V.A.C. and Sunderkötter, J.D., "Ion Implantation as a Tool to Study the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl-Based Alloys," <u>Materials and Corrosion</u>, <u>48</u> 40-47 (1997).
- Stroosnijder, M.F., The Useof Ion Implantation in High Temperature Corrosion Studies," In <u>Surface Modification Technologies X</u>," T.S. Sudarshan, K.A. Khor and M. Jeandin, eds., The Institute of Materials, London, U.K., pp. 759-772 (1997).

Italy

- 31. Haanappel, V.A.C. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Effect of Specimen Handling on the Cyclic Oxidation Behaviour of Ti-48Al-2Cr," <u>Corrosion Science 39</u> 1083-1086 (1997).
- 32. Jenett, H., Sunderkötter, J.D. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "Plasma SNMS Investigations on Powder Metallurgical Cr and Ti-48Al-2Cr after Oxidation in Air and ¹⁵N₂/¹⁸O₂ Atmosphere," <u>Fresenius Journal for Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>358</u>, 225-229 (1997).
- 33. Haanappel, V.A.C., Glatz, W., Clemens, H. and Stroosnijder, M.F., "The Isothermal and Cyclic Oxidation Behaviour of Ti-48Al-2Cr at 700°C," <u>Materials at High</u> <u>Temperatures</u>, <u>14</u>, 19-25 (1997).

Italy

Uberti, F.

Divisione Materiali e Tecnologie

Laboratorio di Corrosione ad Alta Temperatura

CISE spa

P.O. Box 12081, I - 20134 Milano

Segrate (Milano) 20090

Tel: +39 2 2167 2102

Fax: +39 2 2167 2620

Telex: 311643 CISE I

e.mail: 0217uber@s1.cise.it

Key Personnel: Uberti, F.

Scientific Key Words: Bond/thermal barrier coatings; Burner rigs; Ceramics corrosion; Coal-ash corrosion; Coated and uncoated superalloys;Corrosion-mechanical property interactions; Cyclic oxidation; Deposits/heat transfer; Gasification; Heat exchanger materials; Hot corrosion; Intermetallics; ODS alloys; Oxidation/sulfidation; Probes; Reducing environments; Salt deposits; Silicon carbide/ combustion atmosphere; Waste incinerator materials
 Technical Key Words: Advanced steam conditions; Atmospheric pressure

Technical Key Words: Advanced steam conditions; Atmospheric pressure fluidized-bed combustor; Coal-fired boiler; Condensate (dew-point/downtime) corrosion; Oil-fired boiler; Waste incineration; Very high-temperature heat exchangers; Land-based gas turbines; Thermal barrier coating systems; Coal gasification; Syngas coolers; Heat exchangers

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The object of the research activity is the evaluation of the corrosion resistance of alloys and coatings for critical components in electric power plants, mainly conventional and advanced combustors and/or boilers, land-based gas turbines, coal gasification and waste-to-energy systems. The emphasis is on the simulation of corrosion damage mechanisms, both devising appropriate laboratory tests and developing probes to allow the exposure of specimens in the service environment. As a consequence, the research includes studies of the combustion gas thermochemistry, the formation of aggressive deposits, the deposit- and/or gaseous species-reaction with the material, the influence of heat flux on the corrosion mechanism and, lastly, the influence of thermal cycling and mechanical damage mechanisms, such as fatigue and creep, on both coating and protective oxide scale integrity. Since the beginning of 1996 the group has been operating a gas/oil-fired combustor that will allow it to perform corrosion tests in a true combustion atmosphere. In the area of in-field exposure, destructive thermal exchanging probes are already available and on-line monitoring probes are under development. Recently, a co-operation has set up with ENEL SpA in the frame of a European project for the standardization of high temperature corrosion testing.

Applications, Engineering Achievement and Technology Transfer

The experimental work is devoted to collecting engineering data on the corrosion behavior of conventional and innovative materials and coatings to allow an estimation of service life on the most critical components in the energy field. Most of the work has been carried out in co-operation with ENEL SpA, the Italian electric power utility, some municipal utilities, materials manufacturers and OEMs.

More recently, some attention has been devoted to the corrosion problems in the Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) incinerators.

Specific Topics

1. Corrosion of Materials for Fossil-Fired Boilers

This research is relevant to the choice of materials for the superheaters of the advanced steam cycles in the fossil-fired thermoelectric power stations. The tests are being carried out on T22, T91, E911, 304SS and 347SS, under heat flux conditions by means of cooled probes inserted in a furnace. Before the exposure to the simulated combustion atmosphere, the specimens are sprayed with alkali sulphates or with sulphate/vanadate salt mixtures. The metal test temperature ranges from 540°C to 650°C. Currently the influence of different amounts of SO₂/SO₃ and HCl is being studied.

2. Corrosion of Materials for Very High Temperature Heat Exchangers

The activity is being performed in the framework of the European COST-501 R.III Program. Tests have been performed at 850 and 1100°C on ODS alloys MA956, PM2000 and ODM 751 in oxidizing gaseous atmosphere on specimens, both as-received and contaminated with sodium sulphate. At the moment, these alloys are being exposed to

Italy

flue gas in a propane fuelled combustor at 1200°C and daily cycled to room temperature.

3. Corrosion in Reducing Atmospheres

The activity has been performed in the framework of the COST Program. The aim of the work was to assess the corrosion performance of ODS alloys and other commercial alloys (Alloy 800H and Sanicro 28) under Downtime Corrosion condition. The specimens were exposed for up to 1000 h at 500°C and 350°C to a simulated Coal Gasification Atmosphere (CGA), employing gaseous mixtures composed of H₂-CO-H₂S-HCl-H₂O, and cycled to room temperature every 100 h. Following the high temperature period the specimen sheets were mechanically stressed and exposed to moist air up to 720 h, to evaluate the occurrence of pitting and/or SCC.

4. Hot Corrosion of Materials for Land-Based Gas Turbines

The aim of this work was to evaluate the resistance to type-I and -II hot corrosion of Niand Co-base superalloys, coatings and thermal barriers employed for blades and vanes in GT. A variety of materials (IN738, IN939, U510, U520, X45, FSX-414), MCrAlY coatings and YPSZ thermal barriers has been tested in the laboratory at 700-900°C, continuously condensing Na₂SO₄ vapours on the specimen surface, according to the 'Dean test' methodology. Some tests in heat-flux condition ($T_{gas} = 1300^{\circ}$ C) have been performed too. Limited tests were carried out on a TiAl intermetallic alloy. High temperature corrosion/fatigue tests were carried out on IN738 at 850°C, which allowed a LCF life vs. strain curve to be drawn.

5. Corrosion in MSW Incinerator.

This activity has been operated since 1994. Cooled probes are being exposed in the superheater area of some MSW incinerators in northern Italy. Low-alloyed ferritic steels, austenitic stainless steels, co-extruded and laser cladded coatings are under test.

6. High Temperature Oxidation of Monolithic and Ceramic Composites

Type II hot corrosion of SiC joined tubes is being evaluated. Some specimens are exposed to the Dean test at 900°C, while other specimens have been previously coated with a mixture of coal ash and Na_2SO_4 and then thermal aged at 900°C up to 2000 h for evaluating the reduction of mechanical properties. The oxidation kinetics of four ceramic matrix composites are being determinated at 1350°C up to 2000 h, at 4 bar pressure, in $CO_2-O_2-H_2O$ gaseous mixture.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Corrosion of Materials for Fossil-Fired Boilers

- Uberti, F. and Bregani, F., "Influence of Process Variables on the Deposit-Induced Sulphidation of Materials for FBC Components," <u>Proc. "10th European Corrosion</u> <u>Congress</u>", Barcelona (E), July, Eds. Costa and Mercer, The Institute of Materials, The University Press, Cambridge (UK), 736-741 (1993).
- Livraghi, M., Quaglia, G.M. and Uberti, F., "Characterization of the High Temperature Corrosion Behaviour of the Modified 9Cr-1Mo Steel," <u>Proc. "Process &</u> <u>Materials Innovation in Stainless Steel Products</u>", Firenze (I), October 11-14, AIM, Milano (I), 3.133-3.138 (1993).
- Uberti, F., De Gaudenzi, G.P., Bregani, F. and Toledo, G.P., "High Temperature Corrosion Behaviour of T91 in Simulated Coal Combustion Atmosphere," <u>Proc.</u> <u>"Materials for Advanced Power Engineering 1994</u>", Liège (B), October, Eds. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (NL), 1669-1676 (1994).
- 4 Uberti, F., Colombo, A., De Gaudenzi, G.P. and Rocchini, G., "Influence of Temperature, Sulphur Dioxide and Thermal Exchange on Deposit Induced Oxidation/Sulphidation of Alloys for Fluidized Bed Combustors," <u>Proc. Conf. 4th</u> <u>International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of</u> <u>Materials</u>, Les Embiez (F), May 20-24, to be published (1996).

2. Corrosion of Materials for Very High Temperature Heat Exchangers

- De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Bregani, F. and Toledo, G.P., "ODS Alloys for High Temperature Heat Exchangers - Evaluation of Corrosion Resistance of MA956 and PM2000," <u>Proc. "Materials for Advanced Power Engineering 1994</u>", Liège (B), October 1994, Eds. Coutsouradis et al., Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (NL), 1563-1572 (1994).
- Colombo, A., De Gaudenzi, G.P., Rocchini, G. and Uberti, F., "Behaviour of Some Fe-Base ODS Alloys for Very High Temperature Heat Exchangers," <u>EUROCORR</u> <u>'96</u>, Nice (F), September 24-26, to be published (1996).

3. Corrosion in Reducing Atmospheres

7. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Toledo, G.P. and Uberti, F., "Influence of Alloying Elements on the Corrosion Behaviour of Austenitic Stainless Steels in Reducing/Sulphidizing

Environments," <u>Proc. Process & Materials Innovation in Stainless Steel Products</u>, Firenze (I), October 11-14, 1993, AIM, Milano (I), 3.93-3.98 (1993).

4. Hot Corrosion of Materials for Land-Based Gas Turbines

- De Gaudenzi, G.P., Toledo, G.P. and Uberti, F., "A Dean Test Screening of Some Gas Turbine Alloys," <u>Proc. "10th European Corrosion Congress</u>", Barcellona (E), July, Eds. Costa and Mercer, The Institute of Materials, The University Press, Cambridge (UK), 821-824 (1993).
- De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F. and Toledo, G.P., "Comportamento Alla Corrosione ad Alta Temperatura di Alcuni Materiali Avanzati per Turbine a Gas Industriali e di Potenza," <u>Proc. "Giornate Nazionali Sulla Corrosione e Protezione</u>", Milano (I), May, AIM, Milano (I), 233-242 (1994).
- 10. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Bregani, F., Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G., "Influence of Test Parameters on Hot Corrosion of Some Gas Turbine Alloys Using the Dean Test," <u>Proc. "Corrosion in Natural and Industrial Environments: Problems and Solutions</u>", Grado (I), May 23-25, NACE International, 381-390 (1995).
- 11. Bianchi, P., Colombo, A., De Gaudenzi, G.P. and Guardamagna, C., "Creep and Corrosion Behaviour of an Intermetallic Alloy for Gas Turbine Applications," <u>Proc.</u> <u>EUROMAT 95 - The 4th European Conference on Advanced Materials and</u> <u>Processes</u>, Padova (I), September 25-28, AIM, Milano, Vol. IV, 1-6 (1995).
- 12. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Bregani, F., Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G., "High Temperature Corrosion and Thermal Cycling Behaviour of Gas Turbine Coatings and Substrates in Simulated Environments," <u>Proc. "EUROMAT 95 - The 4th</u> <u>European Conference on Advanced Materials and Processes</u>", Padova (I), September 25-28, 1995, AIM, Milano, Vol. IV, 213-218 (1995).
- 13. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Uberti, F., Colombo, A. and Rocchini, G., "The Resistance of Some Gas Turbine Hot Components Coatings to High Temperature Corrosion and Thermal Cycling Damage," <u>Proc. Conf. Symposium on "High Temperature</u> <u>Coatings II", 1996 TMS Annual Meeting</u>, Anaheim, CA (USA), February 4-8, to be published (1996).
- 14. De Gaudenzi, G.P., Colombo, A., Rocchini, G. and Uberti, F., "Comportamento Alla Corrosione a Caldo di Secondo Tipo (LHTC) di Superleghe Base Nichel e di Rivestimenti Protettivi per Palette di Turbine a Gas," <u>Proc. Conf. Giornate Nazionali</u> <u>sulla Corrosione e Protezione</u>, Milano (I), May 29-30, AIM, Milano, Vol. I, 73-82, (1996).

Italy

JAPAN

CONTENTS

Akashi, M., Dr. Eng	J-2
Amano, T., Prof	J-5
Fujiwara, Y., Mr., Toge, T., Dr. and Nemoto, R., Dr	-10
Hara, M., Prof. And Sato, Y., DrJ-	-12
Hashimoto, K., ProfJ-	-16
Ishii, KJ-	-21
Kihara, S., Dr., Nakagawa, K., Dr., Sonoya, K., Dr., and Matsumoto, K., MrJ-	-13
Maruyama, T., ProfJ-	-27
Masuda, H., DrJ-	-30
Morimoto, T., Mr., and Önay, B., Dr.	-32
Nagashima, E., and Shibata, KJ-	-35
Nakamori, M., DrJ-	-36
Narita, T., ProfJ-	-38
Okada, M., DrJ-	-42
Shida, Y., Dr., Otsuka, N., Dr., Fujikawa, H., Dr., and Anada, H., MrJ-	-44
Takahashi, H., Prof. And Kurokawa, K., Assoc. Prof	-49
Taniguchi, S., Dr. and Shibata, T., ProfJ-	-52
Yoshiba, M., ProfJ-	-56
Yoshihara, M., DrJ-	-58

Akashi, M., Dr. Eng. Materials Technology Department **Research Institute** Ishikawajima-Harima Heavy Industries Co Ltd (IHI) 3-1-15 Toyosu, Kotoku Tokyo 135 Tel: +81 3 3534 3357 Fax: +81 3 3534 3388 e.mail: akashi@rimat.ty.ihi.co.jp Key Personnel: Akashi, M., Dr., Nakayama, G. Scientific Key Words: High temperature water corrosion; Life prediction; Performance/lifetime; Pitting Technical Key Words: Nuclear power systems

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

All the research activities are focused on the stress-corrosion cracking issue for boiling water reactor (BWR) plant materials. The activities cover all the aspects of the issue, from the mechanistic aspect to the countermeasures, as indicated in the following abstracts.

Specific Topics

1. Effects of Materials Factors on the Stress Corrosion Cracking Susceptibility of Stainless Alloys in Simulated BWR Primary Coolant Environment

The effect of grain-boundary chromium depletion has been quantitatively demonstrated for Alloy 600 family alloys as well as stainless steels. A parameter, called the stress corrosion resistivity index (SCRI), that assesses the relative resistance of a material to stress corrosion cracking on the basis of the alloy chemistry has been proposed for Alloy 600 family alloys. Other sensitization mechanisms than the chromium depletion, including the grain boundary segregation of impurity elements, are being investigated for the abave mentioned alloys.

2. Effects of Environmental Factors on the Stress-Corrosion Cracking Susceptibility of BWR Plant Materials

The effects of electrode potential and solution impurities on the stress corrosion cracking susceptibility of carbon/low alloy steels, stainless steels, and Ni-base alloys are being investigated by means of the slow strain rate test and the creviced bent beam test. This work is partly supported by the Tokyo Electric Power Co.

3. Predictive Modeling for the Stress Corrosion Cracking Life

A predictive model for the initiation time of the stress corrosion cracking is being developed for the BWR plant materials, based on detailed observation for the crack initiation process and mechanistic consideration. This work is partly supported by the Tokyo Electric Power Co.

4. Development of the Electrochemical Noise Analysis Technique for Monitoring the Stress Corrosion Crack Initiation Process

The free corrosion potential fluctuation behavior is being detailed for the development of the monitoring technique for the stress corrosion crack initiation.

5. Photoelectrochemical Protection of Stainless Alloys from the Stress Corrosion Cracking

A noble cathodic protection method using the photoelectrochemical reaction taking place on the titanium dioxide semiconductor, placed onto the surface of BWR plant material, is being developed. This work is partly supported by the Tokyo Electric Power Co.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Nakayama, G., Yoshida, K. and Akashi, M., "Effects of Carbon and Delta Ferrite on the Stress Corrosion Cracking Susceptibility of Type 309 Weld Metal in Simulated BWR Environment," <u>CORROSION/93</u>, NACE International, Houston, Paper No. 171 (1993).
- Akashi, M., "Acceleration of Stress Corrosion Cracking Test for High-Temperature, High-Purity Water Environments by Means of Artificial Crevice Application," <u>Application of Accelerated Corrosion Tests to Service Life Prediction of Materials</u>, ASTM STP-1194, Eds. G. Cragnolino and N. Sridhar, ASTM, Philadelphia, 313-324 (1994).

- Nakayama, G., Yoshida, K. and Akashi, M., "Effect of Electrode Potential on the Susceptibility of Alloy 182 Weld Metal to Stress Corrosion Cracking in Simulated BWR Environment," <u>Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium on</u> <u>Environmental Degradation of Materials in Nuclear Systems -Water Reactors</u>, Eds. R. En of Materials in Nuclear Systems - Water Reactors. Eds. G. Airey, NACE International, Houston, Vol. 1 (1995).
- Nakayama, G. and Akashi, M., "Stress Corrosion Crack Initiation Process for Alloy 182 Weld Metal in Simulated BWR Environments," <u>CORROSION/95</u>, NACE International, Houston, Paper No. 406 (1995).
- 5. Akashi, M., "Effects of Cr and Nb Contents on the Susceptibility of Alloy 600 Type Ni-Base Alloys to Stress Corrosion Cracking in a Simulated BWR Environment," <u>CORROSION/95</u>, NACE International, Houston, Paper No. 407 (1995).
- Akashi, M., Iso-o, H., Hirano, K., Kubota, N., Fukuda, T. and Ayabe, M., "Photoelectrochemical Protection of Stainless Alloys from the Stress Corrosion Cracking in BWR Primary Coolant Environment," <u>Proceedings of the 7th</u> <u>International Symposium on Environmental Degradation of Materials in Nuclear</u> <u>Systems -Water Reactors</u>, Eds. G. Airey, NACE International, Houston, Vol. 1, 621-627 (1995).
- Nakayama, G., Liang, C. and Akashi, M., "Repassivation Method for Determining the Critical Potential for Initiation of Stress Corrosion Cracking," <u>Corrosion</u> <u>Engineering (Japan)</u>, <u>45</u>, 298-304 (1996).
- 8. Nakanishi, K., Tanaka, Y., Yoshida, K. and Akashi, M., "Effects of Applied Stress on the Stress Corrosion Cracking Lifetime of Carbon Steel Weld Metal in High-Purity Water at 250 C," <u>Plant Aging and Life Prediction of Corrodable Structures</u>, Japanese Society of. Corrosion Engineers, NACE International (1997).
- Akashi, M. and Nakayama, G., "Stress Corrosion Crack Initiation Process Model for BWR Plant Materials," <u>Plant Aging and Life Prediction of Corrodable Structures</u>, Japanese Society of Corrosion Engineers, NACE International (1997).
- 10. Akashi, M. and Nakayama, G., "A Process Model for the Initiation of Stress Corrosion Crack Growth in BWR Plant Materials," <u>Effects of the Environment on</u> <u>the Initiation of Crack Growth</u>, ASTM STP-1298, Eds. W.A. Van Der Sluys, R.S. Piascik and R. Zawierucha, ASTM, Philadelphia (1997).

Amano, T., Prof.

Department of Materials Science and Ceramic Technology

Shonan Institute of Technology

Tsujido-Nishikaigan		
Fujisawa 251		
Tel: +81 0466 34 4111	+81 0466 34 4111	
Fax: +81 0466 36 1594	+81 0466 36 1594	
e.mail: amano@mate.sh	amano@mate.shonan-it.ac.jp	
Key Personnel	Amano, T., Prof.	
Scientific Key Words:	Heat-resistant steels; Nickel alloys; Reactive element effect; Sulfur segregation; Cyclic oxidation	
Technical Key Words:	Catalyst support systems; Heating elements; Industrial furnaces; Fluidized-bed combustor	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The aim of the research is to investigate mechanisms of high temperature oxidation and high temperature corrosion of heat resistant alloys in detail and to give fundamental information to development of new materials and to offer new knowledge to the next generation. The research includes fundamental studies such as sulfur effects of heat resistant alloys with different sulfur contents, coatings of reactive element oxides (Al₂O₃, SiO₂, Y₂O₃, CeO₂) and ion implantation of reactive element (Y) to heat resistant alloys, additions of reactive elements (Y, La, Gd, Ho, Er, Ti, Zr, Hf) to heat resistant alloys, growth processes and spalling of oxide on the heat resistant alloys. Extensive programs have included in cyclic and isothermal oxidation, and in in-situ observation during oxidation.

Specific Topics

1. Sulfur Influence on High Temperature Oxidation of Heat Resistant Alloys

This research is being carried out into the influence of sulfur on Fe-20Cr-4Al and Ni-20Cr-1Si alloys with different sulfur contents. Emphasis is being placed on the influence of sulfur concerning the growth mechanism of the oxide, oxide morphology,

Japan

the spalling process of oxide and the behavior of chromium sulfide in cyclic and isothermal oxidation, and in-situ observation of oxidation.

2. Coatings of Reactive Element Oxides and Ion Implantation of Reactive Element to Heat Resistant Alloys

This work is being carried out into the improvement of oxidation resistance by coatings of reactive element oxides $(Al_2O_3, SiO_2, Y_2O_3, CeO_2)$ and ion implantation of reactive element (Y) to Ni-20Cr-1Si alloys. A detailed study is being carried out into the influence of different reactive element oxides and of ion implantation of the reactive element, phase transformation of SiO₂, oxide grain size and oxide composition on the alloys.

3. The Influence of Reactive Elements to Heat Resistant Alloys

This research is being carried out into the influence of additions of reactive elements (Y, La, Pr, Gd, Ho, Er, Ti, Zr, Hf) to Fe-20Cr-4Al and Ni-20Cr-1Si alloys. Emphasis is being placed on the influence of chemical and physical properties of added elements such as atomic radius, ion radius, free energy of formation of oxide, distribution of intermetallic compounds and reactive elements.

4. Corrosion Behavior of Heat Resistant Alloys

This work is supported by the Grant-in Aid on Priority Areas, Ministry of Education, Japan. The overall aim of the work is to develop candidate advanced corrosion resistant materials for the development of thermochemical hydrogen production process UT-3 using cycle reactions Ca-Br-Fe system.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Sulfur Influence in High Temperature Oxidation

- 1. Amano, T., Suzuki, K., Ohtake, M. Furuhashi, T. and Kosukegawa, T., "Effect on Sulfur in High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloy," <u>Journal of Advanced</u> <u>Science</u>, <u>8</u>, 108 (1996).
- 2. Amano, T., Watanabe, T., Uji, H., Kaneko, S. and Sekiyama, Y., "High Temperature Oxidation of Ni-20Cr and Ni-20Cr-1Si Alloys Using Commercial and High Purity Cr," Journal of Advanced Science, <u>8</u>, 109 (1996).

- 3. Amano, T., "High Temperature Oxidation Behaviour of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Amounts of Sulfur," <u>Proceedings of 13th International Corrosion Congress</u>, Paper 306, 1-5 (1996).
- Amano, T., Fujikawa, H., Kayanuma, H., Ikezawa, T. and Yoshimura, K., "Cyclic Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Amounts of Sulfur at 1573 and 1673K," <u>Journal of Advanced Science</u>, 9, 153 (1997).
- 5. Amano, T., Shibata, M., Miyazaki, Y. and Ishinabe, T., "Morphology of Oxide Scale Formed on Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Amounts of Sulfur during High Temperature Cyclic Oxidation," Journal of Advanced Science, 9, (1997).
- 6. Watanabe, T., Ohtani, T., Yuyama, M., Matsuzawa, T., Ohyama, N. and Amano, T., "Cyclic Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Amounts of Sulfur at 1473K," Journal of Advanced Science, 9, 155 (1997).
- Amano, T., Watanabe, T. and Michiyama, K., "High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Amounts of Sulfur," <u>Journal of Japan Inst. Metals</u>, <u>61</u>, 1077-1085 (1997).
- 8. Amano, T., Watanabe, T. and Michiyama, K., "High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Amounts of Sulfur," Zairyo-To-Kankyo, in press.

2. Improvement of High Temperature Oxidation by Ceramic Coatings

- 9. Amano, T., Takehana, S., Masuda, T., Watatani, T. and Sugiyama, S., "Oxide Adherence on Heat Resistance Alloys by Y, Y₂O₃, CeO₂, or Al₂O₃ Coatings," <u>Journal of Advanced Science</u>, <u>5</u>, 111 (1993).
- Amano, T., Shigemi, M., Shimizu, M., Matsumoto, M. and Matsumoto, Y., "High Temperature Oxidation Resistance on SiO₂-Coated Ni-20Cr-1Si," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Advanced Science</u>, <u>7</u>, 123 (1995).
- Amano, T., Michiyama, K. and Takehana, S., "High Temperature Oxidation of Y₂O₃-, CeO₂-, or Al₂O₃-Coated Ni-20Cr-1Si Alloys," <u>Proceedings of the International</u> <u>Symposium on Sputtering and Plasma Processes</u>, 399-402 (1995).
- 12. Amano, T., Michiyama, K., Matsumoto, K., Shimizu, M. and Shigemi, M., "High Temperature Oxidation of SiO₂-Coated Ni-20Cr-1Si Alloy," <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>International Symposium on Sputtering and Plasma Processes</u>, 405-410 (1995).
- 13. Amano, T., Kishimoto, M., Nagata, S., Takahiro, K. and Yamaguchi, S., "Effect of Implanted Y on High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloy," <u>Proceedings of</u>

the 3rd International Conference on Rare Earth Development and Applications, 2, 395-398 (1995).

3. Improvement of High Temperature Oxidation by Reactive Elements

- Amano, T., Michiyama, K., Nakajima, Y., Suzuki, N., Matsumoto, H., Masumura, T. and Yokota H., "High Temperature Oxidation Resistance on Heat-Resistant Alloys with Small Additions of Reactive Elements," <u>Journal of Advanced Science</u>, <u>5</u>, 110 (1993).
- 15. Amano, T. and Momose, O., "Cyclic Oxidation of Ni-20Cr Alloys with Small Additions of Ce and Si," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 885-891 (1993).
- Amano, T., Michiyama, K., Ohosawa, A. and Okazaki, K., "The Cyclic Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Additions of Rare Earth Elements (Y, Pr, Gd, or Ho)," <u>Proceedings of the First Mexican Symposium on Metallic Corrosion</u>, 119-128 (1994).
- 17. Amano, T., Michiyama, K. and Okazaki, K., "The Cyclic Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Additions of Ti, Zr or Hf," <u>Proceedings of the First Mexican</u> Symposium on Metallic Corrosion, 258-263 (1994).
- 18. Amano, T., "High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Additions of Ti, Zr, or Hf," <u>Advanced Materials '93, I/A: Ceramics, Powders,</u> <u>Corrosion and Advanced Processing</u>, Eds. N. Mizutani et al., <u>Transactions of the</u> <u>Materials Research Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 113-116 (1994).
- Amano, T., "High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Additions of Rare Earth Elements (Y, Pr, Gd, Ho)," <u>Advanced Materials '93 I/A:</u> <u>Ceramics, Powders, Corrosion and Advanced Processing</u>, Eds. N. Mizutani et al., <u>Transactions of the Materials Research Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 297-300 (1994).
- 20. Amano, T., Michiyama, K., Shigemi, M., Harayama, M. and Atsumi, Y., "Cyclic Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Additions of Reactive Elements," Journal of Advanced Science, 7, 120 (1995).
- 21. Amano, T., Machida, Y., Maeno, E., Saiyama, K. and Aoyama, K., "Oxide Growth on Heat-Resistant Alloy in Situ Observation," <u>Journal of Advanced Science</u>, <u>7</u>, 122 (1995).
- 22. Amano, T. and Shimizu, M., "High Temperature Oxidation of Fe-20Cr-4Al Alloys with Small Additions of Rare Earth Elements (Y, La, Gd)," <u>Proceedings of the 3rd</u>

International Conference on Rare Earth Development and Applications, 2, 399-402 (1995).

 Amano, T., Kishimoto, M., Saito, M. and Kanzaki, K., "Effect fo C or N Ion Implantation on High Temperature Oxidation of Heat-Resistant Alloys," <u>Journal of</u> <u>Advanced Science</u>, <u>9</u>, 156 (1997).

4. High Temperature Corrosion

- 24. Amano, T., Hattori, A., Matsumoto, K. and Koyama, K., "Corrosion Behavior of Heat-Resistant Alloys in Br₂-O₂-Ar Atmospheres," <u>Journal of Advanced Science</u>, *7*, 121 (1995).
- 25. Amano, T., Morinaga, N., Yokoyama, M., Shimizu, N. and Maruyama, S., "Corrosion in Br₂O₂-Ar Atmosphere of Ni-20Cr-1Si Alloys Coated by Reactive Element Oxides," Journal of Advanced Science, <u>8</u>, 110 (1996).
- Amano, T., "Microstructure of Scales Formed on Heat-Resistant Alloys Exposed in Br₂O₂-Ar Atmospheres," <u>Memories of Shonan Institute of Technology</u>, <u>30</u>, 77-84 (1996).

5. Miscellaneous

27. Amano, T., "Morphological and Compositional Changes of Amorphous Si-N-C Fine Powders Prepared by an Organosilicon Compound at High Temperatures," <u>RISIM</u> <u>Report 10</u>, Edited by Research Institute for Special Inorganic Materials, 107-131 (1994).

Fujiwara, Y., Mr. and Toge, T., Dr.

Technical Research Center

Research and Development Division

Nippon Yakin Kogyo Co., Ltd.

4-2 Kojima-cho, Kawasaki-ku, Kawasaki-shi

Kanagawa

Mail No. 210

Tel: +81 44 271 3361

Fax: +81 44 271 3378

Nemoto, R., Dr.

Nippon Yakin Kogyo Co., Ltd. 5-8, 1-ch→re, Kyobashi, Chuo-ku Tokyo Mail No. 104 Tel: +81 3 3273 4613 Fax: +81 3 3273 4631 Key Pers→rnel: Nemoto, R., Dr., Fujiwara, Y., Mr., Kobayashi, Y., Mr., Scientific Key Words: Oxidation; Passivation; Internal oxidation Technical Key Words: Stainless steel; Hot strip; Heating furnace

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

An effect of the passive film on high temperature oxidation behavior of ferritic stainless steels, 17Cr-1.2Mo-0.3Ti and 16-19 Cr ferritic stainless steels containing up to 2 wt% Mo, has been studied at 1000°C and 1050°C in air. The main results were as follows:

1. The longer the time from the polishing of the specimens to the start of the oxidation tests, the better the oxidation resistance of 17Cr-1.2Mo-0.3Ti steel.

- 2. At the initial stage of high temperature oxidation, Cr_2O_3 scale was observed on the specimen that was oxidized after a long period of exposure in air at room temperature. On the other hand, the specimen that was oxidized immediately after polishing developed (Cr, Mn)₃O₄ scales.
- 3. Cr concentration in the passive film increased with time elapsed after polishing.
- 4. Mo addition to ferritic stainless steels promoted the formation of Cr_2O_3 at the early stage of oxidation, improving their oxidation resistance.
- 5. The passive film became thinner but probably more dense with increasing Mo content.

Currently, the high temperature oxidation behavior of stainless steel slab entering the heating furnace for hot rolling, and the secondary internal oxidation behavior on hot strip coil during cooling to room temperature, are being investigated. In the near future hot corrosion behavior of heat resistant alloys is to be studied in order to develop new materials for a superheater tube to be put in a municipal incinerator.

Hara, M., Prof. and Sato, Y., Dr.

Dept. of Materials Engineering and Applied Chemistry

Mining (College	
Akita University		
1-1 Tegatagakuen-cho, Akita 010		
Tel:	+81 188 89 2426	
Fax:	+81 188 37 0403	
e.mail:	hara@ipc.akita-u.ac.jp satoyosi@ipc.akita-u.ac.jp	
Key Personnel:		Hara, M., Prof., Sato, Y., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:		Hot corrosion; Molten salts; Electrochemical measurement; Oxidation/choridation; Coating methods
Technical Key Words:		Waste-fired boiler; Future gas turbine materials

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. Electrochemical Study of Hot Corrosion of Metals in Molten Salt

This research is being undertaken in order to clarify the hot corrosion mechanism of Nibase superalloys and various pure metals constituting the superalloys in molten Na₂SO₄, NaCl, Na₂SO₄-NaCl mixture, NaCO₃ and NaNO₃ at high temperature.

2. Formation of High Corrosion-Resistant Surface Layer by Electrodeposition Using Molten Salt

Electrodeposition using molten salt is advantageous to the formation of refractory metals and rare earth metals. This work is being carried out with a view to obtaining a newly high corrosion-resistant surface layer by the electrodeposition of refractory metals and rare earth metals using molten salts.

3. High-Temperature Oxidation of Metals in Oxygen Atmosphere Containing a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride

The aim of this research is to undertake a fundamental study of the oxidation of various metals and alloys in waste incinerator atmospheres. Emphasis is being placed on the effect of a small amount of hydrogen chloride on the oxidation of the metals.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Hot Corrosion Due to Molten Salts

- 1. Hara, M., Takahara, K. and Shinata, Y., "Cathodic Corrosion of Nickel in Molten Na₂SO₄ and Na₂CO₃ at 1173K," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1125-1131 (1993).
- Hara, M., Nagahara, T., Sato, Y. and Nakagawa, T., "Corrosion Behavior of Chromium in Molten NaNO₃," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals</u>, <u>59</u>, 960-966 (1995).
- Hara, M., Okumura, H., Nakagawa, T., Sato, Y. and Shinata, Y., "Effect of Pre-Oxidation on Hot Corrosion of Ni-Cr-Al Alloy in Molten Na₂SO₄-NaCl," <u>Journal of</u> <u>the Japan Institute of Metals</u>, <u>59</u>, 1259-1265 (1995).
- 4. Hara, M., Hatanaka, S., Nakagawa, T. and Shinata, Y., "Cathodic Corrosion of Chromium in Molton Na₂SO₄," <u>Corrosion Engineering</u>, <u>45</u>, 63-74 (1996).
- 5. Hara, M., Shinata, Y. and Hashimoto, S., "Galvanic Corrosion Behavior of Coupled Nickel-Platinum in Molten Na₂CO₃," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>39</u>, 627-638 (1997).

2. High Temperature Oxidation

- 6. Sato, Y., Hara, M. and Shinata, Y., "Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Iron," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals</u>, <u>58</u>, 1420-1428 (1994).
- Shinata, Y., Hara, M., Sato, Y. and Nakagawa, T., "The Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Pure Iron and Chromium," <u>Transactions of the Materials Research Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 157-160 (1994).
- 8. Sato, Y., Hara, M. and Shinata, Y., "Effect of a Small Amount of HCl Gas on High Temperature Oxidation of Iron-Chromium Alloys," <u>Proceedings of the International</u> <u>Conference for Surface and Engineering</u>, 395-400 (1995).

- 9. Sato, Y., Hara, M. and Shinata, Y., "Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Chromium," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>59</u>, 1036-1040 (1995).
- 10. Sato, Y., Hara, M. and Shinata, Y., "Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Nickel," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>60</u>, 192-197 (1996).
- 11. Sato, Y., Hara, M., Shinata, Y. and Narita, T., "Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Iron-Chromium Alloys," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals</u>, <u>60</u>, 192-197 (1996).
- 12. Sato, Y., Hara, M., Kawashima, A. and Hashimoto, K., "Effect of Laser Surface Treatment on High Temperature Oxidation on Nickel Coated with Nickel-Yttrium Layer," <u>The Journal of the Surface Finishing Society of Japan</u>, <u>47</u>, 981-982 (1996).
- 13. Sato, Y., Hara, M., Shinata, Y. and Narita, T., "Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Nickel-Chromium Alloys," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals</u>, <u>61</u>, 192-197 (1997).

3. Photoelectrochemistry of Oxide Films Formed by High-Temperature Oxidation

- 14. Hara, M., Nakagawa, T., Sato, Y., Yamaguchi, K. and Shinata, Y.,
 "Photoelectrochemical behavior of Copper Oxide Films Formed by High Temperature Oxidation," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals</u>, <u>58</u>, 1420-1428 (1994).
- 15. Hara, M., Nakagawa, T., Sato, Y., Yamaguchi, K. and Shinata, Y., "Effect of Hydrogen Reduction on Photo-Anodic Polarization of TiO₂ Films Formed by High Temperature Oxidation," <u>Journal of the Japan Institute of Metals</u>, <u>59</u>, 953-959 (1995).
- 16. Hara, M., Tadenuma, T., Sato, Y. and Nakagawa, T., "Effect of Oxygen Pressure During Oxidation Process on Photo-Anodic Polarization of TiO₂ Films Formed at High Temperature Oxidation," <u>The Journal of the Surface Finishing Society of</u> <u>Japan</u>, <u>47</u>, 957-962 (1996).

4. Electrodeposition Using Molten Salt

17. Hara, M., Sato, Y. and Nakagawa, T., "Tantalum Deposit on Nickel by Molten Salt Electrolysis and Its Corrosion Resistance," <u>Journal of the Japanese Institute of</u> <u>Metals</u>, <u>60</u>, 962-969 (1996).

- Sato, Y. and Hara, M., "Formation of Ni₃Y and Ni₅Y Intermetallic Compound Layers on Ni by Electrodeposition Using Molten NaCl-KCl-YCl₃," <u>Materials Transaction</u>, <u>JIM</u>, <u>37</u>, 1525-1528 (1996).
- 19. Hara, M., Isobe, M., Sato, Y. and Nakagawa, T., "Electrodeposition of Ta Films Molten Salt by Pulse Potential and Their Corrosion Resistance," <u>The Journal of the</u> <u>Surface Finishing Society of Japan</u>, <u>47</u>, 957-962 (1996).
- 20. Hara, M., Isobe, M., Sato, Y. and Nakagawa, T., "The Corrosion Resistance and Deposition Performance of Molten Salt Electrodeposited Resistance," <u>Proceedings of</u> <u>the 13th International Corrosion Congress</u>, No. 117, 1-5 (1996).

Hashimo	oto, K., Prof.	
Institute	for Materials Rese	earch
Tohoku University		
2-1-1 Katahira, Aoba-ku		
Sendai 98	80-77	
Tel:	+81 22 215 2080	
Fax:	+81 22 215 2081	
e.mail:	koji@imr.tohoku	.ac.jp
Key Pers	onnel:	Hashimoto, K., Prof., Asami, K., Prof., Habazaki, H., Dr.
Scientific Key Words:		Alumina; Amorphous alloys; Coatings; Oxida- tion/sulfidation; Refractory alloys; Sputter deposition; Sulfidation resistance/refractory metals
Technical Key Words:		Coal-fired boiler; Waste-fired boiler; Coal gasification; Petrochemical industry

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The main objective of the research is to understand the oxidation and sulfidation behavior of novel Al-refractory metal and Cr-refractory metal alloys in order to tailor new materials or coatings, resistant against both sulfidation and oxidation at high temperatures. The materials are prepared mostly by using a sputter deposition technique, which is suited for preparing single phase metastable alloys in a wide composition range, even if the melting point of one of alloying constituents far exceeds the boiling point of the other constituents. Relatively simple alloy systems, containing only elements which form protective oxide scales, such as aluminium, chromium and silicon, and refractory metals which form protective sulfide scales, have been examined. The research includes fundamental studies of the effect of alloying elements on the protective properties and growth mechanism of oxide and sulfide scales. The problems of sputter-deposited sulfidation- and oxidation-resistant alloy coatings on practical materials have also been examined. The research is collaborative with Mrowec, S., Prof., of the Group in the Department of Solid State Chemistry, University of Mining and Metallurgy, Cracow, Poland. Fundamental studies of oxidation behavior of amorphous alloys, in connection with developing novel catalysts from amorphous alloy precursors, are also one of the important research subjects.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of the laboratory's work is aimed to develop novel materials resistant in sulfidizing and oxidizing environments and novel catalysts formed from oxidation of amorphous alloys. The former materials can be used in gasification and liquefaction of coal, the petrochemical industry, waste combustion systems and so on, and the latter would be linked to conservation of the global atmosphere by catalytic decomposition or transformation of pollutant gases.

Specific Topics

1. Oxidation and Sulfidation Behavior of Sputter-Deposited AI-Refractory Metal Alloys at High Temperatures

Since no metallic materials resistant in both oxidizing and sulfidizing environments are presently known, this work is being carried out to tailor novel oxidation- and sulfidation-resistant alloys. Single-phase amorphous or solid solution Al-refractory metal alloys have been prepared by sputter deposition, and their oxidation and sulfidation behavior has been examined. Some alloys, such as Al-Mo, Al-Mo-Si and Al-Nb-Si alloys, possess extremely high sulfidation resistance, better than the corresponding refractory metals and high oxidation resistance comparable to the typical chromia-forming alloys.

2. Oxidation and Sulfidation Behavior of Sputter-Deposited Cr-Refractory Metal Alloys at High Temperatures

As well as Al-refractory metal alloys, the oxidation and sulfidation behavior of sputterdeposited amorphous or solid solution Cr-refractory metal alloys have been examined. These alloys are resistant in sulfidizing environments at high temperatures, being comparable to the corresponding refractory metal alloys, due to the formation of a refractory metal sulfide layer as an inner layer of the scale. The chromium-rich Cr-Nb and Cr-Ta alloys also shows high oxidation resistance.

3. Oxidation Behavior of Amorphous Alloy Precursors of Catalysts

In connection with development of novel catalysts, prepared by oxidation of amorphous alloys, for decomposition or transformation of pollutant gases, such as NO, chlorofluorocarbons and carbon dioxide, a fundamental study of the oxidation of such alloys have been carried out. Characterization of the oxides has been performed using transmission electron microscopy, scanning electron microscopy, physical and chemical gas adsorption methods etc.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High Temperature Oxidation and Sulfidation of Al-Refractory Metal Alloys

- Habazaki, H., Dabek, J., Hashimoto, K., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski M., "High Temperature Corrosion Behavior of Some Al-Mo and Al-Mo-Si Alloys," <u>Corrosion, Electrochemistry and Catalysis of Metastable Metals and Intermetallics</u>, Eds. C.R. Clayton and K. Hashimoto, The Electrochemical Society, pp224-235 (1993).
- Habazaki, H., Dabek, J., Hashimoto, K., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski, M., "Oxidation Behaviour of Sputter-Deposited Amorphous Al-Mo Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Proc. 10th European Corrosion Congress</u> (1993).
- Hashimoto, K., Kumagai, N., Yoshioka, H., Kim, J.H, Akiyama, E., Habazaki, H., Mrowec, S., Kawashima, A. and Asami, K., "Corrosion-Resistant Amorphous Surface Alloys," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 363-370 (1993).
- 4. Habazaki, H., Dabek, J., Hashimoto, K., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski, M., "The Sulphidation and Oxidation Behaviour of Sputter-Deposited Amorphous Al-Mo Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>34</u>, 183-200 (1994).
- Habazaki, H., Takahiro, K., Yamaguchi, S., Hashimoto, K., Dabek, J., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski, M., "On the Growth Mechanism of the Sulphide Scale on Amorphous Al-Mo Alloys," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 199-202 (1994).
- 6. Habazaki, H., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "Corrosion-Resistant Amorphous Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Bouseikanri</u>, 7-12 (1994).
- Habazaki, H., Takahiro, K., Yamaguchi, S., Hashimoto, K., Dabek, J., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski, M., "New Amorphous Alloys Resistant to High Temperature Corrosion," <u>Materials Science and Engineering</u>, <u>A181/A182</u>, 1099-1103 (1994).
- Grzesik, Z., Habazaki, H., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "The Sulphidation Behavior of Mo-Al Alloys with Low Aluminum Contents," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 1499-1511 (1994).
- Mitsui, H., Habazaki, H., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "High Temperature Corrosion of Sputter-Deposited Al-Nb Alloys," <u>Transaction of Material Research</u> <u>Society Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 243-246 (1994).
- 10. Habazaki, H., Mitsui, H., Asami, K., Mrowec, S. and Hashimoto, K., "Sputter-Deposited Amorphous Al-Mo-Si Alloys Resistant to High Temperature Sulfidation

and Oxidation," <u>Transactions of the Materials Research Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 309-312 (1994).

- 11. Habazaki, H., Grzesik, Z., Takahiro, K., Yamaguchi, S., Hashimoto, K., Dabek, J., Danielewski, M. and Mrowec, S., "Protective Oxide and Sulfide Films on Sputter-Deposited Amorphous Al-Mo and Al-Mo-Si Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Proc. 7th Int. Symposium on Oxide Films on Metals and Alloys</u>, Eds. K. R. Hebert and G. E. Thompson, The Electrochemical Society, Pennington, pp176-187 (1994).
- Grzesik, Z., Takahiro, K., Yamaguchi, S., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "An RBS Study of the Sulphidation Behaviour of Niobium and Nb-Al Alloys," <u>Corrosion</u> <u>Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 801-810 (1995).
- Grzesik, Z., Mitsui, H., Asami, K., Hashimoto K. and Mrowec, S., "The Sulphidation of Sputter-Deposited Niobium-Base Aluminium Alloys," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>37</u>, 1045-1058 (1995).
- 14. Habazaki, H., Hashimoto, K., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski, M., "Novel Al-Mo and Al-Mo-Si Alloys Resistant to Sulfidizing and Oxidizing Environments," <u>Zairyo to Kankyo (Corrosion Engineering)</u>, <u>44</u>, 174-182 (1995).
- Hashimoto, K., Park, P.-Y., Kim, J.-H., Yoshioka, H., Akiyama, E., Habazaki, H., Kawashima, A., Asami, K., Grzesik, Z. and Mrowec, S., "Recent Progress in Corrosion-Resistant Metastable Alloys," <u>Materials Science and Engineering</u>, <u>A198</u>, 1-10 (1995).
- Grzesik, Z., Mitsui, H., Habazaki, H., Dabek, J., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "The Sulphidation and Oxidation Behavior of New Sputter-Deposited Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Solid State Phenomena</u>, <u>41</u>, 285-292 (1995).
- 17. Mrowec, S. and Hashimoto, K., "Chemical Diffusion in Nonstoichiometric Metal Sulphide," Journal of Materials Science, <u>30</u>, 4801-4816 (1995).
- Mitsui, H., Habazaki, H., Akiyama, E., Kawashima, A., Asami, K., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "High Temperature Sulfidation and Oxidation Behavior of Sputter-Deposited Al-Refractory Metal Alloys," <u>Materials Transactions, JIM</u>, <u>37</u>, 379-382 (1996).
- 19. Mitsui, H., Habazaki, H., Asami, K., Hashimoto, K. and Mrowec, S., "The Sulfidation and Oxidation Behavior of Sputter-Deposited Amorphous Al-Nb Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 1431-1447 (1996).

20. Lee, D.B., Mitsui, H., Habazaki, H., Kawashima, A. and Hashimoto, K., "The High Temperature Sulfidation Behavior of Nb-Al-Si Coatings Sputter-Deposited on a Stainless Steel," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>38</u>, 2031-2042 (1996).

2. High Temperature Oxidation of Amorphous Zirconium Alloys

- 21. Asami, K., Kimura, H.M., Inoue, A., Hashimoto, K. and Masumoto, T., "Oxidation Behavior of Amorphous Zr-Ni Alloys in Air," <u>Corrosion, Electrochemistry and Catalysis of Metastable Metals and Intermetallics</u>, Eds. C.R. Clayton and K. Hashimoto, The Electrochemical Society, pp236-245 (1993).
- 22. Asami, K., Kimura, H.M., Hashimoto, K. and Masumoto, T., "High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Amorphous Zr-Ni Alloys in Air," <u>Materials Transactions</u>, <u>JIM</u>, <u>36</u>, 988-994 (1995).

3. Patents

23. Hashimoto, K, Habazaki, H., Mrowec, S. and Danielewski, M., "Amorphous Alloys Resistant Against Hot Corrosion," Japan Application No. 92-85529 & 92-85530.

Ishii, K.

Senior Researcher		
Stainless Steel Laboratory		
Technical Research Laboratories		
Kawasaki Steel Corporation		
1, Kawasaki-cho, Chuo-ku, Chiba 260		
Tel: +81 43 262 2892		
Fax: +81 43 262 2031		
Key Personnel:	Ishii, K., Satoh, S., Dr., Kawasaki, T., Kohno, M.	
Scientific Key Words:	Alumina growth; Cyclic oxidation; Heat-resistant steels; Reactive element effect; Transmission electron microscopy; Stainless steels	
Technical Key Words:	Emissions control equipment	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Oxidation behavior of stainless steels is being investigated to apply them for high temperature environments.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation

- Kawasaki, T. and Ishii, K., "Development of Oxidation Resistant Fe-20Cr-5Al Alloy Foil for Automobile Catalytic Converter Use," <u>Proceedings of International</u> <u>Conference on Stainless Steels</u>, Chiba ISIJ, 1205-1211 (1991).
- 2. Ishii, K. and Kawasaki, T., "Effect of Lanthanum or Cerium Addition on High Temperature Oxidation Resistance of Fe-Cr-Al Alloy Foils," <u>Journal of the Institute</u> <u>of Materials</u>, <u>56</u>, 854-862 (1992).
- 3. Okabe, S., Kohno, M., Ishii, K., Yukomoto, M. and Nozaki, T., "Oxidation Resistance of Rapidly Solidified Fe-Cr-Al Ribbons at High Temperature," <u>Materials Science</u> <u>and Engineering</u>, <u>A181/A182</u>, 1104-1108 (1994).

4. Ishii, K., Kohno, M., Ishikawa, S. and Satoh, S., "Effect of Rare-Earth Elements on High-Temperature Oxidation Resistance of Fe-20Cr-5Al Alloy Foils," <u>Trans. JIM</u>, <u>38</u>, 787-792 (1997)

Kinara, S., Dr., Nakagawa, K., Dr., Sonoya, K., Dr. and Matsumoto, K., Mr.		
Materials Technology Department		
Research	Institute	
Ishikawa	jima-Harima Heav	vy Industries Co Ltd
3-1-15, To	oyosu, Koto-Ku	
Tokyo 13	5	
Tel:	+81 3 3534 3397 and +81 3 3534 3325	
Fax:	+81 3 3534 3388	
e.mail:	shigemitsu_kiha	ra@ihi.co.jp
Key Perse	onnel:	Kihara, S., Dr., Nakagawa, K., Dr., Sonoya, K., Dr., Matsumoto, K., Mr.
Scientific	Key Words:	Coal-ash corrosion; Creep/corrosion interactions; Electrochemical measurements; Erosion-corrosion; Hot corrosion; Life assessment; Mixed gases; Molten salts; Oxidation/sulfidation, plasma coatings; Steam-side corrosion; X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
Technica	l Key Words:	Advanced steam conditions; Boiler tube failures; Coal-fired boiler; Furnace wall corrosion; Gas turbines; Waste incineration; Pressurized fluidized-bed combustor; Molten carbonate fuel cells; Coal gasification

Kihara, S., Dr., Nakagawa, K., Dr., Sonoya, K., Dr. and Matsumoto, K., Mr

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Most of the research activity is undertaken to support the developments of new energy processes, like the advanced steam cycle boiler, the pressurized fluidized-bed boiler, the molten carbonate fuel cell, coal gasification plant and the high efficiency waste incinerator. Also, trouble shooting in conventional plants, like waterwall corrosion of fossil fuel-fired boilers and hot corrosion in gas turbines, is undertaken.

Recent principal subjects are as follows:

Specific Topics

- 1. Materials for Coal Gasification
- Development of an alloy for the superheater tube of a syngas cooler, which has excellent resistance against high-temperature sulfidation and pitting corrosion

during shutdown (downtime corrosion) - collaboration with Tokyo Electric Co and Sumitomo Metals Co.

- Corrosion test of candidate materials for superheater tubes in 6 ton/day pilot IGCC plant.
- Corrosion measurement of an evaporator tube (T-11) of a syngas cooler in 6 ton/day IGCC pilot plant.

2. New Ferritic Steel for Advanced Steam Cycle Boiler

- Evaluation of the resistance of a new high strength 9-12Cr steels for fire-side and steam side corrosion.
- Study of effects of Mo, W and V additions in low alloy steels on the corrosion resistance in steam and air at high temperatures.

3. Corrosion in Fossil-Fired Boilers

- Effect of HCl on the corrosion of waterwall tubes and superheater tubes.
- Corrosion behavior of the waterwall tubes under substoichiometric combustion (high temperature sulfidation).
- Probe test of candidate materials of superheater tubes in an Orimulsion fired actual boiler.

4. Incinerator

- Development of a new material of superheater tube for a high efficiency incinerator NEDO project.
- Evaluation of the corrosion resistance of candidate materials for superheater tubes in a high efficiency pilot plant (steam conditions: 500°C, 100 atm).
- Effect of HCl on the corrosion of waterwall and superheater tubes
- Effect of heavy metals (Zn, Pb) in the ash on the corrosion of waterwall tubes and superheater tubes.
- Effect of stress on the intergranular corrosion of heat transfer tubes.

5. Molten Carbonate Fuel Cell (MCFC)

- Development of a new material for the center plate between electrolyte and electrode.
- Effect of Mo and Nb on the corrosion in a molten carbonate.
- Evaluation for the corrosion resistance of cathode current collector (AISI 316L) in Li₂Co₃-Na₂CO₃ molten salt.

- Effect of H₂ permeation on the corrosion of a center plate for the cathode side.
- Evaluation of long-term corrosion resistance of an aluminized wet seal material.
- Effect of the basaicity of a carbonate melt on the solubility of various oxides.

6. Erosion and Spray Coating

- Effect of spray conditions on the erosion resistance of ceramic coatings.
- Evaluation of erosion resistance of heat transfer tubes in a pressurized fluidized bed.
- Effect of gas atmosphere on erosion at high temperatures.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Coal Gasification

- Kihara, S., Nakagawa, K. and Saito, K., "Effect of Gas Composition and Pressure on High Temperature Corrosion of Various Steels in Coal Gasification Atmospheres," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>11</u>, 65-69 (1993).
- Kihara, S., Matsumoto, S., Saito, K. and Ogawa, H., "Development of Dual-Wall Tube for a Coal Gasification Plant Through a Hot Isostatic Pressing - Hit Extrusion Process," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>11</u>, 65-69 (1993).
- 3. Sawaragi, Y., Otsuka, N., Kihara, S. and Bakker, W.T., "A New Austenitic Alloy Containing 3.5% Vanadium Resistant to Coal Gasfire Corrosion Environment," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>11</u>, 176-180 (1993).
- Kihara, S., "Corrosion of T-11 Syngas Cooler Tubes in IGCC Pilot Plant," Presented at <u>2nd International Workshop on Corrosion in Advanced Power Plants</u>, EPRI, Wyndham Harbour Island, Fl, March 3-6 (1997).

2. Waterwall Corrosion

5. Nakagawa, K., Kitagawa, M. and Tsumita, Y., "High Temperature Corrosion of Waterwall Tubes in Coal-Fired Combustion Gases," <u>Journal de Physique 4</u> <u>Colloque C9, Supplement au Journal de Physique 3</u>, <u>3</u>, 787-796 (1993).

3. Incinerator

- 6. Nakagawa, K. and Isozaki, T., "Fireside Corrosion in Reducing Waste Incineration Environments, <u>CORROSION/94</u>, Paper No. 177 (1994).
- Otsuka, N., Nakagawa, K., Kawahara, Y., Tukaue, Y., Yamamoto, A. and Yukawa, K., "An Evaluation of Corrosion Resistant Alloys by Laboratory Corrosion Test," <u>CORROSION/95</u>, Paper No. 565 (1995).
- 8. Nakagawa, K. and Matsunaga, Y., "An Electrochemical Investigation of Corrosion of Superheater Tube in Waste Incineration Environment," <u>CORROSION/97</u>, Paper No. 164 (1997).
- 9. Matsunaga, Y. and Nakagawa, K., "Corrosion Loss Measurement of Boiler Tubes in Waste Incineration Environment," <u>CORROSION/97</u>, Paper No. 163 (1997).

4. MCFC

 Matsumoto, K. and Nakagawa, K., "Influence of Carbon Dioxide on Corrosion Behavior of Stainless Steel in Molten Lithium-Sodium Carbonate," <u>ECS 190th</u> <u>Meeting</u>, No. 734 (1996).

5. Spray Coating

- Sonoya, K., Tomisawa, Y., Kitagawa, M. and Kajigaya, I., "Low Cycle Failure Life of Ceramic Sprayed Cr-Mo Steel," <u>Journal of Materials Science Society</u>, <u>42</u>, 1077-1082 (1993).
- Sonoya, K., "Fatigue Strength of Ceramic-Coated Steel at Elevated Temperature," <u>Proceedings of the 9th National Thermal Spray Conference</u>, Cincinnati, Ohio, Oct. 7-11 (1996).

Maruyama, T., Prof.

Department of Metallurgical Engineering		
Tokyo Institute of Technology		
2-12-1, O-okayama, Meguro-ku		
Tokyo 152		
Tel:	+81 3 5734 3136	
Fax:	+81 3 5734 2874	
e.mail:	maruyama@mtl.	titech.ac.jp
Key Perso	onnel:	Maruyama, T., Prof., Nagata, K., Prof., Nanko, M., Dr.
Scientific	Key Words:	Oxidation; Thermodynamics in oxide; Diffusion; Reactive element effect
Technical Key Words:		Molybdenum silicide; Solid oxide fuel cells

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

High temperature oxidation of metals, alloys and intermetallics is a solid state electrochemical process involving metal oxides. The better understanding of the process requires the knowledge of thermodynamic and transport properties of metals and oxides concerned. The Gibbs energy of formation and defect structure of oxides and diffusivity of constituent elements in oxides have been measured. Our current interests are focused on the reactive element effect, oxidation of intermetallics and application of alloys to solid oxide fuel cells.

Specific Topics

1. Thermodynamics and Transport Properties of Rare Earth Chromite (LaCrO₃)

Gibbs energy of formation of $YCrO_3$ and diffusivity of Y ion have been determined. Diffusivity measurement of La in LaCrO₃ is now going on.

2. High Temperature Oxidation of Intermetallics

High temperature oxidation of MoSi₂-based intermetallics (Mo-Si-X) has been carried out at temperature up to 2000K. This research was supported by Ministry of Education, Culture and Sports, Japan (MECS) and has been continued partly as a co-operation of Japan Ultrahigh Temperature Material. Dip formation of Mo(Si, Al)₂ and Nb(Si,Al)₂

using molten Al-Si is in progress for application of anti-oxidation coating. This project is also supported by MECS. High temperature oxidation of Nb-Al intermetallics has started as a co-operative work with Gifu Prefectural Metal Research Institute.

3. Application of Chromia-Forming Alloys to Interconnector in Solid Oxide Fuel Cell

Research on application of Ni-Cr alloys coated with porous (La,Sr)CoO₃ to an interconnector of SOFC operated at 1273K was conducted as a co-operative work with NKK Co. Similar work of Fe-Cr ferritic alloys for SOFC operated at 1073K has started as a research project of the Japan Petroleum Institute commissioned by the Petroleum Energy Center with subsidy by the Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI), Japan.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. Thermodynamics and Transport Properties of Rare Earth Chromite (LnCrO₃)

- 1. Kawamura, K., Maruyama, T. and Nagata, K., "The Equilibrium Oxygen Pressure Over the Cr-Y₂O₃-YCrO₃ Coexistence Measured with the Galvanic Cell Using Stabilized ZrO₂ Solid Electrolyte," <u>Metallurgy and Materials Transactions B</u>, <u>26B</u>, 289-294 (1995).
- 2. Kawamura, K., Saiki, A., Maruyama, T. and Nagata, K., "Diffusion Coefficient of Yttrium Ion in YCrO₃," Journal of the Electrochemical Society, <u>142</u>, 3073-3077 (1995).
- Akashi, T., Nanko, M., Maruyama, T., Shiraishi, Y. and Tanabe, J., "Diffusion Coefficient of La³⁺ in LaCrO₃ Determined by Solid State Reaction," <u>Proc. Of the 5th</u> <u>International Symposium on Solid Oxide Fuel Cells</u>, Aachen, The Electrochemical Society, 1263-1272 (1997).

2. High Temperature Oxidation of Intermetallics

- Maruyama, T., Yanagihara, K. and Nagata, K., "High Temperature Oxidation of Intermetallic Compounds of Mo(Si_{1-x}/Al_x)₂," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 939-944 (1993).
- 5. Saito, Y., Onay, B. and Maruyama, T., "The Reactive Element Effect (REE) in Oxidation of Alloys," Journal de Physique, IV, 3, 217-230 (1993).
- 6. Yanagihara, K., Maruyama, T. and Nagata, K., "Isothermal and Cyclic Oxidation of Mo(Si_{1-x},Al_x)₂ up to 2048K," <u>Materials Transactions JIM</u>, <u>34</u>, 1200-1206 (1993).

- 7. Yanagihara, K., Maruyama, T. and Nagata, K., "Dip-Coating of Mo(Si,Al)₂ on Mo with an Al-Si Melt," <u>Tetsu-to-Hagane</u>, <u>80</u>, 90-94 (Japanese) (1994).
- 8. Yanagihara, K., Maruyama, T. and Nagata, K., "High Temperature Oxidation of Mo-Si-X Intermetallics (X=Al, Ti, Ta, Zr and Y)," <u>Intermetallics</u>, <u>3</u>, 243-251 (1995).
- 9. Yanagihara, K., Maruyama, T. and Nagata, K., "Effect of Third Elements on the Pesting Suppression of Mo-Si-X Intermetallics (X=Al, Ti, Ta, Zr and Y)," <u>Intermetallics</u>, <u>4</u>, S133-S139 (1996).
- Yanagihara, K., Przyblyski, K. and Maruyama, T., "The Role of Microstructure on Pesting During Oxidation of MoSi₂ and Mo(Si,Al)₂ at 773K," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>47</u>, 277-293 (1997).

3. Application of Chromia-Forming Alloys to Interconnector in Solid Oxide Fuel Cell

- Kadowaki, T., Shiomitsu, T., Matsuda, E., Nakagawa, H., Tsuneizumi, H. and Maruyama T., "Applicability of Heat Resisting Alloys to the Separator of Planner Type Solid Oxide Fuel Cell," <u>Solid State Ionics</u>, <u>67</u>, 65-69 (1993).
- 12. Shiomitsu, T., Kadowaki, T., Ogawa, T. and Maruyama, T., "The Influence of (La,Sr)CoO₃ Coatings on the Electrical Resistance of Ni-20Cr Alloys in High Temperature Oxidizing Atmosphere," <u>Proc. of the 4th International Symposium on</u> <u>Solid Oxide Fuel Cells</u>, Yokohama, The Electrochemical Society, 850-857 (1995).
- 13. Maruyama, T., Inoue, T. and Nagata, K., "Electrical Conductivity of SrCrO₄ and Sr₃Cr₂O₈ at Elevated Temperatures in Relation to the Highly Conductive Chromia Scale Formed on an Alloy Separator in SOFC," <u>Proc. of the 4th International</u> <u>Symposium on Solid Oxide Fuel Cells</u>, Yokohama, The Electrochemical Society, 889-894 (1995).

Masuda, H., Dr.

National Research Institute for Metals 1-2-1 Sengen, Tsukuba Ibaraki 305 Tel: +81 298 592147 Fax: +81 298 592101 hm@nrim.go.jp e.mail: Key Personnel: Masuda, H., Dr., Sumiyoshi, H., Mr., Washizu, N., Mr., Ikeda, Y., Dr. (retired) Scientific Key Words: Dynamic in-situ study; ODS alloys; Surface reactions; Initial oxidation; Photoelectron emission; Atomic force microscopy; I-V property of oxide

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

Spalling of the protective film is fatal to high-temperature alloys. Factors which control the spalling have been studied by measuring the surface segregation with Auger electron spectroscopy. The effect of dispersed alloys on spalling of coating film was studied. The initial oxidation behavior of alloys has not been studied too much because of difficulty of measurement. To estimate the long-term, high-temperature property by the initial oxidation behavior, the relationship between the initial oxidation behavior and long-term oxidation behavior is being studied by atomic force microscopy (AFM) and photoelectron emission measurement.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Specific Topics

1. The Effect of Dispersed Alloys on Spalling of Coating Film

Cyclic oxidation tests and measurements of surface segregation of S on several alloys have been made and it was found that the degree of oxide scale spalling increased with increasing surface segregation rate of S. Thus it has been concluded that interfacial segregation of S promotes scale spalling, and that rare earth metals (REM) suppress the spalling through trapping S as a sulfide. The S effect was also found on coating films. The effect of dispersed alloys on spalling of coating films was studied.

2. The Effect of Initial Oxidation Behavior on Oxidation Resistance of Alloys

An in-situ, photoelectron emission measurement system has been developed at high temperature. By using this system, the surface cleaning process and the nucleation of oxide for various alloys can be estimated. The initial stage of oxidation has also been studied by an atomic force microscope (AFM), combining the photoelectron emission measurement. The nucleation and the growth process of oxide was observed by AFM. The I-V curve property change of oxide with the progress of oxidation was also studied by AFM.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- Ikeda, Y., Sumiyoshi, H., Matsuoka, S. and Takeuchi, E., "Performance of Oxide Coating Films on ODS Alloys," <u>Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on</u> <u>Structural Application of Mechanical Alloying</u>, Vancouver, September, ASTM International, 125-129 (1993).
- 2. Washizu, N., Ikeda, Y. and Masuda, H., "Photoelectron Emission During Initial Oxidation at Elevated Temperature of Fe-Cr Alloys in Air," <u>Journal of the Japanese</u> <u>Institute of Metals</u>, <u>57</u> (1993).
- Ikeda, Y., Sumiyoshi, H. and Ishiwata, Y., "Spalling of Al₂O₃ Coating Film on Alloys Doped with Different Oxide for Rare Earth Metal," <u>ISIJ International</u>, <u>35</u>, 1109-1114 (1995).
- 4. Mauda, H., Ikeda, Y., Sumiyoshi, H. and Washizu, N., "In-Situ Measurement of Photoelectron Emission During Initial Stage of Oxidation at Elevated Temperature," Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals, <u>59</u> (1995).
- 5. Sumiyoshi, H. and Ikeda, Y., "Oxidation Property of Y₂O₃ Dispersed Fe-20 mass% Cr Alloys," Journal of the Japanese Institute of Metals, <u>60</u>, 457-462 (1996).
- 6. Masuda, H., "SPM Observation of Initial Oxidation at Elevated Temperature," <u>Ceramics</u>, <u>31</u> (1996).

Morimoto, T., Mr. and Önay, B., Dr.

High Temperature Materials Group		
Hitachi Research Laborato	ry	
7-1-1 Omika, Hitachi		
Ibaraki 319-12		
Tel: +81 294 23 5772		
Fax: +81 294 23 6951	+81 294 23 6951	
e.mail: bonay@hrl.hitachi.co.jp		
Key Personnel: Morimoto, T., Mr., Önay, B., Dr.		
Scientific Key Words:	Gasification; Heat exchanger materials; Mixed oxidants with water vapor; Chlorine; Surface modification	
Technical Key Words:	Coal gasification; Syngas coolers	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The main objective of current research is to obtain a detailed understanding of the corrosion mechanisms of metallic materials under environmental conditions pertaining to the syngas cooler of a coal gasification system. Studies conducted in this area within the last decade by different groups contributed significantly to the understanding of metal/alloy corrosion in carbon-rich, sulfur-containing gas mixtures at elevated temperatures. As several demonstration or commercial gasification plants are comingon-line around the world, further work in this area is required due to (a) the planned use of coal with widely different amounts of sulfur and chlorine, (b) the development of gasification processes with varying degrees of water vapor content, and (c) increasing application of new alloys such as 9Cr and 12Cr steels as heat-exchanger materials in steam generation equipment. In the present work, high temperature corrosion behavior of both new and traditional alloys is being investigated with respect to (i)-sulfur and chlorine potentials of the environment, (ii)-water vapor content of the mixed gas, (iii)-chromium content of the alloy, (iv)-total gas pressure and (v)temperature. Understanding the effect of alloy surface preparation on the morphology and composition of the corrosion products formed in mixed gas environments containing chlorine gas and water vapor is also being targeted in this program.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The current research work is part of a coal-gasification-development-program which was funded, until recently, by the New Energy Development Organization (NEDO) of Japan. During this program, a 50 ton/day-capacity gasification pilot-plant was designed, constructed and operated by the program participants. To demonstrate the developed technology, a gasification plant with 150 ton/day-capacity is being designed by Babcock-Hitachi K.K. and funded, mainly, by the Ministry of Industry and Trade (MITI) of Japan. Besides contributing to the fundamental understanding of high temperature metal corrosion in mixed gas environments, the present work is aimed to provide both qualitative and quantitative materials corrosion data during the design and operational stages of the planned gasification plant.

Specific Topics

1. Corrosion Behavior of Heat Exchanger Tube Materials in Simulated Coal Gasification Environment

Samples of conventional and recently developed Fe-base alloys, which are used as heat exchanger materials in boilers, are exposed to H_2 -CO-CO₂- H_2 S-HCl- H_2 O gas mixtures at 300, 450 and 600°C for up to 2000 hr in both atmospheric and high pressure (30 atg) reaction chambers. In the atmospheric pressure chamber, multi-temperature tests can be conducted simultaneously. 100 hr-long tests conducted on 2.25Cr-1Mo steel samples under a gas mixture of $0.1\%H_2$ S, 0%HCl and $3\%H_2$ O showed that (a) the estimated metal recession rates (mm/y) for 300, 450 and 600°C were 0.31, 1.7 and 9.1, respectively, (b) the main corrosion product was an outer FeS layer at all temperatures and total gas pressures, (c) the development of the subsurface corrosion layer increased with temperature with FeS, Fe₃O₄ and Fe_xC present in this layer at 600°C, (d) the change in total gas pressure did not significantly affect metal recession rates but promoted the formation of carbon-rich iron carbides in the subsurface layer. Currently, 500 hr-long tests are conducted in mixed gas environments containing 0.3% H₂S, 0.035% HCl and varying amounts of water vapor (0-20%).

2. Corrosion Behavior of Some Fe-base Alloys in H₂-H₂O and H₂-H₂O-HCl Gas Mixtures at 700°C

In this study, SUS 310S, 752Z (α + γ phase with 5% Al) and MA 956 alloy samples were exposed to H₂-H₂O and H₂-H₂O-HCl gas mixtures with very low partial pressures of oxygen and chlorine gases representing, partially, the environment in the syngas cooler section of a coal gasification plant. Test samples were prepared by one of the following methods; SiC paper-grinding, diamond-paste polishing, shot-peening or electropolishing to investigate the effect of surface condition on the morphology and composition of the corrosion products formed in HCl gas-containing environments.

After 100 hr-long tests the following observations were made; (a) diamond-paste and electropolished samples of the 310S and 752Z alloys had $FeCr_2O_4$ -rich product scales while SiC paper-ground and shot-peened samples developed Cr_2O_3 -rich scales, (b) addition of HCl gas into the environment increased the amount of spinel phase formed on these two alloy samples regardless of surface preparation, (c) scale adhesion to the MA956 alloy was worse for the diamond-paste and electropolished samples tested in HCl gas-containing gas mixtures. Currently, the effect of surface preparation on HCl-induced high temperature corrosion is being investigated in simulated coal gasification environment for longer test duration.

3. Testing and Development of Corrosion Resistant Structural Materials for a Coal Gasification Pilot Plant

This project aimed to develop structural materials for different sections of a coal gasification plant by assessing their corrosion properties through testing in both the laboratory and the pilot plant. The materials studied in this work included 80%Cr₂O₃ and 80-90%MgCr₂O₄ ceramics for refractories, Ir metal for thermowells and slag-tap-cover in the gasifier chamber, and metallic alloys for the syngas cooler heat-exchanger tubes. Several different degradation mechanisms were identified for these materials depending on the environmental conditions. These included (a) iron-bursting and erosion for the ceramics due to turbulent gas/slag flow conditions in the gasification chamber, (b) formation of Fe-Ir layers with lower melting temperatures over Ir substrates upon diffusion of Fe from the slag, (c) low-temperature (wet) corrosion of metallic heat-exchanger materials which occurred during downtime of the gasification plant.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High Temperature Degradation in Aggressive Gases

- Morimoto, T., Önay, B., Fukuda, Y., Kida, E. and Nomura, K., "Materials Exposure Test in the Heat Recovery Boiler of HYCOL Coal Gasification Pilot Plant," <u>Proc. of</u> <u>2nd Int. Conf. on Heat-Resistant Mats</u>., Eds. K. Natesan, P. Ganesan and G. Lai, ASM Int., Materials Park, USA, 333-339 (1995).
- Morimoto, T., Matsuoka, T. and Nomura, K., "Materials Experiences for Gasifier Thermowells in the Pilot HYCOL," <u>Materials at High Temperature</u>, <u>11</u>, (No. 1-4), 118-123 (1993).

Nagashima, E. and Shibata, K.			
Materials	Technology Depar	tment	
Technolog	gy R&D Center		
Toyo Eng	ineering Corporati	on	
1818 Azaf	1818 Azafujimi, Togo Mabara-shi		
Chiba 297			
Tel:	+81 475 24 4552		
Fax:	+81 475 22 1338		
e.mail: eiki@ga.toyo.eng.co.jp			
Key Personnel: Na		Nagashima, E., Shibata, K.	
Scientific Key Words:		Mixed gases; Oxidation/sulfidation	
Technical Key Words:		Pressure vessel alloys	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Polythionic acid stress corrosion cracking could occur to stainless steel put in a sulfurcontaminated process stream encountered in refinery and chemical plants, due to the iron sulfide formation. However, the combination of mixed gases forming iron sulfide has not been fully determined experimentally. In the research, type 304 stainless steel is placed in various mixed gases at elevated temperatures simulated to represent the above processes. The effect of mixed gases on iron sulfide formation is also examined using chemical potential equilibrium diagrams.

Nakamori, M., Dr.

Takasago Research & Development Center Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd 2-1-1 Shinhama Arai - cho, Takasago Hyogo Pref. 676 Tel: +81 794 45 6728 Fax: +81 794 45 6085 nakamori.wr@trdc.tksg.mhi.co.jp e.mail: Key Personnel: Nakamori, M., Dr., Koshiro, I., Kayano, I., Mizuta, I., Yoshida, T., Tanimura, T. Scientific Key Words: Coatings; Erosion-corrosion; Hot corrosion; Oxidation/ sulfidation; Thermal barrier coatings Technical Key Words: Fluidized-bed combustor; Furnace wall corrosion; Oil-fired boiler; Gas turbines; Integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC)

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The research is on the role of high-temperature oxide scales in the protection of metals, alloys and coatings, with emphasis on their mechanisms of growth, adhesion, protective properties and breakdown in aggressive situations, such as complex and impure environments, very high temperatures, or the simultaneous imposition of external stresses. The research includes fundamental studies of the development of protective scales and has been extended to very corrosive situations where protective scales are not developed nor maintained. Examples include boiler and gas turbine environments, where molten salts may be deposited, and fluidized-bed coal combustion conditions, where impact erosion by solid particles may cause degradation. Extensive programs have also examined the effectiveness of metallic and ceramic coatings for protection against high temperature corrosion.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of the laboratory's work is in undertaking fundamental studies of practical situations which underpin development of important hardware and processes in the energy field. These include boilers, fluidized bed combustors, combined-cycle systems,

gas turbines and coal gasifiers. The work is often undertaken in conjunction with high temperature corrosion researchers of Nagasaki and Yokohama Research & Development Center in MHI.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

High Temperature Degradation in Aggressive Gases

- 1. Nakamori, M., Mizuta, I., Sada, T. and Furuyashiki, Y., "Sulfidation of Water-Wall Tubes in Low-Grades Oil Firing Boilers and Its Prevention by Plasma Spray Coating of Ni-Cr Alloy," <u>Corrosion Engineering</u>, <u>42</u>, 439-452 (1993).
- 2. Nakamori, M. and Takahashi, K., "Investigation of Inner Oxidation Rates on Thermal Barrier Coatings," <u>Proceedings for the 41st Corrosion Discussion Meeting</u>, JSCE, P383 (1994).
- 3. Nakamori, M. and Kanehira, S., "Erosion Corrosion Test Results of SUS310S at High Temperature Corrosion Environment," <u>Proceedings for the 42nd Corrosion</u> <u>Discussion Meeting</u>, JSCE, P491 (1995).
- Nakamori, M., Kayano, I., Tsukuda, Y., Takahashi, K. and Torigoe, T., "Hot Corrosion and its Prevention in High Temperature Heavy Oil Firing Gas Turbines," <u>4th International Symposium on High Temperature Corrosion and Protection of</u> <u>Materials</u>, France, May 20-24 (1996).

Narita, T., Prof.

Research Group of Interface Control Engineering

Graduate School of Engineering

Hokkaido University

Kita-13 Nishi-8 Kitaku

Sapporo 060

000	
+81 11 706 6355	
+81 11 706 7814	
932302 HOKUEN-J	
narita@eng.hokudai.ac.jp	
Key Personnel: Narita, T., Prof.	
Key Words:	Sulfidation; Oxidation/sulfidation/nitridation; Metallizing of ceramics; Diffusion coatings; Nonstoichiometry and mobility in sulfides; Superalloys; Intermetallics; Ceramic/metal joining
l Key Words:	Fossil fuel-fired boiler, Waste-fired boiler, Fuel cell, Solid oxide fuel cell, Expander turbines, Thermal barrier coating systems; Engineering ceramics
	+81 11 706 6355 +81 11 706 7814 932302 HOKUEN narita@eng.hokuo onnel: Key Words:

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

This laboratory, Dissimilar Materials Interface Engineering, was re-established in 1994, and current activities are in high-temperature corrosion, non-destructive inspection and ultarsonic microspectroscopy, ceramic/metal joining, development of Zn-Al coatings on steels, and degradation of the thermal barrier coatings. In order to understand the high temperature corrosion processes, it is essential to know the nonstoichiometry and diffusion properties. Examples include non-stoichiometry and mobility of cations in sulfides such as iron-chromium solid solution sulfides and the approach has been utilized to calculate both the sulfide growth rate and cation distributions in the sulfide scale formed on Fe-Cr alloys. Sulfide growth has been observed along the alloy grain boundary, when the Fe-Cr alloys were sulfidized at relatively low sulfur pressures, and sulfide growth mechanisms were investigated, including simultaneous imposition of external stress. Thermal barrier coatings of MCrAlY/ZrO₂ were investigated using several kinds of coating methods such as APS,VPS,HOVF, and the degradation

mechanism in aggressive environments containing sulfur and oxygen was established. Engineering ceramics like silicon nitride were joined to metal using active brazing fillers and fracture strengths were evaluated based on fracture tests and FEM analysis. Intermetallic compounds like TiAl are investigated in order to improve their antioxidation properties using the novel surface treatment method.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of laboratory works are focused on fundamental studies. In some situations, the work is undertaken in conjunction with consortia of industrial partners, as indicated in the following abstracts.

Specific Topics

1. Development of Advanced Materials for Expander Turbine in an Aggressive Environment

This research is being carried out in collaboration with Ebara Research Limited and the aim of the work is to make clear the degradation mechanism of the nickel-based superalloys in sulfur-containing atmospheres at intermediate temperature and further to develop high anti-corrosive materials against sulfidation. Laboratory studies include the sulfidation behaviors of nickel-based superalloys in order to assess and elucidate the grain boundary sulfidation.

2. Non-Destructive Evaluations Using Scanning Acoustic Microscope

In the laboratory an analytical method was developed to determine the stress and strain of the composite materials, and this has been applied to measure the thermal residual stress in the ceramic/metal joint. Based on these techniques, the research is being carried out in collaboration with Hokkaido Medical University and Hitachi Construction Machinery Ltd.. The aim of this work is to estimate the residual stress in artificial teeth made of gold alloys joined to resin, and degradation processes of the alloy/resin joint were assessed.

3. Improvement of Anti-Oxidation Properties of TiAl Alloys at High Temperatures

In the course of sulfidation studies of TiAl alloys, it was found that a TiAl₃ layer formed on the TiAl alloy surface due to selective sulfidation of Ti. This TiAl₃ phase showed very good anti-oxidation properties, and this sulfidation phenomenon was proposed as a novel surface treatment method to improve anti-oxidation properties of TiAl alloys.

4. Joining Ceramics to Metals

Silicon nitride ceramics are being used for engine parts and turbo-chargers. Laboratory studies are focused on a fracture mechanism of the joints and further on increase in their fracture strength. Si_3N_4 /Stainless steel joints with fracture strengths more than 600Mpa are being developed.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation

- 1. Narita, T. and Yoshioka, T., "Sulfidation Properties of Ti-Al Intermetallic Compounds in H₂S-H₂ Atmospheres," <u>Transactions of the Materials Research</u> <u>Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 233-238 (1994).
- Taumi, H., Narita, T., Nakamori, M. and Harada, Y., "High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Plasma Sprayed MCrAIY Coatings," <u>Proceedings of the 14th</u> <u>International Thermal Spray Conference</u>, 1, 453-458 (1995).
- Kawamori, S., Noguchi, M. and Narita, T., "Kinetics and Mechanism of Intergranular Sulfidation of Iron Based Alloys at High Temperatures," <u>Proceedings</u> <u>of the International Conference on Surface Science and Engineering</u>, Beijing, 425-430 (1995).
- Yoshioka, Y. and Narita, T., "Improvement of Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Intermetallic Compound by Sulfidation Treatment," <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo</u>, <u>45</u>, 712-716 (1996).
- 5. Sato, Y., Hara, M., Shinata, Y. and Narita, T., "Effect of a Small Amount of Hydrogen Chloride on High Temperature Oxidation of Iron-Chromium Alloys," Journal of the Japan Institute of Metals, <u>60</u>, 841-847 (1996).
- 6. Noguchi, M. and Narita, T., "Nonstoichiometry in Iron-Chromiu Sulfide (Fe,Cr)₁₋S at High Temperatures," Journal of the Japan Institute of Metals, <u>60</u>, 589-594 (1996).
- 7. Kawamori, S. and Narita., T., "Internal Sulfidation Properties of Fe-Cr and Fe-Mn Alloys," <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo</u>, <u>45</u>, 146-151 (1996).
- 8. Noguchi, M. and Narita, T., "Sulfidation Behavior of Fe-Cr Alloys in Low Sulfur Pressures," Journal of the Japan Institute of Metals, <u>60</u>,198-204 (1996).

2. Miscellaneous

- 9. Narita, T. and Umekawa, H., "Non-Destructive Evaluation of Fracture Strength of Ion-Exchanged Glasses by Acoustic Microspectroscopy," <u>Proceedings of Computer Methods and Experimental Measurements for Surface Treatments</u>, 285-292 (1993).
- 10. Narita, T. and Hata, S., "An Effect of Ceramic Strength on Fracture Strength of Ceramic-Metal Joints," <u>Proceedings of the 2nd Chinese-Japanese Symposium on Basis and Application of Interfaces Science</u>, 40-41 (1993).
- 11. Matsuura, K., Itoh, Y. and Narita. T., "A Solid-Liquid Diffusion Couple Study of a Peritectic Reaction in Iron-Carbon System," <u>ISIJ International</u>, <u>33</u>, 583-587 (1993).
- 12. Matsuura, K., Itoh, Y. and Narita, T., "Effect of Strain on Ferrite Transformation from Super-Cooled Austenite in Fe-0.5%C Alloy," <u>Japan Institute of Iron and Steel</u>, <u>79</u>, 72-76 (1993).
- Takashima, T., Yamamoto, T. and Narita, T., "Metallizing of Silicon Carbide Ceramics with Manganese Vapor," <u>Journal of the Ceramic Society of Japan</u>, <u>101</u>,164-168 (1993).
- 14. Ohsasa, K., Nakaue, S., Kudo, M. and Narita, T., "Analysis of Solidification Path of Fe-Cr-Ni Ternary Alloy," <u>ISIJ International</u>, <u>35</u>, 629-636 (1995).
- 15. Takashima, T. and Narita, T., "Environmental Compatibility of Metal-Ceramic Joints," <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo</u>, <u>44</u>, 300-305 (1995).
- Ishikawa, I., Ogura, Y., Ikeda, S., Suganuma, M. and Narita, T., "Measurement of Sound Velocity Near a Crack by an Acoustic Microscope," <u>Non-Destructive</u> <u>Inspection</u>, <u>45</u>, 749-755 (1996).

Okada, M., Dr.

National Research Institute for Metals 1-2-1 Sengen, Tsukuba 305 Tel: +81 298 59 2001 Fax: +81 298 59 2008 e.mail: okadam@nrim.go.jp Key Personnel: Okada, M., Dr., Abe, F., Dr., Itagaki, T., Mr. Scientific Key Words: Breakaway; Oxidation; Oxide-metal interface; Spallation resistance; Steam-side corrosion Advanced steam conditions; Boiler tube failures; Coal-fired Technical Key Words: boiler; Steam boiler; Ultra-supercritical plant

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The purpose of the present research is to investigate the oxidation behavior of high-Cr ferritic/martensitic heat-resisting steels in ultra-super-critical (USC) steam. The present research started in April 1997 on a ten-year program (1997 - 2007), as a part of the project "Development of innovative ferritic/martensitic heat resisting steels for USC power plant operating at a steam condition of 650°C and 350 atmospheric pressure". This project is one of the four big subjects in the "Super Steel Project" in the Frontier Research Center for Structural Materials, National Research Institute for Metals. Basic research is intended in the first stage (1997 - 2002) and applied research in the second stage (2002 - 2007). The impetus for the present research comes from industrial requirements for which steels with good high-temperature oxidation resistance in USC steam, as well as high creep strength, are required. The incentive is that a significant increase in thrust is obtained by increasing the operating temperature. It is now necessary to improve the oxidation resistance of 9 - 12%Cr ferritic/martensitic steels for application to the USC plants at 650 °C, while it is substantially not serious for the plants below 600°C.

In the first stage (1997 - 2002), the research includes fundamental studies on the mechanisms of the development of oxide scale, the scale structure and the spallation of scales. The oxidation tests will be carried out for newly developed steels containing 9 - 12% Cr and other oxidation resistant alloying elements in steam over the temperature range between 550 and 750°C for up to 10000 hours, using small-size sheet specimens. Steam will be generated and heated up to the test temperature in a pre-heater before

entering the autoclave. After the tests, the specimens will be weighed to evaluate the kinetics of oxidation. The surface oxide constituents will be identified by X-ray diffraction. The surface and the polished section of the specimens will be examined by a scanning electron microscope and electron probe microanalyzer. The bonding state of ions in the oxides will be also examined by Raman spectroscopy. The oxidation behavior in steam will be compared with that in air and in low oxygen partial pressure environments, such as $Ar + O_2$ gas, in order to make clear the role of oxygen partial pressure on the oxidation behavior.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

The oxidation tests in high-pressure steam and the tests using simulated steel pipes will be performed in conjunction with industrial partners. It is now planned to organize a consortium, or working group, composed of industrial, university and national research institute people in Japan. The oxidation test methods, the evaluation methods and the directions of oxidation-resistant steel development will be discussed. International exchanges are being promoted, such as the exchange of researchers, joint R & D and joint use of facilities, in consideration of the fact that promoting the fusion of various researchers' knowledge through exchanges between R & D institutions and/or researchers is essential for the effective promotion of R & D. The STA (Science and Technology Agency of Japanese Government) Fellowship is one of the systems for invitation of foreign researchers.

Shida, Y., Dr., Otsuka, N., Dr., Fujikawa, H., Dr. and Anada, H., Mr.			
Advanced Technology Research Laboratories (Y. Shida)			
Corporat	Corporate Research Laboratories (N. Otsuka, H. Fujikawa and H. Anada)		
Sumitomo Metal Industries Ltd			
1-8 Fuso-	-cho		
Amagasaki 660			
Tel:	+81 6 489 5971 (Y. Shida)		
Fax:	+81 6 489 5763 (Y. Shida); +81 6 489 5793 (N. Otsuka, H. Anada);		
	+81 6 489 5790 (H. Fujikawa)		
e.mail:	shida-ysa@aw.sumikin.co.jp; ootsuka-nbo@aw.sumikin.co.jp;		
	fujikawa-hso@aw.sumikin.co.jp; anada-hry@aw.sumikin.co.jp		
Key Pers	onnel:	Shida, Y., Dr., Otsuka, N., Dr., Fujikawa, H., Dr., Anada, H., Mr.	
Scientific	: Key Words:	Intermetallics; Oxidation; Heat-resistant steels; Waste incinerator materials; Oxidation/sulfidation; Zirconium/ water/steam	
Technica	l Key Words:	Future gas turbine materials; Waste incineration; Heat exchangers; Coal liquefaction; Nuclear power systems	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Specific Topics

1. High Temperature Oxidation of TiAI

Shida, Y., Dr. and Anada, H., Mr., have studied intensively the modification of oxidation resistance of TiAl by alloying addition. Effects of ternary and quaternary additions of various elements and various new coatings on the oxidation resistance, and on the scale morphologies of TiAl, were the topics of major interest. Also, some studies are underway on the effect of NaCl coating on the surface of TiAl.

2. High Temperature Corrosion in Waste Incineration Systems

Otsuka, N., Dr. and Kundo, T., Dr., have been responsible for a research project on development of corrosion resistant alloys for boiler tube application in Waste-to Energy

Plants. Clarifying the corrosion mechanism in this system is another important topic of this project. Funding is provided by NEDO (the New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization of Japan). This project is directed by JRCM (the Japan Research Center for Metals).

3. High Temperature Erosion of Boiler Tube Materials in Simulated PFBC Environments

Otsuka, N., Dr., is the principal investigator of this research. This study has been supported by the Kyushu Electric Power Co. The focus of this research has been on evaluating high temperature mechanical properties (especially high temperature hardness of oxide and sulfide scales formed on boiler tube materials in simulated PFBC environments). These properties are related to the erosion resistance of oxide/sulfide scales at high temperatures.

4. High Temperature Oxidation and Corrosion of Steels in Various Environments

Fujikawa, H., Dr., in collaboration with Tarutani, Y., Mr., Shida, Y., Dr. et al., studied corrosion behaviour of various steels in various high temperature environments. Environments of major interest were automobile exhaust systems, household-stoves, high temperature gas reactor and coal liquefaction.

5. Oxidation Behavior of Zircalloy in High Temperature Steam and Water

Anada, H., Mr., is the principal researcher in this field. Influences of various metallurgical factors on the oxidation behavior of Zircalloy-2 and -4 based alloys have been studied extensively in simulated environments and accelerated laboratory steam environments. Modification of alloys and fabrication heat procedures have also been the item of major interest.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High-Temperature Oxidation of TiAI

- 1. Shida, Y. and Anada, H., "Oxidation Behavior of Binary Ti-Al Alloys in High Temperature Air Environment," <u>Materials Transactions JIM</u>, <u>34</u>, 236 (1993).
- Anada, H. and Shida, Y., "Oxidation Behavior in Ti-Al Intermetallic Compounds and Their Improvements by Additional Ternary Elements," <u>Sumitomo Search</u>, <u>52</u>, 83 (1993).

- 3. Shida, Y. and Anada, H., "The Influence of Ternary Element Addition on the Oxidation Behavior of TiAl Intermetallic Compound in High Temperature Air," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 945 (1993).
- 4. Anada, H. and Shida, Y., "Effect of Mo Addition on the Oxidation Behavior of TiAl Intermetallic Compound," Journal of Japan Institute of Metals, <u>58</u>, 746 (1994).
- 5. Shida, Y. and Anada, H., "Role of W, Mo, Nb and Si on the Oxidation Behavior of Ti-Al Alloys in High Temperature Air Environment," <u>Journal of Japan Institute of Metals</u>, <u>58</u>, 754 (1994).
- 6. Anada, H. and Shida, Y., "Effect of W Addition on the Oxidation Behavior of TiAl Intermetallic Compounds," Journal of Japan Institute of Metals, <u>58</u>, 1036 (1994).
- 7. Shida, Y. and Anada, H., "Role of W, Mo, Nb and Si on Oxidation of Ti-Al in Air at High Temperatures," <u>Materials Transactions JIM</u>, <u>35</u>, 623 (1994).
- 8. Shida, Y., "How Can the Oxidation Protection of TiAl be Possible?," <u>New Materials</u> (Japan), <u>6</u>, 63 (1995).
- Shida, Y. and Anada, H., "The Effect of Various Ternary Additives on the Oxidation Behavior of TiAl in High Temperature Air," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>45</u>, Nos. 1/2, 197 (1996).

2. High Temperature Corrosion in Waste Incineration Systems

- Otsuka, N., Natori, A., Kudo, T. and Imoto, T., "High Temperature Corrosion of Austenitic Stainless Steels and Ni-Base Alloys in Simulated Waste Incinerator Corroison Environments," <u>CORROSION/93</u>, Paper No. 289 (1993).
- 11. Otsuka, N., Natori, A., Kudo, T. and Imoto, T., "A 28.5%Cr-40%Ni-1%Mo-0.15%N Alloy Minimizing Fireside Corrosion in Waste Incinerators," <u>CORROSION/94</u>, Paper No. 401 (1994).
- Otsuka, N., Tsukaue, Y., Nakagawa, K., Yamamoto, A., Kawahara, Y. and Yukawa, K., "An Evaluation of Corrosion Resistant Alloys by Laboratory Corrosion Tests," <u>CORROSION/95</u>, paper No. 565 (1995).
- Otsuka, N., Ogawa, K., Kudo, T. and Kobayashi, T., "28.5%Cr-40%Ni-1%Mo-0.15%N Austenitic Alloy Minimizing Fireside Corrosion in Waste Incinerators," presented at <u>Stainless Steel '96</u>, June 3-5, Dusseldorf, Verein Deutscher Eisenhuettenleute (1996).

3. High Temperature Erosion of Boiler Tube Materials in Simulated PFBC Environments

- Hayashida, T., Miyazaki, S., Imaizumi, Y., Ogawa, K., Tokura, S. and Otsuka, N., "Mechanical Properties of Oxide/Sulfide Scales Formed on Boiler Tube Materials in Simulated PFBC Corrosion Environments," <u>CORROSION/95</u>, Paper No. 461 (1995).
- Hayasida, T., Miyazaki, S., Imaizumi, Y., Ogawa, K., Tokura, S. and Otsuka, N., "High Temperature Erosion of Oxide Scale Formed on T2 and 310HCbN Steels in a Simulated PFBC Corrosion Environment", <u>CORROSION/96</u>, Paper No. 172 (1996).

4. High Temperature Oxidation and Corrosion of Steels in Various Environments

- Shida, Y., Fujikawa, H. and Sawaragi, Y., "The Oxidation and Carbon Transfer Behavior of Ni-27Cr-5Mo-5W Alloys in an Impure Helium Atmosphere," <u>Corrosion</u> <u>Science</u>, <u>34</u>, 1157 (1993).
- 17. Kitayama, S., Shida, Y., Ueda, M. and Kudo, T., "Development of Corrosion Resistant Titanium Alloys for Severe Oil Wells," <u>Sumitomo Search</u>, <u>52</u>, 67 (1993).
- Tarutani, Y., Miyahara, M., Hasizume, T., Higuchi, K. and Fujikawa, H., "Heat Resistant Stainless Steels for the Exhaust System of Automobile," <u>Sumitomo Metal</u>, <u>45</u>, No. 5, 92 (1993).
- 19. Fujikawa, H., "Present Perspective Automotive Materials", <u>Fall Meeting JISI</u>, No. 4, 27 (1995).
- Fujikawa, H. and Shida, Y., "High Temperature Oxidation of Si-Bearing Ferritic Stainless Steels in Humidified Atmosphere," <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo (Japan)</u>, 45, 350 (1996).
- 21. Fujikawa, H. and Shida, Y., "Effect of H₂O and O₂ in Atmosphere on the Oxidation Behavior of Ferritic Stainless Steels," <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo (Japan)</u>, <u>45</u>, 358 (1996).
- Fukagawa, T., Okada, H., Maehara, H. and Fujikawa, H., "Effect of Small Amount of Ni on Hydrolic-Descaling Ability in Si-Added Hot Rolled Steel Sheets," J. JISI, 82, 63 (1996).
- 23. Fujikawa, H. and Shida, Y., "Corrosion Behavior of Various Steels and Alloys in a Simulated Liquefaction Environment," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 190 (1996).

 Fujikawa, H., Shida, Y., Miyuki, H. and Maruyama, N., "Materials Performance in a Solvent Extraction Liquefaction Pilot Plant in Japan," <u>Werkstoffe und Korrosion</u>, <u>47</u>, 237 (1996).

5. Oxidation Behavior of Zircaloy in High Temperature Steam and Water

- 25. Anada, H., Shida, Y. and Kodama, T., "Nodular Corrosion Behavior in Zircalloy-2 and Zircalloy-4 Under Various Solution Treatment Conditions," <u>Sumitomo Search</u>, <u>52</u>, 118 (1993).
- 26. Anada, H., Nomoto, K. and Shida, Y., "Corrosion Behavior of Zircalloy-4 Sheets Produced Under Various Hot-rolling and Annealing Conditions," <u>Zirconium in the</u> <u>Nuclear Industries</u>, ASTM-STP 1245, Eds. A.M. Garde and E.R. Bradley, 307 (1994).
- 27. Anada, H. and Kiyoko, T., "Microstructure of Oxides on Zircalloy-4, 1.0%Nb-Zircalloy-4 and Zircalloy-2 Formed in 10.3MPa Steam at 673K," <u>Zirconium in the</u> <u>Nuclear Industries</u>, ASTM-STP 1295, Eds. E.R. Bradley and G.P. Sabol, 12 (1996).
- 28. Anada, H., Herb, B.J., Nomoto, K., Hagi, S., Graham, R.A. and Kuroda, T., "Effect of Annealing Temperature on Corrosion Behavior and ZrO₂ Microstructure of Zircalloy-4 Cladding Tube," <u>Zirconium in the Nuclear Industries</u>, ASTM-STP 1295, Eds. E.R. Bradley and G.P. Sabol, 33 (1996).

Takahas	Takahashi, H., Prof. and Kurokawa, K., Assoc. Prof.		
Research Group of Interface Control Engineering			
Graduate	School of Enginee	ering	
Hokkaido	o University		
Kita 13 N	ishi 8, Kita-ku		
Sapporo (060		
Tel:	: +81 11 706 7110 and 11 706 7111		
Fax:	+81 11 706 7881		
Telex:	932302 HOKUEN-J		
e.mail: takahasi@icnet.hokudai.ac.jp; kazu@icnet.hokudai.ac.jp			
Key Perso	onnel:	Takahashi, H., Prof., Kurokawa, K., Assoc. Prof., Sakairi, M., Dr.	
Scientific	Key Words:	Ceramic oxidation; Ceramics degradation/interfaces/ coating; Gas-solid reaction kinetics; Pesting; Refractory metals; Silicides	
Technical	Key Words:	Engine materials; Aeroengines; Ceramic turbine blades; Future gas turbine materials; Surface engineering	

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

This laboratory was newly founded in 1994. The research activity is directed towards understanding of structure and properties of anodic oxide films, oxide scales formed at high temperatures, and interfacial reaction layers between solids. Current investigational works on high-temperature materials are focused on a fundamental approach.

Specific Topics

1. Oxidation Behavior of Ultra-High Temperature Materials

Oxidation of SiO₂-forming materials such as Si_3N_4 ,SiCand MoSi₂ at ultra-high temperatures is being carried out. The aim is to clarify the oxidation behavior of ultra-high temperature materials. Especially, emphasis is placed on the effect of a second phase such as additives and reinforcement materials on the oxidation resistance of ultra-high temperature materials.

2. Solid-State Reactions Between Metals and Ceramics

The interfacial reactions in metal/ceramic(SiC or Si_3N_4) systems at high temperatures are being investigated. The reactions are grouped into three modes, (A) silicide formation, (B) silicide+carbide (or nitride) formation, and (C) Si+carbide (or nitride) formation. The aims are to clarify the interfacial reaction behavior between metal and ceramic, and to estimate the maximum application temperature of metal-ceramic composites.

3. Research and Development of Ultra-High Temperature Materials

Composites such as carbon/silicide, carbon/Si-based ceramic, refractory metal/silicide, refractory metal/Si-based ceramic, and silicide/Si-based ceramic are expected to be effective as ultra-high temperature materials having high oxidation resistance. Preparation of these composites is being carried out by a spark plasma sintering method, and the evaluation of the oxidation behavior and mechanical properties of the composites is also being carried out.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

1. High Temperature Oxidation

- Kurokawa, K., "Molybdenum Disilicide for Uses at Ultra-High Temperatures-Outline of Oxidation Properties," <u>Materia Japan</u> (The Japan Institute of Metals), <u>32</u>, 668-675 (in Japanese) (1993).
- Kurokawa, K. and Worrell, W.L., "High Temperature Oxidation of MoSi₂-Based Materials," <u>Bulletin of the Faculty of Engineering, Hokkaido Univ.</u>, <u>No.162</u>, 149-161 (in Japanese) (1993).
- 3. Ramberg, C.E., Beatrice, P., Kurokawa, K. and Worrell, W. L., "High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of Structural Silicides," <u>Materials Research Society Proceedings</u>, <u>322</u>, 243-253 (1994).
- Kurokawa, K., Matsuoka, H. and Nagai, T., "High Temperature Oxidation of Some MSi2-Type Silicides," <u>Ceramics, Powders, Corrosion and Advanced Processing</u>, Eds. M. Mizutani et al., Elsevier, <u>14A</u>, 255-258 (1994).
- 5. Kurokawa, K., "Oxidation of Ultra-High Temperature Materials," <u>Shinsozai</u>, <u>6</u>, 19-23 (in Japanese) (1995).

- Kurokawa, K. and Matsuoka, H., "Oxidation Behavior of MoSi₂-WSi₂ Solid Solutions," <u>Report of the 123rd Committee on Heat-Resisting Metals and Alloys in</u> <u>Japan Society for the Promotion of Science</u>, <u>36</u>, 83-90 (in Japanese) (1995).
- 7. Kurokawa, K., "Oxidation of Silicides and the Subjects," <u>Text of the 22nd Corrosion</u> <u>Seminar (Japan Society of Corrosion Engineering)</u>, 63-82 (in Japanese) (1995).
- Kurokawa, K., "Oxidation Resistance of MoSi₂-Based Ultra-High Temperature Materials," <u>Proc. '96 Symp. on Advanced Research of Energy Technology</u>, 403-414 (in Japanese) (1996).
- Kurokawa, K., Uchiyama, H., Ube, M., Takahashi, H. and Worrell, W. L., "Effect of Reinforcing Materials on High Temperature Oxidation Behavior of MoSi₂-Based Composites," <u>Proc. 13th International Corrosion Congress</u>, 1401-1406 (1996).

2. Solid-State Reactions Between Metals and Ceramics

10. Kurokawa, K. and Takahashi, H., "Solid-State Reaction and Structure in Ceramic-Metal Interface", <u>NSG Found Mat. Sci. Eng. Rep</u>., <u>No.12</u>, 99-106 (in Japanese) (1994).

3. Ultra-High Temperature Materials

- Kurokawa, K. and Horibe, T., "Joining and Interfacial Reaction in a MoSi₂/Ti/Graphite System by Spark Plasma Sintering," <u>Japan Institute of Applied</u> <u>Plasma Science</u>, <u>3</u>, 7-12 (in Japanese) (1995).
- 12. Horibe, T., Uchiyama, H. and Kurokawa, K., "Interfacial Reaction in Joining of MoSi₂ to Graphite by SPS Method," <u>Materials Transaction, JIM</u>., <u>37</u>, 743-747 (1996).

4. Others on High Temperature

- 13. Mizuno, T., Inoda, K., Akimoto, T., Azumi, K., Kitaichi, M., Kurokawa, K., Ohmori, T. and Enyo, M., "Formation of ¹⁹⁷Pt Radioisotope in Solid State Electrolyte Treated by High Temperature Electrolysis in D₂ Gas," <u>Infinite Energy</u>, <u>1</u>, 9-11 (1995).
- Mizuno, T., Akimoto, T., Azumi, K., Kitaichi, M., Kurokawa, K., and Enyo, M., "Anomalous Heat Evolution from a Solid-State Electrolyte Under Alternating Current in High Temperature D₂ Gas," <u>Fusion Technology</u>, 29, 385-389 (1996).

Taniguc	hi, S., Dr. and Shi	ibata, T., Prof.
Departm	ent of Materials Sc	tience and Processing
Faculty c	of Engineering, Osa	aka University
2-1 Yama	idaoka, Suita	
Osaka 56	5	
Tel:	+81 6 879 7471	
Fax:	+81 6 879 7471	
e.mail:	taniguchi@mat.er	ng.osaka-u.ac.jp; shibata@mat.eng.osaka-u.ac.jp
Scientific	Key Words:	Alumina; Cyclic oxidation; Impurities; Intermetallics; implantation; Preoxidation; Surface treatments

Ion

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

1. Oxidation of Intermetallic Compounds

Considerable effort has been spent in our laboratory on studies of the oxidation behavior of TiAl, which is a base material having high specific strength at elevated temperatures. Turbine blades, engine valves and turbocharger rotors made of TiAl-base alloys are under various tests for practical application. However, a certain set of knowledge is still lacking for the comprehensive understanding of the influence of alloying additions and gaseous species on their oxidation behavior. The objective is to provide new knowledge regarding the above two factors. Various surface treatments were also performed to examine their potential in providing protection against oxidation. As a result it has been found that small alloying additions of Hf or Zr are very effective to improve the oxidation resistance both under isothermal and thermal cyclic conditions in an oxygen atmosphere. This is attributable to the formation of protective Al₂O₃ scales in a temperature range 1100 to 1300 K. Further increases in the temperature and in the additive content decrease the effect.

An ion implantation technique was used to locate Al, Si, Ar, Cr or Nb in the surface layer of TiAl. Implantation of Si, Cr or Nb at a dose of 10^{21} ions m⁻² was found also to be very effective in forming protective Al_2O_3 scales which can survive under thermal cycling conditions with the temperature varying between room temperature and 1200 K for at least 1000 ks. The influence of gaseous species is being studied. Carbon dioxide and water vapor enhance the oxidation very much, while nitrogen enhances it to a smaller degree. The partial pressure of oxygen also influences the oxidation behavior. Preoxidation under low partial pressure of oxygen was found to be effective to form protective Al_2O_3 scales.

The oxidation behavior of Ti₃Al and Ti₃Al-Nb was studied and the influence of Nb and nitrogen gas in the atmosphere was considered.

The oxidation behavior of Ti_5Si_3 , which is a candidate as a structural or coating material in the temperature range 1300 to 1500 K, was studied. This range is too high for TiAlbase materials and too low for $MoSi_2$. Ti_5Si_3 forms a protective scale consisting mainly of SiO_2 in the temperature range 1400 to 1500 K. Breakaway takes place at 1550 K in air. This is explained in terms of the appearance of TiO_2 particles in the SiO_2 scale.

2. Fe-Cr-Al Alloy Foils

In order to improve the life of a metal honeycomb, used as the catalyst support for an automobile exhaust gas system, Al-deposited Fe-20Cr-5Al foils containing rare earth elements were manufactured and their oxidation characteristics were examined. These foils gave the smallest parabolic rate constants ever reported among alloys of similar compositions, with the activation energy of oxidation comparable to reported values. The total Al content was around 5 mass %. However, the oxidation took place on the surface where the Al concentration was rather high, though most of the Al deposited diffused into the substrate during heating to a test temperature. The detailed metallographic examinations revealed that the Al₂O₃ formed on the foil shows definite transformation stages such as γ - to θ - to α -Al₂O₃, whereas α -Al₂O₃ appears much earlier with the conventional foil. A TEM study showed that these transformations take place at the scale/substrate interface.

3. Low-Carbon Steels

The recycling of steel scrap is receiving considerable attention in developed countries. Although the recycling is necessary and has a large merit in relation to energy saving and prevention of air pollution, a few harmful impurities are enriched as the number of recycles increases. The descaling characteristics are being studied for low-carbon steels containing relatively high concentrations of Cu, Sn, or Si which would be included in the scrap. The mode of scale failure, thermal stress and mechanical stress in the scale will be assessed.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

 Liu, X.-H., Jian, B.-Y., Wang, X., Yang, G.-Q., Zou, S.-C., Jian, S., Schroer, A., Ensinger, W., Wolf, G.K., Kalbitzer, S., Takahashi, K., Iwaki, M. and Taniguchi, S., "Effect of Mg Segregation at Grain Boundaries on Corrosion Behavior of Intermetallic Compound Ni₃Al(B)," <u>Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research</u>, <u>B59/60</u>, 221-224 (1993).

- Japan
- 2. Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T. and Katoh, N., "Improvement in the High-Temperature Oxidation Resistance of TiAl by Sol-Derived SiO₂ Coating," (in Japanese) <u>Journal of the Japan Institute of Metals</u>, <u>57</u>, 666-673 (1993).
- Taniguchi, S., Asanuma, N., Shibata, T., Wang, F.-H., Lou, H.-N. and Wu, W.-T., "Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Improved by CoCrAl and CoCrAlY Coating," (in Japanese) <u>Journal of the Japan Institute of Metals</u>, <u>57</u>, 781-789 (1993).
- Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Yamada, T., Liu, X.-H. and Zou, S.-C., "High-Temperature Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Improved by IBED Si₃N₄ Coating," <u>ISIJ International</u>, <u>33</u>, 869-876 (1993).
- Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Asanuma, N., Lou, H.-N., Wang, F.-H. and Wu, W.-T., "Oxidation Behavior of TiAl Coated with a Fine-Grain Co-30Cr-4Al Film," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>39</u>, 457-473 (1993).
- Wang, X., Yang, Y.-J., Liu, X.-H., Zou, S.-C., Taniguchi, S., Takahashi, K. and Iwaki, M., "Characteristics of the Nitrogen Implanted Intermetallic Compound TiAl," <u>Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research</u>, <u>B80/81</u>, 250-253 (1993).
- Liu, X.-H., Zheng, Z.-H., Huang, W., Lin, Z.-X., Wang, X., Yang, G.-Q., Zou, S.-C., Taniguchi, S. and Shibata, T., "Influence of Ion Beam Modification on the Oxidation Behavior of Intermetallic Compound Ni₃Al(0.1B)," <u>Journal of Vacuum Science and</u> <u>Technology</u>, <u>A11</u>, 2938-2940 (1993).
- 8. Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Asanuma, N., Lou, H.-N., Wang, F.-H. and Wu, W.-T., "Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Improved by a CoCrAl Coating." <u>Journal de Physique</u> <u>IV, Colloq. C9, Supplement to Journal de Physique III</u>, 404-410 (1993).
- Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T. and Murakami, A., "Improvement in the Oxidation Resistance of TiAl by Preoxidation in a SiO₂-Powder Pack," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>41</u>, 103-113 (1994).
- 10. Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Murakami, A. and Chihara, K., "Improvement in the Oxidation Resistance of TiAl by Preoxidation in a Cr₂O₃ Powder Pack," <u>Materials Transaction of JIM</u>, <u>35</u>, 616-622 (1994).
- 11. Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Murakami, A. and Chihara, K., "Improvement in the Oxidation Resistance of TiAl by Preoxidation in a TiO₂-Powder Pack," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 17-29 (1994).
- Akai, M., Taniguchi, S. and Shibata, T., "Oxidation Characteristics of Ti-14Al- 21Nb Alloy at High Temperatures in Purified Oxygen," (in Japanese) <u>Journal of Japan</u> <u>Institute of Metals</u>, <u>58</u>, 1169-1176 (1994).
- 13. Taniguchi, S., "Coatings for TiAl," <u>Materials Research Society Bulletin</u>, <u>19</u>, 31-34 (1994).
- 14. Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Juso, H. and Katoh, N., "Effect of Hf Addition (0.24 w/o) on the Oxidation Behavior of TiAl at High Temperatures," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>42</u>, 205-222 (1994).

- 15. Taniguchi, S., "Improvement in the Oxidation Resistance of TiAl by Surface Treatments," (in Japanese) <u>Report of the 123rd Committee of JSPS</u>, <u>36</u>, 91-98 (1995).
- Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T. and Sakon, S., "Oxidation Resistance of TiAl Significantly Improved by Combination of Preoxidation and Hf Addition," <u>Materials Science and</u> <u>Engineering</u>, <u>A198</u>, 85-90 (1995).
- 17. Taniguchi, S., Juso, H. and Shibata, T., "Improvement in High-Temperature Oxidation Resistance of TiAl by Addition of 0.2 Mass% Zr," <u>Materials Transaction</u> <u>JIM</u>, <u>37</u>, 245-251 (1996).
- Taniguchi, S., Shibata, T., Saeki, T., Zhang, H.-X. and Liu, X.-H., "Effect of Nb-Ion Implantation on the Oxidation Resistance of TiAl," <u>Materials Transaction JIM</u>, <u>37</u>, 998-1003 (1996).
- 19. Taniguchi, S. and Shibata, T., "Influecne of Additional Elements on the Oxidation Behaviour of TiAl," <u>Intermetallics</u>, <u>4</u>, S85-S93 (1996).
- 20. Andoh, A., Taniguchi, S. and Shibata, T., "High-Temperature Oxidation of Al-Deposited Stainless Steel Foils," <u>Oxidation of Metals</u>, <u>46</u>, 481-502 (1996).
- 21. Taniguchi, S., Minamida, T., Shibata, T. and Ninomiya, N., "High-Temperature Oxidation of Ti₅Si₃ in Air," (in Japanese) <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo</u>, <u>45</u>, 603-608 (1996).
- Akai, M., Taniguchi, S. and Shibata, T., "Oxidation Characteristics of Ti-14Al-21Nb (mass%) Alloy in N₂-O₂ at High Temperatures," (in Japanese) <u>Zairyo-to-Kankyo</u>, <u>45</u>, 646-653 (1996).
- 23. Akai, M., Taniguchi, S. and Shibata, T., "Influence of Nitrogen Gas on the High-Temperature Oxidation Characteristics of Ti-14Al-21Nb (Mass%)," <u>Materials Science</u> <u>Research International</u>, 2, 248-253 (1996).

- --

- -

Yoshiba, M., Prof.	Yoshiba, M., Prof.		
Department of Mechanical	Engineering		
Graduate School of Engine	ering		
Tokyo Metropolitan Unive	rsity		
Minami-Osawa 1-1, Hachio	oji		
Tokyo 192-03			
Tel: +81 426 77 2735 and +81 426 77 1111 (Ext. 4282)			
Fax: +81 426 77 2717			
E-mail: yoshiba@ecomp.metro-u.ac.jp			
Key Personnel:	Yoshiba, M., Prof.		
Scientific Key Words:	Superalloys; Structural ceramics; Thermal barrier coatings; Waste incinerator materials; Creep/corrosion interactions; Creep/fatigue-oxidation interactions; Corrosive failure analysis		
Technical Key Words:	Engine materials; Thermal barrier coating systems; Future gas turbine materials; Ceramic turbine blades; Municipal waste-burning		

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Fundamental Approach

The strategy of the whole research activities is based on the policy that how to simulate reasonably the actual service condition of different kinds of high temperature structural components, such as gas turbine blades and boiler tubes in laboratory experiments, particularly from many aspects of thermal (temperature)-chemical (corrosivity)-mechanical (stress) loadings. Therefore, the thrust of this research is always based on the failure analysis of the high temperature components subjected to damage in practical service. Then, the aggressive environmental effect, such as hot corrosion, on mechanical failure such as creep, fatigue and creep/fatigue interaction is emphasized along with inversely the stress effect on the high-temperature corrosion. Current research activities are mainly focused on the mechanical failure of advanced coating systems, including some thermal barrier coatings in aggressive environments. Furthermore, materials R&D for the more complicated corrosive environment, such as in high-temperature municipal waste incineration plants, also is conducted in a link of the national project research.

Applications, Engineering Achievements and Technology Transfer

Most of the experimental research is conducted to get fundamental knowledge and/or information which can contribute to the R&D of high-temperature material systems in the energy field, in particular for electric power generation. This includes gas turbines, boilers, different kinds of chemical reactors, and waste power generators. The work is frequently undertaken in conjunction with consortia of industrial partners, as indicated in the following abstracts.

Specific Topics

1. Hot Corrosion Mechanism of Advanced Superalloys with Controlled Crystallinity

Hot corrosion resistance, as one of the life limiting factors for the high temperature structural components, was investigated in connection with the corrosive failure analysis for some kinds of advanced superalloys, including the controlled crystalline alloys, on the basis of comprehensive analyses of the thermodynamic and kinetic approach, with support of the analytical data of microstructure. The role of the compositional and microstructural factors on hot corrosion behavior was quantitatively evaluated through extractive evaluation and regression analysis from the complicated factors, and furthermore a reasonable hot corrosion model was proposed.

2. Failure Analysis of Thermal Barrier Coating Systems under Different Combinations of Thermochemical (Corrosive) and Thermomechanical (Stress) Loadings

Two kinds of thermal barrier coating (TBC) systems were characterized and subjected to different aspects of the property evaluations, such as high-temperature oxidation and hot corrosion resistance, and the corrosion-creep failure resistance which is a very important factor from the practical viewpoint. In particular, on the basis of the failure analysis for the specimens obtained from such a various testing methodology, a basic guideline for the optimized TBC systems was discussed and proposed.

3. R&D for the Advanced Material Systems of Highly Corrosion-Resistant for High Efficiency Municipal Waste Power Generation

R&D of advanced material systems for the heat-exchanger, with corrosion-resistance much higher than for the existing materials, is one of the key technologies to establish high-efficiency municipal waste power generation. In the present study, the systematic investigation has been conducted about both the analysis of the corrosive environment in the much higher temperature waste incineration plant and the R&D of high performance material systems, along with the optimized material evaluation methodology. In particular, the applicability of some kinds of the thermal spray

coating systems, with different corrosion-resistant alloys as the coating materials, was evaluated by means of the reasonably simulated laboratory corrosion test with and without cyclic heating.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Yoshiba, M., "Effect of Hot Corrosion on the Mechanical Performances of Superalloys and Coating Systems," <u>Corrosion Science</u>, <u>35</u>, 1115-1124 (1993).
- Yoshiba, M., Aranami, T., Taira, H. and Harada, Y., "Failure Analysis of Some Plasma Spray Coated Superalloy Systems Subjected to the Synergistic High Temperature Damages in Actual Gas Turbine or in Laboratory," <u>Proc. International</u> <u>Conference on Thermal Spraying (ITSC '95)</u>, High Temperature Society, Japan, 89-94 (1995).
- Yoshiba, M., Abe, K., Aranami, T. and Harada, Y., "High Temperature Oxidation and Hot Corrosion Behavior of Two Kinds of Thermal Barrier Coating Systems for Advanced Gas Turbines," <u>Proc. International Conference on Thermal Spraying</u> (<u>ITSC '95</u>), High Temperature Society, Japan, 785-790 (1995).
- 4. Yoshiba, M. and Wada, K., "Creep Failure Analysis of Advanced Plasma Spray Coating Systems in Hot Corrosive Environment," <u>Proc. International Conference on</u> <u>Creep and Fatigue</u>, Institute of Mechanical Engineers, 51-59 (1996).
- 5. Yoshiba, M., Abe, K., Aranami, T. and Harada, Y., "High Temperature Oxidation and Hot Corrosion Behavior of Two Kinds of Thermal Barrier Coating Systems for Advanced Gas Turbines," Journal of Thermal Spray Technology, <u>5</u>, 259-268 (1996).
- Yoshiba, M., Notani, H., Uno, S. and Hirayama, N., "Corrosive Failure Analysis of Corrosion-Resistant Superheater Alloy Materials for High-Efficiency MSW Power Generation in Long-Term Exposure Test," <u>Proc. 13th International Corrosion</u> <u>Conference</u>, ACA, Australia, 1384-1391 (1996).

Yoshihara, M., Dr.

Department of Mechanical Engineering and Materials Science

Faculty of Engineering Yokohama National University Tokiwadai 79-5, Hodogaya-ku Yokohama 240 Tel: +81 45 339 3887 Fax: +81 45 331 6593 Key Personnel: Yoshihara, M., Dr. Scientific Key Words: Aluminides; Cyclic oxidation; Intermetallics; Oxidation; Preoxidation; Titanium alloys/aluminides Technical Key Words: Airframe materials; Engine materials; Compressors; Future gas turbine materials; Rotors

SCOPE OF RESEARCH

Scientific Aspects

The research is aimed at clarifying the high-temperature oxidation behavior of intermetallic alloys. The research includes studies about oxidation rate, scale growth, scale adhesion and oxides formed during oxidation, mainly in cyclic oxidation. The effects of additional elements, influence of microstructure and atmosphere are also investigated to find out the way to improve the oxidation resistance of the alloys.

Applications, Engineering Achievement and Technology Transfer

The research is focused on intermetallic compound TiAl and TiAl-based alloys (gamma alloys). These alloys are expected to be new right-weight, heat-resisting materials. However, their oxidation resistance is much inferior to the conventional heat-resisting materials, such as Ni-based superalloys. This is one of the reasons impeding these materials from practical use. The oxidation behavior is affected by oxidation temperature, alloy composition and additional elements. Influence of the microstructure is relatively small. Concerning the alloy composition, appropriate addition of Nb and W is effective to improve the oxidation resistance. The improvement is also achieved by the heat treatment in a low air pressure atmosphere in the vicinity of 10³Pa, because of thin alumina scale formation. In collaboration work with Kim, Y-W., Dr., time-to-rupture in a creep test was found to be prolonged by this

heat treatment without damaging the fatigue property of the alloy. The mechanism of outer alumina scale formation during the treatment is under investigation.

RECENT PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Yoshihara, M., Imamura, N., Kobayashi, E., Miura, K., Mishima, Y., Suzuki, T. and Tanaka, R., "Oxidation Resistance and Effects of the Heat Treatment under Low Partial Pressure Oxygen Atmosphere in Intermetallic Compound TiAl Containing Nb," Journal of Japan Institute of Metals, <u>57</u>, 574-581 (1993).
- Yoshihara, M. and Miura, K., "Oxidation Resistance of TiAl-Based Alloys and its Improvement," <u>Proc. 3rd Japan International SAMPE Symposium, "Advanced</u> <u>Materials" - New Processes and Reliability</u>, Eds. T. Kishi, N. Takeda and Y. Kagawa, Japan, Chapter of SAMPE, 1476-1480 (1993).
- 3. Yoshihara, M. and Miura, K., "Oxidation Behavior of TiAl Based Alloys," Advanced Materials '93, I/A: Ceramics, Powders, Corrosion and Advanced Processing, Eds. N. Mizutani, M. Yoshimura, H. Kawamura, K. Kijima and M. Mitomo, <u>Transactions of the Materials Research Society of Japan</u>, <u>14A</u>, 225-228 (1994).
- 4. Yoshihara, M. and Miura, K., "Effects of Nb Addition on Oxidation Behavior of TiAl," <u>Intermetallics</u>, <u>3</u>, 357-363 (1995).
- 5. Yoshihara, M., Miura, K. and Kim, Y-W., "Oxidation Behavior of Structure-Controlled TiAl," Gamma Titanium Aluminides, Eds., Y-W. Kim, R. Wagner, and M. Yamaguchi, <u>The Minerals, Metals and Materials Society</u>, 93-100 (1995).

INDEX OF SCIENTIFIC KEYWORDS

Abrasion resistance	K-5
Acoustic emission	G-55, I-7, I-11, U-218
Adherence	S-2, U-89
Adhesion	D-5, G-12
Advanced batteries	U-174
Air oxidation	P-2
Alloy creep relaxation/ cracking-spalling	I-32, U-31
Alloy oxidation	I-22
Alumina	F-44, G-38, J-16, J-52, K-2, S-2, S-12, U-62, U-101, U-145
Alumina adhesion	U-127
Alumina growth	C-12, F-58, F-62, G-12, G-19, G-52, J-21, N-18
Alumina growth/breakdown	F-58, G-6, S-19, U-89, U-199
Aluminide alloying/coating	C-17
Aluminide coatings	C-30, C-41, F-10, G-12, S-14, U-86, U-89, U-97
Aluminides	C-12, G-6, G-19, G-29, G-62, J-59, N-34, T-4, U-221
Aluminides in mixed oxidants	U-199
Aluminum alloys	B-6
Amorphous alloys	J-16

Scientific Keywords-1

Index of Scientific Keywords

Artificial microstructure	U-246
Ash	C-20, D-2, F-34
Atomic force microscopy	J-30
Auger electron spectroscopy	F-58, G-66, U-74
Bond/thermal barrier coatings	G-12, G-29, I-26, I-58, K-5, U-31, U-97, U-221
Borides	K-5
Breakaway	J-42
Bulk oxide properties	F-36, S-20, U-108
Burner rigs	C-17, G-12, I-26, I-58, U-37, U-44, U-127
Carbon-carbon composites	F-6, F-10
Carburization	G-19, I-32, N-8, N-34, S-12, U-58, U-170
Centrifugally cast alloys	I-32
Ceramic aging	F-65
Ceramic coatings	F-62, G-6, N-18, U-145, U-174
Ceramic elaboration	F-65
Ceramic fiber reaction products	U-39
Ceramic/metal joining	J-38
Ceramics	C-17, U-101, U-108, U-121
Ceramics and composites corrosion	N-8
Ceramics coatings	F-62, G-6, N-18, U-145, U-174
Ceramics corrosion	C-17, F-34, G-34, I-16, I-26, I-58, N-2, P-15, S-14, U-8, U-193, U-199

Index of Scientific Keywords

Ceramics degradation/	J-49, U-193, U-221
interfaces/coatings	
Ceramics/molten aluminum	C-17, F-58, U-74
Ceramics oxidation	G-34, I-16, J-49, N-2
Ceria coatings	C-17
Chemical additives to water	G-10, S-30
Chemical failure	U-31
Chemical vapor deposition	F-10, G-62, N-18, S-6, U-246
Chemisorption	G-10
Chloridation	C-20, C-41, G-55, G-66, N-18, N-27, S-12, S-28, U-24, U-37, U-58, U-62, U-193, U-210, U-215
Chlorine	D-2, F-34, G-66, J-32, K-5, U-121, U-193
Chromia	D-5, F-44, G-19, K-2, N-18, S-12
Chromia/alumina adhesion	U-41, U-74, U-145, U-155
Chromia/forming alloys	N-34
Coal-ash corrosion	F-41, I-16, I-26, I-58, J-23, U-37, U-94
Coated and uncoated superalloys	F-10, F-58, G-55, I-7, I-26, I-58, U-97, U-145
Coated superalloys	U-50
Coating C-C composites	F-10, G-6, U-208
Coating design	F-10, G-12, T-4, T-12
Coating durability/adhesion	I-2, K-5, U-86, U-208
Coating interfaces	I-2
Coating methods	I-2, I-7, I-32, J-12, U-121, U-174
Coating/modifying surfaces	D-5, N-8, U-208, U-246
Coating and surface modification	N-24

Scientific Keywords-3

Index of Scientific Keywords

Coatings	A-6, C-23, F-2, F-23, F-73, I-51, J-16, J-36, K-5, L-2,
	N-16, P-15, S-6, S-23, S-28, U-8, U-41, U-86, U-188
Coatings/graded layers	F-68, G-12
Cold work effect	S-12
Cold work/grain size effects	G-19
Combustion chemical vapor deposition	U-145
Combustion gases	C-20, F-41, S-23, U-37
Composite interface reactions	F-58, U-74
Composites	U-39, U-101, U-108
Computer modeling	C-23, F-15, G-6, H-2, N-2, U-59, U-174
Computer simulation of diffusion	U-197
Computerized databases	N-8, U-50
Computerized high temperature data base	U-215
Copper alloys	F-31, F-36, N-34
Copper oxidation	F-31, F-36, I-2
Corrosion	C-2, F-15, N-16, P-20, U-117, U-170, U-174
Corrosion fatigue	U-18, U-174, U-246
Corrosion in liquid metal environments	U-2
Corrosion/mechanical property interactions	G-55, I-26, I-58, S-14
Corrosion modeling	U-117

Corrosion/oxidation of fuel cladding in nuclear reactors	U-31
Corrosion under mechanical strain	U-18
Corrosive failure analysis	J-56
Crack growth	U-174
Cracking/delamination	U-155
Cracking resistance	U-238
Creep	N-5
Creep/corrosion interactions	J-23, J-56, M-2, N-8, N-16, U-238
Creep/fatigue/oxidation interactions	F-58, F-68, J-56, U-86
Creep/oxidation	S-19, U-246
Creep/oxidation interactions	F-44
Crystallography	P-5
Cyclic oxidation	G-12, G-55, I-2, I-7, I-26, I-58, J-5, J-21, J-52, J-59, N-18, S-19, U-58, U-81
DTC	N-8
Databases	H-2, U-170, U-215
Defect dependent properties of oxides	N-34
Deposits	F-41, I-7, K-5, N-18, P-5, S-23, S-30
Deposits/heat transfer	H-2, I-26, I-58
Diamond	U-193
Diffusion	F-6, F-44, F-65, G-6, G-19, J-27, P-10, U-2, U-108

Diffusion barrier	C-30, F-6, U-208
Diffusion barrier/gas turbine blades	U-97
Diffusion coatings	I-7, J-38, K-5, U-188, U-210
Distribution	G-10
Dynamic in-situ study	J-30
Eddy current	I-32
Electrical conductivity	F-65
Electrical heater materials	F-32, S-19
Electrical resistors	F-44
Electrochemical characterization	S-12
Electrochemical measurements	A-2, F-65, G-6, G-12, I-12, I-46, J-12, J-23, N-18, S-20, U-18, U-174
Electrochemical measurements and modeling	M-2
Electrochemical methods	L-2, S-6
Electrochemical sensors	U-174
Electron beam surface melting	P-5
Ellipsometry	U-162
Environmental SEM	U-148, U-188
Erosion	C-2, C-20, H-2, P-20, U-81, U-188
Erosion/corrosion	H-2, J-23, J-36, K-5, N-2, S-14, S-23, S-28, S-30, U-44, U-58, U-62, U-89, U-155
Erosion corrosion of coatings	K-5, P-5
Fatigue	P-5, U-86

Fatigue/creep evaluation	I-35, N-27, U-86
Fatigue/oxidation interactions	S-12
FeAl intermetallics	N-24
Fe-Mo alloys	C-33
Fe-Mo-Al alloys	C-33
Fe(Mo,W)Al coatings	C-33
Fe-Nb alloys	B-6
FeNdB magnets	U-193
Fe-Ta alloys	B-6
Fiber/reinforced ceramics	U-193
Field corrosion	U-215
Finite element analysis	U-31, U-41, U-86
Fireside/downstream corrosion	S-23
Flue gas	C-20, F-34, G-19, I-35, K-5
Fluoride	C-7, U-193
Fly ash particles	G-19
FTIR spectroscopy	F-36
Fuel ash	U-215
Fused salts	G-19, I-12, I-16, U-105
Future gas turbine materials	I-7, U-246
Gas mixtures	A-6, B-6, C-2, G-19, U-170
Gasification	I-26, I-58, J-32, U-44
Gas-solid reaction kinetics	A-6, G-19, J-49, P-5, S-20
Glass melting	F-73

Glass-to-metal seals	F-32
Grain boundary diffusion and interdiffusion	I-22
Grain boundary structure	U-238
Growth stress	F-62, U-86, U-218
H ₂ sensor	U-174
Heat exchanger materials	A-2, G-19, I-7, I-16, I-26, I-58, J-32, U-170
Heat-resistant steels	F-41, G-19, G-55, G-66, J-5, J-21, J-44, M-2, U-170
Heating elements	S-19
High temperature corrosion	C-30 C-62, F-23, U-24
High temperature fatigue	F-8, I-35, S-19, U-86
High temperature oxidation	F-73
High temperature properties	U-246
High temperature water corrosion	A-2, C-7, C-64, G-10, J-2, S-23, U-18, U-105, U-174, U-238
High temperature X-ray diffraction	G-29
Hot corrosion	C-41, D-2, F-2, F-10, F-34, F-73, G-12, G-19, G-34, I-7, I-12, I-26, I-37, I-49, I-58, J-12, J-23, J-36, K-5, M-2, N-8, S-6, U-24, U-39, U-44, U-81, U-86, U-210
Hot stage	U-246
Hydrides	U-117
Hydriding	U-117
Hydrogen absorption	C-7, S-20, U-117
Hydrogen attack	N-16
Impurities	F-23, F-32, F-44, H-2, J-52, P-5, S-30

	F-65, G-19
Initial oxidation	
	J-30
In-plant monitoring	D-2, H-2, U-94
In-situ stress measurement	F-23, U-148
In-situ studies	G-29
Inorganic coatings	K-5
Interdiffusion	A-6, C-4, G-12, I-22, L-2, N-2, U-108
Interface analysis	G-19
Interface microstructure and microchemistry	N-2, U-218
Interface structure	G-62
Interfaces	G-12, G-52, U-59, U-161
Interfacial effects	F-65, F-68, G-19, G-55
Interfacial fracture resistance	U-155, U-218
Intergranular oxidation	G-19, I-22
	A-6, C-7, C-33, C-41, F-2, G-12, G-19, G-52, G-55, I-7, I-22, I-26, I-51, I-58, J-38, J-44, J-52, J-59, K-2, L- 2, N-18, P-5, P-10, S-2, T-4, U-14, U-89, U-94
Intermetallics: oxidation, alloying, plasma-sprayed coatings	U-31
Internal oxidation	F-58, I-37, U-62
Internal precipitation	A-6
Interphase interfaces	U-210
Iodination	I-2
Ion implantation	C-62, I-51, J-52, S-2, S-6

I-V property of oxide	J-30
Kinetic boundaries	G-19
Laser alloying	F-27, I-2, I-7
Life assessment	C-4, J-23, S-19, U-86
Life prediction	G-34, G-42, I-32, J-2, K-5, M-2, N-16, P-20, U-14, U-18, U-44, U-50, U-86, U-97, U-170, U-174
LiOH	C-7
Lifetime	D-2, H-2, N-5, P-5, S-23, U-174
Magnetite	P-20, U-108
Maraging steel	B-6
Marine conditions	G-12
Marine corrosion	S-30
Materials joining	U-246
Mathematical modeling	G-38, G-42, U-174
Mechanical behavior of scales	U-221
Mechanical testing	G-38, U-246
Mechanisms	C-12, I-2, P-10
Melts	F-2, U-2
Metal dusting	G-19, I-22, U-58, U-215
Metal-oxide formation	G-62
Metal/metal oxide composite transport	G-10
Metal/oxide interface	F-36, F-44, F-58, F-65, F-68, U-246
Metallizing of ceramics	J-38
Metals/ceramic/polymer	U-127

oxidative degradation	
Microbiologically induced corrosion	U-174
Microstructural analysis	F-58, P-5, U-86, U-188, U-246
Mixed gases	C-33, D-7, F-34, J-23, J-35, N-27
Mixed oxidants	G-19, U-50, U-210
Mixed oxidants with water vapor	F-34, G-42, J-32, S-14, U-105
Mixed oxidation states	F-36
Mobility in oxides	U-108
Modeling	F-44
Modeling diffusion/ multicomponent systems	U-174
Modeling erosion corrosion	K-5
Modeling gas/metal reactions	D-7
Modifications	P-5
Molten glasses	F-34, N-18
Molten salts	C-2, D-2, F-34, G-12, G-19, J-12, J-23, N-18, S-6
Monitoring	C-20, C-64, P-20, U-174
Multicomponent gas mixtures	U-44
Multilayers	F-31, G-12
Multiphase alloys	A-6, U-221
Nickel alloys	C-17, F-31, F-34, F-36, F-58, G-19, J-5, U-174, U-238
Nickel oxidation	C-17, C-23, F-31, F-36
Niobium alloys	U-197

Nitridation	S-12
Nodular growth	G-38
Non-oxide ceramics	G-34
Nonferrous metals	F-36
Nonstoichiometry and mobility	J-38
in sulfides	
Nucleation	F-58, G-19, I-46
ODS alloys	D-5, I-26, I-58, J-30, S-2, U-14
Optical fluorescence	G-38
spectroscopy	
Overlay coatings	C-4, G-12, I-35, U-86, U-97, U-188
Oxidation	B-6, C-2, C-41, C-62, F-23, I-11, I-12, I-37, J-10, J-27,
	J-42, J-44, J-59, N-8, P-15, S-6, U-8, U-14, U-24,
	U-86, U-162
Oxidation and reduction	U-246
Oxidation as a production route	N-24
Oxidation at low oxygen	B-6, I-2, I-46
pressure	
Oxidation/chloridation	J-12
Oxidation diagrams	G-42
Oxidation kinetics	C-33
Oxidation/nitridation	U-2
Oxidation/sulfidation	C-17, C-20, C-41, F-27, G-12, G-19, I-16, I-26, I-35,
	I-37, I-58, J-16, J-23, J-35, J-36, J-44, K-2, N-18,
	N-24, T-4, U-62, U-148, U-170, U-188, U-199

Oxidation/sulfidation/	J-38
nitridation	
Oxidation under load	F-15, F-62, U-121
Oxide bulk and surface defects	U-108
Oxide fracture/strain	U-218
Oxide growth-mechanisms	U-41
Oxide mechanical properties	U-50
Oxide-metal interface	F-15, G-19, I-2, I-46, J-42, U-155
Oxide overlayers	U-145
Oxide scale morphology	P-2
Oxygen solubility/diffusivity	U-197
Oxygen trapping and/or	U-197
repelling	
Pack cementation	G-19, I-7, U-210
Pack cementation coatings	K-5
Pack process	U-24
Palladium/modified aluminide	F-10
coatings	
Passivation	J-10
Passivity	U-174
Performance/lifetime	J-2, U-221
Perovskites	F-65
Pesting	G-19, I-22, J-49
pH monitoring	U-174

Phase stability diagrams	U-105
Photoelectron emission	J-30
Physical vapor deposition	F-10
Pitting	A-2, J-2, U-174
Plasma and arc coatings	I-7
Plasma coatings	C-2, F-58, F-62, I-35, J-23
Plasmas	U-162
Platinum aluminide coatings	U-86, U-97
Platinum/modified aluminides	N-18
Point defect effects	F-65
Point defects	I-2, P-10, U-59
Pollution in air	P-5
Predictive capability	A-6, U-170, U-199
Preoxidation	F-32, F-36, G-19, J-52, J-59, S-2
Pressure vessel alloys	N-16, N-27
Probes	I-26, I-35, I-58
Raman spectroscopy	U-121
Reaction kinetics	P-2
Reactive element effect	C-12, C-23, C-41, F-23, F-32, F-44, G-19, G-52, G-66, I-2, J-5, J-21, J-27, U-41, U-62, U-74, U-145, U-148, U-155, U-210, U-218, U-221
Reducing environments	C-2, F-2, H-2, I-26, I-58
Refractories	K-5, S-23
Refractory alloys	F-34, F-58, F-62, J-16, P-10, T-4, U-81
Refractory borides and carbides	U-8

Refractory materials	N-2, U-161
Refractory metals	B-6, J-49, P-10, U-8, U-246
Refractory metals and	F-27, U-145
components	
Remnant life assessment	N-27, U-86
Residual stress	F-44, F-62, S-2
Role of interfacial reactions	F-68
Salt deposits	C-20, D-7, G-19, I-26, I-49, I-58, N-18, S-30, U-37
Salt melts	N-18
Scanning Auger microscopy	G-19, U-155
Scanning transmission electron	U-74, U-148
microscopy	
Secondary ion mass spectroscopy	C-12, S-20
Selective oxidation	C-33
Semiconductor oxidation	F-65
Sensors	F-65, G-6, I-46, U-174
SiAlONs	I-16, N-2
Silica coatings	U-145
Silicide coatings	U-81, U-210
Silicides	G-6, G-29, G-62, I-2, J-49, U-161
Silicon carbide	N-2, U-41
Silicon carbide/combustion	I-26, I-58
atmosphere	
Silicon carbide/silicon nitride	U-127
Silicon nitride	I-16, N-2

Silicon oxidation	C-12, U-59
Single crystal alloys	F-10
Spallation	G-6, G-19, I-7, I-11, I-51, N-5, N-24
Spallation/cracking modeling	U-50, U-97
Spallation/overlay/thermal	G-12
barrier coatings	
Spallation resistance	J-42
Sputter deposition	J-16
Stainless steels	C-17, J-10, J-21
Static oxidation	U-215
Steam	S-30
Steam oxidation	D-2
Steam-side corrosion	F-41, J-23, J-42, S-23, S-30
Steels	K-5, S-23
Steel nitridation	S-12
Strain measurements	F-44
Stress and scale behavior	I-11, U-86
Stress measurement	C-41, G-38, U-155
Stress theoretical models	U-218
Stresses and scale behavior	F-44, I-11, S-2, U-89
Structural ceramics	J-56
Sulfidation	B-6, C-33, C-62, F-2, F-23, G-55, I-35, I-37, J-38,
	N-5, N-8, N-27, P-10, P-15, S-12, S-28, T-4, U-24,
	U-37, U-58, U-105, U-170, U-215

Sulfidation resistance/refractory metals	J-16
Sulfur dioxide-oxygen attack	C-17
Sulfur segregation	G-6, G-19, J-5, U-74, U-81, U-155
Superalloys	C-2, C-4, C-30, F-6, F-10, F-32, F-34, F-36, F-58, G-12, G-29, I-35, J-38, J-56, K-2, U-86, U-148
Surface analytical methods	F-15, F-36, G-42, G-62, G-66, I-2, I-51, U-161
Surface engineering	S-6
Surface microcrystalization	C-33
Surface modification	C-23, J-32, U-246
Surface modification/coating	F-27, U-14, U-145
Surface modifications	F-68, I-7, P-5
Surface reactions	G-19, J-30
Surface treatments	J-52, L-2, U-246
Temperature sensors	M-2
Texture	F-23
Thermal barrier coatings	C-4, C-30, F-10, F-68, I-7, J-36, J-56, K-2, M-2, N-34, U-86, U-101, U-127, U-145
Thermal cycling	A-6, C-2, F-23, F-62, G-42, G-62, I-51, U-14, U-44, U-208
Thermal shock	G-12
Thermochemistry	G-19, P-5
Thermodynamic modeling	B-2, F-2, G-34, N-2, U-81, U-174
Thermodynamic stability diagrams	B-2, U-41, U-170, U-174

Thermodynamics/defects of	F-65, J-27, U-108
oxide solid solutions	
Thermodynamics in oxides	B-2, U-41, U-108, U-170, U-174
Thin films	C-33, U-161, U-162
Thin layer activation	I-51
Titanium alloys	U-2, U-246
Titanium alloys/aluminides	G-12, J-59, U-31, U-127, U-148
Transmission electron microscopy	F-58, G-52, J-21, U-148
Transport in scales and bulk oxides	F-44
Tungsten	U-246
Turbine lifetime enhancement	I-35, U-86
Ultrasonic attenuation	I-32
Under-deposit corrosion	I-16
Uranium oxide	F-65
Vacancy annihilation/creation	I-2
Vacuum sputtered coatings	L-2
Void formation during oxidation	G-19, I-2, I-22, S-2
Volatile oxides	U-127
Waste incinerator materials	F-34, G-19, I-26, I-58, J-44, J-56, U-37, U-39, U-58
Water	S-12, S-20, U-121, U-174
Water chemistry sensors	U-174
Water vapor	F-23, I-7, N-34
Water vapor oxidation	F-10, F-15, F-27

Water wall materials	U-37
Wear	F-15, I-7, K-5, U-62, U-193
Wear corrosion-erosion	U-24
Weldments	N-16
X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy	C-12, G-66, J-23
Zirconia ceramics	F-10, F-65, G-6, G-12, K-5, U-108
Zirconium	U-117
Zirconium alloy corrosion	C-7, U-59
Zirconium alloys	C-23, U-117, U-148
Zirconium/water/steam	J-44
ZrO ₂ dissolution	C-7

INDEX OF TECHNICAL KEYWORDS

Aerospace Systems	
Aeroengines	F-10, G-12, G-55, J-49, P-5, S-6, U-31, U-86, U-97, U-148, U-215
Aeronautical/space propulsion systems	F-36, U-2, U-127, U-197
Aerospace systems	F-44, U-208, U-215
Airframe materials	I-51, J-59, U-2, U-148, U-246
Engine materials	F-10, F-15, F-58, F-62, G-12, G-34, I-2, I-51, J-49, J-56, J-59, N-18, S-6, U-2, U-14, U-39, U-41, U-59, U-81, U-89, U-121, U-127, U-148, U-193, U-197, U-208, U-215, U-246

Combustion Systems	
Advanced steam conditions	D-2, D-7, I-26, I-58, J-23, J-42, U-94
Atmospheric pressure fluidized-bed combustor	I-26, I-58
Biomass combustion	D-2, D-7, F-2, I-16, S-14, S-23, U-58
Boiler tube failures	C-20, F-2, H-2, I-7, J-23, J-42, S-23, U-37, U-94, U-105, U-188
Boilers	S-28
Circulating fluidized-bed combustor	D-2, F-2, I-16
Coal-fired boiler	F-41, G-10, I-16, I-26, I-37, I-58, J-16, J-23, J-42, K-5, N-27, P-20, U-37, U-39, U-94, U-210

Index of Technical Keywords

Coal-fired turbines	U-148
Combined cycle system	A-6, C-17, G-55, H-2, K-5, N-8, S-30, U-44, U-62
Combustion gases	В-6
Combustion systems	U-215
Combustors	U-127, U-215
Condensate corrosion	S-6
Condensate (dew-point/ downtime) corrosion	F-34, I-26, I-58, M-2, S-30
Emissions control equipment	J-21, S-30
Evaporators	N-16
Fluidized-bed combustor	J-5, J-36, N-8, N-16, S-28, U-44, U-62, U-155, U-199
Fossil fuel-fired boiler	B-6, C-2, C-41, H-2, I-7, I-35, J-38, K-5, P-20, S-14, U-50, U-215
Fossil fuel-fired equipment	U-170
Fuel ash corrosion	I-12
Fuel quality effects	K-5, U-37
Furnace wall corrosion	C-20, G-19, I-35, J-23, J-36, N-2, P-20, S-20, U-37, U-188
Gas burners	S-19
Low NO _x firing	N-5
Membrane waterwalls	N-16
Municipal waste-burning	F-34, J-56, N-2, S-6
Oil-fired boiler	I-26, I-37, I-58, J-36, M-2
Operating envelope	U-37
Oxy-fuel firing	N-2
Pressurized fluidized-bed combustor	I-16, J-23
Steam boiler	D-2, J-42, P-20, S-23, U-174

Index of Technical Keywords

Steam generators	A-2, F-58, H-2, I-2, I-7, U-18, U-105, U-174, U-238
Steam turbine	G-10, H-2, K-5, S-30
Straw-fired boilers	D-2, D-7
Supercritical coal-fired boiler	N-5
Supercritical water oxidation	G-29
Superheaters	N-16
Ultra-supercritical plant	D-2, J-42, U-174
Waste-fired boiler	C-20, C-41, D-7, I-35, J-12, J-16, J-38, N-27, S-23
Waste incineration	C-62, F-15, F-34, F-41, F-73, G-19, G-66, I-26, I-58, J-23, J-44, N-2, N-16, N-24, S-6, S-19, T-4, U-37, U-39, U-58, U-193, U-210, U-215
Waste incineration in circulating fluidized bed	S-14
Waste pyrolysis	G-19

Chemical Process Industries	
Catalyst support systems	C-17, F-32, F-58, J-5, N-8, S-20, U-74
Ethylene pyrolysis	G-19, I-32, N-8, U-170
Membranes	F-65, N-2, U-59
Methanation	N-27
Pressure vessel alloys	J-35, M-2, U-18
Pulp/paper boiler	F-2, S-23, U-105, U-221
Pyrolysis furnaces	A-6
Reformers	A-6
Steam reforming	G-19, I-32

Diesel Engines	
Diesel engines	G-12, U-127
Valve alloys	U-58

Future Energy Systems	
Ceramic components	C-17, F-58, F-65, G-34, U-101, U-121, U-127
Ceramic heat exchangers	I-16, N-2, N-8, U-193
Fuel cells	D-5, I-2, I-51, J-38, N-18, U-59
Interconnects in SOFCS	N-34
Membranes	F-65, N-2, U-59
Molten carbonate fuel cells	G-19, J-23, N-18
Solar absorbers	F-36, I-2
Solid oxide fuel cells	D-5, J-27, J-38, U-108, U-155
Stirling engines	U-58
Very high-temperature heat exchangers	I-11, I-26, I-58, U-221, U-246

Gas Turbines	
Aeroengines	F-10, G-12, G-55, J-49, S-6, U-31, U-97, U-148, U-215
Blades	F-6
Ceramic components	C-17, F-58, F-65, G-34, S-14, U-101, U-121, U-127
Ceramic turbine blades	J-49, J-56, N-2
Combustion gases	В-6
Combustors	K-2, U-127, U-215
Compressors	G-12, J-59

Conventionally-cast alloys	C-4, F-58, U-86, U-97
Diffusion barrier	F-6
Directionally-solidified alloys	C-4, U-86, U-97
Distress in turbines	P-5
Expander turbines	J-38, U-86
Future gas turbine materials	F-6, F-10, I-16, I-49, J-12, J-44, J-49, J-56, J-59, N-18, U-31, U-81, U-121, U-246
Future turbine blades	U-208
Gas turbines	A-6, C-4, C-17, C-41, F-10, F-58, F-68, F-73, G-12, G-29, G-34, G-42, G-55, I-7, I-35, J-23, J-36, K-5, N-5, N-8, N-34, U-39, U-50, U-58, U-62, U-86, U-148, U-215
Gas turbines/coal-fired	U-44
Gas turbines/IGCC	J-36, U-221
Land-based gas turbines	G-12, I-26, I-58, U-31, U-86, U-97, U-199, U-215
ODS alloys	I-49
Recuperators	U-193
Rotors	J-59, U-86
Sand	P-5
Single crystal alloys	C-4, F-10, F-58, F-68, I-7, S-14, U-86, U-89, U-97, U-127
Superalloy applications	P-2
Superalloys	F-6, K-2
Thermal barrier coating systems	C-4, F-10, F-15, F-58, F-62, F-68, G-12, G-19, G-29, G-38, G-42, I-7, I-26, I-58, J-38, J-56, K-2, K-5, M-2, U-41, U-89, U-97, U-101, U-145, U-210, U-221

Gasification Systems	
Air-blown gasifier	U-44

Index of Technical Keywords

Biomass gasification	S-23
Coal gasification	C-2, C-17, C-62, G-55, I-26, I-37, I-58, J-16, J-23, J-32, N-5, N-8, T-4, U-44, U-50, U-62, U-148, U-170, U-199
Entrained bed gasifier	U-170
Integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC)	J-36, U-221
Oxygen-blown gasifier	U-170
Pulp/paper boilers	C-20, F-2, S-23, U-105, U-221
Syngas coolers	C-2, G-19, I-26, I-58, J-32, U-170, U-221

Hot Gas Cleanup	
Catalyst support systems	C-17, F-32, F-58, J-5, N-8, S-20, U-74
Ceramic components	G-34, U-41
Ceramic filter durability	G-34, U-44
Clean-up systems	G-10
Hot gas cleanup	G-19
Hot gas filtration	F-62, U-44, U-193, U-210, U-221

Nuclear Power Systems	
Cladding/coolant reaction	C-64
Corrosion/oxidation of fuel cladding in nuclear reactors	U-31
Fuel cladding behavior	C-7
IASCC	C-64
Nuclear applications	U-117
Nuclear materials	U-117

Nuclear power systems	A-2, C-7, C-23, F-34, F-58, F-68, G-10, H-2, I-11, J-2, J-44, S-23, U-2, U-14, U-18, U-31, U-59, U-97, U-174, U- 238
Nuclear reactor	C-64
Pressure tube lifetime	C-7
Pressure vessel alloys	J-35, M-2, N-16, N-27, U-18
Radiation buildup and effects	C-64
Radiation effects	U-117
Stress corrosion cracking (SCC)	C-64
Steam generators	A-2, F-58, G-10, H-2, I-2, I-7, I-11, U-18, U-105, U-174, U-238
Zirconium alloys	F-58
Zirconium/water/steam	S-20

Oil and Gas Industries	
Catalytic cracking	U-105
Coal liquefaction	J-44
Hydroprocessing units	N-16
Oil and gas industries	U-215
Petrochemical industry	A-6, G-19, J-16, N-27, T-4, U-50, U-170, U-215
Petrochemicals	C-41
Petroleum refining	C-41
Refining	U-170
Thermal cracking of natural gas	N-34

Others	
Acoustic emission	U-218
Alkali vapor attack	N-2
Aluminum recycling	B-6
Appliances	S-19
Automotive engines	G-34
Ceramic heat exchanger	I-16, N-8, U-193
Corrosion monitoring	N-5
Corrosion probes	S-23
Creep/corrosion interactions	G-42
Deep geothermal	N-27
Dielectric films	U-162
Electrical resistors	F-44, I-46, U-161
Electrical capacitors	U-161
Electrochemical microsensors	F-65, G-6, I-46, U-108, U-174
Electron beam	P-5
Energy plants	G-6, G-19, G-29, G-55, I-35
Engine applications	G-6, U-74, U-86, U-145
Engine materials	F-10, F-15, F-58, F-62, G-12, G-34, I-2, I-51, J-49, J-56, J-59, N-18, S-6, U-2, U-39, U-41, U-59, U-81, U-86, U-89, U-121, U-127, U-148, U-193, U-197, U-208, U-215, U-246
Engineering ceramics	J-38
Ethylene pyrolosis	U-170
Furnace wall corrosion	G-19, I-35
Glass melt furnaces	N-2

Heat exchangers	C-2, C-17, F-36, F-58, G-19, G-66, I-26, I-58, J-44, M-2, N-18, S-6, S-19, U-14, U-18, U-199
Heat-treating equipment	I-46, U-215
Heat treatment	A-6
Heating elements	F-36, F-62, I-46, J-5, S-19, S-20, U-74
Heating furnace	J-10
High-temperature durable coatings	N-24
Hot strip	J-10
Hydrogen vessels	N-16
In-plant monitoring	H-2, I-32, I-51, M-2
Industrial furnaces	F-2, F-15, F-34, G-19, J-5, S-19, U-215
Laboratory simulation of refractory corrosion	N-2
Metal oxide field effect transistors	U-162
Microelectronics	L-2, U-161, U-162
Mixed oxidants with water vapor	F-34, G-42, J-32, S-14, U-105
Molybdenum silicide	J-27
Navy engine materials	U-89
Newsletter	U-221
OMCVD	F-23
Oxidation in heat treatment	В-6
Oxidation/wear resistant coatings	N-24
Oxide fracture strain	U-218
Prosthetic implant coatings	U-148
Reheat furnaces	A-6

Index of Technical Keywords

Resistance-change microsensors	U-62, U-161
Scale adhesion	F-36
Scale mechanical/chemical failure	U-14
Sintering	F-65
Sol-gel coatings	F-23
Stainless steel	J-10
Steam loops	S-23
Strain measuremets	U-218
Structural materials	U-14
Sulfide and oxide corrosion of refractory metals and alloys	P-10
Sulfuric acid hot-gas converter	C-17
Supercapacitors	U-246
Superstructure refractories	N-2
Surface engineering	C-23, F-10, F-15, F-44, F-68, I-2, I-7, I-51, J-49, N-24, U-2, U-8, U-31, U-50, U-59, U-74, U-86, U-105, U-121, U-161, U-188, U-199, U-121, U-238
Surface modification/coatings	C-41
Thermal storage	I-12
Thermogravimetry	C-23
Vacuum	F-23
Wear resistance	F-58
XRD stress determination	F-23, U-218

INDEX OF RESEARCHER NAMES

Abe, F	J-42
Agema, K.A.	N-5
Aĥmad, J	P-2
Akashi, M.	J-2
Alexander, K.B.	U-221
Allen, W.P.	
Almeraya-Calderon, M.F.	M-2
Al-Taie, I.M.	
Alvarez, M.G.	A-2
Alves, B.	P -2 0
Amano, T	J-5
Anada, H	J-44
Andrieu, E.	F-68
Araujo, C.	P-20
Ariès, L.	F-68
Arshad, M.	P-2
Asami, K.	J-16
Auciello, O.	U-164
Auer, W	G-62
Backhaus-Ricoult, M.	U-123
Backman, R.	F-2
Bacos, MP.	F-10
Balachov, I	
Balakrishnan, K.	
Balakrishnan, P.V.	
Barata, J.	
Barnes, J.E.	U-215
Barrett, C.A.	U-127
Barros, P	
Baxter, D.	N-8, U-122
Beerkens, R.G.C.	
Bennett, M.J.	U-14
Béranger, G.	
Bernstein, H.L.	U-86

Berthold, C	G-34
Bertrand, C.B.	F-31
Bienvenu, Y	F-58
Birks, N.	U-89
Blacheré, J.R	U-89
Blandford, P	C-23
Blough, J.L.	U-94
Blum, R	D-2
Bobeth, M.	G-38
Bonnet, G.	F-23
Boone, D.H.	C-4
Borchardt, G	G-6
Bornstein, N.S.	U-81
Borom, M.P.	U-236
Bose, S.K.	I-2
Boulogne, B	
Boussuge, M	F-58
Bradley, L.B.	U-62
Brady, M	U-127
Brindley, W.J.	.U-127, U-226
Brown, I.	U-156
Brun, M.K	U-236
Burnell-Gray, J.S.	U-24
Buscail, H.	F-23
Butt, M.A	P-2
Butt, N.M	P-2
Cabet, C	F-34
Caillet, M	F-27
Cannon, R	U-156
Cao, R	C-13
Carranza, R.M	A-2
Carter, W.B	U-145
Castello, P	I-37
Cellucci, F	I-46

Chan, K.S.	
Chang, W.	U-108
Chang, Y-N	
Chao, J.	S-2
Charles, E.A.	U-18
Cheluget, E	C-27
Chen, J.	S-14, S-23
Cheruvu, N.S.	U-97
Chin, S	U-81
Chu, J.P.	T-5
Cignini, P.L.	I-46
Ciĥal, V	C-60
Cizner, J.	C-62
Clarke, D.R.	G-39, U-101
Coley, K.S.	
Colombo, A.	I-26
Colson, J.C.	F-23
Colwell, J.A.	U-105
Congleton, J.	U-18
Cookson, J.M.	
Cox, B	C-7
Cox, D.S	C-27
Czerwinski, F	C-13, C-23
da Cruz, Correia	P-20
Dabek, J.	P-10
Daleo, J.A.	
Daltin, AL.	F-31
Danielewski, M.	P-10
Dannemann, K.A.	U-97
Datta, P.K.	,
David, D	F-15
Davidson, J. H.	
Day, R.J	
de Wit, J.H.WI-19	, N-18, U-65
Descemond, M	F-32
Desmaison, T	U-122
Desmaison-Brut, M	U-122
DeVan, J.H.	U-221
Diamantidis, Z	N-8
Dias Lopes, E	P-20
Dieckmann, R	U-108
Dionnet, B.	
DiStefano, J.R.	U-221

Donnelly, M.	U-66
Douglade, J.	F-31
Doychak, J.	C-12
Drawin, S.	F-10
Du, H	U-81
Du, H.L.	U-31
Dupel, P.	N-18
DuPont, J.N.	U-188
Eaton, H.E.	U-81
Ellison, K.A.	
Ender, V.	G-10
Endter, R.K.	U-117
Engelhardt, G	U-174
Engman, U	
Ennis, P.J.	G-42
Eriksson, T.	S-23
Esayed, A.	C-7
Evans, H.EU	
Faber, A.J.	
Falk, I.	S-23
Farina, C.A.	I-32
Fedeli, G.	
Fedirko, V.M.	U-2
Féron, D.	F-34
Fietzek, H.	G-29
Fordham, R.J.	J-8, U-122
Fox, D.S	U-127
Fox, P	U-74
Fritscher, K.	G-12
Fujikawa, H.	J-44
Fujiwara, Y.	J-10
Gabrielli, F	Ś-31
Galanov, B.A.	U-123
Galerie, A.	F-27
Gao, W	
Gaona-Tiburcio, C.	M-2
Garde, A.M.	U-117
Gendron, T.S.	
Gertsman, V.	
Gesmundo, F	
Giannelis, E.P.	
Gibbs, B.M.	U-37
Gil, A.	P-10

Gilliland, D.D.	I-51
Gleeson, B.	A-6
Godlewska, E.	
Gogotsi, Y. GG-34,	
Gohil, D.D.	
Gómez, C.	
González-Carrasco, J.L.	
Gonzalez-Rodriguez, J.G.	
Gorter, H	
Gozzi, D.	
Grabke, H.J G-19, G-52, I-19	
Graham, M.J C-12, C-24	
Grant, T.S	
Grassini, U.	
Greenbauer-Seng, L.A.	
Grilli, S.	
Groß, M.	
Grzesik, Z.	
Gu, Q	
Guan, H	
Gubbels, G.H.M.	
Guillamet, R.	
Guttmann, V.	
Haanappel, V.A.C.	
Habazaki, H.	
Habazaki, II	
Hämäläinen, M	
Hampikian, J.M.	
Hampshire, S	
Hannoyer, B.	
Hannula, SP.	
Hara, M.	•
Hardie, D	
Harding, J.H.	
Harker, A.H.	
Harper, M.A.	
Hashimoto, K.	•
Hasz, W.	U-236
Hayes, F.H.	
Hazony, D	
He, Y.D.	
Heath, G.R.	5-28

Hehs, HS-30
Heimgartner, PS-28, U-65
Heldt, J
Hemmes, KN-18
Hennessey, T.P U-197
Henriksen, ND-2
Hermansson, H-P
Hertzman, S
Hierro, M.PS-6
Higuchi, M U-108
Hirvonen, J.PI-51
Hobbs, L.W U-148, U-208, U-223
Hoch, P
Hocking, M.G
Hoffmann, MN-8
Hofman, R
Hollatz, M
Hou, P.Y
Hsieh, K-C
Huijbregts, W.M.MN-5
Hultquist, GS-14, S-20
Hunter, I
Huntz, A.M
Hur, N.H
Husain, S.W
Hussain, NP-2
Hussey, R.J
Ibidunni, A.OU-161
Ikeda, YJ-30
Iqbal, AP-5
Irene, E.A
Ishii, K
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Itagaki, TJ-42 Ives, M.BC-17
Jacobs, M.HU-31
Jacobson, N.S
Jargelius-Pettersson, R
Jeandin, M
Jedlinski, JC-12
Jenkinson, DU-24
Jiang, D.T
Jiii, 1

Johansson, LG.	S-14
John, R.C	U-170
Johnson, C.A.	U-236
Jönsson, B	S-19
Jordan, P	U-62
Juez-Lorenzo, M	G-29
Julien, I	
Jung, J.S	K-5
Kai, W	T-4
Kammer, P.A.	S-28
Kasperek, J.	F-36
Katsman, A	
Kawasaki, T	J - 21
Kayano, I	J-36
Keiser, J.R.	U-221
Kettunen, P.O.	
Khalid, F.A.	P-2
Khan, I.H.	P - 2
Khanna, A.S.	
Khatak, H.S.	I - 11
Kihara, S	J-23
Kim, G.M	K-2
Kim, J.C.	K-5
Kim, J.S	K-5
Kim, M.T	K-5
Kim, Y-W	J-59
Klinger, L.	I-22
Klumpes, R.	N-18
Knoedler, R.	U-207
Kobayashi, Y	J-10
Kofstad, P	
Kohno, M.	J-21
Kokmeijer, E.	N-5
Kolarik, V.	G-29
Korablev, S.F.	
Koshiro, I.	
Koskinen, J.	F-2
Krammen, M.A.	U-117
Krauss, A.R.	
Kremer, R	
Krhutova, S	
Kundo, T.	
	-

Kurokawa, K.	I-49
Kysela, J.	
Lacour, F	
Lang, C	
Larpin, J.P.	F-23
Larsen, O.H.	D-2
Larsen, P.H.	D-5
Lavigne, O.	F-10
Lavrenko, V.AU-	8, U-122
Lee, K.N.	U-127
Lee, P.Y.	T-5
Lee, YD.	
Lees, D.G.	U-41
Leferink, R.G.I.	N-5
Lefez, B.	F-36
Lemaitre, C.	F-15
Lenglet, M.	F-36
Lepingle, V.	F-41
Lepistö, T	
Lesage, B.	
Leverant, G.R.	U-97
Levi, T.P.	N-27
Levin, B.F.	U-189
Levin, L	I-22
Lewis, K.	
Leyens, C.	G-12
Leygraf, CS	-14, S-20
Li, M.S.	
Li, T.F	C-4 1
Lian, K	
Lichti, K.A.	N-27
Lindé, L	S-12
Linderoth, S	
Lindsley, B.A.	U-189
Liu, Q.	
Liu, Z	N-24
Lopitaux, J.	F-36
Lotz, U	U-66
Lou, H	C-41
Loudjani, M.K.	F-44
Lowe, T.M.	
Lu, Z.H	

Lukyanenko, A.GU-2
Luthra, K.LU-236
Lvov, S.NU-174
Lyon, S.BU-62
Maahn, ED-7
Macdonald, D.DU-174
Mäkipää, MF-2
Malo, T.J.M
Marder, A.R
Markgraf, S
Martijn, S.CN-16
Martínez-Villafane, A
Maruyama, TJ-27
Masuda, HJ-30
Matsumoto, KJ-23
McNallan, M. JU-123, U-193
Meador, M.A.BU-127
Meier, G.HG-52, U-89
Meisuan Li C-41
Mennicke, CC-12
Merino, M.CS-6
Meschter, P.JU-236
Metselaar, RN-3
Mévrel, RF-10
Mikadze, OG-2
Miller, R.AU-127
Milosev, IG-67
Minakami, AJ-10
Mitchell, D.FC-12
Mizuta, IJ-36
Molins, R
Monceau, DF-68
Montgomery, MD-7
Moores, GU-37
More, K.L
Morimoto, TJ-32
Morral, J.EU-197
Moulin, G
Mrowec, S J-16, P-10
Nagaraj, BU-224
Nagashima, EJ-35
Nagata, KJ-27

Nakagawa, K.	
	J-23
Nakamori, M.	J-36
Nakayama, G	
Nanko, M	
Nardou, F.	
Narita, T	
Natesan, K.	
Nava-Paz, J.C.	
Navinsek, B.	
Nemoto, R.	
Nenonen, P.	•
Nesbitt, J.A.	
Nicholls, J.R.	
Nickel, K.G.	
Niu, Y.	
Norby, T.	
Norell, M.	
Norton, J.F.	
O'Meara, C.	
Oakey, J.E.	
Okada, M.	
Ölefjord, I	
Önay, B.	
Opila, E.J.	
Oquab, D.	
Osgerby, S	
Õsz, J	H-2
Otero, E.	S-6
Otero, E Otsuka, N	S-6 J-44
Otero, E Otsuka, N Padilha, A.F	S-6 J-44 B-6
Otero, E Otsuka, N	S-6 J-44 B-6
Otero, E Otsuka, N Padilha, A.F Page, R.A Pardo, A	S-6 J-44 B-6 U-97 S-6
Otero, E Otsuka, N Padilha, A.F Page, R.A	S-6 J-44 B-6 U-97 S-6
Otero, E Otsuka, N Padilha, A.F Page, R.A Pardo, A	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W.	S-6 J-44 B-6 U-97 S-6 K-5 K-5
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S.	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S. Parkki, J.	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S. Parkki, J. Pati, S.R.	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S. Parkki, J.	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S. Parkki, J. Pati, S.R. Pavlyna, V.S. Pemsler, J.P.	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S. Parkki, J. Pati, S.R. Pavlyna, V.S. Pemsler, J.P. U-14 Peters, M.	
Otero, E. Otsuka, N. Padilha, A.F. Page, R.A. Pardo, A. Park, H.W. Park, J.K. Park, W.S. Parkki, J. Pati, S.R. Pavlyna, V.S. Pemsler, J.P.	

Petit, F	F-28, F-36
Petot, C.	F-65
Petot-Ervas, G	F-65
Petric, A.	C-17
Pettersson, R	S-14
	G-52, U-89
	I-16
	C-13
	U-2
Pieraggi, B	. F-68, I-19, U-65, U-211
	I-11
Pint, B.A	U-148, U-149, U-221
	G-20
Pirek, R.C.	U-117
	C-62
Plumley, A.L.	U-206
J .	AU-8
	U-2
Polak, R.	S-28
Pomeroy, M.J.	I-16, U-65
	S-14
	G-38, G-53
	U-31
Poplawski, S	
	U-122
Pourbaix, A	B-2
	B-2
	P-10
	C-12, C-20
Prüβner, K.	Ū-221
	U-63, U-67
	P-10
	P-5
	C-33, U-41
	G-42, I-19, U-65
	N-16
	G-55
	I-16
	F-73
	C-13, U-210
	JG-12
	G-62
,	

Rehman, S	P-2
Remy, L.	F-58
Richard, C.	
Rios, J.D.	
Ritherdon, J.	
Rizea, A.	
Rizzo, F.C.	
Robinson, D.	
Robinson, J.S.	I-16
Robinson, R.C.	U-127
Rocchini, G.	I-26
Rohwerder, M.	G-62
Romero-Romo, M.A.	M-2
Rosberg, B	S-23
Roy, J	
Roy, S.K	I-2
Rühle, M C-12, G	G-39, G-52
Sacchi, B.	I-49
Sakairi, M	J-49
Sala, C.	I-32
Salam, I	P-5
Salamon, T	H-2
Sandmann, H	S-30
Sangeeta, D.	U-236
Santarini, G	F-34
Sass, S.L.	U-110
Sato, Y.	J-12
Satoh, S	
Saunders, S.R.JU	J-34, U-50
Schneider, R	G-20
Schoonman	
Schramm, B	G-62
Schulz, U	
Schumann, E C-12, C	
Schütze, MG-55, 1	
Scolari, P.V.	
Scott, I.N.S.	
Seeley, R. R	U-215
Seibt, K	
Seitz, W.W.	
Seok, S-I.	
Shahid, K.A.	P-2

Sheikh, Z.U.	P-2
Shibata, K	J-35
Shibata, T	J-52
Shida, Y	J-44
Shores, D.A.	U-218
Siddique, M	P-2
Sidky, P.S.	
Simms, N.J.	U-44, U-65
Singbeil, D.L.	C-20
Singh, I.B	I-12
Singheiser, L	
Sivai barasi, N	I - 11
Sivieri, E	
Skeldon, P	U-62
Smeltzer, W.W.	C-17, C-24
Smialek, J.LU-	
Smith, G.P	U-117
Solmon, H	U-108
Sonoya, K	J-23
Spiegel, M	
Sroda, Sz	
Stack, M.M.	U-62
Stanko, G.J.	U-94
Starr, F	U-58
Stawiarski, A	
Steinmetz, J.	
Steinmetz, P	F-73
Stiller, K	S-15
Stockmann, Y	I-16
Stoneham, A.M	
Stott, F.HC-34, I-19, U	J-62, U-218
Stratmann, M	
Strawbridge, A	C-13, U-31
Strehblow, HH	G-66
Stringer, J.	U-157
Stroosnijder, M.F	I-51, S-3
Stout, J.H.	
Sui, G	U-18
Sultan, S	I-12
Sumiyoshi, H	
Sun, X	
Sunderkötter, J.D.	I-51

Svensson, JE.	S-14
Svoboda, R	S-30
Swaminathan, V.P.	U-97
Szakalos, P.	
Szpunar, J.A.	
Tack, A.J.	
Takahashi, H	J-49
Tan, K.H	C-13
Taniguchi, S	
Tanimura, T	
Тао, Ү	C-13
Tapping, R.L.	C-27
Tarocco, M.	I-32
Tarutani, Y	J-45
Tatlock, G.J.	U-74
Tauqir, A.	P-5
Tay, S.P.	C-13
Taylor, M.P.	U-31
Taylor, R.	U-4 1
Tenório, J.S.A.	В-6
Terlain, A	
Thomas, C.W.	N-27
Thomas-Ogbuji, L.U.	U-127
Thomson, A.M.	
Tiefan Li	C-4 1
Todd, R.I.	U-41
Toesca, S.	F-31
Toge, T	J-10
Toledo, G.P.	I-26
Tolpygo, V.K.	
Tomellini, M.	
Töpfer, J.	U-108
Tortorelli, P.F.	
Treska, M U-14	8, U-208
Trujillo,, F.	
Tsai, W.T.	T-5
Uberti, F	I-58
Uebing, C.	
ul Haq, A	P-5
Urbanic, V.F.	
Uruchurtu, Ch.J.	
Utrilla, M.V.	

Vakil, H. B.	U-236
van der Weijde, D.H.	N-18
van Loo, F.	
van Weele, S.F.	U-94
van Wortel, J.C.	N-16
Venkatachari, G	I-12
Verheijen, O.S.	N-2
Viani, F	I-37
Vickerman, J.C.	U-42
Viefhaus, C.	
Viennot, M.	F-15
Vilasi, M.	F-73
Visco, S.	U-157
Vîtina, I	L-2
Vodarek, V	C-6 0
Voitovich, V.B.	U-8
Wagner, G.	C-60
Wang, C.J.	
Wang, F.H	C-41
Wang, H	U-236
Wang, R.R	U-246
Was, G.S	U-238
Washizu, N.	J-30
Wei, H. Y	C-57
Welsch, G.E.	U-246
Werber, T	I-22

	TT 001
Wilson, D.F.	
Wilson, J.R.	
Wisz, W	P-15
Woltersdorf, J.	G-20
Wolynec, S	B-6
Wong, Y. M	
Wood, G.C	
Wouters, Y	
Wright, I.G	
Wu, C.	
Wu, K.J	
Wu, W.T	
Yamamoto, J.	
Yang, J.C.	
Yang, X	
Yeliseyeva, O.I.	
Yoshiba, M	
Yoshida, T	
Yoshihara, M	
Young, D.J.	
Zaigham, H	
Zamecki, M.	
Zhang, H	
Zhilyaev, A Zurek, Z	
Luith, L	r-13